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Executive Summary  

Per RFQ:  The SOQ shall be limited to a five (5) double-sided page Executive Summary (10 pages total) plus 
an Appendix containing the information as requested in this RFQ. The SOQ shall be written on 8.5 x 11 inch 
paper with font size no smaller than 10-point and no larger than 14-point. All exhibits, forms, resumes, and 
project experience should be included in the Appendix. The electronic file copy shall be one compiled PDF 
document for ease of distribution. If file size is restrictive (>10 MB), the PDF may be split into no more 
than three (3) separate PDF documents. 

A drastic rise in population and industrial growth has continued to increase demands on natural water 
resources. Conserving, protecting, channeling and controlling water are vital parts of not only our 
business, but an ethical obligation for sustainable development. Water, water conservation and efficient 
water systems have become a major focus 
for the cities and states within our nation 
and global communities.  Solutions 
require forward vision, innovative thinking 
and resourceful portfolio of ideas and 
concepts to prepare for future water 
requirements, which makes this project of 
utmost importance.   

Granite Construction has reviewed the 
project requirements and has chosen 
project team members that have the 
capabilities and the project history to 
substantiate project performance and 
commitment to quality, capability to 
provide collaborative partnership that 
enhance the project team.  Granite 
Construction has created a project team 
that will provide the most value for 
California American Water (Cal Am) and 
the Monterey Peninsula Water Supply 
Project ( MPWSP). Our project team is 
detailed on the following pages.  
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Granite Construction Company is pleased to submit this Request for Qualifications to California American 
Water, for the construction of the Monterey Peninsula Water Supply Conveyance Facilities.  Granite will 
deliver the Monterey Peninsula Water Supply Project (MPWSP) Conveyance Facilities for California 
American Water (henceforth Cal Am) using our design-bid-build fully integrated approach. If chosen as the 
Contractor, Granite is ready and willing to provide constructability and cost reviews for the engineering 
design professional firms preparing the final project documents.  Similar to our extensive experience in 
Design-Bid-Build experience, Granite has the engineering, management and estimating staff ready to 
‘plug-in’ with the Owner’s team to create the most cost effective and constructible project.   We 
understand the complete scope of the project including conveyance pipelines, pump stations, pre-
stressed concrete storage tanks, start-up and commissioning.  As important, we also understand what it 
takes to schedule, procure, execute and deliver a major large project such as the MPWSP.  In Granite 
anticipates providing a competitive and comprehensive price, based on complete drawing and 
specifications provided by the owner.  Once selected, we will provide cost certainty though innovation, 
improved design and constructability.   

Granite Construction is the General Contractor for this important project.  Granite 
construction continues to be at the forefront of major water initiatives.  Dating 
back to the 1950’s Granite crews built nearly a quarter of the 444-mile long 
California Aqueduct, known as the “Grand Canal”.  In fact, over the last century, 
Granite has been a part of constructing some of the nation’s most complex and 
integral water infrastructure projects throughout the country, from municipal and 
private water/wastewater distribution systems— to water mains, pipelines, 
sewers storage reservoirs and pumping stations, Granite’s team offers the 
capability and in-house resources for any size project. Also, Granite has a long 
history of providing pipeline and other services for Cal Am on the 
Monterey Peninsula, that date back more than 50 years.   More than 
just a generic understanding of how water conveyance systems 
connect together, Granite understands what it takes to successfully 
build a fully functional water conveyance system for Cal Am on the 
Monterey Peninsula. 
 
Granite Construction is ranked one of the top 25 largest construction companies in the U.S., and ranked 
in the top 10 nationally by ENR Magazine for water transmission, and water supply systems, illustrating; 
our capability to carry out all project responsibilities. As a licensed heavy-civil contractor in the state of 
California and as the third largest water supply contractors in California, the MPWSP Project is well-suited 
to our capabilities in size, scope and procurement methodology. This permits us to serve as the PRIME GC 
to ensure Cal Am receives a true “Best Value” approach. We have chosen team members that round out 
the Granite team and provide a comprehensive array of specialty suppliers and contractors.  Our project 
team is ready to begin the project on day one, to provide successful delivery and achievement of the 
projects’ ultimate goals and design aligned with Cal Am’s vision. 
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We have completed, projects of similar size, scope, and complexity as the Conveyance Facilities for the 
Monterey Peninsula Water Supply, with showcase projects highlighted in Section 5.2.2.3 detailing our 
Project Profiles.  Additionally, Granite has a vested interest in the success of this project as our 
headquarters, located in Watsonville, we continue a long history of construction for water related 
projects in the area since 1922, and with Cal Am Water for over 50 years. In fact, the project requirements 
are not just a list of project specifications, to Granite Construction, this project directly impacts the region 
which is our home and a region that has been our focus for more than 90 years.  We have a vested 
interest to the success of this project and want to be at the forefront of this critical initiative.   

Equipment 
Granite has one of the largest contractor-
owned heavy construction equipment fleets in 
the United States. We believe ownership of 
these assets enables us to compete more 
effectively by ensuring the availability of this 
equipment to our customers. The replacement 
value of our equipment fleet exceeds $650 
million and includes over 2,100 pieces of heavy 
construction equipment and 4,500 trucks, 
trailers and vehicles. Granite pools certain 
equipment assets between operating groups 
to maximize utilization throughout the 
country. Granite, as a pioneer in 
environmental sensitivity and sustainable construction, is a leader in exceeding requirements for air 
quality and emissions control and works closely with regulators in establishing standards for in-use-off 
road diesel requirements as well as air quality control within our materials processing facilities. Granite 
brings specific Environmental Compliance to this project to provide Cal Am with an alignment of 
environmental commitment.  
 
Construction Materials 
Granite is a national leader in civil construction and 
infrastructure projects (Water supply systems, Waterways, 
Highways, Roads, Mass-Transit, Rail, Airports, Bridges, and 
Transportation) and is one of the country’s largest producers 
of high quality construction materials such as specialty 
aggregates, sand/gravel, asphalt concrete and ready-mix 
concrete. Granite owns and operates 47 aggregates facilities, 
69 hot-mix asphalt plants, and 25 ready-mix concrete plants 
across the Western US with many hard-rock quarries, offices, 
equipment and personnel that live and work in the 
communities in the Greater Monterey Bay Area. Granite’s presence throughout California positions us to 
rapidly and completely supply any Cal-Am project with quality materials. 
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Financial Capacity and Bonding 
Granite’s balance sheet is strong with $318 million in cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities. 
Our total contract backlog approximates $2.7 billion. We maintain a bonding capacity of $3.8 billion and 
are capable of bonding a single project up to $450 million. With our financial capacity, Cal Am can have 
confidence in our ability to complete the project and to assist the local business and SBE community.  
 
Subcontractor Base 
Through our decades-long experience building California’s infrastructure, we have developed a loyal 
following of subcontractors, vendors, and suppliers in California and nationally. We take the lead in 
providing training, insurance and bonding support, and leadership development for local market 
subcontractors with the goal of leaving behind a more efficient and better-trained contracting 
community.  We believe in setting the pace for success using the foundation of ethics, honesty and 
integrity, which are our core values.  The end result of Granite’s reputation and strong relationship with 
the local subcontracting community is low-cost and high quality certainty.   
 
Local Firms with Local Knowledge and Vast Relevant Experience. 
Our team is composed of established firms with strong portfolio of experience successfully completing 
projects in the coastal area.  Each team member brings industry knowledge as well as familiarity and 
experience with Cal Am, City and County of Monterey and other various agencies required for this project.  
Being familiar with the various national and local agencies ensures the coastal area concerns will be heard 
and a collaborative approach to the project is enhanced by the relationships we have built along the way.    
 
ISO Certification on designated projects/Commitment to Quality 
Granite has ISO 9001:2008 and ISO 14001:2004 certification for designated 
projects (Quality and Environmental Management Systems).  Granite will 
implement our ISO 9001:2008 certified QMS on this project, ensuring that 
Granite will execute this project utilizing the most sophisticated quality 
management tools in the industry.  Our QMS is regularly audited for 
compliance, drives on-time project completion and improves quality and 
service through a “right the first time” attitude.  Granite will have a 

dedicated construction quality control systems manager on the site at all 
times to ensure conformance with QC policies, procedures and contract 
specifications.    
 
Environmental Stewardship  
We believe that through environmental and social leadership we will 
deliver long-term value for all project owners and stakeholders, now and 
in the future. Our employees are trained in environmental awareness 
and it is through their leadership that we can meet our commitments 
and fulfill our company vision. At Granite, we are committed to meeting 
and exceeding the requirements of all applicable environmental laws, regulations, and local rules.  We 
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believe in conserving natural resources and energy, while conducting our business activities in a manner 
that minimizes environmental impacts and incorporating best practices of pollution prevention and waste 
minimization.   We strive to maintain our strong internal capabilities and management systems to meet 
our environmental commitments, including company objectives that we have invested to continue 
improving the way in which we manage our environmental responsibilities  
 
Along with various environmental agencies, we consistently interact with groups, such as Elkhorn Slough 
National Foundation and Tidal Wetlands Research Group, Coastal Conservancy, National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS), California Department of 
Fish and Game, Monterey Peninsula Water Management District, and California Department of Water 
Resources, and others as identified.  We fully understanding the permitting process (e.g. San Clemente 
Dam Removal Design-Build Project) and are proactive with all Regulatory Agencies and stakeholders.  Our 
in-house environmental specialists join regular group meetings to understand recent events, concerns 
and rulings that affect our industry.    
 
Community:   
Granite has developed a superior reputation in Monterey County over the last 93 years. Through this 
timeframe Granite has established relationships with local subcontractors/suppliers, city and county 
agencies, farmers, and  the community.  These relationships have helped to make Granite more 
competitive in the marketplace but also have given us a keen awareness of what is required to build work 
in this community.  A project of the size identified in this RFQ requires the General Contractor to 
anticipate and understand what the local agencies are going to require, how to work with the local 
farmers who will be impacted, and how to limit public inconvenience while ensuring their protection at all 
times. Being a local contractor with a local workforce, Granite Construction values the needs and opinions 
of the local stakeholders (public, local agencies, and farmers), as they are our customers and neighbors. 
Upon notice to proceed, we will provide a Public Relations specialist that will take on the role of preparing 
the type of Public Relations Plan that will be reviewed and discussed and implemented.   

 
Ethical Business Practices  
Granite’s purpose is to grow an enduring and prosperous organization that can 
effectively build the infrastructure our country needs, deliver meaningful 
projects, and provide our customers with high-quality materials. We pursue these 
goals while embracing our core values: Honesty, Integrity, Fairness, Accountability, Consideration of 
Others, Reliability, Citizenship, and the Pursuit of Excellence. We believe that our focus on ethical business 
practices is essential for us to be a valued contributor to the country today - and for generations to come. 
 
Health and Safety 
We believe that the prevention of accidents is both our moral obligation and good business. Our safety 
efforts are based on our belief that every working person is entitled to a safe and healthful workplace. 
Our commitment to the health and the safety of our employees goes far beyond compliance with state 
and federal regulatory requirements. We recognize that the protection of our employees, property, the 

http://www.graniteconstruction.com/Our_Company/Recognition/
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public, and the environment is essential to the efficient and successful completion of every construction 
project we undertake. Safety is more than a priority at Granite; we consider it a value. Our employees 
understand that safety is not something we do in addition to the work. It’s how we do the work.  
 
Granite has been building safe projects in California for over 90 years. 
Our safety record is one of the best in the heavy civil construction industry, and we bring our award-
winning safety program to the MPWSP Project. Our safety goal for the Project is zero injuries, while 
simultaneously avoiding equipment and third party property damage or environmental incidents. For 
work performed by subcontractors we employ a rigorous selection process on qualification, capabilities, 
and most importantly their culture with respect to safety and quality. In circumstances where 
subcontractors are utilized, Granite considers these specialists as "our own" and we hold them to our high 
quality, performance, and safety standards. 
 
Granite “STAR” Program 
Granite’s successful STAR Program incorporates Safety as one of the 5 
pillars of Operational Excellence. This focus and distinction has led to 
superior safety procedures and processes; which are regularly 
benchmarked with top competitors. Additionally, the culture of Granite 
Construction takes these Operational Excellence and integrates each of 
the key points into the Granite Management System, which has evolved 
into our ISO initiatives that encompass Quality, Environmental and 
Safety. 
 

Worker Safety Program Summary 
Granite has a comprehensive Accident Prevention 
Program (APP) that is continually being revised and 
updated to meet our goals, rigorous regulatory 
requirements and to incorporate the practices and 
procedures that improve employee safety and 
health. The primary function of our APP is as a ready 
reference for our frontline managers, supervisors, 
and subcontractors. Using our program this way 
ensures more than just regulatory compliance, it 
helps us prevent accidents and successfully complete 
our work leading to Granite winning numerous 
safety awards across all areas of our industry. As an 
example of Granite's commitment to providing a safe workplace, our Corporate APP specifically addresses 
the following areas: 

• Subcontractor Safety Prequalification 
• New Hire Orientations 
• Site and Activity Specific Employee Training and Induction 
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• Pre-Operational Inspections 
• Position & Activity Hazard Analysis (PHA & AHA) 
• Daily Jobsite Inspections 
• Weekly Tailgate Meetings 
• Daily “Take 5” Meetings 

 
 
 

GRANITE SAFETY RECORD 
2011 2012 2013 2014  

Industry Average 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Granite EMR 0.73 0.69 0.65 0.63 
     

Industry Average 4.4 4.20 4.4 3.9 
Granite OSHA Recordable Incident Rate 1.7 1.5 1.9 1.5 
     

Industry Average 1.5 1.3 1.1 1.3 
Granite Average Lost Work Rate 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.3 
     

 
Creating and executing an incident-free project starts long before the ground breaking. Granite will 
collaborate with the Owner’s design team to discuss safety issues of specific elements to incorporate into 
the specific Project Safety Plan. To execute an effective safety program, Granite will work with Cal Am 
during the preconstruction phase to ensure that safety is considered in the design and work plans. 
Reviews will include the following:  anticipated shoring techniques for footings and utility trenching; size, 
location, and swing path of equipment/cranes; incorporating K-rail or other positive barriers between 
work and travel zones; review of work areas and access related to the work and staging areas; staging and 
phasing plans for tie-ins and traffic switches for local and regional roads; and temporary traffic handling 
plans for each of the specific work packages. 
 
Leading the Construction Team to Success;  
We have selected key leaders from our local staff with the experience to provide Cal Am with flexibility, 
innovation, valuable lessons learned from similar projects, and the in-house resources to efficiently build 
a high-quality project. Our leaders clearly understand the roles, responsibilities, and expectations of the 
Contractor as a part of this project team to provide a collaborative, proactive, customer-focused team to 
partner with Cal Am. With this important project, local business and community support is critical and 
building a successful team requires the connection with competent and qualified subcontracting firms 
that draw from the local community. We have already begun our outreach to identify a full spectrum of 
qualified subcontractors, SBE & LBE businesses to promote competitive bidding. We are committed to not 
only delivering Cal Am a completed project, but also to honoring the spirit of the initiative, which is to gain 
the support of the surrounding community businesses, by offering interested parties the opportunity to 
participate in training and apprenticeship programs. Since early outreach is important, we plan to gain 
interest from potential subcontractors during preconstruction phase, and to meet with the City and 
County of Monterey to support their business community and partners.  
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Collaborating | Partnership  
Steve Bridge and Bill McGowan, pictured below, have both worked on the San Clemente Dam project for 
Cal Am and have a very proactive approach to collaboration and partnership with every element of the 
project as it relates to the success of the 
project.  Steve Bridge as the Project 
Executive throughout design development, 
preconstruction through construction and 
commissioning utilizes his vast 25 years of 
construction experience that is built upon a 
proven track record of building and leading 
high performance teams. Steve is able to 
lead, direct and manage large teams in 
construction projects, and has led projects 
that include more than 40 employees and 
over 100 craft workers 

Collaborating with Cal Am will be of utmost 
importance for the success of this project. We also understand the stakeholders’ sensitivities, and fully 
grasp the context of the multiple and diverse neighborhoods of the surrounding areas, and the impacts 
that this project will have on them. Effective public communication will be critical to promote public 
awareness and project understanding, and will work in tandem with Cal Am representative to ensure the 
public concerns during construction are heard. Safety of the public and the project workforce during 
construction will be at the forefront of our discussions. Our team’s proven scheduling, project controls, 
and estimating tools allow us to identify and provide timely solutions before issues arise. 

As your Contractor partner and with our familiarity with the various delivery methods, Granite’s approach 
will be one of collaboration, integration, innovation, inclusion, knowledge sharing and transparency, to 
deliver to Cal Am the successful Conveyance Facilities project on time and within budget. We will function 
as part of the project team, bringing our collaborative philosophy, collective industry experience, as well 
as our best practices and tools to promote project success. The 
inclusion of community stakeholders, the ability to find and 
implement solutions early, our demonstrated track record of 
working in a partnered environment, our team has proven 
experience successfully partnering with many groups and 
agencies. With a vested interest and desire to be proactive, major 
contributing member of the Project team, we have taken the time 
to truly understand all of the critical intricacies of the project.   

In addition to section project approach section 5.2.2.5, we have 
highlighted some key unique elements to our construction Team’s 
approach below; 
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Granite Management Staff  
Included in our approach is a team of in-house engineers, scientists, and personnel that are proactive and  
considered authorities in their respective fields, to be available and to review the project approach and to 
reaffirm solutions are sound, appropriate, constructible, and fulfill the specific performance criteria. We 
believe this will be an important element in the successful completion of the project. Stephen Bridge, 
identified in our Org Chart as Project Executive, will be the facilitator of this Project Management team.  
By utilizing the resources of the of our in-house expertise, Cal Am can be assured that the Granite Team’s 
project performance will be thorough, complete, with efforts based on the most current state-of-the-art 
construction practices in the industry. 
 
Key Personnel and Staffing Overview 
Granite operates across the nation through our network of regional offices. With average annual revenues 
of approximately $2.0 billion, Granite services our public and private clients with over 1,600 construction 
and management personnel along with approximately 5,000 skilled craft laborers in peak seasonal 
periods. In California, our staffing consists of 450 salaried construction professionals and 2,500 skilled 
hourly crew members. We have the personnel resources locally here on the Bay Area / Coastal Region to 
supply the needs of the Project. 
 
Our integrated team of senior executives, management staff, and craft workers has the experience, 
backgrounds, understanding and expertise to plan, manage and execute all aspects of the work required 
to construct the most complex infrastructure projects in the country. The combined experience of our 
Granite team ensures that the Project will be constructed on time and on budget. 

 
Our Project Staff Org Chart is located in Section 5.2.2.1a, with Resumes located in Section 5.2.2.2. 



APPEN
DIX 
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Appendix 
Per RFP:  Provide Project as part of the Appendix the following: 
 
 5.2.1 Questionnaire – Exhibit B 

 5.2.2 Experience 

 5.2.2.1 1.     Construction Team 

  1a.  Org Chart 

  1b.  Firm Profiles 

 5.2.2.2 2.    Personnel Resumes 

  2a.  Key Contractor Management Personnel Resumes 

  2b.  Key Construction Team Personnel Resumes 

 5.2.2.3 3.    Project Profiles 

  3a.  Construction Experience 

  3b.  Change Order Percentage 

  3c.  Schedule Performance 

 5.2.2.4 4.  Project References 

 5.2.2.5 5.  Project Approach 

  5a.  Sample QC Plan 

 



5.2.1  Q
uestionnaire – Exhibit B 

5.2.1 Questionnaire  
Contractors Entities must complete and submit the declaration and 
qualifications as described in detail in the attached EXHIBIT B - 
Questionnaire. If the Contractor submits a questionnaire that is 
incomplete, CAW reserves the right to request additional 
information from the Contractor or to reduce the evaluation score.  
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Questionnaire – Exhibit B 

PER RFP;  The required Questionnaire – Exhibit B is on the following pages 



5.2.2  Experience 

5.2.2 Experience  
Each Contractor must complete and submit its experience as described below and in the attached 
EXHIBIT C - Experience. The Contractor, its team, and key personnel experience will be evaluated by the 
SOQ Evaluation Team and allocated points for the relative merit of written data and responses to the 
following sections.  
 

5.2.2.1  1. Construction Team:  
  a. Organizational Chart  
  b. Firm Profiles  
 
5.2.2.2  2. Personnel Resumes:  

a. Key Contractor Management Personnel Resumes  
b. Key Construction Team Personnel Resumes  
 

5.2.2.3  3. Project Profiles:  
a. Construction Experience  
b. Change Order Percentages  
c. Schedule Performance  
 

5.2.2.4  4. Project References  
 

5.2.2.5  5. Project Approach  
 
5.2.2.5a  5a.  Sample QC Plan 
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5.2.2. (Experience) 

A drastic rise in population and industrial growth has continued to increase demands on natural water 
resources. Conserving, protecting, channeling and controlling water is a vital part of not only our business, 
but an ethical obligation for sustainable development. Water, water conservation and efficient water 
systems have become a major focus for the cities and states within our nation and global communities.  
Solutions require forward vision, innovative thinking and resourceful portfolio of ideas and concepts to 
prepare for future water requirements.   

 

5.2.2. Overview of Experience 

Granite Construction has reviewed the 
project requirements and has chosen 
project team members that have 
exceptional capabilities and the project 
history to substantiate the level of project 
performance to give Cal Am an innovative, 
experienced and collaborative team.  Our 
commitment to quality and capability to 
provide partnership collaboration that 
enhances the project team becomes the 
cornerstone of successful project delivery.  
Granite Construction has created the team 
that we believe will provide Cal Am the 
best value for this project.   We have listed 
our project team members, and the 
beneficial reasons for the Granite team to 
be a true partner bringing the best value to 
the success of this project.  

 
 
 



5.2.2.1.  Construction Team
  

1 – Construction Team:  
 
A. Provide an organizational chart as part of the Appendix demonstrating the proposed make-up of 
the participants in the Contractor’s team. The organizational chart assists the evaluators in 
understanding how the team envisions working together. The RFB phase will include the 
development of a detailed management plan. The organizational chart will be scored based upon its 
clarity in identifying the key teams and key personnel, and in describing the relationships between 
the team members during construction, and commissioning. Identify the firms in the Contractor and 
their anticipated contractual relationship. List major subcontractors on the team.  
 
B. For the Contractor and for each team member listed in EXHIBIT B - Questionnaire, submit firm 
profiles with company history and significant accomplishments, providing evidence that establishes 
the firm has completed or demonstrates that the firm has the capability to complete projects of 
similar size, scope and complexity to the proposed Project. Submit any evidence that establishes the 
Contractor and the team members have completed projects with any of the following characteristics: 
water/wastewater facilities; California water/wastewater facilities; desalination facilities and related 
infrastructure; facilities with SCADA systems; and/or extensive/complex requirements. The profile for 
the Contractor shall be limited to eight (8) double-sided pages. The profiles for other Construction 
team members shall be limited to one (1) double-sided page for each profile. The profiles shall be 
part of the Appendix.  
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5.2.2.1  The Construction Team 

Granite’s approach will be one of collaboration, integration, innovation, inclusion, knowledge sharing and 
transparency, to deliver to Cal American Water the Desalination Conveyance Facilities project on time and 
within budget. We will function as part of the project team, bringing our collaborative philosophy, 
collective industry experience, as well as our best practices and tools to promote project success. The 
inclusion of community stakeholders, the ability to find and implement solutions early, our demonstrated 
track record of working in a partnered environment, our team has proven experience successfully 
partnering with many groups and agencies. We look forward to the opportunity to be a contributing 
member of the Project team. 
 
The Project Team will be led by Granite Construction and enhanced with a cohesive team of experts, with 
broad, proven capabilities to accomplish the full scope of the project requirements, but more important 
has the technical expertise and ability to partner with California American Water to ensure the success of 
this project.  Our Team illustrated below consists of the following local firms: 
 
GRANITE CONSTRUCTION 
Since inception in 1922, Granite Construction has consistently ranked as one of the top 25 largest 

construction companies in the U.S.by ENR Magazine, and ranked in the 
top 10 nationally for water transmission, and water supply systems, 
illustrating; our capability to carry out all project responsibilities. As a 
licensed heavy-civil contractor in the state of California and as the third 
largest water supply contractors in California, the MPWSP Project is 
well-suited to our capabilities in size, scope and procurement 
methodology. As the second oldest Contractor in the State of California, 
Granite Construction, License #89, is headquartered in Watsonville, 

where we have had the opportunity to work with Cal Am Water on various projects formore than 50 
years.  We understand construction, the Monterey Peninsula and the importance of water systems within 
California.  Having built our reputation as a company of ethics and quality, we extend our capabilities for 
this project with our team members as dedicated subcontractors, to provide the best value to Cal 
American Water. 
 
SANCO PIPELINE 

Sanco Pipelines, Inc., founded in 1956, specializes in underground 
construction, specifically the installation of sanitary sewer, storm 
drain, domestic water, reclaimed water and underground fire lines. 
Headquartered in Los Gatos, California, Sanco serves the greater Bay 

Area and has a substantial number of projects in the Monterey Peninsula and with Cal Am Water.  Sanco 
Pipelines holds a State of California General Engineering, Class A and C42, Contractors License and is an 
active member of the National Underground Contractors Association (NUCA) and in Northern California, a 
founding member of the Engineering and Utility Contractors Association (EUCA), now known as United 
Contractors. Sanco shares the commitment to quality, excellence and safety, which are core 

http://sancopipelines.com/
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competencies with the Granite Team.  With vast industrial knowledge and experience, innovation, 
problem-solving and proactive collaboration, Sanco Pipeline has a high reputation in the industry and with 
customers, which is at the heart of being chosen for this project team.  We have a shared project history 
that spans more than 20 years.  

DN TANKS 
DN Tanks designs and constructs prestressed concrete liquid storage tanks. Their tanks are known for 

their long-term performance, durability, reliability, minimal maintenance 
requirements, and lowest cost of ownership.  DN Tanks has more than 
130 years of experience and a project portfolio that spans throughout the 
U.S. and Internationally.  Granite has teamed with DN Tanks on a number 
of projects and as chosen as a dedicated team member, DN Tanks-will 
provide prestressed concrete storage tanks designed and engineered for 
the project site, tank size required, dimensions, exterior enhancements 
and other project-specific criteria.  Having a strong innovative approach 
to each project, their professional excellence, safety record and 

collaborative spirit blends with the team to provide the best long-term value to the Monterey Peninsula 
Water project.   

 

Darrel Varni Electric, Inc. 
Darrel Varni Electric, is a family owned business in Watsonville, specializing in underground construction, 
and providing the electrical motor controls that keep water systems operational. As a local office that 
employees state certified electricians, Darrel Varni Electric, Inc. has been providing exception service since 
1996.  Darrel has provided exceptional service with Cal Am and various other clients throughout the 
Monterey Bay Peninsula.  His expertise with pipelines, water systems and providing the best electrical 
systems for each project that provide the client with an operational system.  In fact, among his most 
recent projects are the SMS ASR1-4 Wells, with the electrical Installation of 2- 600HP Well VFD's and all 
Motor Controls for Monterey Peninsula Water Management District.  His hands-on experience is 
unparalleled in the industry as he has substantial knowledge of the systems in and around the area of this 
important project.  His innovative and resourceful nature consistently brings forward alternative ideas 
and concepts that not only bring cost and schedule savings, but are of great value throughout the 
collaborative sessions of preconstruction and construction. His testing and commissioning capabilities are 
paramount to the success of this project. Having a long history of being a teaming partner, Granite and 
Darrel Varni have completed several projects in and around the Monterey Peninsula.  Most recently  
Darrel Varni Electric installed the underground, conduit and wire for 2 new 600hp wells. DVE 
provided and installed all the instrumentation at each well site, for ASR 1, 2, 3 & r for Monterey 
Peninsula Water Management Agency as well as installed a new 400amp meter panel and trenching 
approximately 2100’ to the new Slant Well location for Cal Am in the City of Marina.    

Details of each firm’s profile are provided in the 5.2.2.1.B  Firm Profiles  
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COMPREHENSIVE EXPERIENCE 

The table below illustrates the comprehensive team’s experience with the relevant features of the 
project.  With a vast history of optimal project performance in the Monterey Bay area, the technical 
capabilities, expertise and relationship are built that are necessary factors to achieve success on this 
project.  Working with the various technical requirements, permitting and local and state agencies in this 
project are a familiar project path for this team.  Having a strong commitment of quality and safety, the 
Granite Team provides Cal Am the best value for this project.    

The Table is based upon the RFQ request to submit evidence that establishes the Contractor and the team 
members having completed projects with any of the following characteristics: water/wastewater facilities; 
California water/wastewater facilities; desalination facilities and related infrastructure; facilities with 
SCADA systems; and/or extensive/complex requirements.  

 
 Projects Completed with the following Characteristics 
Team 
Member 

Pipelines CA water 
wastewtr 

Desalination 
Facilities 

SCADA 
Systems 

CAL Am Wtr 
Monterey 

Related 
Complexities 

Granite       
Sanco 
Pipeline       

DN Tank         
Darrel Varni 
Electrical       

 
Granite has chosen key individuals that have a proven leadership and the ability to direct the project, 
work as a collaborative unit with Cal Am, and motivate the team members to provide the most innovative 
and efficiency to accomplish the project.  Key personnel on the Granite’ Team are shown on the 
organizational charts in the following section 5.2.2.1.a Organizational Chart with both a preconstruction 
and a construction org chart, followed by brief description of their capabilities.  A brief two-page resume 
on each key staff is in Tabbed section 5.2.2.2 Personnel Resumes. 
 
Granite will self-perform the Monterey Pipeline (bid item 5) portion of the project.  Granite will apply 
extensive site knowledge to establish phased staging area that will minimize disruptions to the City of 
Monterey, Presidio, and City of Pacific Grove.  Work plans will include comprehensive traffic handling 
plans pedestrian plans, haul routes on active roadways.  Employing our specialized experience we will 
have the greatest effect on third party, impacts to public, and time schedule.  We have selected highly 
experienced contractors to assist us in the execution in other areas of work.  Our team has selected Sanco 
Pipeline, a large pipeline contractor to compete the Feedwater line (bid item 1A), and Transfer Pipeline 
(bid items 3). 
 
Granite and Sanco have joined forces to bring large complex and time sensitive project to completion 
together.  By joining forces, we can leverage multiple resources and capabilities from both companies.  
Granite will set aside the Return Line (bid item 1A), Brine Discharge, Salinas Valley return to PCA (bid item 
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2A) ASR Extension and (3) ASR extension (bid item 4) for WMDVBE participation.  DN Tanks will provide 
engineering and construction serves for the Terminal Reservoir 2 Tanks (bid item 5). Darrel Varni Electric 
will provide electrical, SCADA and commissioning for the conveyance pipeline, tanks, and pump stations.   
The Granite Construction Team is committed to high quality construction and completing this project 
utilizing large local labor and local businesses as identified within our subcontracting section.  We have 
comprised a team of contractors who are local leaders in the industry, and have built relationships with 
various individuals and businesses that can provide support for this important project. 
 
Granite will implement our ISO 9001:2008 certified QMS on this project, ensuring Cal Am that Granite will 
execute this project utilizing the most sophisticated quality management tools in the industry.  Our QMS 
is regularly audited for compliance, drives on-time project completion and improves quality and service 
through a “right the first time” attitude.  Granite will have a dedicated construction quality control 
systems manager on the site at all times to ensure conformance with QC policies, procedures and 
contract specifications.    
 
 
THE CONSTRUCTION TEAM - GENERAL CONTRACTOR 
Leading THE Construction Team to Success;  

We have selected key leaders from our local staff with the experience to provide Cal Am with flexibility, 
innovation, valuable lessons learned from similar projects, and the in-house resources to efficiently build 
a high-quality project. Our leaders clearly understand the roles, responsibilities, and expectations of the 
PRIME GC as a part of this project team to provide a collaborative, proactive, customer-focused team to 
partner with Cal Am. With this important project, local business and community support is critical and 
building a successful team requires the connection with competent and qualified subcontracting firms 
that draw from the local community. We have already begun our 
outreach to identify a full spectrum of qualified subcontractors, SBE & LBE 
businesses to promote competitive bidding. We are committed to not 
only delivering Cal Am a completed project, but also to honoring the spirit 
of the initiative, which is to gain the support of the surrounding 
community businesses, by offering interested parties the opportunity to 
participate in training and apprenticeship programs. Since early outreach 
is important, we plan to gain interest from potential subcontractors 
during preconstruction phase, and to meet with the City and County of 
Monterey and others to support their business community and partners.  

Collaborating with Cal Am will be of utmost importance for the success of this project. We understand the 
stakeholders’ sensitivities, and fully grasp the context of the multiple and diverse neighborhoods of the 
surrounding areas, and the impacts that this project will have on them. Effective public communication 
will be critical to promote public awareness and project understanding, and will work in tandum with Cal 
Am representatives to ensure the public concerns during construction are heard.  Safety of the public and 
the project workforce during construction will be at the forefront of our discussions. Our team has proven 

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&source=imgres&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAgQjRwwAA&url=https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/File:Monterey_County,_California_seal.png&ei=2hqPVYT1LZfUoASMubqYCA&psig=AFQjCNGoPqKUBFypARDT7SfY2eNJ7TlGbQ&ust=1435528282853878
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project controls with scheduling and estimating tools that allow us to identify and provide timely solutions 
before issues arise. 

As your PRIME GC partner and with our familiarity with the various delivery methods, Granite’s approach 
will be one of collaboration, integration, innovation, inclusion, knowledge sharing and transparency, to 
deliver to Cal Am the successful Conveyance Facilities project on time and within budget. We will function 
as part of the project team, bringing our collaborative philosophy, collective industry experience, as well 
as our best practices and tools to promote project success. The inclusion of community stakeholders, the 
ability to find and implement solutions early, our demonstrated track record of working in a partnered 
environment, our team has proven experience successfully partnering with many groups and agencies. 
With a vested interest and desire to be proactive, major contributing member of the Project team, we 
have taken the time to truly understand all of the critical intricacies of the project.   

In addition to section project approach section 5.2.2.5, we have highlighted the key unique elements to 
our construction Team’s approach and benefits below 

Granite as PRIME GC 
Granite will serve as prime contractor with ultimate accountability for 
all aspect of the project, fulfilling key personnel management roles 
with support from our key subcontractors.  Steve Bridge as the Project 
Executive, pictured at right, has a strong grasp of design development, 
preconstruction, construction and commissioning phases.  He has 25 
years of construction experience with a proven track record of building 
quality projects and leading high performance teams, managing large 
teams.  Additionally, he has provided leadership and direction on 
projects with more than 40 salaried employees and over 100 craft 
workers.  Currently he is providing a key role at the Cal Am Water 
project at the San Clement Dam.   
 
Alternate approach to realize cost savings 
For the most efficient project delivery, developing the design, preconstruction and construction services 
there are various methodologies that provide the most efficient with cost and schedule.  Design/Build is a 
popular method as the designer/builder bring expertise together to create the best design with 
constructability benefits integrated.  Another is the CMGC approach to project delivery in which the 
General Contractor brings constructability issues to the forefront of the project to mitigate risks and to 
have a quicker grasp on the cost and schedule.  This methodology gives the client more flexibility with less 
risk and a greater success of the delivery of their project with a likelihood of cost and schedule savings.  
Granite has 27 CM/GC Projects Completed for $3.769 Billion ranging in job size from $1M - $1.2B.  All 
projects completed—on time and on budget.  100% conversion success from construction management 
(CM) to general contracting (GC).   In a CM/GC approach, Granite would structure the CMGC delivery by 
charging a fee to manage and construct the project, minimizing the risk that the client carries with the 
other delivery methods.  Granite would approach the project in two phases, giving Cal Am the opportunity 
to provide greater stakeholder decisions to drive the project’s ultimate success. 
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Preconstruction Phase Organization  
During preconstruction, a matrix organization allows communication and information to flow freely 
through the organizational structure enhancing interaction and the decision-making process.  Our 
construction management expertise, design integration and refinement, value engineering and 
innovations are integrated within the designer, third parties, and Cal-Am with access to all the inter-
related project information and can quickly manage and accommodate project changes as they occur.  
This facilitates completion of the work and ensures our estimators have the information necessary 
throughout the milestones for the Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) development.  
 
Construction Phase Organization  
As we transition to the Construction Phase, our structure will shift to a more traditional functional 
construction organization.  Granite would bid out each component of the project ensuring the highest 
level of competition.  Granite would have the option to self-perform work in which it was competitively 
acquired.  A hierarchal structure provides for singular management responsibility and accountability, 
while maintaining the lowest cost possible.  Granite will facilitate to completion of work by forming 
efficient operating teams focused on specific work element completion.  Key Personnel are dedicated to 
the project through both the preconstruction and construction phases.    
 
Scheduling: 
Our project controls specialist, David Doughty, has 34 years of experience and is an industry leading 
expert, responsible for scheduling many of Granite largest and most complex projects.  David lives in the 
Monterey Peninsula and will serve as project liaison to our on-site scheduler.  Granite is proud to use 
Oracle’s Primavera Professional Project Management (Primavera P6) as our project planning and 
scheduling tool. As a recognized standard for high performance project management software, this robust 
tool is capable of organizing projects with up to 100,000 activities.  The Primavera scheduling software is a 
proven asset in our suite of project 
controls tools.  Our schedule is also 
supported by integrated business 
processes, procedures and integration 
with project estimating.  Our 
integrated cost and schedule controls 
suite allows for timely period updates, 
incorporation of project changes, 
forecasts and baseline management 
that support the reporting features at 
all levels of the WBS – all while 
providing the project team with up-
to-date performance management and planning information.        
 
 

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAcQjRw&url=http://primaveratrainingblog.mssprojectsanalytics.com/primavera-p6-activity-usage-profile/&ei=CiGPVa7HGcXwoATutpSQAQ&bvm=bv.96783405,d.cGU&psig=AFQjCNFCZ_NetnemetWF_lp2QV-B2IYaSQ&ust=1435529467942196
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Public Relations/ Traffic Plans: 
Granite will apply extensive site 
knowledge to establish phased 
staging area that will minimize 
disruptions to unincorporated 
Monterey County, City of Marina, City 
of sand City, City of Seaside, City of 
Monterey, City of Pacific Grove, 
Caltrans, and Federal Lands (Presidio 
of Monterey).  Work plans will include 
comprehensive traffic handling plans, 
such as the one pictured on the right,  
pedestrian plans, haul routes on 
active roadways.  Employing our specialized experience we will have the greatest effect on minimizing 
third party impacts to public, and fine-tuned our process to work with the public, agencies, businesses 
and other community functions and events, while completing the project.  We have a vast amount of 
experience working with public relations plans as well as working through traffic flows and traffic plans as 
even bring an awareness of the benefit this project brings to the community.  The process of enhancing 
the community through public awareness and project promotions creates the shift of impact to one that 
the community can stand behind.   
 
Environmental: 
Granite has a commitment to manage environmental responsibilities.  Using 
the Granite Management System to meet the requirement of ISO 14001, we 

have a culture and a 
commitment to manage 
environmental risks and 
opportunities.  We have 
our own in-house environmental specialists that are 
at the forefront of our projects to work with our 
project and field personnel.   
 
We have designated our environmental specialist 
on our preconstruction and construction 
organizational chart, which will allow the project 
approach to be fully integrated with the 
environmental elements crucial to this project. 

 
Illustrative list of Permits: 
Granite understands that obtaining the required permits included in Exhibit D in the RFQ, for Federal, 
State and Local Agencies is paramount to completing the project on time.   Immediately after award, 
Granite will expedite the required permits listed in the RFQ.  Depending on the ultimate RFP 
requirements, Granite is prepared to dedicate the necessary personnel to expedite permitting.   



California American Water  
Monterey Peninsula Water Supply Project (MPWSP)  |  Desalination Conveyance Facilities 

                                                                                                                                                Experience        Page |  9 

Additionally with our in-house environmental expertise coordination with the various groups inherent 
within the project’s success will become the focus of our environmental specialist.   As mentioned within 
the environmental impact report, there will be some key elements that will be of importance to address 
within the early meetings and discussions. 
 
Construction activities associated with the MPWSP could result in the degradation of water quality from 
increased soil erosion and associated sedimentation of water bodies due to storm water runoff.  In 
addition, discharges of dewatering effluent from excavated areas and treated water and disinfectant from 
pipelines could adversely affect water quality. Granite’s SWPPPs would include specific erosion and storm 
water control measures to prevent substantial adverse effects on water quality during construction and 
would be implemented throughout the duration of construction activities. Granite will include measures 
to bring such effluent into conformance with State standards prior to discharge (e.g., neutralizing residual 
chlorine and reducing total dissolved solids). For the discharges of treated water and disinfection effluent, 
compliance with the General WDRs and the conditions therein would protect water quality in receiving 
water bodies. 

Based on the owner provided schedule, construction of the MPWSP could span 30 months.  Potential 
temporary traffic congestions, construction-related noise and vibration, nighttime lighting could impact 
local businesses and residence.   Traffic and Transportation could create a significant impact related to 
increased congestion from construction traffic would be reduced with the implementation of Mitigation 
Measures to maintain the best level of service possible. Included in the environmental section above we 
have provided an example of a traffic plan that would be submitted as part of our initial project 
documentation packages, to ensure all elements of the project are addressed.   

 
 
 

  



5.2.2 1.a  Construction Team
  | O

rg Chart  

1 – Construction Team:  
 
A. Provide an organizational chart as part of the Appendix demonstrating the proposed make-up of 
the participants in the Contractor’s team. The organizational chart assists the evaluators in 
understanding how the team envisions working together. The RFB phase will include the 
development of a detailed management plan. The organizational chart will be scored based upon its 
clarity in identifying the key teams and key personnel, and in describing the relationships between 
the team members during construction, and commissioning. Identify the firms in the Contractor and 
their anticipated contractual relationship. List major subcontractors on the team.  
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5.2.2.1.a  Project Org Chart 

We have provided two organizational charts, one for preconstruction and one for construction.  We have 
identified the key teams and key personnel to illustrate the team members during these key phases.  
Additionally we have provided a brief description of the relationships between the team members during 
the design development, preconstruction /construction, and the commissioning process.  These three 
distinct phases are key to success of the project and the Granite Team has worked together in these 
phases on relevant projects as described in our Project Profiles.   
 
Upon notice to proceed, the Granite Team will begin the preconstruction phase that we have delineated, 
which will be led by Project Executive, Steve Bridge.  He has strong project leadership skills and is able to 
direct the collaborative design and 
preconstruction process.  He is also 
experienced at pulling innovative solutions 
and targeting value-engineering concepts to 
bring into discussion.  Constructability issues 
become key points in collaborative meetings 
and his experience in this area is exceptional.  
His most recent project, San Clemente Dam 
removal project for Cal Am is one example 
that requires consistent meetings, 
discussions and project collaboration with 
stakeholders.  His technical expertise as well 
as his ability to facilitate collaborative 
discussions creates the environment for 
technical solutions and innovations.   
 
Key personnel in the Preconstruction phase are listed below; 
 

Preconstruction Key Personnel 
Personnel 
Role 

Education Years of 
Experience 

Relevant Expertise 

Steve Bridge 
Project Executive 

BS Civil Engineering 
MS Engineering/Construction 
Mgmt 

28 yrs  industry 
26 yrs w/Granite 

Cal Am Water Project San 
Clemente Dam 

Bill McGowan 
Preconstruction, Construction 
Phases  
Project Manager 

BA UC Berkeley 
MS /Civil Engineering 
Construction and Mgmt 

29 yrs industry, 
29 w/ Granite 

Project Manager for 
Large Projects, including 
Cal Am Water Project at 
San Clemente Dam 

Nick Jouras 
Constructability VE Specialist 

San Jose State Meteorology,  
Foothill College, Aeronautics  

34 yrs in industry 
23 w/ Granite 

6 projects with Cal Am 
Water within last 23 yrs 

Harley Paugh 
Granite Work Package #5 

BS General Engineering – Civil 
Engineer, Montana Tech Univ. 

14 yrs in industry 
13 yrs w/Granite 

Cal Am Water Project San 
Clemente Dam 

Philip Lee, GSP 
Regional Safety Manager 

B.S., Occupational Safety and 
Health/Murray State University 

19 yrs in industry 
14 yrs w/Granite 

Safety Manager for Cal 
Am Water Project 

Dave Doughty 
Quality and Schedule Manager 

BS Construction Mgmt 
Washington State 

36 yrs in industry 
10 yrs w/ Granite 

Cal Am Water Project San 
Clemente Dam 
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The key elements to a successful project begin in the preconstruction phase, bringing the design and 
construction team together to look at all project elements.  The preconstruction team has the forum to 
resolve issues before they become issues out in the field, minimizing cost and schedule impacts.  As 
shown below the Preconstruction Team will be led by Steve Bridge, Bill McGowan and Nick Jouras, who 
have demonstrated their design and construction ability to provide cost and schedule savings to owners.     
 

Collaborative Design Development 
To bring design to full review, a collaborative design process/design development process brings in the 
construction team to identify conflicts, cost savings and project efficiency.  This preconstruction activity 
identifies problems and resolves them before they 
are created.  This gives the stakeholders the chance 
to make different choices to determine the best 
path and best decisions for the project.   
 
Upon notice to proceed, meetings are set up to 
address key issues to resolve those most critical for 
the project, bringing in the expertise needed to 
have the technical information to make the best 
decisions.  It is at these preconstruction meetings 
that cost savings can be realized and a more 
efficient project is planned.  Additionally by having 
the Design Development and Construction Team 
together the facilitation begins to find 
opportunities for innovation and value engineering.  
Our preconstruction constructability expert, Nick 
Jouras, has 34 years of experience bringing 
innovative construction solutions into design plans 
early in the project, allowing cost and schedule 
savings to be realized. He has worked on various 
Cal Am projects over the 35 years of construction experience.  Additionally, using technology available to 
identify technical conflicts preexisting in the project, through the use of LiDAR mapping to determine the 
location of the current underground utilities and other unforeseen anomalies.   Additionally, the 
preconstruction phase provides the opportunity to get each work package clearly defined by having 
definable features of work (DFOW packages).  The more the design conflicts and issues are resolved 
upfront, the less risk impacting cost and schedule is realized.  To lead the DFOW packages , we have 
designated Mr. Harley Paugh who will coordinate all of the work related packages, for the Granite 
Construction self-performing scope as well as the dedicated subcontractor team of Sanco Pipeline, DN 
Tanks and Darrel Varni, He will also be the focal point to achieve the permitting needed and all of the 
daily activities that allow these work packages to be completed thorough simultaneous efforts.   
 
On the following page, we have included the Preconstruction Organization chart to show the personnel 
and also to illustrate the flow of work with these segments. Preconstruction begins on Page 12 and the 
Construction Organization chart begins on Page 13. Additionally, we have included a Commissioning 
Process Chart, on page 14 that highlights the key elements in the commissioning phase of the project and 
the personnel with expertise to provide a collaborative effort and delivery of the successful, fully 
commissioned project to Cal Am Water.    
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Commissioning Process Organization 

The Commissioning Process (right) illustrates 
the key participants as the system is 
commissioned.  Our team members 
individually and collectively have 
commissioned the systems inherent within 
relevant projects.  Steve Bridge and Harley 
Paugh, noted in the construction Org chart 
will play an active role in the process, as well 
as Darrel Varni.  Darrel Varni Electrical has an 
excellent reputation in the industry as well as 
has been a team member on several projects 
completed together.  With his most recent 
projects completed as the ASR wells 1, 2, 3 & 
4, as well as the Slant Well in the city of 
Marina, his first-hand knowledge of the 
projects within the area give him an 
advantage that will benefit Cal Am in this 
project.  Darrel Varni Electrical has several 
relevant projects, which are detailed in the project section 5.2.2.3.   

The key elements and selected individuals noted above will prosecute the construction process and 
commissioning into a seamless overall project delivery mechanism, providing Cal Am with a complete and 
operational system. 

 

  



5.2.2 1.b  Construction Team
  | Firm

 Profiles 

1 – Construction Team:  
 
B. For the Contractor and for each team member listed in EXHIBIT B - Questionnaire, submit firm 
profiles with company history and significant accomplishments, providing evidence that establishes 
the firm has completed or demonstrates that the firm has the capability to complete projects of 
similar size, scope and complexity to the proposed Project. Submit any evidence that establishes the 
Contractor and the team members have completed projects with any of the following characteristics: 
water/wastewater facilities; California water/wastewater facilities; desalination facilities and related 
infrastructure; facilities with SCADA systems; and/or extensive/complex requirements. The profile for 
the Contractor shall be limited to eight (8) double-sided pages. The profiles for other Construction 
team members shall be limited to one (1) double-sided page for each profile. The profiles shall be 
part of the Appendix.  
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5.2.2.1.B  Firm Profiles 

For the Contractor and for each team member listed in EXHIBIT B - Questionnaire, submit firm profiles with 
company history and significant accomplishments, providing evidence that establishes the firm has 
completed or demonstrates that the firm has the capability to complete projects of similar size, scope and 
complexity to the proposed Project. Submit any evidence that establishes the Contractor and the team 
members have completed projects with any of the following characteristics: water/wastewater facilities; 
California water/wastewater facilities; desalination facilities and related infrastructure; facilities with 
SCADA systems; and/or extensive/complex requirements. The profile for the Contractor shall be limited to 
eight (8) double-sided pages. The profiles for other Construction team members shall be limited to one (1) 
double-sided page for each profile. The profiles shall be part of the Appendix.  

 
Granite Construction Company (Granite) was founded in 1922 
and is one of the nation's largest, heavy civil contractors and 
construction materials producers with a demonstrated annual 
bonding capacity of $5B. Headquartered in Watsonville, 
California, we having executed over $2.6B in water/wastewater 
infrastructure projects within the past decade.  Our organization 
chart demonstrates our ability to complete the work, remain 
stable and viable for the duration of the Project from a 
personnel and financial perspective. 
 

As a licensed heavy-civil contractor in the state of California and one of the largest water contractors in 
the country, we are well-suited to provide our capabilities in size, scope and procurement methodology. 
This permits us to serve as the sole Major Participant for the Project and ensure Cal Am receives a true 
“Best Value” approach. We have the flexibility to obtain the best prices and appropriate Small Business 
and subcontractor resources; based on the projects’ ultimate design.  
 
Granite has one of the largest contractor-owned heavy construction equipment fleets in the United 
States. We believe ownership of these assets enables us to deliver more effectively by ensuring the 
availability of this equipment to our customers. The replacement value of our equipment fleet exceeds 
$650M and includes over 2,000 pieces of heavy construction equipment. Our local portfolio of emission 
compliant heavy equipment includes excavators, loaders, bulldozers, rollers, motor graders, pavers, 
scrapers, cranes, trucks and backhoes. This large, local presence ensures we can meet the demands of this 
project. In addition, Granite has the ability to draw certain specialty equipment from a pool of resources 
around the country. 
 
Our established financial capacity also enables us to support local small and disadvantaged businesses 
when required. We understand that cash flow is critical to the viability of these businesses and we have 
worked individually with Small Business owners to help remove financial barriers to their participation in 
state and federally funded contracts. 
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PER RFQ:  Evidence of completed projects of similar size, scope and complexity 

List Showcase projects with relevance of being chosen 

Project Name / Description Relevant  Similar, size, scope, complexity 
Diablo Canyon Power Plant ( ISFSI) $60 million, complex, water project  
Hwy 92/880 Interchange Reconstruction $157.9 million, complex water project 
San Bruno Grade Separation Project $99.9 million, complex, water features  
Stonebrae Master Plan Development/Reservoirs $69.7 million, complex, water project 
San Clemente Dam Removal & Carmel River Reroute $61.0 million, Cal Am client, water project 
Mineta San Jose Int’l Airport Terminal Improvement $96.6 million, City of San Jose, water project 
 

Collaboration through Project Partnering Experience  

Granite has received 15 Associated General Contractors of America’s (AGC) 
Marvin M. Black Excellence in Partnering Awards - which recognizes the 
successful partnerships and collaborations. Contractors honored with this award 
stand out for their ability to sign a formal partnering charter, achieve a common 
goal, honor all stakeholders, resolve conflict and improve communication on the 
project. We have a strong management system and culture to approach each 
project with collaboration and a partnering emphasis right from the start.  
Whether the partnering approach is formal or informal, the project success is 
built on the strength of the relationship that we proactively ignite through our 
pursuit of excellence. 
 

Relevant Pipeline Experience 

Granite Construction has a history of large water pipeline projects  for more than 70 years, beginning with 
some of the first water projects in California, such as the California Aqueduct known as the “Grand Canal”.  
Granite has been at the forefront of water supply and infrastructure in the 50’s.  Currently we are ranked 
fifth in the State as one of the Top Water Supply Contractors.  Our project history has showcase projects 
that have been instrumental in the area, carrying the water supply from the source to the communities in 
the Bay area.  One such project was for the Santa Clara Valley Water District.  The Pacheco Pass Pipeline 
was an impressive 120” pipeline (10 foot diameter pipe) and 96” pipeline   for 10.5 miles across open 
area, from the San Luis reservoir  to the Tunnel Portal to the Santa Clara Valley.  This project was 
completed in two phases in the 1980s, which illustrates our history, knowledge and extent of experience 
with large water pipeline projects.   

We also have a strong project history with relevant water infrastructure projects that spans more than 50 
years.  Too many projects to list, we have provided a sampling of the completed projects with the 
following characteristics: water/wastewater facilities; California water/wastewater facilities; desalination 
facilities and related infrastructure; facilities with SCADA systems; and/or extensive/complex 
requirements are highlighted below;  
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Nacimiento Dam Spillway Modifications, for Monterey Water Resources Agency,  $11 million 
During 2007 – 2008 Granite made modification of existing concrete spillway, modification of existing 
hydraulic gates, construction/installation of inflatable rubber dam gates and control building was 
accomplished. 

College Campus Infrastructure Improvements for Monterey Peninsula College, $12 million 
During 2006-2007 Granite provided construction of infrastructure and upgrade to Monterey Campus 
facilities including sanitary sewer, water, reclaimed water, storm drain, natural gas, electrical distribution 
and services, concrete construction, hot mixed asphalt concrete paving, landscaping and irrigation. 

Wastewater Treatment Plants Addition for Cal American Water Company, $ 0.678 million 
In 2006 Granite installed sludge presses supplied by owner at three separate treatment facilities 

Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade for City of Greenfield, $2 million 
In 2006 Granite provided construction of below grade cast in place concrete primary clarifier, sludge and 
scum pumps, headworks modification, electrical service upgrade, instrumentation and controls.   

Reservation Road Widening & Infrastructure for County of Monterey/Shea Homes, $2.56 million 
In 2007 Granite Construction widened the county road,  through major roadway excavation, placed 6500 
LF of 24” DIPCL Water pipe, 5000 LF of 20” HDPE Drainage Force Main pipe provided gravity drainage and 
highway traffic control.   

Coastal Water Pilot Plant Facility, Desalination Plant for Cal Am Water, $1.5 million 
In 2007 Granite provided design, construction, operational and maintenance support for the Cal Am Pilot 
demonstration desalination plant facility at the Moss Landing Power Plant in Monterey County, and 
proposed to operate for up to one year to determine the feasibility of the site, infrastructure, and water 
source for a full-scale desalination facility at the site.   

Granite constructs more than 1,000 projects each year, and as the fifth largest water supply contractor in 
the State of California, much of the work within the state at any given time is inherently water related.  To 
work with the requirements, specifications and insure SCADA systems are working properly,  key project 
processes and elements are in place to provide a complete, functional system.   Key personnel listed in 
our project organizational chart have the experience and the expertise working on relevant projects 
highlighted on their resumes in section 5.2.2.2 

Commissioning Expertise 

Our pipeline/water experience spans more than 50 years with Cal Am and the various water 
infrastructure experience in an around the Greater Bay area as well as specifically within the Monterey 
Peninsula.  The team members chosen for this project are those we have worked with and have excellent 
reputations with clients and industry peers.  To bring the best value to Cal Am, we have chosen dedicated 
subcontractors that are committed to excellence and to a successful delivery to our client.   

  



California American Water  
Monterey Peninsula Water Supply Project (MPWSP)  |  Desalination Conveyance Facilities 

                                                                                                                                                Experience        Page |  18 

Per RFP:  submit firm profiles with company history and significant accomplishments, providing evidence 
that establishes the firm has completed or demonstrates that the firm has the capability to complete 
projects of similar size, scope and complexity to the proposed Project. Submit any evidence that 
establishes the Contractor and the team members have completed projects . 
 

(Self-performing) 

Responsible for  
Definable Features of Work 

 Experience 

Roadways  Pipeline  SCADA  
Transmission Pipelines 
Pump Stations 

 California  
water/wastewater 

 Cal Am / 
Monterey Peninsula 

 

 
Commissioning 

 Desalination 
Systems 

 Similar Complexities  

      

 

Granite Construction will be self-performing construction of transmission pipelines in existing public ROW 
and within undeveloped construction easements. Restoration of existing structural street sections upon 
completion of pipelines will also be self-performed. The Construction of Pump Stations and 
Commissioning thereof will be performed by local Granite personnel and selected local subcontractors 
with a record of proven performance.   To accomplish these tasks, our work includes excavation, placing 
and backfilling the transmission pipelines, constructing the pump stations as well as testing the systems.  
With more than 50 years of experience working with Cal Am in and around the Monterey area, we have 
gained the expertise needed to provide the complete work package with efficiency and quality.  To tie in 
with the current distribution system, excavation in current roadway corridors will be required.  Excavation 
within roadway conditions requires knowledge of asphalt, underground utilities, traffic planning and 
coordinating with the various public and state agencies involved.  Granite has prosecuted to successful 
completion this type of work for many clients and customers, both public and private.  Our experience has 
been gained through typical and various projects, large and small, with the ability to pre-plan the work 
and to problem-solve as unforeseen conditions arise.  Owning our own materials and aggregate facilities 
allows for easy and reliable access to the materials needed to complete quality repair of roadways and 
ancillary roadway portions.   To repair and replace the areas impacted by the placement of transmission 
pipelines and pump stations Granite Construction will self-perform this part of the project.   Our 
experience of the relevant pipeline experience is listed above in our profile.   
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Responsible for  
Definable Features of Work 

 Experience 

Transmission Pipelines  Pipeline  SCADA  
 
Pipelines 

 California  
water/wastewater 

 
 

Cal Am / 
Monterey Peninsula 

 
 

 
Commissioning 

 Desalination 
Systems 

  Similar Complexities  
 

      

Sanco Pipelines, Inc., founded in 1956, specializes in underground construction, specifically the 
installation of sanitary sewer, storm drain, domestic water, reclaimed water and underground fire lines. 
Headquartered in Los Gatos, California, Sanco serves the greater Bay Area and has a substantial number 
of projects in the Monterey Peninsula and with Cal Am Water.  Sanco Pipelines holds a State of California 
General Engineering, Class A and C42, Contractors License and is an active member of the National 
Underground Contractors Association (NUCA) and in Northern California, a founding member of the 
Engineering and Utility Contractors Association (EUCA), now known as United Contractors. Sanco shares 
the commitment to quality, excellence and safety, which are core competencies with the Granite Team.  
With vast industrial knowledge and experience, innovation, problem-solving and proactive collaboration, 
Sanco Pipeline has a high reputation in the industry and with customers, which is at the heart of being 
chosen for this project team.  Highlighted in the project list below is the Stonebrae project that was 
completed with the Granite Construction and Sanco Pipeline and Team.  This project had a great amount 
of new utilities that also had to tie into the existing water system in Hayward, CA.  This project is just one 
of several that have been built by the Granite / Sanco Pipeline team.  

Other Relevant Projects include the following; 

San Mateo Youth Services Center, for County of San Mateo, $ 3.46 million 
Completing in 2007, Sanco Pipeline provided Gate Valves, installation of underground utilities for a new 
correction facility.  The 3, 6, and 8” PVC of more than 10,000 LF was utilized to complete this project. 

Stonebrae Country Club, with Granite Construction, 
$13,900,000 million 
Completing in 2008, this large housing development 
consisted of gate valves, hire hydrant assemblies, 
installation of underground site utilities for the new 
subdivision that also included golf course and 
infrastructure.  The project required a lot of 
coordination with the site grading and the area 
construction projects that were ongoing. 

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAMQjRw&url=http://campbell.cylex-usa.com/company/sanco-pipelines-incorporated-787791.html&ei=azWIVd7wHM_uoASgh6ZI&bvm=bv.96339352,d.cGU&psig=AFQjCNG5BzN89Tga0WbvKSFFMjdWTrqbnA&ust=1435076331511043
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Delta Coves, Residential Domestic Water, Infrastructure of Storm and sanitary drainage, $17.8 million 
Completed in 2008 this large residential property project on Bethel Island, CA required extensive water, 
sewer and underground utilities for this large residential property.  Large quantities of 24” HDPE consisted 
of 13874 LF and 7640 LF of 12” PBC, 5940 LF of 16” DIP, 7597LF of DIP and 11635 LF of 8” PVC.   

University Villages with Shea Homes for the City of Marina, $5.8 million 
Completed in 2008 provided on and offsite underground utilities for 
infrastructure of commercial and residential property for commercial and 
residential property.  Large diameter, 24 and 30” PVC pipe was used to 
complete the underground utilities to prepare for the development of this 
residential property.   
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DN TANKS 

 

 

 
Responsible for  
Definable Features of Work 

 Experience 

Prestressed concrete Tanks  Pipeline  SCADA  
 
Pipelines 

 California  
water/wastewater 

 
 

Cal Am / 
Monterey Peninsula 

 
 

 
Commissioning 

 Desalination 
Systems 

  Similar Complexities  
 

      

 
DN Tanks, the parent company of DYK Incorporated and Natgun Corporation, specializes in the design and 
construction of AWWA D110 prestressed concrete tanks used for potable water, wastewater, chilled 
water and other liquids. With over 130 years of combined experience, and delivery of over 2,500 tanks, 
ranging in capacity from 40,000 gallons to 40 million gallons, DN Tanks offers expanded construction 
capacity, unmatched technical expertise and proficiency in multiple types of proven tank designs to 
provide customized liquid storage solutions. Our tanks are designed to meet varying project requirements 
with the ability to withstand seismic activity, extreme climates, and severe site conditions. 
 
DYK and Natgun have joined forces as the two most respected prestressed concrete tank contractors. Our 
singular mission, one that drives the quality of our work inside and out, is simply to make every tank we 
build a source of pride, for us and for our customers. It’s our commitment to quality, durability, and to 
delivering long-term value that lasts for generations. 
 
As a specialty prestressed tank design/build contractor, DN Tanks has extensive experience in designing 
and constructing prestressed concrete tanks for both potable water and wastewater applications. 
Specifically, DN Tanks has constructed hundreds of prestressed concrete tanks in the State of California 
for both potable water and wastewater facilities over the last 50 years. Through its work in the Middle 
East, DN Tanks has built several tanks used for distribution of water in the desalination process including 3 
- 25 MG prestressed concrete tanks, which were constructed in a record breaking 7 months, working 24 
hours a day and 6 days a week. As the leader in prestressed concrete tank technology, design and 
construction, DN Tanks has the ability to tackle complex and demanding prestressed concrete tank 
projects of all varieties including very large projects, multi tank projects and accelerated projects.  
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Other Relevant Pipeline Experience 

DNTanks has complete many projects of similar nature and complexity.   Provided below is a brief list of 
projects working within California Water districts and the type and size of Tanks completed. 

• Las Virgenes Municipal Water District, Calabasas, CA, Ground Storage Water Tank – 5.00 MG 
• City of Riverside Water Utilities, Riverside, CA, Aerobic Digester – 2.00 MG (two tanks) 
• East Bay MUD, Lafayette, CA, Ground Storage – 2.7 MG 
• City of Daly City Operations, Daly City, CA, Ground Storage, 2.0 MG 
• East Bay MUD, Sacramento County, CA, Ground Storage, 4.0 MG 
• East Bay MUD, San Ramon, CA, Ground Storage, 2.20 MG 
• Dublin San Ramon Services District, Dublin, CA, Ground Storage, 1.20 MG 
• Los Angeles Department of Water & Power, Los Angeles, CA, Reuse Tank – 7.20 MG    
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Darrel Varni Electric, Inc. 
Responsible for  
Definable Features of Work 

 Experience 

Electrical Systems  Pipeline   SCADA  
 
SCADA 

 California  
water/wastewater 

 
 

Cal Am / 
Monterey Peninsula 

 
 

 
Commissioning 

 Desalination 
Systems 

 
 

Similar Complexities  
 

      

 

Darrel Vari Electric, is a family owned business in Watsonville, specializing in underground construction, 
and providing the electrical motor controls that keep water systems operational. As a local office that 
employees state certified electricians, Darrel Varni Electric, Inc. has been providing exception service since 
1996.  Darrel has provided exceptional service with Cal Am Water and various other clients throughout 
the Monterey Bay Peninsula.  His expertise with pipelines, water systems and providing the best electrical 
systems for each project.  In fact, among his most recent projects are the SMS ASR1-4 Wells, with the 
electrical Installation of 2- 600HP Well VFD's and all Motor Controls for Monterey Peninsula Water 
Management District.   

His hands-on experience is unparalleled in the 
industry as he has substantial knowledge of 
the systems in and around the area of this 
important project.  His innovative and 
resourceful nature consistently brings 
forward alternative ideas and concepts that not only bring cost and schedule savings, but are of great 
value throughout the collaborative sessions of preconstruction and construction. His testing and 
commissioning capabilities are paramount to the success of this project. Having a long history of being a 
teaming partner, Granite and Darrel Varni have completed several projects in and around the Monterey 
Peninsula.  Most recently Darrel Varni Electric installed the underground, conduit and wire for 2 new 
600hp wells. DVE provided and installed all the instrumentation at each well site, for ASR 1, 2, 3 
& 4 for Monterey Peninsula Water Management Agency as well as installed a new 400amp meter 
panel and trenching approximately 2100’ to the new Slant Well location for Cal Am in the City of Marina.    

During the last 19 years, Darrel Varni has worked with California water/wastewater facilities, desalination 
facilities and related infrastructure and providing the comprehensive SCADA piece for the various projects 
he has completed.  He is very familiar with these projects within the Monterey Bay Peninsula as the 
primary location of the bulk of his projects.   

SCADA, as a designated specialty of Darrel Varnie,  has supplied control & SCADA systems for the past 
19 years. Virtually every one of our installations have been in the water and wastewater industry, 
confirming our commitment to the industry and building our strength of experience and expertise. 
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Focusing on the business of water collection and distribution has also allowed us to be innovative in our 
products and procedures as the main integration expert to support the complement of hardware and 
software deployed in the specific control system. 
 
Darrel has worked on various SCADA systems 
consisting of multiple programmable controllers 
communicating with a central site over telephone 
lines, dedicated cable, fiber optics Ethernet, or radio 
links. Darrel Varni works on an open systems design 
approach for PLC’s, RTU’s, communications, and 
various computer hardware and software systems. 
He works with the diverse technology available 
coupled with proven methods for software, 
communications and hardware integration.  Since 
designs are usually based on client requested system 
implementations, custom software development is 
rarely required. System configurations can then be 
accomplished utilizing standard “off the shelf” configuration tools and programming methods available.   
 
Darrel Varni has the ability to encompass the technical requirements of SCADA with  electrical and 
controls system design services, electrical equipment manufacturing, PLC manufacturing and 
programming, SCADA system development, and field services implementation — providing our cliental 
with “full-service” system integration.  As a capable system integrator, Darrel Varni is in the unique 
position to work with the client and the preferred systems, but also he has the ability to provide 
important input into the conceptual design process.   Darrel Varni knows the various systems, how to 
work with proven technologies, and has a practical approach for implementing SCADA, communications, 
and control needs, assuring the client has the complete and operational system that they desire. 
 
Darrel Varni is very experienced providing the design 
methodology and current SCADA system knowledgebase to 
each project, which allows for innovative solutions which 
take into account RTU/PLC communications topology, LAN 
and WAN configuration, state-of-the-art hardware 
technologies, and currently available and widely supported 
operating system and application software platforms.  
 
An important element to successful integration projects is 
the Quality Assurance/Quality Control (QA/QC) Program.  Quality Control is an integral component with 
Darrel Varni and assuring all management functions are complete. Resources are committed to formal 
QA/QC programs ensuring compliance with schedule, budget, and industry standards. His technical 
knowledge and experience as well as his ability to collaborate with the clients visions, has built his 
excellent reputation in the Monterey Peninsula and the surrounding areas. 
 
 

 



5.2.2 2. Personnel Resum
es 

2 – Key Personnel Resumes:  
Submit resumes of key personnel who will be assigned to this Project and who will contribute a 
significant effort. Each resume must include name, qualifications and the anticipated degree of 
involvement during each of the construction and commissioning phases of the Project. The 
resumes should provide evidence that the key personnel have sufficient experience and training to 
competently manage and complete the construction of the Project. Personnel resumes shall be 
limited to one (1) double-sided page in length for each resume and shall be part of the Appendix. 
Submit the following resumes:  
 
A. Key Contractor Management Personnel Resumes: Key personnel include: Project Executive, 
Construction Principal, and any other management team leaders with key responsibility for day-to-
day execution of the Project.  
 
B. Key Contractor Team Personnel Resumes: Key personnel include professionals who will be 
assigned to this Project to provide quality control, and construction management leadership. 
Identify any specialty subcontractors.  
 
C. Key Construction Team Personnel Resumes: Key personnel include professionals who will be 
assigned to this Project to provide schedule, quality control, safety and construction leadership in 
specific areas of the work.  
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5.2.2.2  Personnel Resumes  

PER RFP:  Submit resumes of key personnel who will be assigned to this Project and who will contribute a 
significant effort. Each resume must include name, qualifications and the anticipated degree of 
involvement during each of the construction and commissioning phases of the Project. The resumes 
should provide evidence that the key personnel have sufficient experience and training to competently 
manage and complete the construction of the Project. Personnel resumes shall be limited to one (1) 
double-sided page in length for each resume and shall be part of the Appendix. Submit the following 
resumes: 

INNOVATIONS come from proactive Team Members 
Granite has successfully collaborated with owners and designers to develop innovations that have not 
only accelerated schedules and enhanced quality but have also mitigated risk and reduced overall project 
costs. We begin our project approach by looking at every available option from a construction perspective 
to better achieve the Project Goals. 
 
Granite’s thorough understanding of the PRIME GC role and our knowledge of Cal Am’s expectations for 
the Project ensures our dedicated management organization is aligned and capable of achieving increased 
value, reduced risk, and maximized efficiency through all phases of preconstruction and construction.  
 

 

Preconstruction Key Personnel 
Personnel 
Role 

Education Years of 
Experience 

Relevant Expertise 

Steve Bridge 
Project Executive 

BS Civil Engineering 
MS Engineering/Construction 
Mgmt 

28 yrs  industry 
26 yrs w/Granite 

Cal Am Water Project San 
Clemente Dam 

Bill McGowan 
Project Manager, Design 
Development, Preconstruction, 
Construction 

BA UC Berkeley 
MS /Civil Engineering 
Construction and Mgmt 

29 yrs industry, 
29 w/ Granite 

Project Manager for 
Large Projects, including 
Cal Am Water Project at 
San Clemente Dam 

Nick Jouras 
Constructability VE Specialist 

San Jose State Meteorology,  
Foothill College, Aeronautics  

34 yrs in industry 
23 w/ Granite 

6 projects with Cal Am 
Water within last 23 yrs 

Harley Paugh 
Granite Work Package #5 

BS General Engineering – Civil 
Engineer, Montana Tech Univ. 

14 yrs in industry 
13 yrs w/Granite 

Cal Am Water Project San 
Clemente Dam 

Philip Lee, GSP 
Regional Safety Manager 

B.S., Occupational Safety and 
Health/Murray State University 

19 yrs in industry 
14 yrs w/Granite 

Safety Manager for Cal 
Am Water Project 

Dave Doughty 
Quality and Schedule Manager 

BS Construction Mgmt 
Washington State 

36 yrs in industry 
10 yrs w/ Granite 

Cal Am Water Project San 
Clemente Dam 
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Successfully blending our PRIME GC expertise with our local knowledge and experience rests squarely on 
the shoulders of the key personnel chosen for the Project. Granite has assembled a team of experienced 
construction professionals selected for their individual expertise, collaborative nature and experience 
working in an integrated project delivery culture. Our team is qualified and prepared to effectively 
manage all aspects of the Contract. Our key personnel are focused on partnering with Cal Am and all 
stakeholders to develop innovative design and construction solutions that will minimize risk and impacts 
while at the same time add value through improved schedule and lower costs. The table above lists our 
Key Team Members, their role and years of experience detailing their preconstruction and construction 
role and responsibility for this project.  Resumes follow this section and expand on their relevant 
experience that will also be utilized on all aspects of this project.   
 
 
Granite TEAM; 
 
5.2.2.2.a. Management Personnel -  
Management Resumes are located in 
this tabbed section. 

 
5.2.2.2.b. Team Personnel  
Team Resumes are located in this 
tabbed section. 

 
5.2.2.2.c.  Construction Team 
Personnel  
All personnel resumes are in a or b, no 
individuals are in this tabbed section. 
 

Contractors are encouraged to submit 
additional resumes as necessary to 
fully communicate any special 
knowledge or capabilities to be 
provided by the team. 

 
. 
 



5.2.2.2.a  Key Contractor M
anagem

ent Personnel 

2 – Key Personnel Resumes:  
Submit resumes of key personnel who will be assigned to this Project and who will contribute a 
significant effort. Each resume must include name, qualifications and the anticipated degree of 
involvement during each of the construction and commissioning phases of the Project. The 
resumes should provide evidence that the key personnel have sufficient experience and training to 
competently manage and complete the construction of the Project. Personnel resumes shall be 
limited to one (1) double-sided page in length for each resume and shall be part of the Appendix. 
Submit the following resumes:  
 
A. Key Contractor Management Personnel Resumes: Key personnel include: Project Executive, 
Construction Principal, and any other management team leaders with key responsibility for day-to-
day execution of the Project.  
 
B. Key Contractor Team Personnel Resumes: Key personnel include professionals who will be 
assigned to this Project to provide quality control, and construction management leadership. 
Identify any specialty subcontractors.  
 
C. Key Construction Team Personnel Resumes: Key personnel include professionals who will be 
assigned to this Project to provide schedule, quality control, safety and construction leadership in 
specific areas of the work.  
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Bill McGowan 
Construction Principal 

Mr. McGowan has been working in construction for 20 years. Starting at Granite as an intern while 
completing his M.S.C.E. at UC Berkeley, he progressed steadily through the ranks from estimator, to 
project engineer, to project manager. Bill has worked on some of Granite’s most challenging 
projects, such as the $780 million design-build of the new San Joaquin Hills Corridor through some 
of the last rugged, undeveloped territory in Southern California. 
 
As Regional Manager for Large Projects in California, he is well versed in all aspects of the DB 
delivery of large, complex projects with sensitive environmental issues. Mr. McGowan will bring a 
relevant experience base to the CRRSCDR project that will guide the construction phase of the 
project.  
 
Office Location | Phone: 580 West Beach Street, Watsonville, CA  95076  |   831.763.6100 

Years of Experience:  29 years in the industry | 29 years with Granite Construction 

Education: B.A. History, UC Berkeley  
 M.S. Civil Engineering, Construction and Mgmt, UC Berkeley 
 

Professional Experience: 
• Large Challenging Projects 
• Best Practice Initiatives 
• Quality Control Forecasting 

Management 
• Constructability Reviews 

• Project Resource Liaison 
• Leading Schedule and critical path 
• Project Resource Management  
• Technical Engineering Expertise 

 

Relevant Experience: 

San Clemente Dam Removal and Carmel River Reroute, Carmel Valley, CA  $65 million  
Mr.  Bridge provides leadership and project and direction for the 
project at San Clemente Dam, which requires coordination with 
various environmental authorities to minimize impact of the 
environment as well as maintains project progress and 
operations.  Significant environment/biological monitoring, clear 
80 acres, de-watering, 1,000,000 cy earthwork including 
construction of Division of Safety of Dams (DSOD) approved 
elements, zone filled construction techniques, 110,00 cy drilling 
and blasting, 3,700 lf of stream bed restoration, demolition of 
100’ high concrete dam (7,000 cy), slope stabilization, landslide 
mitigation, habitat restoration, road work, access bridge 

construction etc.  Duties included leading staff in executive partnering, work plan development 
(earthwork, drilling and blasting, soil bentonite cutoff wall construction, etc.) Actively participated in 
the safety, quality program including safety team job site inspections. Participates in strategy 
discussions including scheduling, work planning, and claims resolution. 
 
Granite, Regional Manager for Large Projects, Santa Clara, California. 2011-Present General 
oversight and support for all estimating and construction activities in Granite West, focusing mainly 
on Large Projects. Share ‘best practices’ and innovations between business units. Liaison between 
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field operations and corporate services during bidding, forecasting and external reporting. Support 
the career development of young managers and engineers at Granite.  
 
Watsonville, California. 2007 - 2011 
Responsible for initiating and maintaining business relationships with owners, engineering firms, 
general contractors, and other business partners throughout the state to advance Granite’s 
competitive position.  
 
Granite, Division Construction Manager, Watsonville, California. 2006 - 2007 
General oversight and support for all estimating and construction activities in Granite West, 
focusing mainly on Large Projects. Share ‘best practices’ and innovations between business units. 
Liaison between field operations and corporate services during bidding, forecasting and external 
reporting. Support the career development of young managers and engineers at Granite. 
 
Granite, Transition Manager, Watsonville, California. 2007 
Co-managed the largest realignment of Granite since the inception of the company in 1922. Placed 
275 employees and over $500mm in projects inside the new company structure, developed new 
controls, management and business functions and career paths for all people affected by the 
realignment. 
 
I-85 Broad St. to Camden Ave., North Carolina Department of Transportation, Durham, North 
Carolina 
Project Manager/Project Engineer - I-85 Broad St to Camden Ave Durham, NC, North Carolina 
Dept.of Transportation. Multi-lane reconstruction and upgrade of Interstate-85. Scope of project 
included excavation; demolition of existing concrete road section and 9 bridges; paving 2.2 miles of 
highway; construction of 9 bridges; construction of a temporary detour highway and 3 temporary 
bridges for detours. Project Cost: $73.3 million 
 
US-70 Durham County , North Carolina DOT. Durham, North Carolina 
Project Manager/Project Engineer - The project consisted of multi-lane reconstruction and upgrade 
of the intersection of I-85 and US-70 in City of Durham. Work involved phased removal and 
realignment of the existing highway, including demolition of concrete road section and bridges, and 
reconstruction of eight bridges. Significant features of the project included: two large flyover bridge 
structures, permanent tieback and MSE retaining walls and significant sewer and water 
relocations. Widened I-85 and US-70 from four to six lanes. Project Cost: $49 million. 
 
I-4 Plant City, Owner: Florida Department of Transportation, Plant City, Florida 
Project Engineer/Field Engineer - Work entailed reconstruction and widening of approximately 12.7 
miles of Interstate 4, east of Tampa. Scope included tearing out the concrete paving and replacing 
with asphalt paving. The contract additionally called for tearing out 19 existing bridges, and 
replacing with 23 bridges. Four of the bridges were constructed over the Tampa Bypass Canal 
from barges. Project Cost: $68 million.  
 
San Joaquin Hills, San Joaquin Hills Transportation Corridor, Orange County, California 
Project Engineer - Design-build construction of limited-access, six-lane toll road approximately 
14.5 miles in length, and an additional 4.9 miles of I-5 widening on both sides. Toll road included 
11 interchanges, 76 bridges and 80 retaining walls. Work included 24.2 million cubic yards of 
excavation and 25 million cubic yards of grading. PTG was designer. Managed engineering staff, 
coordinated design, kept project schedule, coordinated subcontractors and handled owner for 
design/build highway construction project. Project Cost: $780 million. 
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Steve Bridge 
Project Executive 

Mr. Bridge is a Project Executive/Project Manager and is highly skilled in project execution, budgeting 
and critical path scheduling. He is able to develop project/bidding strategies for successful project 
outcomes that benefit the project and clients. His foresight in project execution is utilized in the 
collaborative discussions with stakeholders, providing innovative cost savings wherever possible that 
help maintain project budgets and meet the set milestones. He provides management and allocation 
of resources for highest efficiency and success. He is uniquely qualified to manage multiple projects 
while maintaining over site and empowering teams to excel. He implements on-site activity meetings 
with supervisory and craft personnel, inspectors and subcontractors prior to new work activities to 
ensure all personnel are aware of all construction activities, minimizing risk and to keep awareness of 
all construction sites, especially with ongoing traffic activities.  His 25 years of construction experience 
has a proven track record of building and leading high performance teams. He has successfully led 
projects with 40+ salaried employees and over 100 craft workers.   He has worked on large and/or 
alternate delivery projects, including design build and Construction Manager/General Contractor 
formats and others to provide the best value to the customer.  
 
Office Location | Phone: 580 West Beach Street, Wasonville, CA  95076  |   831.763.6100 

Years of Experience:  25 years in the industry | 25 years with Granite Construction 

Education: B.S. Civil Engineering, UC Berkeley  
 M.S. Construction Management, UC Berkeley 
 

Professional Experience: 
• Strategic Project Planning 
• Cost Reduction Initiatives 
• Quality Control Management 
• Constructability Reviews 

• Project Resource Management 
• Schedule and critical path 
• Project Resource Management  
• Technical Engineering Expertise 

 

Relevant Experience: 

San Clemente Dam Removal and Carmel River Reroute, Carmel Valley, CA  $65 million  
Mr.  Bridge provides management and direction for the project 
at San Clemente Dam, which requires coordination with various 
environmental authorities to minimize impact of the environment 
as well as maintains project progress and operations.  
Significant environment/biological monitoring, clear 80 acres, 
de-watering, 1,000,000 cy earthwork including construction of 
Division of Safety of Dams (DSOD) approved elements, zone 
filled construction techniques, 110,00 cy drilling and blasting, 
3,700 lf of stream bed restoration, demolition of 100’ high 
concrete dam (7,000 cy), slope stabilization, landslide 
mitigation, habitat restoration, road work, access bridge 

construction etc.  Duties included supporting project staff in executive partnering, work plan 
development (earthwork, drilling and blasting, soil bentonite cutoff wall construction, etc.) rewrote 
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QC plan for ISO compliance audit. Negotiate terms and conditions for design subcontract, 
negotiate terms and conditions for key subcontractors (drill and blast rock, drill and blast dam 
concrete, dewatering, channel restoration, soil bentonite mixing etc.). Actively participated in 
design task groups to develop design plans and specifications. Mentored project staff including QC 
manager. Actively participated in the safety program including safety team job site inspections. 
Participated in strategy discussions including scheduling, work planning, and claims resolution. 
 
State Route 99 Realignment, Construction Manager/General Contractor (CMGC) services  
California Department of Transportation. ($160,000,000 Construction value)  
Scope of this project includes $1,000,000 pre-construction service value, working with Caltrans as 
the CM/GC to design and construct the realignment of SR99 between Ashlan and Clinton Avenues 
in Fresno California. Work on the project includes the accommodation of the future HSR 
infrastructure. Major elements of work include: ROW acquisition, demolition, maintenance of traffic, 
utility relocation, overcrossings, Jointed Plain Concrete Pavement (JPCP) and Continually 
Reinforced Concrete Paving (CRCP) structural sections, city street reconfiguration, SWPPP, 
environmental compliance and substantial third party coordination. The project also includes 
building the infrastructure for the High Speed train project within the limits. The SR99 Project is 
unique; it is the first CM/GC project let by Caltrans, will be designed and constructed in the middle 
of the $1B HSR Package #1. Granite was selected best value proposer and awarded the CMGC 
construction in early 2014. As pursuit lead, managed proposal team in the strategy and execution 
of the winning proposal. Authored major sections of the proposal and worked closely with proposal 
manager to integrate documents from 6 authors. Reviewed corporate forms and ensured submittal 
was in conformance with Request For Proposal. 
 
California Health Care Facility Design-Build Package 1 (Design-Build)  
$130,000,000 (Fixed price - Variable Scope) Line item joint venture with Hensel Phelps. Granite 
portion $30,000,000 Owner - Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation  
CHCF is a new secured prison hospital facility that will house 1,700 inmates and 1,500 staff. 
Design Build Package 1 included mass grading of site, 3 X 1M gallon water tanks and pump 
house, storm water lift station, sewer lift station, and 2,400 vehicle capacity parking lot. Granite’s 
scope of work also included construction off-site improvements for County of San Joaquin and Hwy 
99 Arch off-ramp widening for Caltrans, 800,000 cy excavation and embankment, 154,000 sy Lime 
Treated Soil Stabilization, 52,000 lf Concrete Curb, 51,000 sf Concrete Flatwork, 12,000 lf Storm 
Drain, 13,000 lf Sewer, 17,000 lf Water line, 6,500 lf Gas, 53,000 tons Aggregate Base, 25,000 
tons Asphalt Concrete. As Project Executive, I worked full time on the Statement of Qualifications 
and proposals for the project including participating in the Owner interviews. During construction, 
PX duties included, negotiating terms and conditions for JV teaming agreement, Final price 
negotiations for Granite portion of the fixed fee, Subcontract negotiations, executive partnering, 
design coordination and optimizations, schedule reviews, MIA and forecasts. Overall support to 
Project Manager and Joint Venture partner. 
 
Design-Build California High Speed Rail, Package 1 Pursuit  
Joint Venture with Kiewit and Comsa Emte, $1.5B  
Design and construction of the new California high speed rail from Madera to Fresno. The proposal 
includes a 29-mile construction segment with 25 grade separations, and three 3 major bridges and 
depressed trench sections. Major subcontracts and suppliers include: design $130MM, rebar 
$105MM, CIDH piles $30MM, concrete materials $30MM, utility relocation $25MM, QA/QC 
$20MM, bore/jack box $20MM, demolition $16MM, deep soil mixed walls $20MM, electrical 
$20MM and trucking $44MM. 
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Dave Doughty 
Schedule Engineer 

Mr. Doughty has 36 years experience in transportation and heavy civil construction, working in a 
variety of project management positions. Over the past 20 years, he has developed his expertise in 
CPM scheduling that encompasses CMGC and design-build projects. A key position holder in the 
preconstruction phase, Dave has developed schedules for projects ranging from $20 to $250 million 
in scope. He is proficient with Primavera SureTrak, P3 and P5/P6 software. He provided scheduling 
assistance to the Design-Build SR125 Project in Chula Vista while employed with another general 
contractor. As the Scheduling Manager for Granite, he has been instrumental in developing and 
implementing both proposal and project schedules for the Prunedale Improvement Project, the 
Indian Canyon project, the Brawley project and the Madera Project Schedule. 
 
Office Location | Phone: 580 West Beach Street, Watsonville, CA  95076  |   831.763.6100 

Years of Experience:  36 years in the industry | 9 years with Granite Construction 

Education:   BS, Construction management, Washington State Univ, 
 
Professional Experience: 

• Large Challenging Projects 
• Schedule, Forecasting & Planning 
• Monitor and Review Schedules  
• Constructability Reviews 

• Lead Technical Engineering Staff  
• Leading Complex projects 
• Coordinates Technical submissions  
• Analyze Project Performance 

 

Relevant Experience: 

I-205 South Corridor Extension GMGC , TriMet Light Rail Transit System, Portland, Oregon 
As Senior Engineer for this $165 million CMGC transit project includes 6.5 miles of track, eight 
stations, seven bridges, and four park and ride facilities. The project finished on schedule, which 
included extending light rail service to Clackamas County that terminated at the major regional 
shopping center Clackamas County Town Center. David was responsible for developing, 
maintaining and analyzing performance of the CPM schedule. He was further responsible for 
coordinating all technical submittals, project RFIs and as-builts. 
 
SR-125 - South Bay Expressway Design-Build, Caltrans, San Diego, California 
In his role as Senior Engineer for this $635 million design-build project consisted of 9.3 miles of 
North- South Toll Road between SR 54 and SR 905 in Chula Vista. The signature structure on the 
project was the ¾ mile long, 19 stories high precast segmental Otay River Bridge. The project did 
encounter budgetary or time issues. The toll road project was undertaken to relieve congestion in a 
highly traveled region. David oversaw the schedule, conducted public outreach meetings, assisted 
in constructability review of sound wall design drawings, and coordinated with the client easement 
acquisition efforts. This project, made possible through an innovative public-private partnership, 
completes the missing link in San Diego’s third north-south freeway corridor. The project also 
included a publicly-funded 3.2- mile contiguous segment to the north, including a new SR 125/SR 
54 interchange, known as the Gap & Connector. SBX connects Otay Mesa, the largest area of 
industrial-zoned land remaining in San Diego County, with Eastern Chula Vista and points north 
and east, drastically reducing commute times and providing convenient access to Downtown San 
Diego, Sorrento Valley, Santee, I-8 and I-15, and Mexico. Office/Field Engineer /Scheduler. Mr. 
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Paugh was responsible for traffic control/MOT, Stormwater Pollution Prevention planning, design of 
grading, drainage, paving, roadway widening, resurfacing,structures, signing, signals, lighting, 
guardrail, landscaping and noise walls. Responsible for initiating and maintaining business 
relationships with owners, engineering firms, general contractors, and other business partners 
throughout the state to advance Granite’s competitive position.  
 
Henderson Spaghetti Bowl (Interchange between I-515 and I-215), Nevada DOT, Las Vegas, 
Nevada 
As Senior Engineer for this $100 million project was completed ahead of schedule and within 
budget. The Henderson Spaghetti Bowl project was designed to relieve major congestion at the 
intersection of I-515 and I-215. It is a major interchange with live traffic, multiple phasing, and a 
major public information programs. David was sought out by the client’s project management to 
assist its existing staffing scheduling and general engineer duties during the height of construction. 
David also provided schedule update services and participated in weekly client progress meetings. 
Decorative landscape rock formed curves and layers of varying widths, expressing the geologic 
striation patterns of the surrounding mountains. One historic element utilized paid homage to the 
area’s role in the manufacturing of magnesium that helped supply our nation during World War II. 
One of its common uses was in the making of airplane parts. To identify this historical township 
beginning and complement the curving rock patterns, structural metal retaining walls were 
designed and built to curve vertically and horizontally across the interchange embankments. 
Galvanized steel was used as the medium, as it closely resembles the color of magnesium. To 
graphically express magnesium’s use in WWII aircraft, rivets are painted on the steel panels to give 
them the appearance of airplane fuselages. Another element seen in the City’s logo is the rising 
sun over the mountains. The interchange has a 30-foot sun built on the embankment. It’s placed 
with a backdrop of rock bands again simulating the mountain striations. In continuing with the 
theme, the interchange’s design includes stained concrete to mimic the view of the mountains. In 
addition, murals on the slope paving represent the area’s wildlife and vegetation honoring the 
City’s special and celebrated bird viewing preserve. Plant material at the interchange was chosen 
for their adaptability, drought resistance, seasonal colors and flowering characteristics to 
complement the hardscape elements of the design and achieve water conservation sustainable 
practices. Stakeholder and public buy-in of this concept was overwhelming. Supportive comments 
demonstrate that the concept is unique, reflects local values as the “Gateway to the City”, 
exemplifies glance recognition and is aesthetically pleasing to the traveling public. 



 

 
Harley Paugh| Page 1 

Harley Paugh 
Technical Lead/Project Engineer 

Mr. Paugh provides engineering and technical lead for large-scale, complex initiatives.  He has 
extensive experience with state department of transportation projects involving multidisciplinary 
teams performing complex heavy civil work with significant structural components. In the design 
phase of design-build projects, Mr. Paugh provides input to constructability and value engineering 
reviews, and he works closely with the Project Manager to coordinate design drawings and manage 
the archive, retrieval and revision throughout the development process. Mr. Paugh’s leads and 
manages field engineers through the various technical components of the construction process. His 
project management responsibilities and experience include forecasting impacts to project schedule 
related to materials and resources, processing timecards, review of plans and specifications, 
managing Systems (internal applications for ensuring project efficiencies), traffic control coordination 
and supervision, Primavera scheduling, subcontractor coordination, project close-out, supervision 
and management of project teams, bid development, provision of Construction Manager/General 
Contractor services, and development of project procurement tasks. Mr. Paugh has particular 
experience with Maintenance of Traffic (MOT) planning and Advanced Traffic Management Systems 
(ATMS), and he is skilled in developing and monitoring the Critical Path Method (CPM) schedule 
 
Office Location | Phone: 580 West Beach Street, Watsonville, CA  95076  |   831.763.6100 

Years of Experience:  14 years in the industry | 13 years with Granite Construction 

Education:   BS, General Engineering -Civil Engineer, Montana Tech Univ, 
 
Professional Experience: 

• Large Challenging Projects 
• Traffic Control & Planning 
• Monitor and Review Schedules  
• Constructability Reviews 

• Lead Technical Staff  
• Leading Complex projects 
• Subcontractor Coordination  
• Technical Engineering Expertise 

 

Relevant Experience: 

Carmel River Reroute / San Clemente Dam Removal Project , Cal America Water, $65 million 
Current responsibilities include field engineering leadership, management and coordination.  
Financial reporting to project staff and Senior 
management as well as job level cost controls 
oversight.  Provide scheduling assitance to field 
supervision and manage overall project schedule 
using Primavara P6.  Oversight of the the processes 
involved with project controls as it relates to 
document management.  Assist with design-
coordination and provide techincal solutions for 
complicated problems. 
 
Granite Construction, Group 3 Large Projects 
Region, Santa Clara, California 
Present. Pursuit Manager. Mr. Paugh is responsible 
for managing pursuits of alternative procurement projects, and projects with contract values above 
$75 million. 
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Copper Hills Constructors JV Mountain View Corridor CMGC, Herriman, Utah 
Project Engineer. Mr. Paugh is responsible for traffic control/MOT, Stormwater Pollution Prevention 
planning, and designs for earthwork, drainage, utilities, grading, paving, rock crushing, structures, 
walls, and ATMS. 
 
Granite Construction, Salt Lake Operations, Salt Lake City, Utah 
Estimator/Pursuit Manager. Mr. Paugh was responsible for cost estimating and pursuit of multi-
million dollar design-build and bid-build projects.  
 
Weber County Constructors JV I-15 NOW Project, Salt Lake City, Utah 
Project Engineer/Field Engineer Structures/Scheduler. Mr. Paugh was responsible for traffic 
control/MOT, Stormwater Pollution Prevention planning, grading, drainage, paving, widening, 
structures, signing, signals, lighting, median barrier, ATMS, landscaping, noise walls, aesthetics. 
 
Granite Construction I-85 Project, Durham, North Carolina 
Office/Field Engineer /Scheduler. Mr. Paugh was responsible for traffic control/MOT, Stormwater 
Pollution Prevention planning, design of grading, drainage, paving, roadway widening, resurfacing, 
structures, signing, signals, lighting, guardrail, landscaping and noise walls. Responsible for 
initiating and maintaining business relationships with owners, engineering firms, general 
contractors, and other business partners throughout the state to advance Granite’s competitive 
position.  
 
Granite, Division Construction Manager, Watsonville, California. 2006 - 2007 
General oversight and support for all estimating and construction activities in Granite West, 
focusing mainly on Large Projects. Share ‘best practices’ and innovations between business units. 
Liaison between field operations and corporate services during bidding, forecasting and external 
reporting. Support the career development of young managers and engineers at Granite. 
 
Granite Construction I-40 Project, Durham, North Carolina 
Project Engineer/Field Engineer Structures/Scheduler. Mr. Paugh was responsible for traffic 
control/MOT, Stormwater Pollution Prevention planning, and design of roadway widening, grading, 
drainage, signing, structures, paving, barrier rail, guardrail and traffic management systems. 
 
Granite Construction, Watsonville, California 
Estimator. Mr. Paugh provided estimates for various design-build projects, including the RENO Re- 
TRAC, US70 Hondo Valley, and McCalpine Lock & Dam. 
 
Gilbert Texas Construction, Dallas, Texas 
Intern. Mr. Paugh worked on a Level (3) Communications project that installed fiber optic cable 
throughout the Dallas Metropolis area. 
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Nick Jouras 
VE Specialist/Estimator 

Mr. Jouras provides the vital link between design and construction, as constructability and efficiency 
decisions made early keep cost and schedule impacts to a minimum, He will be responsible for the 
involvement of our construction staff during the progress of the project and will work to find the VE 
opportunities. This will involve everything from field investigative work necessary to design 
discussions with Cal American Water, permit applications and value engineering efforts. Nick will be 
responsible for the preconstruction efforts and the SCADA work segments.  He will work closely with 
the Cal American Water Design Engineers and design teams to establish a consistent approach to 
the drainage design, criteria and standards to be used throughout the corridor. responsibilities 
include estimating and project management of heavy civil engineering projects, ranging in contract 
value from $500,000 to $50,000,000. Mr. Jouras also participates in pursuit, design and estimating 
responsibilities for joint venture/design build pursuits ranging in value from $10,000,000 to over 
$500,000,000. His jobs include both public works and private development, with a strong focus on 
design build of heavy civil sitework, transportation, rail and infrastructure, concrete structures, water 
and wastewater treatment, conveyance and water storage/pumping facilities. 
 
Office Location | Phone: 580 West Beach Street, Watsonville, CA  95076  |   831.763.6100 

Years of Experience:  34 years in the industry | 23 years with Granite Construction 

Education:   San Jose State University, Meteorology, 1974 – 1976  
Foothill College, Aeronautics and Meteorology 1971-1974 

 
Professional Experience: 

• Strategic Project Planning 
• Cost Reduction Initiatives 
• Quality Control Management 
• Constructability Reviews 

• Project Resource Management 
• Schedule and critical path 
• Project Resource Management  
• Technical Engineering Expertise 

 

Relevant Experience: 

San Clemente Dam Removal and Carmel River 
Reroute, Carmel Valley, CA  $65 million  
As Senior Estimator, Nick’s role on this $60M 
California American Water Company project was 
Senior Estimator. His duties/responsibilities included 
managing the design and estimating the 
construction costs of this complex project.  The 
scope of work for this project consists of the 
following elements: excavation of sediment, 
construction of the diversion dike, stabilized 
sediment slope, reroute channel rock excavation & 
processing, demolition of the existing dam and 
project dewatering. This project has environmental complexities that required brainstorming, 
consulting with environmental experts and considerations for these complexities within each phase 
of the project. 
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Senior Estimator/Design Build Coordinator – Guam Mamizu, Guam 2011 – 2012 
Nick was responsible for estimating and managing the design and construction for NAVFAC’s 
$90M infrastructure improvement project at Naval Base Apra Harbor and ACE (Air Combat 
Element) Gate Anderson AFB, Guam. Some key elements included trenchless rehabilitation of 12” 
sanitary sewer, construction of bilge oily waste collection and treatment facilities, potable water 
system, site dewatering, distribution of 13.8 kV power to new electric substations, step-down and 
distribution of 480/240V power and communications to improved wharf facilities. 

Senior Estimator –Santan Freeway SR202L I10 to Gilbert Road Construct HOV Lanes, 
Phoenix, Arizona 2010 
Nick’s role on this $85M Arizona Department of Transportation project was Senior Estimator. His 
duties/responsibilities included managing the design and estimating construction costs of the 
following: drainage, concrete barrier, concrete paving and hot mixed asphalt concrete paving 
 
Senior Estimator – Lake Nacimiento Spillway Modifications, Lake Nacimiento, California 
2008 
Nick’s role on this $11M Monterey Water Resources Agency project involved estimating the 
modifications for the existing ogee concrete spillway and construction/installation of an Obermeyer 
inflatable dam. 

Senior Estimator/Project Manager – Cannery Row Hotel Sitework, Monterey, California 2007 
– 2008 
Nick’s role on the $2.81M Intercontinental The Clement Monterey Hotel subcontract involved 
estimating and managing the sitework and infrastructure for this new Cannery Row hotel, which 
included demolition of existing foundations, cast-in-place concrete foundations within the tide line 
of the Monterey Bay Sanctuary. The project was awarded California Construction Magazine’s “Best 
of 2008” award for managing work within the Monterey Bay Sanctuary. 

Senior Estimator– College Campus Improvements, Monterey, California 2007   
Nick was responsible for work with the facilities manager in preparing the preliminary budgets and 
then the ultimate final estimate and construction of this $12M sitework project for Monterey 
Peninsula College. The project involved the construction and rehabilitation of the campus 
infrastructure including sanitary sewer, potable water, reclaimed water, storm drain, electrical, 
communications, demolition, grading, site concrete construction and HMA concrete paving.  

Senior Estimator/Project Manager – Wastewater Treatment Plants Addition, Carmel Valley 
Ranch/Pasadera/Las Palmas Ranch, California 2006 
Nick, as estimator $680,000 California American Water Company provided estimating & managing 
the installation of sludge presses supplied by the owner at three separate treatment facilities. 

Senior Estimator/Project Manager – Wastewater Treatment Plant Upgrade, Greenfield, 
California 2006 
Nick was responsible for estimating and managing the construction of a below-grade cast-in-place 
concrete primary clarifier, concrete headworks modifications, sludge and scum pumps, electrical 
service upgrade, instrumentation and control building for this $2M City of Greenfield project. 
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Phillip Lee, CSP 
Corporate Safety Manager 

Safety Professional in Heavy Civil Construction and Construction Materials/Mining areas including 
underground utilities, excavation & embankment, grading and paving, retaining walls, structures, 
rock crushing, and hot asphalt concrete plants, and aggregate mining . Philip has been involved in 
both large and small, public and private projects including: utility and street reconstruct Safety 
Professional in Heavy Civil Construction and Construction Materials/Mining areas including 
underground utilities, excavation & embankment, grading and paving, retaining walls, structures, 
rock crushing, and hot asphalt concrete plants, and aggregate mining . Philip has been involved in 
both large and small, public and private projects including: utility and street reconstruct projects, 
major site development projects, highway and infrastructure. Mr. Lee has helped lead safety and 
health compliance, injury prevention, and culture efforts exemplified by the reduction in the 
experience modifications ratings (EMRs) to 0.6 and OSHA Recordable rates of below 1.5. projects, 
major site development projects, highway and infrastructure. Mr. Lee has helped lead safety and 
health compliance, injury prevention, and culture efforts exemplified by the reduction in the 
experience modifications ratings (EMRs) to 0.6 and OSHA Recordable rates of below 1.5. His 25 
years of construction experience has a proven track record of building and leading high performance 
teams. He has successfully led projects with 40+ salaried employees and over 100 craft workers.   
He has worked on large and/or alternate delivery projects, including design build and Construction 
Manager/General Contractor formats and others to provide the best value to the customer.  
 
Office Location | Phone: 580 West Beach Street, Watsonville, CA  95076  |   831.763.6100 

Years of Experience:  25 years in the industry | 25 years with Granite Construction 

Education:   B.S., Occupational Safety and Health/Murray State, Kentucky 
 

Professional Experience: 
• Strategic Safety Planning 
• Minimize safety issues 
• Quality Control Management 
• Constructability Reviews 

• Project Resource Management 
• Schedule and critical path 
• Project Resource Management  
• Technical Engineering Expertise 

 

Relevant Experience: 

SNorman Y. Mineta/San Jose International Airport Terminal A 
Improvement, California 
Area Safety Manager. Mr. Lee managed a safety 
team and provided oversight for the Granite Site 
Safety Coordinator for this $700 million City of San 
Jose design-build project. He managed the safety 
and health of 100-plus employees, including 
subcontractors. He assisted the Site Safety 
Coordinator in organizing systems to manage the 
safety of the public pathways, airport operations, and 
several large subcontractors and with job hazard 
analyses for various phases of the project. 
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Stonebrae Country Club and Villages, Hayward, California 
Site Safety Coordinator. Mr. Lee managed the safety and health of 100-plus employees on this $94 
million private site development project, including multiple subcontractors. He worked on a daily 
basis with the Project Team to pre-plan and develop job hazard analyses and conducted daily work 
area safety inspections. He managed the procurement of specialty safety equipment, managed 
and conducted accident investigations and reviews, implemented orientations for new employees 
and provided safety training on confined spaces, fall protection, first aid and CPR, etc. Stonebrae, 
LLC, the client, benefited from Mr. Lee managing OSHA Recordable Incident Rates. 
 
Alviso Boat Launch, California 
Safety Manager. Mr. Lee provided the safety program for this project in the marsh/wetlands at the 
northern most part of San Jose, where the Guadalupe River reaches the Bay. The safety program 
was designed around the risks associated with working around water, including drowning and 
hypothermia hazards. Mr. Lee’s safety program specified the use of proper equipment, and 
established the necessary rescue capabilities. Crane and concrete work next to water, in which 
outriggers of cranes may need to be set in unstable soils, requires special attention to safety 
orientation and training. The Alviso project also presented safety hazards related to regular 
deliveries of dirt by large hauling trucks dumping in a tightly confined area. Mr. Lee worked closely 
with on-site safety and environmental supervisors to ensure that there were no lost time accidents 
or environmental violations. Mentored project staff including QC manager. Actively participated in 
the safety program including safety team job site inspections. Participated in strategy discussions 
including scheduling, work planning, and claims resolution. 
 
South Terminal Site Prep Project, San Francisco, California 
Safety Officer. Mr. Lee was responsible for daily oversight and implementation of the Health and 
Safety Plan, development and implementation of Standard Operating Procedures for safety critical 
operations, and ensuring operations and personnel comply with all safety requirements as 
specified in the Contract Documents. This $1.4 million project, performed for the San Francisco 
Joint Powers Board, involved blasting and significant dirt work and grading, with as many as 30 
scrapers at work on the site. Scope included: removing existing facilities, removing and salvaging 
existing track work, performing excavation and backfill, including stockpiling soil impacted by 
contaminants, and performing signal work at the Caltrain South Terminal. The project was 
completed without a safety incident. Train operations were maintained at all times and our crews 
sustained service to the existing utilities without incident. 
 
San Mateo County Grade Crossing Project, California 
Safety Officer. With similar responsibilities as the South Terminal Site Prep Project, Mr. Lee was 
involved with delivering this $7.9 million San Francisco Joint Powers Board project with Zero 
Recordable Injuries and no incidents involving public safety. This project included but not limited to: 
installation of underground signal conduits, utility boxes, railroad signal control houses, 
roadway/railroad concrete crossing panels, performing excavation and backfill, guardrails, right-of-
way fences, concrete sidewalks, median islands, paving & striping, handicap station platforms, and 
pulling electrical cables and connecting new signal systems. Train operations were maintained at 
all times and our crews sustained service to the existing utilities without incidents. 
 
Route 87: Julian to Highway 101, San Jose, California 
Site Safety Coordinator. Mr. Lee managed the safety and health of multiple Granite crews and 
subcontractors on this $21 million project. His responsibilities and duties involved daily safety 
inspections, traffic control plans, and fall prevention on bridge and abutment structures. The project 
required safety considerations and practices for multiple traffic switches/phases, construction of 
three bridge structures, several bridge abutments, and excavation of surcharge, drainage, grading 
and paving. 
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Wayne Bounds 
Project Safety Manager 

Mr. Bounds is an experienced Safety Professional with a demonstrated capacity to lead diverse 
Loss Control/Risk Engineer teams with flexibility and versatility. Diligent, hard-working, reliable and 
trustworthy, with a strong sense of perseverance in task completion. Able to successfully analyze an 
organization's critical business requirements, identify deficiencies and potential hazardous 
situations. Proficient in developing innovative and cost-effective solutions for enhancing safety 
performance. Strong technical background directing/managing safety related operations for 
commercial projects. Earth & Concrete Dams, tunneling, underground mining, railroad and light rail 
experience. Experience and knowledgeable with OCIP/CCIP projects.  Claims Liaison with Workers 
Compensation, General Liability, and Auto Insurance claims. Bilingual and business oriented with 
substance abuse management experience, environmental compliance oversight and Return to Work 
program.  Developed Health & Safety Programs, Safety Manuals, Site Specific Safety Plans, Illness 
& Injury Prevention Programs, and Job Hazard Analysis (JHA). Proficient in the US Army Corps of 
Engineers EM-385-1-1. 
 
Office Location | Phone: 580 West Beach Street, Watsonville, CA  95076  |   831.763.6100 

Years of Experience:  21 years in the industry | 1 year with Granite Construction 

Education: Western New Mexico University – Business Management  
 New Mexico State University – Business Management 
 
Professional Experience: 

• Large Challenging Projects 
• Best Practice Initiatives 
• Quality Control Forecasting 

Management 
• Constructability Reviews 

• Project Resource Liaison 
• Leading Schedule and critical path 
• Project Resource Management  
• Technical Engineering Expertise 

 

Relevant Experience: 

Granite Project On-Site Safety Manager, Silicon Valley Private Client, CA   
o Directing Safety staff of one other individual  
o Perform job site safety inspections  
o Manage Return to Work program with employees and medical professionals 
o Assist and or facilitate required weekly Tool Box Safety Meetings 
o Manage Job Hazard Analysis  
o Facilitate fact finding, Root Cause Analysis for injury/incident investigations 
o Chair Safety committee 
o Participate in pre-construction meetings 
o Participate in OSHA Inspections  
o Review critical crane lift plans  
o Ensure sub-contractors are in compliance with site specific Safety Program 
o Train employees & deliver manager training of crane regulated certifications, authorized personnel, 

and equipment inspections 
o Perform daily job site safety inspections/audits 
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Malcolm Drilling Co., San Francisco, California. Safety Director - 2003-2014 
o Directing Safety staff of four (4) individuals that cover multiple sites across US 
o Perform job site safety inspections  
o Claims Management for Workers Compensation, General Liability, & Automobile 
o Generate monthly man hour reports (Severity Ratings)  
o Create Return to Work program with employees, medical professionals, project personnel 
o Earth and/or Concrete Dam experience w/ proficiency in the EM-385-1-1. 
o Assist and or facilitate required weekly Tool Box Safety Meetings 
o Manage Job Hazard Analysis  
o Manage Safety Incentive Program 
o Manage and coordinate substance abuse testing 
o Facilitate fact finding, Root Cause Analysis for injury/incident investigations 
o Chair Safety committee 
o Participate in pre-construction meetings 
o Participate in OSHA Inspections  
o Review critical crane lift plans  
o Coordinate Safety Stand downs/evacuation drills 
o Maintain OSHA 300 Logs for 11 locations 
o Ensure sub-contractors are in compliance with site specific Safety Program 
o Train employees & deliver manager training of crane regulated certifications, authorized personnel, 

and equipment inspections 
 
Zurich – North American Construction Services, Sacramento, CA  Risk Engineer-2000-2003.  

o As  Commercial/residential project consultation 
o Civil and heavy equipment construction 
o Participated in claim reviews with clients 
o Safety Risk Consultation for contractors working under OCIP 
o Account coordinator for construction clients in Northern CA, OR, WA 

 
James Hamilton Construction, Silver City, New Mexico – Safety Supervisor – 1994-2000 

o Drilling, blasting, and excavation areas 
o Rock crushing operation in producing base coarse material 
o Excavation trenches, installation of HDPE pipelines, traffic control across mine roads 
o Environmental cleanup, prevention projects and concrete work 
o Respirator testing of employees working in SXEW tank house 
o Crane and ATV safety instruction and training 
o Employee task training in pre-operation inspections of cranes, excavation equipment, off- road 

trucks, fusing machines, and hand equipment 
o Welding fabrication of buildings and pipelines at SXEW, mine, concentrator, and smelter plants 
o Environmental cleanup sites requiring Hazardous Waste Operations and Emergency Response 

(HAZWOPER) training and conducting blood level monitoring for toxic metals 
o Traffic control and bridge supporting for the move of a 200-ton electric shovel  

 
References: 

John Davis, General Superintendent – Malcolm Drilling, 626.222.1972 
jdavis@malcolmdrilling.com   
Theresa Tanzillo, Contracts Manager – Malcolm Drilling, 415.901.4400 
ttanzillo@malcolmdrilling.com  

mailto:jdavis@malcolmdrilling.com
mailto:ttanzillo@malcolmdrilling.com
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Jerry Lynch 
On-Site QA/QC Manager 

Mr.  Lynch has over 10 years of progressive experience as Project Engineer, and on-site quality 
control manager for heavy civil construction projects. His relevant experience includes quality 
assurance, quality control, project controls (cost control, scheduling, procurement, and contract 
administration) and construction management for major Design-Bid-Build and alternative delivery 
projects.  Jerry has project experience with focus in quality control and engineering and inspection 
for more than 10 years. He provided the QA/QC and Project Engineer role for Caltrain's San Bruno 
Grade Separation Project, from 2012 to 2014, which is in the Project Profile as Project #5.   Most 
recently, Jerry has been the on-site Quality Control Manager for a Silicon Valley Private Client.  He 
has been responsible to lead and manage the quality program, providing testing, auditing and 
inspections.  He Manages and performs various Quality Control checks and processes to ensure 
delivery to the client a high quality product.  He also Records and assures approval from third party 
tests and inspections for every step of the project including installation of underground utilities, 
waterproofing, reinforcing steel, formwork, concrete placement, and structural steel. Jerry is very 
proactive managing important aspects of construction projects, as he specializes in results-driven  
performance and quality. His experience encompasses quality assurance and quality control, with 
each work phase including commissioning and SCADA systems.  
 
Office Location | Phone: 580 West Beach Street, Watsonville, CA  95076  |   831.763.6100 

Years of Experience:  13 years in the industry | 4 years with Granite Construction 

Education: B.S. Civil Engineering, California State Univ - Sacramento  
 M.S. Civil Engineering, UC Davis,  EIT, Civil, CA 
 

Professional Experience: 
• Strategic QA/QC Processes 
• Cost Reduction Initiatives  
• Quality Control Management 
• Constructability Reviews 

• Project Resource Management 
• Schedule and Critical path 
• Project QA Management  
• Technical Engineering Expertise 

 

Relevant Experience: 

Silicon Valley Private Clilent, Silicon Valley, CA  $40 million  
Mr.  Lynch provides management and direction for the on-site project in Silicon Valley, which 
requires management of quality program, testing, and inspections.  He manages and perform 
various Quality Control checks and processes to deliver a high quality product.  He also records 
and assure approved third party tests and inspections for every step of the project including 
installation of underground utilities, waterproofing, reinforcing steel, formwork, concrete placement, 
and structural steel. A concrete tunnel required over 27,000 CY of concrete placement, with 
stringent quality specifications.  Mr. Lynch revised the QC plan to include and prepare for ISO 
compliance and the corresponding audits. He also negotiated terms and conditions for design 
subcontract, negotiate terms and conditions for key subcontractors (drill and blast rock, drill and 
blast dam concrete, dewatering, channel restoration, soil bentonite mixing etc.). He actively 
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participated in design task groups to develop design plans and specifications. Jerry also mentored 
project staff as well as actively participated in the safety program including safety team job site 
inspections. He participated in strategy discussions including scheduling, work planning, and 
claims resolution. 

San Bruno Grade Separation Project – Caltrain, San Bruno, CA  $99 million 
Project Engineer and On-Site QA/QC Manager, 2012 -2013, 2013– 2014 
As Project Engineer and On-Site QA/QC Manager, he coordinated and supervised and various 
work phases in which Granite Construction self-performed operations including underground 
utilities, asphalt paving, and concrete structures.  Substantial efforts required for this complex 
project in which he managed and directed teams, planning and coordination was needed as quality 
focus was needed during the inspection of various subcontractors work to ensure compliance with 
contract and specifications. The grade separation project included building a temporary station, 
demolishing the old station, and building the new elevated alignment to eliminate three at grade 
crossings.  Project includes 4,000 ft of elevated track and two platforms for loading/unloading of 
passengers.  Adjacent city streets were reconstructed including underground utility installation and 
relocation with a finish asphalt surface. Each phase of work required quality oversight to lead the 
quality focus of each work phase.   
 

Port of MacKenzie Rail Extension – Alaska Railroad Corporation, Alaska, $12 million 
As Project Engineer with QA/QC focus during 2013 Alaska Season, his responsibilities included;   
Management of quality, schedule, subcontractors, and on-site crushing.  Tracked quantities daily 
and weekly to report progress and maintain schedule.  Environmental sensitive area due to 
proximity of Little Susitna River and marsh lands.  The $12 million new rail alignment included 
three different main lines.  Excavations of over 30 ft deep and over 500,000 CY of excavation and 
over 100,000 CY of crushed and/or mined material suitable for rail bed prior to ballast.  Portable 
crusher on site to make specified gradations of classified fill.  Two culverts were bored under live 
rail with extensive dewatering due to water level table.  One single span steel bridge installed on 
concrete abutment and deep piers. 
 

Randazzo Enterprises Inc. – Extended Bay Area 
As Foreman/Laborer, Jerry Coordinated the various projects of different size, complexity and  
schedule, as well as supervised the labor, trucking, and equipment to complete job. Additionally 
Jerry served as an equipment operator as needed to accomplish tasks on time and with high 
quality as his focus, doing it right the first time.  Various projects included interior, exterior, and 
structural demolition.  Interior demolition of building of retail, schools, office building, and hotels.  
Complete demolition of warehouses and residential structures were also included in the project 
portfolio that he has completed. 
  

 



5.2.2.2.b  Key Contractor Team
 Personnel Resum

es 

2 – Key Personnel Resumes:  
Submit resumes of key personnel who will be assigned to this Project and who will contribute a 
significant effort. Each resume must include name, qualifications and the anticipated degree of 
involvement during each of the construction and commissioning phases of the Project. The 
resumes should provide evidence that the key personnel have sufficient experience and training to 
competently manage and complete the construction of the Project. Personnel resumes shall be 
limited to one (1) double-sided page in length for each resume and shall be part of the Appendix. 
Submit the following resumes:  
 
A. Key Contractor Management Personnel Resumes: Key personnel include: Project Executive, 
Construction Principal, and any other management team leaders with key responsibility for day-to-
day execution of the Project.  
 
B. Key Contractor Team Personnel Resumes: Key personnel include professionals who will be 
assigned to this Project to provide quality control, and construction management leadership. 
Identify any specialty subcontractors.  
 
C. Key Construction Team Personnel Resumes: Key personnel include professionals who will be 
assigned to this Project to provide schedule, quality control, safety and construction leadership in 
specific areas of the work.  
 



 

 

 
W I L L I A M  J .  H E N D R I C K S O N ,  P . E .  

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 
01/2011 – Present          DN Tanks, Inc.  El Cajon, California 
Executive Vice President 
 
 Responsible for the project management operations of the company.  Primary responsibilities to ensure growth and 
profit objectives.  Maintain profitable and timely project completions consistent with quality standards.  Develop and 
continue relationships with past, current and prospective clients, consulting engineers and municipalities.  Advise officers 
on matters relevant to the acquisition and disposal of resources.  
 Administer and oversee the work of the engineering, construction, maintenance, research and development, shop and 
shipping departments.  Prioritize, schedule and delegate projects as required.  Manage, hire, train, discipline and provide 
support to department managers.  Conduct bi-annual employee reviews and assist in career development of personnel.   
 Continue the development of the organization and its personnel.  Implement and maintain a continued education 
program for personnel.  Establish personnel policies and employee duties and responsibilities in coordination with other 
departments. Acquire and maintain multi-state engineering and contracting licenses. 
 Develop annual department budget to support strategic direction of company.  Ensure that department and company 
goals are met. 

04/98 – 12/2010          DYK Incorporated, a Division of DN Tanks  El Cajon, California 
Vice President  
 
 Responsible for the project management operations of the company.  Primary responsibilities to ensure growth and 
profit objectives.  Maintain profitable and timely project completions consistent with quality standards.  Develop and 
continue relationships with past, current and prospective clients, consulting engineers and municipalities.  Advise officers 
on matters relevant to the acquisition and disposal of resources.  
 Administer and oversee the work of the engineering, construction, maintenance, research and development, shop and 
shipping departments.  Prioritize, schedule and delegate projects as required.  Manage, hire, train, discipline and provide 
support to department managers.  Conduct bi-annual employee reviews and assist in career development of personnel.   
 Continue the development of the organization and its personnel.  Implement and maintain a continued education 
program for personnel.  Establish personnel policies and employee duties and responsibilities in coordination with other 
departments. Acquire and maintain multi-state engineering and contracting licenses. 
 Develop annual department budget to support strategic direction of company.  Ensure that department and company 
goals are met. 

10/85 – 04/98   DYK Prestressed Tanks, Inc.     El Cajon, California 
Senior Structural Engineer 

 Responsible for the plan, development and coordination of multiple multi-million dollar projects from design phase 
through construction.  Establish design criteria, prepare technical specifications and determine effective structural system 
based on seismic requirements and environmental impact.  Assist in tank sales and marketing promotions including 
client contact, advertising, seminars, design assistance, bidding assistance and construction follow-up 
 Manage, train and provide support to engineering staff in their career development phases. Schedule, prioritize and 
delegate projects as required. Establish annual department budgets and objectives to ensure department and company 
goals are met.  
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03/83 - 10/85    DYK Prestressed Tanks, Inc. El Cajon, California 
Structural Engineer 

 Responsible for the design, analysis and project management of prestressed concrete tanks, ranging in capacities from 
300,000 gallons to 33 million gallons. Liaison between engineering and construction/prestressing departments. Typical 
duties include design and analysis of liquid retaining structures based on the most current editions of the UBC, ACI-318, 
ACI-350, AWWA-D110, material take-off, project specifications, construction scheduling, shop drawings, on-site 
inspections and direct contact with general contractors, sub-contractors and clients to ensure customer satisfaction. 
Recommend repairs and seismic upgrades to tanks to ensure compliance with minimum current code standards. 
Supervise and review work of Design Engineers and Drafters in preparation of construction drawings. Assist in tank 
sales and marketing promotions including client contact, advertising, seminars, design assistance, bidding assistance and 
construction follow-up. 
 Produce design and analysis of prestressed concrete reservoirs, steel walkways, access bridges, stair towers, 
miscellaneous appurtenances, etc. Duties include elabration of calculations, drawings, specifications and shop drawings 
for tanks of various capacities. 

01/82 - 03/83    Purdue University W. Lafayette, Indiana 
Teaching Assistant 

 
 Taught a first course in "Strength of Materials" to a class of 54.  Full responsibilities for lectures, homework, tests and 
grades.  
 
05/81 - 01/82     Purdue University W. Lafayette, Indiana 
Research Assistant 

 
 Modified an existing structural analysis program written in Fortran to enhance its use as a teaching tool.  
 
08/79 - 09/80   American Bridge (Div. of U.S. Steel)  Indiana 
Design Draftsman 

 
 Structural steel drafting, steel design drafting and steel design. 
 

DESIGN EXPERIENCE 
Below is a partial list of projects in which Mr. Hendrickson has been the Design Engineer: 

                 . 

 Description     Location   
 1.8 MG Water     San Ramon, CA 
 0.9 MG Water     Altadena, CA 
 40.0 MG Water    San Marcos, CA 
 4.0 MG Water     Yuba City, CA 
 2 – 4.2 MG Water    Placerville, CA 
 2 – 4.5 MG Water    Contra Coasta, CA 
 1.0 MG Water     Hamilton, MT 
 3.5 MG Water     Colorado Springs, CO 
 1.5 MG Water     Oro Valley, AZ 
 3.0 MG Water      Herriman, UT 
 1.0 MG Water      Big Sky, MT 
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 1.0 MG Water      Columbia City, OR 
 1.6 MG Water      Simi Valley, CA 
 3.5 MG Water      Goleta, CA 
 2 – 6.9 MG Water    San Diego, CA  
 3.5 MG Water     Irvine, CA  
 35.0 MG Water    San Diego, CA  
 2.0 MG Water      Escondido, CA 
 10.0 MG Water    Rocklin, CA  
 1.25 MG Water    Costa Mesa, CA  
 2 x 0.75 MG Flow Equalization Basins  San Diego, CA  
 2 x 1.6 MG Digesters    Bakersfield, CA  
 2 x 0.7 MG Digesters    Shafter, CA  
 2.5 MG Water     La Habra, CA  
 2 x 1.4 MG Water    San Diego, CA   
 3 x 3.1 MG Water    San Diego, CA 
 2 x 21.0 MG Water    San Diego, CA  
    

EDUCATION 

Purdue University W. Lafayette, Indiana 
M.S. in Civil Engineering    GPA: 5.62 
 
B.S. in Civil Engineering     GPA: 5.73 
 
 Honorary fraternities:  Chi Epsilon, Tau Beta Pi 
 

ACCREDITATIONS 
Registered as a Professional Engineer in the states of Arizona, California, Colorado, Hawaii, Idaho, 
Montana, New Mexico, New York, Ohio, Oregon, Washington and Wyoming. 

 

ADDITIONAL PROFESSIONAL ACTIVITIES 
• Alternate member of American Concrete Institute ACI-344 Committee 

 

PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS 
• American Concrete Institute (ACI) 

• American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) 

• American Water Works Association (AWWA) 

 

 



 Report Date: 2/4/2015  Proprietary and confidential information. Information contained herein is the property of DN Tanks and intended soley for the use of the authorized personnel listed on the routi

Engineer:
CDM Smith
9220 Cleveland Avenue, Suite 100
Rancho Cucamonga, CA 91730
(909) 579-3500

SHN Consulting Engineers & Geologists, 
812 West Wabash Avenue
Eureka, CA, USA  95501-2138
(707) 441-8855

AECOM (Fresno)
1360 East Spruce Avenue
Fresno, CA, USA  93720
(559) 448-8222

AECOM (Camarillo)
1220 Avenida Acaso
Camarillo, CA, USA  93012
(805) 388-3775

Reid Engineering, Inc.
1210 Princess Anne Street
Fredericksburg, CA, USA  22401
(540) 371-8500

Keller Associates, Inc.
131 S.W. 5th Avenue, Suite A
Meridian, ID, USA  83642
(208) 288-1992

Engineering by Owner

   

Stantec Consulting, Inc.
Floor3
Woodland Hills, CA, USA  91367-2434
(805) 495-6522

RBF Consulting
14725 Alton Parkway
Irvine, CA, USA  92618-2027
(949) 472-3505

Infrastructure Engineering Corporation
14271 Danielson Street
Poway, CA, USA  92064-8818
(858) 413-2400Year Built:  2007 (760) 744-0460

Ground Storage 201 Vallecitos de Oro
 1 - 40.00 MG San Marcos, CA, USA  92069-1453

San Marcos, CA, USA Vallecitos Water District

Year Built:  2007 (626) 812-5080

Azusa, CA, USA Azusa Light & Water Dept.
Ground Storage 729 N. Azusa Avenue
 2 - 3.34 MG  Azusa, CA, USA  91702-9500

 1 - 0.98 MG  Thousand Oaks, CA, USA  91361
Year Built:  2008 (805) 371-0224

Lake Sherwood, CA, USA Sherwood Development Company
Ground Storage 2300 Norfield Court

Year Built:  2009 (866) 403-2683

Reuse 375 11th Street
 1 - 1.80 MG Oakland, CA, USA  94607-4240

San Ramon, CA, USA East Bay MUD 

Year Built:  2009 (208) 468-4423

Nampa, ID, USA City of Nampa
Ground Storage City Hall
 1 - 3.00 MG Nampa, ID, USA  83651-3721

 2 - 2.30 MG Livingston, CA, USA  95334
Year Built:  2009

Livingston, CA, USA Foster Poultry Farms
1333 Swan Street

Year Built:  2011 (310) 257-1478

Ground Storage 2632 W. 237th Street
 1 - 4.00 MG Torrance, CA, USA  90505

Thousand Oaks, CA, USA California Water Service Company

Year Built:  2012 (559) 621-1496

Fresno, CA, USA City of Fresno (Department of Public Utilities)
Ground Storage 2101 G Street
 1 - 3.00 MG  Fresno, CA, USA  93706-1620

Year Built:  2013 (707) 725-1469

Fortuna, CA, USA City of Fortuna
Ground Storage 621 11th Street
 1 - 2.00 MG Fortuna, CA, USA  95540-0545

 2 - 2.00 MG    Riverside, CA, USA  92522
Year Built:  2014 (951) 782-5672

Project Information: Owner:
Riverside, CA, USA City of Riverside Water Util.
Aerobic Digester 3900 Main St., 4th Floor

Statement of Experience
 William J. Hendrickson, P.E.
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Engineer:
Civiltec Engineering, Inc.
118 West Lime Avenue
Monrovia, CA, USA  91016
(626) 357-0588

PSOMAS
Suite 155,e 5650 El Camino Real
Carlsbad, CA, USA  92008
(760) 433-8710

Brown & Caldwell
201 N Civic Dr.
Walnut Creek, CA, USA  94596
(925) 210-2229

HDR Engineering, Inc. (Folsom)
2365 Iron Point Road, Suite 300
Folsom, CA, USA  95630-8709
(916) 817-4700

Wallace Group
612 Clarion Court
San Luis Obispo, CA, USA  93401
(805) 544-4011

Engineering by Owner

   

CH2M Hill
Suite 300
Tempe, AZ, USA  85282-3397
(480) 966-8188

Engineering by Owner

   

Engineering by Owner

   

HDR Engineering, Inc.
1715 South Reserve Street, Suite C
Missoula, MT, USA  59801-4708
(406) 532-2200

 1 - 1.00 MG  Hamilton, MT, USA  59840-2557
Year Built:  2004 (406) 363-2101

Hamilton, MT, USA City of Hamilton
Ground Storage 223 S. 2nd Street

Year Built:  2004 (866) 403-2683

Ground Storage 375 11th Street
 1 - 4.50 MG Oakland, CA, USA  94607-4240

Contra Costa County, CA, USA East Bay MUD (Main)

Year Built:  2005 (530) 622-4534

Placerville, CA, USA El Dorado Irrigation District 
Ground Storage 2890 Mosquito Road
 2 - 4.20 MG  Placerville, CA, USA  95667-4700

 1 - 1.50 MG Oro Valley, AZ, USA  85737
Year Built:  2005 (520) 229-5023

Oro Valley, AZ, USA Oro Valley Water Utility
Ground Storage 11000 N. La Canada Drive

Year Built:  2005 (866) 403-2683

Ground Storage 375 11th Street
 1 - 4.50 MG  Oakland, CA, USA  94607-4240

Contra Costa County, CA, USA East Bay MUD (Main)

Year Built:  2005 (805) 473-5440

Arroyo Grande, CA, USA City of Arroyo Grande Public Works Department
Ground Storage 208 East Branch Street
 1 - 2.00 MG Arroyo Grande, CA, USA  93420

 1 - 4.00 MG  Yuba City, CA, USA  95991
Year Built:  2006 (530) 822-7685

Yuba City, CA, USA City of Yuba City (Northgate office)
Ground Storage 701 Northgate Drive

Year Built:  2006 (408) 535-8415

Ground Storage 200 East Santa Clara Street, 6th Floor
 2 - 2.75 MG San Jose, CA, USA  95113-1905

San Jose, CA, USA City of San Jose (E. Santa Clara)

Year Built:  2006 (760) 753-6466

Encinitas, CA, USA Olivenhain Municipal Water District
Ground Storage 1966 Olivenhain Rd.
 1 - 2.50 MG  Encinitas, CA, USA  92024-5676

 1 - 0.90 MG Altadena, CA, USA  91001
Year Built:  2006 (626) 798-9101

Altadena, CA, USA Lincoln Avenue Water Co.
Ground Storage 564 W Harriet St.

Project Information: Owner:



 

 

 

 

S H E L L Y  P .  A N D E R S O N ,  P . E .  

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE 

08/11 – Present          DN Tanks, Inc.                                                                 El Cajon, California 
Manager, Construction Operations 
 
Responsible for the construction operations of multiple domestic and international multi-million dollar 
projects.   Primary responsibilities are to ensure corporate growth objectives and maintain safe, 
efficient, cost-effective and timely completion of tank construction operations consistent with quality 
standards.  Develop and maintain relationships with past, current and prospective clients and 
contractors.  Administer and oversee the activities of the project management and field construction 
staff.  Prioritize, schedule and delegate projects as required.  Ensure that activities are properly 
coordinated to achieve corporate objectives in an efficient and effective manner.  Manage, hire, train, 
discipline and provide support to project managers.   

 
02/05 – 08/11             DYK Incorporated, a Division of DN Tanks       El Cajon, California 
Project Manager 
 
Responsible for overseeing the complete construction of multi-million dollar construction projects.  
Responsibilities including but not limited to the construction, scheduling, estimating, and ordering of material 
for prestressed concrete reservoirs.  Duties also include reviewing and approving Engineering drawings, rebar 
detailing drawings and submittals. 
 
10/03-2/05              DYK Incorporated, a Division of DN Tanks       El Cajon, California 
Assistant Manager of Engineering 
 
Responsible for supervising and checking the work of Engineers, Draftsmen and interns.  Responsible for 
designing and stamping drawing of liquid retaining structures. 
 
8/97 – 10/03              DYK Incorporated, a Division of DN Tanks       El Cajon, California 
Assistant Engineer 
 
Responsible for the complete design of liquid retaining structures, including the analysis of floor slabs, 
isolated and continuous footings, mat slab foundations, columns, walls and roofing systems.  Designed 
structures in conformance with the most current editions of the UBC, ACI-318, ACI-350, AWWA D110 and 
the LRFD.  Analyzed structures for hydrostatic and hydrodynamic loading conditions.  Designed two way 
roof slab systems based on the direct design method and the equivalent frame method, designed structures to 
act as retaining walls for sliding stability.  Analyzed prestressed concrete and steel elements. 
 
 

 



Page 2 of 3 
 

 
CONSTRUCTION EXPERIENCE 
Below is a partial list of projects in which Ms. Anderson has been the Project Manager: 
                  
 Description     Location   
 1.8 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   San Ramon, CA 
 2.2 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   San Ramon, CA 
 4.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Clements, CA 
 40.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   San Marcos, CA 
 5.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   El Segundo, CA 
 2.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Corona, CA 

0.1 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   San Francisco, CA 
0.2 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Teton County, WY 
0.2 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Jackson, WY 
0.4 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Henderson, NV 
0.48 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Henderson, NV 
0.5 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Albuquerque, NM 
0.5 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Scottsdale, AZ 
0.75 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Maricopa, CA 
0.9 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Altadena, CA 
0.975 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir  Lake Sherwood, CA 
1.1 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Antioch, CA 
1.2 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Dublin, CA 
1.2 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Rogue River, OR 
1.5 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Atascadero, CA 
10.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Anaheim, CA 
11.8 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Riverside, CA 
2 – 2.3 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoirs   Livingston, CA 
2 – 2.5 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoirs  Escondido, CA 
2 – 2.75 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoirs  San Jose, CA 
2 – 3.34 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoirs  Azusa, CA 
2.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Daly City, CA 
2.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Ammon, ID 
2.5 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Corona, CA 
2.7 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Lafayette, CA 
2.9 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Oakland, CA 
2.9 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Roseville, CA 
3.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Oro Valley, AZ 
6.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Yucapia, CA 

 3.8 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Carpinteria, CA 
 4.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Azusa, CA 
 4.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Sherwood, OR 
 7.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Scottsdale, AZ 
 4.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Sacramento, CA 
 3.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Portland, OR 
 7.25 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Roseville, CA 
 4.3 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Davis, CA 
 4.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   San Bernardino, CA 
 4.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Stockton, CA 
 5.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Ogden, UT 
 2.2 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Junction City, OR 
 3.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Lodi, CA 
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DESIGN EXPERIENCE 
Below is a partial list of projects in which Ms. Anderson has been the Design Engineer: 
                 . 
 Description     Location   
 8.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Foster City, CA 
 5.0 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   El Segundo, CA 
 2 – 4.2 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir  Placerville, CA 
 0.34 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Henderson, NV 

0.37 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Henderson, NV 
0.39 MG D110 Type 1 Reservoir   Henderson, NV 
 

 
EDUCATION 
University of California San Diego, California 
B.S. in Structural Engineering 
     
 
ACCREDITATIONS 
Registered as a Professional Engineer in the states of Arizona, California, Montana, and Alaska 
ACI Concrete Field Testing Technician – Grade 1 
 
 
PROFESSIONAL MEMBERSHIPS 
American Concrete Institute (ACI) 
American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE) 

 
 

 



  
GENERAL ENGINEERING CONTRACTORS: STATE CONTRACTORS LICENSE NO. 160382 

727 UNIVERSITY AVENUE, LOS GATOS, CA  95032   PHONE: (408) 377-2793  - FAX: (408) 354-7599 
WWW.SANCOPIPELINES.COM 

 

 

Tim David 
Sanco Pipelines - Vice President of Operations/Estimator 
 
1999-Present      

Estimates projects and supervises crews & field operations for underground 
storm sewer, water and fire system installation. 
Responsibilities include: 
- Overseeing daily operations of field operations 
- Project scheduling 
- High-profile project management 
- Efficiency monitor 
- Value engineering 

Relevant Experience 
Dunes, Marina 2015 – Estimator and Project Manager for $3M underground utility 
installation for residential and commercial development. 
Signature Flight Support Utilities, San Jose 2015 – Estimator and Project Manager 
overseeing $4M utility upgrades for facilities at San Jose International Airport. 
Highway 4, Antioch 2013 – Estimator and Project Manager for $5M Caltrans 
improvement project. 
Sacramento Levee Ph1 2013 – Estimator and Project Manager for $3M levee upgrade 
and reinforcement project. 
University Villages, Marina 2007 – Estimator and Project Manager for $10M retail, 
commercial and housing development. 
East Garrison, Marina 2007 – Estimator and Project Manager for $7M storm, sanitary 
and water utility installation. 
Stonebrae Country Club, Hayward 2006 – Project Manager for $14M golf course facility 
improvement. 
Delta Coves, Bethel Island 2007 – Estimator and Project Manager for $18M planned 
luxury community, constructed around man-made lagoon. 
 

Previous Experience 
1997-1999 Granite Construction 

Project Manager / Estimator 
Supervised and estimated heavy construction for General 
Engineering Contractor. 

1992-1997 Santa Cruz Engineering Contractor 
Sales / Estimator / Assistant Manager 
Dispatched crews, oversaw daily operations, estimated projects 

1990-1992 Airflight Inc. 
Charter airline pilot 
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Darrel Varni 
Electric Systems, SCADA Commissioning Lead 

Mr. Varni is responsible for the construction operations of multiple domestic projects. Primary 
responsibilities are to ensure project goal and growth objectives and maintain safe, efficient, cost-
effective and timely completion of construction operations consistent with quality standards. Develop 
and maintain relationships with past, current and prospective clients and contractors. Administer and 
oversee the activities of the project management and field construction staff.  Prioritize, schedule 
and delegate projects as required. Ensure that activities are properly coordinated to achieve 
corporate objectives in an efficient and effective manner. Manage, hire, train, discipline and provide 
support to project managers.  
 
Responsible for overseeing the complete construction of various construction projects, such as 
Water and waste water motor controls, commercial, industrial and underground construction, 
Parking Lot Lighting, Street Lighting, Traffic Signals, Joint Trenching, Power Pole Installation, 
Antenna Installation, Commercial Electrical Projects.  . Responsibilities including but not limited to 
the construction, scheduling, estimating, and ordering of material for projects including SCADA.  . 
Duties also include reviewing drawings, working with owners, contractors to ensure all components 
within the project are understood and the integration into the systems are compatible.   
 
For this Cal American Water project, Darrel Varni will be in charge of the SCADA and Electrical 
Systems along with leading the Commissioning process.  During the last 19 years, Darrel Varni has 
worked with California water/wastewater facilities, desalination facilities and related infrastructure 
and providing the comprehensive SCADA piece for the various projects he has completed.  He is 
very familiar with these projects within the Monterey Bay Peninsula as the primary location of the 
bulk of his projects.   

Office Location | Phone: Watsonville, CA  95076  |   831.761.2288 

Years of Experience:  26 years in the industry | 19 years with Darrel Varni Electric, Inc. 

Education:   Aptos High School, 1988 
 

Professional Experience: 
• Strategic SCADA Systems Planning 
• Minimize safety issues 
• Quality Control Management 
• Commissioning Reviews 

• Project Resource Management 
• Schedule and critical path 
• Project Resource Management  
• Electrical Engineering Expertise 

 

Relevant Experience: 

SMS ASR 3-4 Electrical Installation in Marina, CA   $225,000 
Description: This project consisted of installing all the underground, conduit and wire for 2 new 
600hp wells. DVE provided and installed all the instrumentation at each well site. DVE installed the 
owner furnished 2000amp main switchboard and 2- 600HP VFD’s. DVE provide all startup and 
testing as well as the SCADA integration to Cal American Water. 
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Slant Test Well for Cal Am Water      $540,000 
Description: This project consisted of installing a new 400amp meter panel and trenching 
approximately 2100’ to the new well location. Installing new test and analyzing equipment, hooking 
up pressure transducers and flow meters. Provided final hookup to the well. DVE provide all 
startup and testing as well as the SCADA integration to Cal American Water. 

Pump Station E and Pump Station #11 for the City of Pacific Grove Urban Runoff Diversion 
Project  $290,000 
Description: This project involved the reconstruction of the existing Pump Station #11 and Pump 
Station E for the City of Pacific Grove. The installation was for new MCC controls, provide and 
install new generator, provide and install new SCADA connections and antennas.  
 
New sewer lift station for The Promontory Housing in Marina  $180,000 
Description: This project consisted of install a new MCC and PGE panel. Provide power and 
connection to 2 new pumps, flow meter and pressure transducers. Install new floats in wet well and 
ultrasonic level equipment. Install new antenna and integrate into the existing SCADA system for 
Marina Coast Water. 
 
Installation of motor controls for Cal Water Well #15  $190,000 
Description: This project was constructed for Cal Water in King City Ca. The installation consisted 
of a new MCC, SCADA system and new antenna. There was also new flow meters and booster 
pump system. The new water tank had level controls and sensors with in the tank. 

Las Cumbres Slow Sand Filter in Los Gatos, CA  $480,000 
Description: This project included the installing a new MCC, all underground conduit and wire. 
Providing connections to 3 new wells and 5 new booster pumps. Darrel Varnie provided all 
connections to new flow meters and numerous pressure transducers. He also installed new ultra 
sonic level transducers in new tanks. 



5.2.2.2.c  Key Construction Team
 Personnel Resum

es 

2 – Key Personnel Resumes:  
Submit resumes of key personnel who will be assigned to this Project and who will contribute a 
significant effort. Each resume must include name, qualifications and the anticipated degree of 
involvement during each of the construction and commissioning phases of the Project. The 
resumes should provide evidence that the key personnel have sufficient experience and training to 
competently manage and complete the construction of the Project. Personnel resumes shall be 
limited to one (1) double-sided page in length for each resume and shall be part of the Appendix. 
Submit the following resumes:  
 
 
 
C. Key Construction Team Personnel Resumes: Key personnel include professionals who will be 
assigned to this Project to provide schedule, quality control, safety and construction leadership in 
specific areas of the work.  
 
Contractors are encouraged to submit additional resumes as necessary to fully communicate any 
special knowledge or capabilities to be provided by the team.  
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5.2.2.2.c  Construction Team Resumes 
We have placed all of the Team Personnel resumes in previous sections 5.2.2.2.a or 5.2.2.2.b 



5.2.2.3.  Project Profiles –Construction Experience  

3 – Project Profiles:  
Each Contractor Entity’s SOQ shall include the construction project profiles described herein. Project 
profiles must be completed using the applicable Project Profile Information Sheet provided in EXHIBIT 
C – Experience.  
Each project profile should clearly identify the relevance of the project described to this Project. 
Include a narrative addressing the construction philosophy and salient features for each project. 
Indicate the degree of involvement by key construction personnel proposed in the SOQ for each 
project. Additional information, photos and other graphic materials may be included.  
Project profiles shall be limited to projects completed on or after January 1, 2005. Project profiles are 
to be limited to two (2) double-sided pages total per submitted project and shall be part of the 
Appendix.  
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5.2.2.3 Project Profiles:   

 
PER RFP:  Each Contractor Entity’s SOQ shall include the construction project profiles described herein. 
Project profiles must be completed using the applicable Project Profile Information Sheet provided in 
EXHIBIT C – Experience. Each project profile should clearly identify the relevance of the project described to 
this Project. Include a narrative addressing the construction philosophy and salient features for each 
project. Indicate the degree of involvement by key construction personnel proposed in the SOQ for each 
project. Additional information, photos and other graphic materials may be included. Project profiles shall 
be limited to projects completed on or after January 1, 2005. Project profiles are to be limited to two (2) 
double-sided pages total per submitted project and shall be part of the Appendix 
 
We have provided Project Profiles beginning with 5.2.2.3.B, followed by 5.2.2.3.C 
 
 

5.2.2.3.A.    Contractor Experience 
This requirement was eliminated in Amendment 1  
 
 

5.2.2.3.b.    Prime Contractor Experience  

Granite construction, as Prime Contractor is submitting a portfolio of six projects;  Three (3) projects with 
a construction cost each in excess of $50 million dollars, and Three (3) projects using the Contractor 
delivery method, CMGC/CMAR.  The projects listed below are detailed on the following pages 

 
Project 

# 
Name of Project Team Member 

  
Granite Construction Company 
 

1 Diablo Canyon Power Plant (ISFSI), 
2 Hwy 92/880 Interchange Reconstruction  
3 Caltrain San Bruno 
4 StoneBrae Community Development Plan 
5 San Clemente Dam Removal and Carmel Valley River 
6 San Jose International Airport Improvement 
  

 
 
  



5.2.2.3A.  Construction Experience - Contractor  
A. Contractor’s Experience: Submit a portfolio of project profiles representative of the 

Contractor’s experience.  
 

Each Contractor shall provide construction project profiles for five (5) projects completed 
on or after January 1, 2005. These profiles are independent from Specialty Consultant and 
General Contractor profiles discussed separately below. Clearly identify the relevance of 
each project. Project profiles are to demonstrate the team’s construction and 
commissioning experience on similar projects in terms of significant new construction, 
complexity, scope, function, size, fixed price, cost control, dollar value, and construction 
experience. Provide information regarding any national, regional, or local awards or 
recognitions received for exceptional construction or environmental achievements. Project 
experience may be shown for construction and maintenance of all projects, public and 
private.  
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5.2.2.3 Project Profiles:   

 
PER RFP:  Each Contractor Entity’s SOQ shall include the construction project profiles described herein. 
Project profiles must be completed using the applicable Project Profile Information Sheet provided in 
EXHIBIT C – Experience. Each project profile should clearly identify the relevance of the project described to 
this Project. Include a narrative addressing the construction philosophy and salient features for each 
project. Indicate the degree of involvement by key construction personnel proposed in the SOQ for each 
project. Additional information, photos and other graphic materials may be included. Project profiles shall 
be limited to projects completed on or after January 1, 2005. Project profiles are to be limited to two (2) 
double-sided pages total per submitted project and shall be part of the Appendix 
 
We have provided Project Profiles beginning with 5.2.2.3.B, followed by 5.2.2.3.C 
 
 

5.2.2.3.A.    Contractor Experience 
This requirement was eliminated in Amendment 1  
 
 

5.2.2.3.b.    Prime Contractor Experience  

Granite construction, as Prime Contractor is submitting a portfolio of six projects;  Three (3) projects with 
a construction cost each in excess of $50 million dollars, and Three (3) projects using the Contractor 
delivery method, CMGC/CMAR.  The projects listed below are detailed on the following pages 

 
Project 

# 
Name of Project Team Member 

  
Granite Construction Company 
 

1 Diablo Canyon Power Plant (ISFSI), 
2 Hwy 92/880 Interchange Reconstruction  
3 Caltrain San Bruno 
4 StoneBrae Community Development Plan 
5 San Clemente Dam Removal and Carmel Valley River 
6 San Jose International Airport Improvement 
  

 
 
  



5.2.2.3B.  Construction Experience – PRIM
E Contractor 

 
B. Prime Contractor’s Construction Experience:  
 
Submit a portfolio of project profiles for up to six (6) projects completed after January 1, 2005 
representative of the Constructor’s ability to provide construction excellence. List at least three (3) projects 
with a construction cost each in excess of $50 million dollars. List at least three (3) projects using the 
Contractor delivery method.  
 
Provide examples of projects completed of similar complexity to this Project and describe the construction 
approach. Include information that addresses the General Contractor’s ability to construct a project 
demonstrating:  
 
1. Commitment to complete the work in good faith to meet the stakeholders’ vision for the site, and as 
articulated in the project goals, objectives and design criteria.  
2. Demonstrated experience and expertise in the following areas:  
a. Construction implementation of large-scale projects. To include conforming and adapting the design to 
unknown/unknowable subsurface and field conditions, and/or field conditions which may change during the 
course of the construction phase, in a manner that does not compromise prevailing design criteria.  
b. Successful sustained collaboration with other contractors to optimize construction with respect to field 
conditions during construction, including development and implementation of design adjustments within 
short timeframes.  
c. Proactive management, anticipation of long-lead items, and identification and resolution of construction 
and design bottlenecks to limit delays in construction progress.  
d. Construction of water/wastewater facilities similar to the Project, particularly those in California.  
e. Ability to adjust operations to changing field conditions in order to expeditiously complete the work.  
f. Post-construction testing, start-up and commissioning.  
 
2. Demonstrated experience and expertise in the following areas:  
a. Construction implementation of large-scale projects. To include conforming and adapting the design to 
unknown/unknowable subsurface and field conditions, and/or field conditions which may change during the 
course of the construction phase, in a manner that does not compromise prevailing design criteria.  
b. Successful sustained collaboration with other contractors to optimize construction with respect to field 
conditions during construction, including development and implementation of design adjustments within 
short timeframes.  
c. Proactive management, anticipation of long-lead items, and identification and resolution of construction 
and design bottlenecks to limit delays in construction progress.  
d. Construction of water/wastewater facilities similar to the Project, particularly those in California.  
e. Ability to adjust operations to changing field conditions in order to expeditiously complete the work.  
f. Post-construction testing, start-up and commissioning.  
3. Ability to discuss and review project issues with stakeholder groups having diverse technical backgrounds, 
organizational mandates and interest levels relative to the project.  
4. Coordination with permitting and regulatory agencies, and successful negotiation and completion of 
permit modifications while minimizing schedule effects.  
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5.2.2.3 Project Profiles:   

 
PER RFP:  Each Contractor Entity’s SOQ shall include the construction project profiles described herein. 
Project profiles must be completed using the applicable Project Profile Information Sheet provided in 
EXHIBIT C – Experience. Each project profile should clearly identify the relevance of the project described to 
this Project. Include a narrative addressing the construction philosophy and salient features for each 
project. Indicate the degree of involvement by key construction personnel proposed in the SOQ for each 
project. Additional information, photos and other graphic materials may be included. Project profiles shall 
be limited to projects completed on or after January 1, 2005. Project profiles are to be limited to two (2) 
double-sided pages total per submitted project and shall be part of the Appendix 
 

5.2.2.3.A.    Contractor Experience 
This requirement was eliminated in Amendment 1  
 
 

5.2.2.3.b.    Prime Contractor Experience  

Granite construction, as Prime Contractor is submitting a portfolio of six projects;  Three (3) projects with 
a construction cost each in excess of $50 million dollars, and Three (3) projects using the Contractor 
delivery method, CMGC/CMAR.  The projects listed below are detailed on the following pages 

 
Project 

# 
Name of Project Team Member 

  
Granite Construction Company 
 

1 Diablo Canyon Power Plant (ISFSI), 
2 Hwy 92/880 Interchange Reconstruction  
3 Caltrain San Bruno 
4 StoneBrae Community Development Plan 
5 San Clemente Dam Removal and Carmel Valley River 
6 San Jose International Airport Improvement 
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PROJECT PROFILE #1 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location Diablo Conyon Power Plant  (ISFSI), Avila Beach, CA 
Owner/Representative Pacific Gas & Electric, Richard Van der Linden, Project Manager,  

Tel:  805.545.6648, Email rjv@pge.com 
Project 
Type/Capacity/Size 

An electricity-generating nuclear power plant 

Schedule Completion 
Date 

June 2006 Actual Completion Date Ongoing 

Explain Difference               Project was complete in June 2006, OG&E made the decision to establish a 
master service agreement to allow Granite construction to perform ongoing additional scope work. 
Original Contract Amount $20,455,347 Final Contract Amount $60 million 
Explain Difference               Project still on-going – IDIQ contract 
Project Manager Brian Johnsen Principal in Charge Brian Johnsen 
Relevant Factors (staff proposed) (location)  
 
Project Description: 
Diablo Canyon Diablo Canyon Power Plant is an electricity-generating nuclear power plant located on 
about 750 acres in Avila Beach, California. Granite’s scope of work involved firewater and domestic water 
relocation, ground grid and electrical relocation, major storm drain improvements, and extensive base 
and paving. This project promoted a great partnering relationship with owner, PG&E, and was delivered 
on-schedule. After the initial project was completed in 2006, PG&E made the decision to keep the 
contract open to allow Granite Construction to perform an additional scope work on the project.  
 
Project work included domestic water relocation, ground grid and electrical relocation, major storm drain 
improvements extensive base and a paving wall face cut with a rock saw on a Cat 345, two 8-foot thick 
concrete pads containing rebar and 8/5 ton embeds with NRC Quality related concrete from an onsite 
portable batch plant.  Other construction elements included a $1.5 million underground Cask Transfer 
Facility, various underground storm drainage and concrete swales, and fine grade base pave of new roads.  
Additionally Granite constructed a 700 LF stainless steel rockfall fence, which is the only one in the world 

of it’s kind.   
 
Granite provided a significant role in design/budgetary 
estimation for many of the proposed site upgrades; 
 
Other relevant features; 

• 800 LF of 6” PVC Sea Water Reverse Osmosis line 
• 1,130 LF of 24” & 48” HDPE storm drain 
• Mass excavation of 100,000 CY rock 
• 31,000 SF shotcrete soil nail wall with 1,042 EA 30 LF 

rock anchors 

http://connectteams.gcinc.com/departments/bd/Project%20Photos/Power/Traditional/Diablo%20Canyon%20Power%20Plant-ISFSI%20CA/Diablo_Canyon_08.jpg
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• Placement of two continuous 2,100 CYQuality concrete pours (largest quality pours worldwide in 
the last 30 yrs) 

• 4,000 CY misc. concrete 
 
Change Order Percentages 

Change orders have all been prompted by the owner, who has also added scope and other contract 
vehicles to accommodate their work requirements and the capabilities that Granite brings.  As an 
example, a $1.6 m lump sum project ended up as a $34m project, completely by changes owner 
requested to expand the scope.   

Schedule Performance 

Over the years, Granite has received positive recognition for outstanding performance on several DCPP 
projects. Granite takes pride in optimizing our performance on every project. Each time we are required 
to meet what seems to be an “unachievable” deadline, we meet the milestone, through appropriate 
strategic planning, dedication of long hours, and hard work. This creates a win-win for all parties. We 
deliver high quality, safe work at a competitive price.  

 

Other Relevance to Project 
 
Granite was awarded the American Public 
Works Association’s (APWA) 

Project of the Year for the PG&E Diablo 
Canyon Power Plant Used Fuel Storage 
Project 
 

Structures More than $10 million San Luis 
Obispo County 

 

 

  

http://connectteams.gcinc.com/departments/bd/Project%20Photos/Power/Traditional/Diablo%20Canyon%20Power%20Plant-ISFSI%20CA/Diablo_Canyon_02.JPG
http://connectteams.gcinc.com/departments/bd/Project%20Photos/Power/Traditional/Diablo%20Canyon%20Power%20Plant-ISFSI%20CA/Diablo_Canyon_09.JPG
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PROJECT PROFILE #2 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location Hwy 92/880 Interchange Reconstruction 
Contract No. 04-016014 
Hayward, Alameda County, California  

Owner/Representative State of California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) 
Ray Balallo, Resident Engineer 
Tel (510) 670-7825 
Raymundo.Balallo@dot.ca.gov 
   

Project Type / Capacity / 
Size 

Heavy Highway, Bridges, Walls, Underground Project  
Design-Bid-Build A+B Contract  

Schedule Completion 
Date 11/30/2011 (834 days) Actual Completion Date 11/29/2011 (814 days) 

Project was complete based on the original contract days.   
Original Contract Amount $138,440,897 Final Contract Amount $157,914,822 
Explain Difference   Completed within budget, including change orders…etc. 
Project Manager Thomas Fodor Principal in Charge Thomas Fodor 
Relevant Factors (staff proposed) (location)  
 
Other Relevance to Project 
 
Route 92/880 Interchange project involved a new interchange in Hayward California, and is one of the 
busiest traffic arteries in the SF Bay Area, over 200,000 cars pass through the interchange daily. This 
complex project consisted of a complete existing interchange reconstruction including 9 bridges, 
widening’s, numerous retaining /sound walls, MSE walls, all related earthwork, underground, Type A AC 
(over 80,000 tons) and OGAC (over 10,000 tons). The project was heavily phased to include 18 stages to 
occur within the 843 working days.  
 
Sanco Pipelines performed the underground work for Granite installing 42,936 linier feet of water 
conveyance in highly traveled and congested areas during the construction of this project.  The value of 
the utilities contract was $6,625,638.  Pipe installation included various sized HDP, PVC, Ductile Iron and 
Reinforce Concrete Pressure Pipe.  Granite along with Sanco were able to VE the 21” HDP Pipe eliminating 
the need for micro tunneling.  The original value of the micro tunneling was $1.4 million.   
During the four years of construction, this complicated project was successful due to Granite’s team 
members partnering with all stakeholders, including subcontractors, the project owner, regulatory 
agencies, and community members to avoid potential delays relating to design adjustments, right-of-way, 
utility conflicts, an emergency shut-down of the SF-Oakland Bay Bridge, and a Federal Aviation 
Administration enforced shutdown. Proactive risk management meetings were held regularly between 
partners to immediately identify and resolve new risks, and all stakeholders were included at emergency 
meetings when issues arose. Despite the numerous challenges, the project was completed on time and 
below budget. 

mailto:Raymundo.Balallo@dot.ca.gov
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Major items of work;  
 
• 190,000 CY Roadway Excavation  
• 160,000 CY Import Dirt  
• 91,000 Tons A/C Paving  
• 300,000 Ft Wick Drain  
• 42,600 Ft Underground (8 Miles)  
• 1,400 CY Gabion Wall  
• 148,000 K-Rail  
• 42,936 LF of Waterline 
• 246 LF of 18-59” Bore and Jack 
 
Project similarities: 

• Sanco Pipelines 
• Jacking 18” to 59” RCP Casing for 

the proposed DI water under 6 
lanes of route 92 due to ROW and 
project constraints.  A total of 246 
LF of pipe jacking was required.   

• Detailed Traffic Plans and 
Wayfinding 

• Safety 

 

 

 

 

Significant Project Accomplishments 
Zero claims 
Zero lost time, no injuries with 210,741 man-hours 
4-time winner of Caltrans Partnering In-Motion Award 
2012 AGC Marvin M. Black Special Recognition winner 
2012 AGC California Constructor Awards Finalist for 2 
categories; 
Excellence in Project Management and 
Excellence in Partnering 
Four-week early completion, based on executed days 
Zero environmental citations/issues 
Positive public relations plan resulting in positive image 
High quality workmanship 
10 approved VE proposals for a total amount of $998,677, 
Granite portion ($285,000) 
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PROJECT PROFILE #3 

 Team Member Logo  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location San Bruno Grade Separation Project  
Contract No. 10-PCJPB-C-002 
San Bruno, San Mateo County, California 

Owner/Representative Peninsula Corridor Joint Powers Board (Caltrain)  
Bill Carlson, P.E. Resident Engineer  
T (415) 990-3705 

Project 
Type/Capacity/Size Design-Bid-Build Prime Contractor Granite Construction 

Schedule Completion 
Date 7/1/2012 Actual Completion Date 8/28/2014 

Explain Difference:  The impact of differing site conditions and third party utility changes were not over 
significant in a monetary sense, they did have quite a large impact to the project schedule.  The original 
scope called for the rail alignment to pass overtop of BART’s alignment and one of its ventilation 
structures.  There proved to be many existing conditions that made the base scope unfeasible and so all 
shareholders agreed to add a fourth bridge structure to the project to bypass BART’s vent 
structure.  Similarly, the alignment and relocation of AT&T, Verizon/sprint proved to have a significant 
impact on the project.   
 
Original Contract Amount $77,699,000 Final Contract Amount $99,943,658 
Explain Difference:  Monetarily the majority of changes orders were driven by Owner directed changes, 
improvements, and refinements to the Base Scope of work.  There were a smaller number of changes 
that were associated with differing site conditions and third party (BART or Utility) impacts that PCJPB 
requested that GCC undertake the additional scope to resolve these issues.  The remainder of the 
changes involved the base scope had been issued under outdated technology and Specifications.  As 
the Owner had a ten year plan to upgrade their entire system for electrification, it made sense for all 
base scope to be amended to meet this future goal. 
Project Manager James Wedding Principal in Charge James Wedding 
Relevant Factors Construction in City, with site preparation and additional underground 

utilities. 
 
Project Description: 
The San Bruno Grade Separation project involved elevating the Caltrain tracks above three existing at-
grade street crossings and providing three pedestrian underpasses. Additionally, a new elevated Caltrain 
station was constructed, along with 201 parking spaces and a park-and-ride lot. This project was designed 
to improve safety and mobility for both motorists and pedestrians, and to reduce traffic congestion 
between the freeway and the City of San Bruno. 
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This design-bid-build project involved extensive railroad track and signal work, and the grade separation 
construction consisted of: 

 A temporary passenger station to accommodate construction of the new grade separation 
 Three bridges (concrete bents and steel girder bridges) 
 A new elevated station platform with two glassed-encased elevators and maintenance rooms 
 4,500 LF of temporary shoofly tracks 
 Construction of two side-by-side 9,700 LF Class 1 rails, totaling 19,400 LF of new mainline track 

construction, along with double crossover/turnouts and new rail signalization systems 
 4,000 LF of shoring within 15 feet of the shoofly tracks, cut 4- to 12-feet in depth 
 70,000 CY of structure excavation 
 Hazardous and contaminated dirt 

handling and remediation 
 12,000 CY of structure concrete 
 100,000 SF of MSE retaining walls 
 130,000 CY of lightweight cellular 

concrete 
 Three pump stations 
 Extensive utility relocation 
 Decorative concrete 
 Extensive landscaping with water falls 

and wall streams. 
 Water features 
 WINNER OF THE ASCE TRANSPORTATION 

PROJECT OF THE YEAR - 2014 
 
Change Order Percentages 
Monetarily the majority of changes orders were driven by Owner directed changes, improvements, and 
refinements to the Base Scope of work.  There were a smaller number of changes that were associated 
with differing site conditions and third party (BART or Utility) impacts that PCJPB requested that GCC 
undertake the additional scope to resolve these issues.  The remainder of the changes involved the base 
scope had been issued under outdated technology and Specifications.  As the Owner had a ten year plan 
to upgrade their entire system for electrification, it made sense for all base scope to be amended to meet 
this future goal. 
 
Schedule Performance 
The impact of differing site conditions and third party utility changes were not over significant in a 
monetary sense, they did have quite a large impact to the project schedule.  The original scope called for 
the rail alignment to pass overtop of BART’s alignment and one of its ventilation structures.  There proved 
to be many existing conditions that made the base scope unfeasible and so all shareholders agreed to add 
a fourth bridge structure to the project to bypass BART’s vent structure.  Similarly, the alignment and 
relocation of AT&T, Verizon/sprint proved to have a significant impact on the project.   
 
Other Relevance to Project 
Shoring 
Extensive Utility Relocation 
Micro tunneling under Caltrain and UPRR  
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PROJECT PROFILE #4 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location Stonebrae Master Plan Golf Community Development & Reservoirs 
Blue Rock Country Club 
Hayward, Alameda County, California  

Owner/Representative YCS Investments, San Francisco CA 
John Sabine,  VP of Construction 
T (415) 781-1211 

Project 
Type/Capacity/Size Bid-Build, Unit Price   

Schedule Completion 
Date 8/31/2006 Actual Completion Date 6/30/2006 

Explain Difference Contract was completed on time based on additional scope 
Original Contract Amount $35,734,250 Final Contract Amount $69,736,963 
Explain Difference The original contract was for the mass grading of the subdivision.  The owner 
released additional scopes of work to compete the utilities, water tanks and streets.   
Project Manager Gokhan Gunan Principal in Charge Gokhan 
Relevant Factors (staff proposed) (location)  
 
Project Description: 
Stonebrae master plan golf community is located in Hayward California, across from Walper Ridge.  The 
project is located on 1,600 acres of beautifully terraced land of which 365 acres was to be developed.  The 
developer will construct 550 high end homes, a clubhouse, golf course, driving range, parks and an 
elementary school. Mass grading started in June of 2004. Granite completed all of the mass grading for 
7,100,000 cubic yards of material in less than 9 months.  Within the same timeframe, Granite will blasted 
2,100,000 cubic yards of subsurface rock, crushing all oversized material to less than 6” in diameter 
(4,000,000 tons).  We also provided a super pad for the elementary school.  In order to meet the owners 
schedule, Sanco Pipeline was brought in as a subcontractor to Granite to compete the utility work and 
Tank. 
 

• Earthwork Totals: approx. 12,100,000 cy 
• Common Excavation: 3,857,000 cy 
• Rock Excavation: 2,857,000 cy 
• Drill and Blast: 1,913,000 cy 
• Process Rock to 6” Minus: 2,483,000 cy 
• Remedial Excavation: 973,411 cy 
• Fabrication and installation of 1.8 and 2.4 million gallon storage water tanks and water collection 

ponds 
• 19,428 LF of PVC water line 
• 21,713  LF of Ductile Iron Pipe 
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Granite worked under very challenging environmental conditions, such as extensive erosion control exposure 
over 365 acres of rolling-to-steep terrain with runoff to adjacent creeks subject to CA Department of Fish and 
Game permits, Granite completed the project on time with consistently favorable feedback.  As part of our 
scope, Granite has relocated eight acres of exposed boulder from the site for future snake habitat and golf 
course landscape. We have established a close working relationship with the owner and biologist in order 
to meet all environmental concerns working within a riparian habitat. 
 
 “Granite performed all aspects of the project with a high degree of expertise and professionalism.  All 

key stake-holders rated Granite highly.” 

John Sabine  

Sr Vice President, Construction 

Stonebrae LP 
Change Order Percentages 
The original contract was for the mass grading of the subdivision.  The project owner released added 
phased finish improvements including utilities, water tanks and street work.   
 
Schedule Performance 
Project was completed on time based on added scope 
 
Other Relevance to Project 
Sanco Pipelines, $13.9M underground package 
Two water storage tanks and pump stations 
Environmental requirements, endangered species, CA whip snake 
The owner provided an evaluation form for this project, with all above average and several outstanding 
marks in the Quality and in Safety sections. 
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PROJECT PROFILE #5 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location San Clemente Dam Removal & Carmel River Reroute 
Carmel Valley, CA 

Owner/Representative California-American Water Company 
Aman Gonzales, 831.646.3230 

Project 
Type/Capacity/Size 

Design-Build   

Schedule Completion 
Date 

12/31/2015 Actual Completion Date EST 12/31/2015 

Explain Difference The project is on schedule to be completed in the original contract time. 
Original Contract Amount $61,065,827 Final Contract Amount EST   $61,065,827 
Explain Difference                The project has experienced only 3 change orders in over two years 
operations.  The change orders were related to Owner or Regulatory Agency added scope. 
Project Manager Bill McGowan Principal in Charge Bill McGowan 
Relevant Factors Relevant water project for Cal Am 
 
Project Description: 
 
The Carmel River Reroute and San Clemente Dam Project is the largest dam removal project ever to occur 
in California and one of the largest to occur on the West Coast.  
 
It is the culmination of a long-term effort to resolve the public safety issues associated with the existing 
San Clemente Dam, while improving access for steelhead to upstream spawning and rearing habitat, 
sediment transport to the lower river and Carmel River beach, and ecological continuity of aquatic and 
riparian habitats through the project reach. 
 
The Project involves rerouting the Carmel River into San Clemente Creek at a location upstream of the San 
Clemente Dam, and permanently bypassing the majority of accumulated sediment in the Carmel River. 
The bypass is to be excavated through the drainage divide between the Carmel River and San Clemente 
Creek. The Upper Carmel River is being excavated and restored to transition to existing channel grades at 
the upstream end of the project limit. The new Combined Flow Reach between the Reroute Channel and 
the present dam location will be restored with a focus on steelhead passage. The Upper San Clemente 
Creek will also be excavated and restored to transition to existing channel grades at the upstream end of 
the Project limit. The accumulated sediment in the San Clemente Creek arm of the reservoir will be 
excavated and relocated to the abandoned Carmel River arm, and the sediment in the abandoned Carmel 
River arm will be stabilized in place to form the Sediment Stockpile. A Diversion Dike will be constructed 
to divert the Carmel River flow into the San Clemente Creek drainage through the Reroute Channel, and 
to prevent flow from entering the upstream end of the Sediment Stockpile (abandoned reservoir). A 
Stabilized Sediment Slope will be constructed at the downstream end of the abandoned Carmel River arm 
to retain sediments in the Sediment Stockpile area. When all project elements are in place, the SCD will be 
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removed. In addition, the Old Carmel River Dam (OCRD) may be removed as part of the Project. The 
Project will also include a post-construction phase by the Design/Builder of 5 years. After Project 
completion, the CAW property around 
 
San Clemente Dam will be conveyed to the U.S. Department of Interior Bureau of Land Management. 
 
Owner and Stakeholder Project Goals – working with client and stakeholders on project goals. 
A. Owner and stakeholder project goals identified are Design/Builder obligations only to the extent set 
forth in the Contract Documents. 
(1) Provide a permanent solution to the seismic safety issue associated with SCD. 
(2) Improve fish passage conditions and provide rearing and other habitat for steelhead trout in the 
Carmel River to extent feasible. 
(3) Diminish the potential for excessive erosion, undermining, sloughing or slope failure to occur that 
would lead to significant mobilization of sediment from within the Project extents to downstream 
reaches. 
(4) Avoid exacerbating flooding in the 18.5 mile river reach between San Clemente Dam and the ocean as 
a result of hydraulic performance or mobilization of sediment from within the Project boundary. 
(5) Restore natural character and function of the valley bottom within the Project extents, which includes 
a continuum of habitat elements from instream features to upland habitat. 
(6) Shape project components to be as natural and aesthetically pleasing as is feasible. 
(7) Provide long-term sustainable habitat on all completed project components. 
(8) Promote a balance of sediment transport that sustains the restored channel segments and promotes 
re-establishment of a more natural sediment transport regime downstream of San Clemente Dam. 
(9) Maintain effective communication with all staff and stakeholders. 
(10) Provide for a smooth transfer of property to the United States Bureau of Land Management after the 
Post Construction Phase activities are complete. 
 
Change Order Percentages 
Original Contract Value: 61,065,827 Changes: 4,263,267  (6.9% of Original Contract Value) 

The project has experienced only 3 change orders in over two years of operation.  The change orders 
were related to Owner or Regulatory Agency added scope.  Changes include: paving on Carmel Valley 
Road, landslide mitigation, archeological resource protection, bridge enhancements and added 
geotechnical investigation.    

Schedule Performance 
The project is on schedule to be completed in the original contract time.  A five year 
monitoring/maintenance portion is required  
 

Other Relevance to Project 
Team members on the project are familiar with Cal Am  
Team members are familiar with environmental issues/agencies in Monterey 
Granite has working relationships with the local business and community.  We have a vested interest to 
minimize project impacts.  
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PROJECT PROFILE #6 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location Mineta San Jose International Airport Terminal Area Improvement 
Program  HPCC Contract No. 5006038 
San Jose, Santa Clara County, California 

Owner/Representative City of San Jose  
Craig Mobeck, Project Manager 
T (408) 535-8395  

Project Type / Capacity / 
Size 

Design-Build 51 Acres  

Schedule Completion 
Date 

12/30/2010 Actual Completion Date 6/30/2010 

Explain Difference             Every phase was completed ahead of schedule. 
Original Contract Amount $99,156,758 Final Contract Amount $101,794,154 
Explain Difference: Based on Granite’s 100% design budget to the owner, we were within 2.67% of our 
projected budgets. Owner contract used a cost reimbursable method of payment. 
Project Manager Ben Steel Principal in Charge Ben Steel 
Relevant Factors Large, complex project with water components 
 
Project Description: 
The Norman Y. Mineta San José International Airport Terminal Area Improvement Program (TAIP) is a 
design-build project that consists of a major expansion and renovation of an existing international airport. 
Work included the renovation and expansion of an operational terminal building, new terminal building, 
3,300 space parking garage, roadway infrastructure and utility infrastructure. All work was completed 
within the existing footprint of airport operations that spread across 51 acres. The significant fast track 
construction effort needed to have a phased completion and performed without impact to essential 
services. Critical utilities were replaced without disruption to airport operations, and the team 
accommodated the airport’s unscheduled events through work plans that were developed to ensure that 
the facility could operate at capacity. This required a high degree of communication with the owner and 
stakeholders, integration into airport operations and condensed work schedules to complete work within 
allowable windows. The essential services that were replaced during the project included perimeter 
security, electrical distribution backbone, fiber/telecom network, compressed air, wash stations, oil 
removal systems, fuel lines, sanitary, storm, domestic and reclaimed water distribution systems. Site 
improvements included nearly 12 lane miles of new roadways, related walkways, parking facilities, traffic 
control, signalization and associated work. Each phase of work was completed ahead of schedule and 
under budget.  Scope of work included straightening and widening the terminal roadway system for the 
airport’s increase in capacity to 17.6 million passengers per year. The project included 2 parking lots, 2 
overcrossings, 2 storm water filtrations systems, PCC aprons for aircraft and tug traffic, covered canopies 
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for passengers, installation and upgrades to storm drain, sanitary sewer, potable water, and recycled 
water, installation and upgrades to communication and lighting, all types of concrete flatwork, and new 
landscaping throughout the entire project. Project had an aggressive schedule and required extensive 
interfacing with City of San Jose and Airport Operations. 
 

• Underground Fuel Storage and Elevated Fuel Stations 
• Unique Utility Systems Installed for Elevated Service Stations 
• Water for Wash Stations 
• Compressed Air 
• Fresh Oil and Windshield Fluid Supply 

Stations 
• Waste Oil Removal Systems 
• Installation of Complex Roadways and 

Structures 
• 1,030,000 SF of Grading 
• Way Finding and Traffic Control 

including Signalization 
• Work around Critical Live Utilities 
• 26,000 LF of Storm, Sewer and Water 

Lines 
• 50,000 cyds of Off Haul 
• 35,000 Tons of AC 
• 120,000 SF of Concrete Sidewalk 
• 25,000 LF of Curb & Gutter 
• 100,000 Tons of aggregate base produced on site 
• Demolition of buildings and existing infrastructure 
• Design Addressed Seismic Zone and Criticality of Structures 
• Work Spread across 51 Acres 
• Overall Site Contained Multiple Prime Contractors 
• Coordination of Adjacent Work 
• Consistency of Design 
• Material Delivery and Construction Coordination 

 
Change Order Percentages 
Based on Granite’s 100% design budget to the owner, we were within 2.67% of our projected budgets. 
Owner contract used a cost reimbursable method of payment. 
 
Schedule Performance 
Each phase of the work was completed ahead of schedule. 
 
Other Relevance to Project 
Ability to work in a highly congested environment with minimal impact to the owner. 
Granite performed utility validation, allowing designers access to quality information, and reducing utility 
conflicts and delays. The overall evaluation for this project was consistently Above Average with most 
items evaluated the highest in the outstanding category. 

 

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAcQjRw&url=http://www.henselphelps.com/projects/norman-y.-mineta-san-jose-international-airport-terminal-area-improvement-p&ei=QyuUVaC_H4WzogSG6a74Dw&bvm=bv.96952980,d.cGU&psig=AFQjCNG3Igb03R2mrxo-Ca0s9Z7QU3ZhpA&ust=1435860159634939


5.2.2 3C.  Construction Experience – M
ajor Team

 M
em

bers 

 
Other Major Team Members’ Experience: Submit a portfolio of project 
profiles for up to three (3) projects completed after January 1, 2005 per 
major team member representative of the abilities of other major team 
member firms’ and major sub-consultants and subcontractors.  
Provide examples of projects completed where the firm performed a 
role similar to their proposed involvement in this Project.  
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5.2.2.3.c.    Other Team Members Experience  

 
C. Other Major Team Members’ Experience: Submit a portfolio of project profiles for up to three 
(3) projects completed after January 1, 2005 per major team member representative of the abilities of 
other major team member firms’ and major sub-consultants and subcontractors.  
Provide examples of projects completed where the firm performed a role similar to their proposed 
involvement in this Project. Submit examples of relevant projects completed on or after January 1, 2005 
or under current contract (at least one must be in California). Clearly identify the relevance of each 
project. Photos and other graphic materials may be included. Water/wastewater experience is of 
importance. Submittal of an equivalent project listing form is acceptable, provided it contains the 
requested information.  

 
Index of this section; 
 
Project 

# 
Name of Project Team Member 

  DN Tanks 
1 1.5MG Cook Riolo Tank, prestressed concrete Water Storage Tank, 

Sacramento, CA 
 

2 New Main Water Reservoir Tank Replacement, Woodland, CA  
3 New Main Water Reservoir Tank Replacement, Vandenberg, AFB  
  Sanco Pipeline 
4 Stonebrae Country Club, Hayward, CA  
5 Delta Coves, Bethel Island, CA  
6 East Garrison, Monterey/Marina CA  
  Darrel Varni Electric 
7 Cal Am Water Test Slant Well, Marina CA  
8 ASR 3 & 4, Seaside, CA  
9 ASR 1 & 2, Seaside, CA  
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PROJECT PROFILE #1 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location 1.5 MG Cook Riolo Tank, Prestressed Concrete Water Storage Tank. 
Sacramento, CA 

Owner/Representative Cal American Water Company 
Project 
Type/Capacity/Size 

D110 Type 1 Prestressed concrete Water Storage Tank 

Schedule Completion 
Date 

7/16/2009 Actual Completion Date 7/16/2009 

Explain Difference            N/A 
Original Contract Amount $300,000 Final Contract Amount $ 300,000 
Explain Difference 
Project Manager Shelly Anderson Principal in Charge William Hendrickson 
Relevant Factors (staff proposed) (location)  
 
Project Description: 
In 2009 DN Tanks completed the circumferential prestressing of the 1.5 MG AWWA D110 Type I 
prestressed concrete Cook Riolo Tank in Sacramento, CA for the California American Water Company. The 
tank was nestled in a tight site located within a housing community. DN Tanks completed the project on 
time and within budget, with minimal disturbance to the surrounding neighbors.  
 
Change Order Percentages 
There were no change orders on this project, on time 
and on budget 
 
 
 
Schedule Performance 
This project was completed on time and on budget. 
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PROJECT PROFILE #2 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location Davis Woodland Water Supply Project 
 

Owner/Representative Woodland-Davis Clean Water Agency/City of Woodland 
Doug Baxter,  530.661.5850 

Project 
Type/Capacity/Size 

D110 Type I Prestressed Concrete Water Storage Tanks, Two 2.88  MG 

Schedule Completion 
Date 

2/15/2015 Actual Completion Date 3/27/2015 

Explain Difference                    DN Tank’s mobilization was delayed due to a delay in the work performed by 
the GC (CH2M Hill)prior to the construction of the Tanks 
Original Contract Amount $3,776,530 Final Contract Amount $3,776,530 
Explain Difference                     N/A 
Project Manager    Shelly Anderson Principal in Charge William Hendrickson 
Relevant Factors (staff proposed) (location)  
 
Project Description: 
In March of 2015, DN Tanks completed construction of 2 – 2.875 MG AWWA D110 Type I prestressed 
concrete reservoirs in Woodland, CA for the Woodland-Davis Clean Water Agency and the City of 
Woodland. The simultaneous construction of the two tanks allowed for a reduced overall construction 
schedule and an increase in efficiency of manpower, forming systems and equipment. This multi tank 
project was completed on schedule in accordance with the revised project schedule and within budget. 
 
 
Change Order Percentages 
There were no change orders on this project, on time and on budget 
 
 
 
Schedule Performance 
This multi tank project was completed on schedule in accordance with the revised project schedule and 
within budget. 
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PROJECT PROFILE #3 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location New Main Water Reservoir Tank Replacement 
Vandenberg AFB, CA 

Owner/Representative USACE, Valencia Wynn, 805-201-6156 
Project 
Type/Capacity/Size 

D110 Type * Prestressed Concrete Water Storage Tanks – Two 4.0 MG 

Schedule Completion 
Date 

9/10/2012/ Actual Completion Date 9/10/2012 

Explain Difference                            N/A 
Original Contract Amount $4,549,534 Final Contract Amount $4,549,534 
Explain Difference                            N/A 
Project Manager Shelly Anderson Principal in Charge William Hendrickson 
Relevant Factors (staff proposed) (location)  
 
Project Description: 
In 2012, DN Tanks completed the construction of 2 – 4.0 MG 
AWWA D110 Type I prestressed concrete tanks at Vandenberg 
Air Force Base in California. This project replaced two existing 4.0 
MG tanks, which had reached the end of their useful service life. 
Construction of the two tanks was staggered in order to keep one 
tank in service at all times and allow the water system to remain 
operational. Planning and coordination were critical to the 
success of this project allowing DN Tanks to complete this multi 
tank project on time, within budget and with minimal impact to 
the active military air base. 
 
Change Order Percentages 
There were no change orders on this project, on time and on 
budget 
 
Schedule Performance 
There were no change orders on this project, on time and on 
budget 
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PROJECT PROFILE #1 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location Delta Coves, 
Bethel Island, CA 

Owner/Representative Sun Cal / Top Grade Construction 
Delta Coves Venture, John Fitzpatrick;  916.276.6248 

Project 
Type/Capacity/Size 

Residential area   

Schedule Completion 
Date 

5/30/2008 Actual Completion Date 5/30/2008 

Explain Difference 
Original Contract Amount $17.9M Final Contract Amount $17.9M 
Explain Difference 
Project Manager Tim David Principal in Charge Braden Schrader 
Relevant Factors (staff proposed) (location)  
 
Project Description: 
Delta Coves is a 360 acre master-planned luxury waterfront custom-home community.  It includes 560 
residences built around a man-made lagoon that communicates with the Delta 
 
 
 
Change Order Percentages 
Minimal changes as required by the Owner to accommodate unforeseen conditions. 
 
 
 
Schedule Performance 
Staying ahead of the fast-track schedule was critical for this project.  The ACOE had a completion date for 
the breach of the existing levee that required all work to be completed timely and accurately or risk losing 
the permit which took owner years to acquire.  Completed on time and on budget. 
 

Other Relevance to Project 
Over 96,000 LF of water, storm and sewer pipe was installed, including nearly 8,000 LF of 18” and 6,000 LF 
of ductile iron pipe and appurtenances.    The system was completed and commissioned within fast-track 
schedule. 
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PROJECT PROFILE #2 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location University Villages, 
Marina, CA 

Owner/Representative City of Marina/Shea Homes 
Lane Marceau, 925.245.3600 

Project 
Type/Capacity/Size 

430 Acres commercial and residential project 

Schedule Completion 
Date 

4/18/2008 Actual Completion Date 4/18/2008 

Explain Difference              N/A 
Original Contract Amount $7.1 million Final Contract Amount $10 million 
Explain Difference              Change order to add scope by owner increased final contract amount 
Project Manager Tim David Principal in Charge Braden Schrader 
Relevant Factors Large project in sandy soil with fast-track schedule 
 
Project Description: 
The University village project was part of 430 acre commercial and residential project.  It included a 
mixed-use center with retail, commercial and residential facilities located on the g rounds that were 
previously Fort Ord. 
 
 
Change Order Percentages 
The work progressed and additional scope was requested by owner, reflected in increased contract value. 
 
 
Schedule Performance 
Work was completed ahead of schedule to allow the streets to be paved timely and the site to be 
available for building development. 
 

Other Relevance to Project 
This project provided the backbone of the utilities to service the University Villages Project.  It included 
massive custom-fabricated 10”radious, subsurface storm water detention basins as well as over 35,000 LF 
of pipe laid in sandy conditions. 
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PROJECT PROFILE #3 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location Recycled Water Main Alignment 
San Jose, CA 

Owner/Representative San Jose Water Company  
408 279-7900 

Project 
Type/Capacity/Size 

Commercial/Industrial   

Schedule Completion 
Date 

12/31/2011 Actual Completion Date 12/30/2011 

Explain Difference 
Original Contract Amount $5.62 m Final Contract Amount $5.76m 
Explain Difference 
Project Manager Mike Vyhnal Principal in Charge Braden Schrader 
Relevant Factors (staff proposed) (location)  
 
Project Description: 
This project involved the installation of a recycled-water mainline to service North San Jose with 1830 LF 
of DICL, 1490LF of 16” DICL, 1620 LF of 8” DICL and 130 LF of 6” DICL  
 
Change Order Percentages 
Change orders were approved by owner due to unforeseen change in site conditions and scope. 
 
Schedule Performance 
San Jose Water Company was eager to have the work substantially completed before the end of the year, 
which gave us less than two months with our start date of mid-October to install 35,000 LF of pipe.  To do 
so we coordinated three full crews to install the mainline simultaneously and successfully met our client’s 
challenge. 

Other Relevance to Project 
This project was performed within existing, heavily-traveled streets in San Jose.  To minimize the impact 
on traffic from our work, our work hours were restricted to avoid rush hour.  We also had to move our 
equipment on and off the street each day, which further impacted our crew’s ability to work.  Working in 
ground-water, around existing utilities, paving or plating our trenches everyday were some of the 
challenges faced; all-the-while ensuring that business owners and residences were minimally impacted. 
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PROJECT PROFILE #1 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location Cal American Water Test Slant Well, 
Marina, CA 

Owner/Representative California American Water 
Project 
Type/Capacity/Size 

Panel and trenching to 2100 LF to new location 

Schedule Completion 
Date 

December 2014 Actual Completion Date April 2015 

Explain Difference               N/A 
Original Contract Amount $540,000 Final Contract Amount $540,000 
Explain Difference               N/A 
Project Manager Darrel Varnie Principal in Charge Darrel Varnie 
Relevant Factors (staff proposed) (location)  
 
Project Description: 
This project consisted of installing a new 400amp meter panel and trenching approximately 2100’ to the 
new well location. Installing new test and analyzing equipment, 
hooking up pressure transducers and flow meters. Provide and install 
new well starter. Provide final hook up to the well. DVE also provided 
all the instrumentation and integration to Cal American Water’s 
existing Mission Control and SCADA network. 

 
Change Order Percentages  
Project did not have any change orders 
 
 
Schedule Performance 
This project was on time with no delays 
 

Other Relevance to Project 
Use this for a short Narrative of the relevant features, of proposed 
team members, other teaming partners, relevance to specific agencies, 
technical components, etc. 
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PROJECT PROFILE #2 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location ASR 3 and 4 
Seaside, CA 

Owner/Representative Monterey Peninsula Water Management Agency 
Project 
Type/Capacity/Size 

 
2 – 600 hp wells 

  
 

Schedule Completion 
Date 

 
2013 

Actual Completion Date  
2013 

Explain Difference                N/A 
Original Contract Amount $225,000 Final Contract Amount $225,000 
Explain Difference 
Project Manager  Principal in Charge  
Relevant Factors (staff proposed) (location)  
 
Project Description: 
This project consisted of installing all the underground, conduit and wire for 2 new 600hp wells. DVE 
provided and installed all the instrumentation at each well site. DVE installed the owner furnished 
2000amp main switchboard and 2- 600HP VFD’s.  DVE provide all startup and testing as well as the SCADA 
integration to Cal American Water. 

 
Change Order Percentages 
This project was completed on time, with no delays. 

 
Schedule Performance 
This project was completed on time, with no delays. 

 

Other Relevance to Project 
Water Project, SCADA for Cal Am 
.  
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PROJECT PROFILE #3 
 Team Member Logo  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Name/Location ASR 1 & 2 
Seaside, CA 

Owner/Representative Monterey Peninsula Water Management Agency 
Project 
Type/Capacity/Size 

600 hp wells   

Schedule Completion 
Date 

2013 Actual Completion Date 2013 

Explain Difference                         N/A 
Original Contract Amount $275,000 Final Contract Amount $275,000 
Explain Difference                       N/A 
Project Manager Darrel Varnie Principal in Charge Darrel Varnie 
Relevant Factors All startup and testing, SCADA and Cal American Water Client 
 
Project Description: 
 
This project consisted of installing all the underground, conduit and 
wire for 2 new 600hp wells. DVE provided and installed all the 
instrumentation at each well site. DVE installed the owner 
furnished 2000amp main switchboard and 2- 600HP VFD’s. DVE 
provide all startup and testing as well as the SCADA integration to 
Cal Am.  

Change Order Percentages 
This project was completed on time, with no delays. 

 
Schedule Performance 
This project was completed on time, with no delays. 

Other Relevance to Project 
DVE provide all startup and testing as well as the SCADA integration 
to Cal American Water. 

 



5.2.2.3.  Change O
rder Percentages 
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5.2.2.3  Change Order Percentages 
 
Change Order Percentages are addressed on each Project Profile, see sections 5.2.2.3B & 5.2.2.3C 



5.2.2.3.  Schedule Perform
ance 
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5.2.2.3  Schedule Performance 
 
Schedule Performance is addressed on each Project Profile, see sections 5.2.2.3B & 5.2.2.3C 



5.2.2 4.  Project References 

4 – Project References:  
Provide Project References as part of the Appendix for each project 
profile submitted. The reference should be from the project’s owner or 
the project owner’s representative. Each reference must include at least 
the following information:  
- Project name and the reference’s firm name, contact name, contact’s 
title, phone number, e-mail address and relationship to the project.  
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5.2.2.4  Project References 
Per RFP:  Provide Project References as part of the Appendix for each project profile submitted. The 
reference should be from the project’s owner or the project owner’s representative. Each reference must 
include at least the following information: Project name and the reference’s firm name, contact name, 
contact’s title, phone number, e-mail address and relationship to the project.  
 
Firm Project Name & Description Reference Contact Information 
Granite Construction Diablo Canyon Power Plant (ISFSI) 

 
PG&E, Richard Van der Linden 
805.545.6648, rjv@pge 

Hwy 92/880 Interchange Caltrans, Ray Balallo, RE 
510.670.7825, Raymundo.Balallo@dot.ca.gov 

San Bruno Grade Separation Project Caltrain, Bill Carlson, PE, RE 
415.990.3705 

Stonebrae Master Plan Community John Sabine, VP of Construction 
415.781.1211 

San Clemente Dam Removal & 
Carmel River Reroute 

Aman Gonzales 
831.646.3230 

San Jose Int’l Airport Terminal Area 
Improvement 

City of San Jose 
Craig Mobeck, Project Manager 
408.535.8395 

DN Tanks 1.5 MG Cook Riolo Tank Cal American Water 
916.568.4200 

Davis Woodland Water Supply 
Project 

City of Woodland,  
Doug Baxter, 530.661.5850 

New Main Water Reservoir USACE, Valencia Wynn,  
805.201.6156 

Sanco Pipelines Delta Coves John Fitzpatrick,  
916.276.6248 

City of Marina/Shea Homes Lane Marceau,  
925.245.3600 

Recycled Water Main Alignment San Jose Water Company 
408.279.7900 

Darrel Varni Cal American Water Test Slant Well Cal American Water 
Ian Crooks, 831.646.3217 

ASR 3 & 4 Cal American Water 
Ian Crooks, 831.646.3217 

ASR 1 & 2 Cal American Water 
Ian Crooks, 831.646.3217 

   

 



5.2.2 5.  Project Approach 

5. Project Approach; 
 
Provide the Contractor’s approach to addressing large-scale projects including the philosophy and 
approach to the construction of projects similar in size, scope, and complexity. This section is limited to 
three (3) double-sided pages and shall be part of the Appendix. The Contractor shall also demonstrate its 
understanding of large-scale projects by identifying those features and risks that are critical to these 
types of projects with a description of how those features and risks have been addressed to ensure 
successful projects.  
 
The Contractor shall demonstrate a clear understanding of the need and process for ensuring that CAW 
receives the quality product required in construction, and commissioning. Each Contractor shall identify 
specifically who will be responsible for its quality program and how it will be developed and managed. In 
particular, each Contractor shall define its internal and external design review process, field inspection 
process, submittal review process, deficiency identification, correction and tracking process, non-
conformance process, and level of senior management involved. The Contractor shall also identify the 
Quality Assurance/Quality Control (“QA/QC”) officer for the Project and their projected time on-site 
during construction of the Project. This individual must have experience as a QA/QC officer during at 
least two (2) similar projects. This section is limited to three (3) double-sided pages and shall be part of 
the Appendix.  
 
The Contractor shall submit a summary of its standard QA/QC plan, which outlines the construction 
quality management program to be used on the Project. The builder member of the Contractor shall 
submit an example of a QA/QC plan, which demonstrates the construction quality management program 
to be used on the Project. This section shall be part of the Appendix.  
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5.2.2.5  Project Approach - 

Per RFQ:  Provide the Contractor’s approach to addressing large-scale projects including the philosophy 
and approach to the construction of projects similar in size, scope, and complexity. This section is limited to 
three (3) double-sided pages and shall be part of the Appendix. The Contractor shall also demonstrate its 
understanding of large-scale projects by identifying those features and risks that are critical to these types 
of projects with a description of how those features and risks have been addressed to ensure successful 
projects. (Page Limit;  Three double-sided pages / 6 single-sided) 
 

 
Granite put together an integrated organization comprised of local subcontractors who have extensive 
experience in delivering large-scale projects to owners throughout Northern California and the US.  Water 
conveyance projects, City infrastructure projects, pump stations and pre-stressed tanks are our specialty.  
Our design-bid-build resume is significant as we have worked with diverse sets of owners, and have 
assisted on projects that required design development and preconstruction on various projects. Our focus 
is to provide successful delivery to the owner and the assistance that we can provide becomes 
advantageous in realizing cost and schedule savings the earlier we can be an active participant. For this 
reason, we suggest early participation as most advantageous to California American Water (Cal Am).  
 
Granite’s project management approach for this contract will consist of comprehensively organizing, 
scheduling, sequencing, planning and integrating each aspect of the project – from start-up to 
commissioning.  Although linear in nature, a timely and cost effective delivery of MPWSP will require 
many different headings, each one coordinated with the others.  Granite will deliver the Monterey 
Peninsula Water Supply Project (MPWSP) Desalination Conveyance Facilities for Cal Am using our 
successful Project Management delivery approach, which integrates people, systems, structures and 
practices into a process to harness the talents and insights of all participants for the benefit of the project.  
Granite brings a distinct understanding of large and complex project management.  Our goal is to increase 
value, reduce risk, and maximize efficiency through all phases of construction.  As a single point entity 
with expansive capacity, we are able to share roles and responsibilities across the organization and assign 
the most qualified staff to the key positions. Granite’s primary responsibility will be the construction of 
the overall covenant facilities and the firm responsible for start-up, commissioning and ongoing warranty 
and support assistance for the new facility. Granite’s organization has clearly defined roles, 
responsibilities, accountability, and authority.  
 
Collaboration and Partnering 
Our approach and structure focuses on continuous collaboration and daily interaction with the Cal Am’s 
Team, and affected stakeholders to provide integration among all disciplines and organizations, 
throughout the construction processes.  As your contractor, we are committed to safely complete the 
project on-time, on-budget and to Cal Am’s standards.   Additionally, our experience has shown that 
because preconstruction and construction have different purposes they require unique organizational 
approaches yet maintain a need for continuity between the phases.  By bringing in our preconstruction 



California American Water  
Monterey Peninsula Water Supply Project (MPWSP)  |  Desalination Conveyance Facilities 

                                                                         Project Approach |  5.2.2.5                                                Page |  2 

team, we will assist in design development optimization, guide opportunities to realize cost and schedule 
savings and to streamline the project progress and milestone achievements.  We can achieve a seamless 
transition from preconstruction to construction. 
 
Preconstruction Phase Organization and VE 
During preconstruction, a matrix organization allows communication and information to flow freely 
through the organizational structure enhancing interaction and the decision-making process.  Our key 
personnel are integrated within the designer, third parties, and Cal-Am with access to all the inter-related 
project information and can quickly manage and accommodate project design changes as they occur.  This 
facilitates completion of the work and allows our team to find the most cost effective approach to 
construction.  Granite has performed VE and design optimization on many of our design build and CM/GC 
contracts over the years, and will to apply these tools and systems to Cal Am project.  Our VE experience 
will vet the most advantageous cost and schedule benefits, for materials, and  the means and methods. 
 
Identify Conflicts 
Granite has used ground penetrating radar on previous projects that benefit by a comprehensive 
understanding of the subsurface environment.  Granite anticipates using this technology to assist in utility 
conflicts and design optimizations.   Ground penetration radar is a cost effective tool in determining 
subsurface conflicts and anomalies without ground disturbance or noise, congestion and repairs.    
Identifying conflicts early allows for a cost effective redesign or existing utility relocation.  Early conflict 
detection gives more time to designers and utility companies to address issues in a cost effective manner.      
 
Identify and procure long lead materials  
Upon notice to proceed, we will begin with our Collaboration and Kickoff meetings as noted on our 
Project Approach on page 6.  We have a proactive kickoff process to set the pace for this project and will 
be able to identify and procure long-lead materials.  It is at this kickoff meeting that issues are identified 
to be resolved before critical actions are needed.  Our comprehensive project team, having worked before 
on various projects are able to bring project efficiencies to the meetings and discussions that provide the 
foundation for innovations, value engineering and identification of long-lead materials that assist at 
minimizing cost and schedule impacts.   
 
Mobilization 
Once mobilized, Granite follows an established construction management process to ensure 
communication with in the Team, Cal Am, Monterey County, Cities and stakeholders.  Our approach 
integrates team members and stakeholders as well as documentation and information that drives daily 
and weekly activates, including integrative improvements as needed to execute the projects scope of 
work while ensuring quality and schedule parameters are met or exceeded.  Our local presence and 
knowledge of the area will provide the most cost effective solution essential in staging area development, 
and verifying traffic plans for each segment of the work.  Granite is ready to mobilize its field operations 
once permits are secured and NTP is given by Cal Am.  As a local contractor with large project experience, 
we are uniquely positioned and qualified to bring experienced management and craft workers to the 
project on the Monterey Peninsula.  Available work and utility conflicts will begin as early as possible to 
help minimize impacts to community and traffic through deliberate and well planned operations. 
 
Safety and Site Security 
Our Safety Manager, Philip Lee, CSP,  supported by his on-site project safety manager, Wayne Bounds, 
will be responsible for supervising the safety orientation of new supervisors and employees.  Additionally, 
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organizing and coordinating local medical facilities, implementing project specific emergency action plans, 
and helping with safety meetings.  The Granite Safety Plan specifies that the safety managers will conduct 
training programs to provide information regarding specific safety issues, inspecting work areas and 
operations to identify.  If necessary, the safety managers will  initiate actions to correct unsafe work 
practices or unsafe conditions.  Assisting in the procurement of necessary safety equipment and materials, 
the safety manager will also coordinate and direct safety responsibilities with other project personnel.  
The Safety Manager will provide proactive communication with Cal Am, Subcontractors, and authorities 
on safety related matters, and assist supervisors in the investigation of accidents to determine cause and 
corrective measures.  Our safety managers will assist supervisors during regulatory agency inspections and 
investigations, assisting in the investigation of violations of the Project Health and Safety Plan.   
 

Additionally, preparation and proper maintenance of safety records and reports are key responsibilities as 
well as assisting supervisors in the development or review of a job hazard analysis for each major phase of 
work.  Planning and developing any additional jobsite accident prevention program requirements that are 
recognized during construction will be added to the onsite safety process.  Upon notice to proceed, a Site 
Safety Plan and Site Security Plan will be written specific to the location, work packages and equipment 
requirements, and will continue to be updated as additional requirements are determined.  Safety of 
employees, the public and stakeholders is of paramount concern to Granite.  We strive to have zero 
accidents and have very specific programs in place that have resulted in our exceptional safety record.  
Our continued commitment to high safety standards is instrumental to maintain a safe job site.  Our 
continued commitment to safety is reflective of the award winning programs we have in place, and 
provides an outstanding safety record on each project.   
 

Teaming Arrangements  
Our organization is aligned with the Cal-Am to achieve a collaborative, continuous and cost-effective 
partnership.  Granite has entered into a teaming partnership with local suppliers and subcontractors 
specifically for delivering this high profile project.  We have added superior conveyance water supply 
experience, pre-stressed concrete tank capabilities, SCADA, electrical and commissioning “experts” to the 
team.  Each company has signed a Sub consultant Agreement for both the preconstruction and 
construction phases.     
 

Construction Operations 
Our construction organization follows a traditional hierarchal structure with singular management 
responsibility and accountability.  It facilitates completion of work by forming efficient operating teams 
focused on specific work element completion.  Key Personnel are dedicated to the project from ‘cradle to 
grave’ for a seamless transition between all phases of the project.   Granite will self-perform the 
Monterey Pipeline (bid item 5) of the project.  The Monterey Pipeline runs through the heart of 
Downtown Monterey, Pacific Grove and Presidio of Monterey.   
 
Granite will apply extensive site knowledge to establish phased staging area that will minimize disruptions 
to unincorporated Monterey County, City of Marina, City of sand City, City of Seaside, City of Monterey, 
City of Pacific Grove, Caltrans, and Federal Lands (Presidio of Monterey).  Work plans will include 
comprehensive traffic handling plans pedestrian plans, haul routes on active roadways.  Employing our 
specialized experience we will have the greatest effect on minimizing third party impacts to public, and 
time schedule.   
 
We have selected a few highly experienced contractors to assist us in the execution in other areas of 
work.  Our team has selected Sanco Pipeline, a large locally owned pipeline contractor to provide 
resources for the Feedwater Line (bid item 1A), and Transfer Pipeline (bid items 3).  Granite and Sanco 
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have joined forces to bring large complex and time sensitive projects to completion together in the past.  
By joining forces, we can leverage multiple resources and capabilities from both companies.  Granite will 
set aside the Return Line (bid item 1A), Brine Discharge, Salinas Valley return to PCA (bid item 2A) ASR 
Extension and (3) ASR extension (bid item 4) for potential WMDVBE participation or as needed depending 
on the design and RFP.  Granite would construct the crossing under Route 1 if required.  DN tanks will 
provide engineering and construction serves for the Terminal Reservoir 2 Tanks (bid item 5). Darrel Varni 
Electric will provide electrical, SCADA and commissioning for the conveyance pipeline, tanks, and pump 
stations.   Granite Construction, headquartered in Watsonville, CA, is committed to high quality 
construction and completing this project utilizing as much local labor and local businesses as possible.  We 
have comprised a team of contractors who are well respected and local leaders in the industry.   
 
QA/QC process and assurance 
GRANITE has a national reputation for achieving high quality standards and has received many national 
awards, which is a testament to the quality programs we have developed for our construction projects. 
The framework and proven elements that constitute good quality management can be carried from one 
project to another, but to truly be effective the Construction Quality Management Plan (CQMP) must be 
developed and tailored to the specific need of a project. We are providing our conceptual Quality 
Management System (QMS) with this SOQ, which outlines the principle concepts and goals of the 
GRANITE CQMP. Our final, detailed project CQMP will be developed specifically for the Cal Am Project to 
ensure timely, consistent, and effective quality assurance and quality control for all scope requirements 
for this project. 
 
We have designated Jerry Lynch as the QA/QC Manager for this project.  Mr. Lynch has been in the 
construction industry for over 10 years. He has been involved in all aspects of heavy civil infrastructure 
construction, including construction management. He provides leadership, directing and managing project 
specific QA/QC programs.  He has developed various Quality Control checks and processes to deliver a 
high quality product to the client.  He has also been responsible for recording and assuring approved third 
party tests and inspections for every step of the project including installation of underground utilities, 
pipelines, transmission lines, various elements in water and wastewater projects, waterproofing, 
reinforcing steel, formwork, concrete placement, and structural steel. He is very proactive in his approach 
and has a passion to provide a high quality product to the client.   

Granite Construction has provided a summary of a relevant QA/QC plan, which outlines a similar 
construction quality management program to one that will be used on the Project, and serves as an 
example of the QA/QC plan as requested by the RFQ, which is at the end of this section.  
 

Utility Testing and Surface Restoration 
Granite will perform pressure testing and chlorinated for each segment constructed respectively.  Darrel 
Varni Electric will provide electrical, SCADA and commissioning for the conveyance pipeline, tanks, and 
pump stations.  Street restoration will be performed by Granite, using locally owned material resources, 
along with Monterey crews. 
 
WMDVBE Program and Plan 
Granite understands and is committed to exceeding Cal Am’s overall DBE and workforce diversity goals of 
25%.  Granite will maximize workforce diversity and workforce training to exceed the project’s goals and 
requirements.  Granite has an established process to provide meaningful DBE participation in all aspects 
of the Project throughout all phases.  Our company philosophy of promoting the project and stakeholder 
interest is built into our entire team’s culture including all subcontractors.  This is accomplished through 
our emphasis on partnering, community outreach communications and team quality and safety meetings 
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to ensure the project goals are met.  Granite is an equal opportunity employer and follows local, state and 
federal guidelines regarding hiring practices.  Granite strives to meet the goals for employment of 
minorities, women and persons with disabilities.  Through our craft we ask for female and minorities 
when looking for a new operator or laborer.   Our general recruiting practices include adhering to our 
Core Values and Code of Conduct that empowers employees with respect and fairness.  In short, we hire 
the best person available and provide advancement opportunities. In California, our numbers for 2014 
speak for themselves;   Total Minority Hired   29.11%                   Total Female Hired   22.78% 
 
Subcontracting.  Granite has ongoing relationships with various subcontracting and supplier 
organizations.  Specifically, we have a relationship the Monterey County contracting community that has 
been built over the last nine decades, since Granite became a local contractor on the Monterey Bay.  We 
consistently announce projects to these organizations to attract and build our subcontractor craft 
business base so they can regularly provide team members on projects.  Our local relationship with the 
contracting community ensures competitive pricing and high quality standards from our subcontractors. 
 
As a long standing partner with local labor, we establish and foster relationships between apprentices and 
journeymen of all trades to provide training and meaningful mentorships an enduring pipeline of craft 
skills and development.  Granite Construction is signatory to specialty craft labor unions. Our training 
program, utilization and work hours for each trade are specified in our master labor agreements.  The 
classroom training for apprentices is controlled and administered by each union individually. On-the-job 
training consists of apprentices working alongside journeymen in operations standard to their trade and 
applicable to this project.  
 
Joel Jimenez, our Diversity Plan Manager, will maximize diversity and will target local businesses and 
community workforce opportunities to provide Cal Am with maximum value.  While self-performing 
critical items of the work within our expertise, Granite will select subcontracting opportunities that 
provide enhanced options and value to Cal Am.  Our comprehensive DBE SOP provides the guidance that 
will be used by personnel to monitor and document compliance with DBE and other special programs.   
 

Outreach efforts.  Immediately upon award, our Diversity Plan Manager, Joe Jimenez, will roll out our 
proactive outreach program, track and report DBE utilization based upon established reporting structure 
in conjunction with the project Subcontracting Opportunities identified.  We have a proactive and 
successful outreach program with relationships already active and efforts in place with our local outreach 
events throughout the Monterey Bay Area, as well as our project e-mail address to receive updates and 
collect interested firms.  Our team continues to aggressively pursue new DBE firms to grow our strong 
subcontractor base.   Our approach consists of: 

• Identifying construction trades required 
• Searching specific websites for certified DBE firms 
• Focusing on DBE firms who meet diversity goals 
• Send solicitations to identified firms for participation in this project using Smart Bid Net. 
• Monitor specific email outreach programs with DBE and diversity goals 
• Place ads in Trade and Focus publications 
• Contact local minority and small business associations to encourage participation 
• Contact trade unions to encourage DBE and diversity contacts 
• Offering assistance to DBE firms 
• Track responses, following up with firms, with prior work relationships and new interested firms 
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5.2.2 5.a  Exam
ple of Q

A/Q
C Plan 

5. Project Approach; 
 
The Contractor shall submit a summary of its standard QA/QC plan, which outlines the construction 
quality management program to be used on the Project. The builder member of the Contractor shall 
submit an example of a QA/QC plan, which demonstrates the construction quality management program 
to be used on the Project. This section shall be part of the Appendix.  
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Construction & Engineering 
580 West Beach Street 
Watsonville, CA  95076 



















































Granite Construction 
Company 
Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended December 31, 2014 



 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Board of Directors 
and Shareholder of Granite Construction Company: 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Granite Construction Company 
and its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2014, and the 
related consolidated statements of operations, of equity, and of cash flows for the year then ended.   

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.   

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the 
Company's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  We believe that the audit evidence we 
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Three Embarcadero Center, San Francisco, CA 94111-4004 
T: (415) 498 5000, F: (415) 498 7100, www.pwc.com/us 



 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Granite Construction Company and its subsidiaries at December 31, 
2014, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 
March 20, 2015 
 

 
_____________________________ 
John Eilers, Partner 
California CPA License No. 68172 
 



GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
(In thousands, except share and per share data) 

December 31, 2014 
Assets 

Current assets  
  Cash and cash equivalents ($16,823 related to consolidated construction             
   joint ventures (“CCJVs”)) 

$     177,933  

  Short-term marketable securities 25,504 
  Receivables, net ($23,451 related to CCJVs) 237,150 
  Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 25,267 
  Inventories 50,812 
  Deferred income taxes 25,694 
  Equity in construction joint ventures 95,017 
  Other current assets 15,633 
        Total current assets 653,010 
Property and equipment, net  308,816 
Long-term marketable securities 76,563 
Intercompany receivable from Parent and subsidiaries 303,425 
Other noncurrent assets 57,400 
            Total assets     $  1,399,214 

Liabilities and Equity 
Current liabilities  
  Current maturities of long-term debt $              22 
  Accounts payable ($14,138 related to CCJVs) 113,802 
  Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings ($1,932 related to CCJVs)         
   

75,249 
  Accrued expenses and other current liabilities ($1,392 related to CCJVs) 120,647 
        Total current liabilities 309,720 
Long-term debt 15,105 
Other long-term liabilities 29,955 
Deferred income taxes 10,781 
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 15 and 16)  
Equity  
  Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 30,000,000 shares,  
    issued and outstanding 10,000,000 shares 100 
  Additional paid-in capital 148,719 
  Retained earnings 875,298 
        Total Granite Construction Company shareholder’s equity 1,024,117 
  Non-controlling interests 9,536 
        Total equity 1,033,653 
            Total liabilities and equity $  1,399,214 
  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

(In thousands) 

Year Ended December 31, 2014 
Revenue     $  1,705,648 
Cost of revenue 1,557,987 
        Gross profit 147,661 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 143,160 
Restructuring and impairment gains (2,643) 
Gain on sales of property and equipment (11,990) 
        Operating income 19,134 
Other income  
  Other income, net (827) 
        Total other income (827) 
        Income before provision for income taxes  19,961 
Provision for income taxes 4,890 
        Net income 15,071 
Amount attributable to non-controlling interests (4,214) 
         Net income attributable to Granite Construction Company $      10,857  
  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY 

(In thousands) 

 
Common 

Stock 

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total 
GCCO 

Shareholder’s 
Equity 

 
Non- 

controlling 
Interests 

Total 
Equity 

Balances, December 
31, 2013  $ 100 $      148,719 $     864,434 $         1,013,253 $        (2,473) $   1,010,780 
Net income -                 -          10,857                 10,857             4,214           15,071  
Transactions with 

non-controlling 
interests, net -                 -                 -                         - 7,795             7,795 

Other -                 -                 7                           7 -                    7 
Balances, December 
31, 2014  $ 100 $      148,719 $     875,298 $          1,024,117 $           9,536 $  1,033,653 
       

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(In thousands) 

Year Ended December 31, 2014 
Operating activities  
  Net income $    15,071  
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:  

Non-cash restructuring and impairment gains (2,643) 
Depreciation, depletion and amortization 29,757 
Gain on sales of property and equipment (11,990) 
Gain on company owned life insurance (1,951) 
Equity in net income from unconsolidated construction joint ventures (10,971) 

Changes in assets and liabilities:   
Receivables (18,671) 
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings, net (11,398) 
Inventories 1,999 
Contributions to unconsolidated construction joint ventures (25,700) 
Distributions to unconsolidated construction joint ventures 25,402 
Other assets, net 9,525 
Accounts payable (4,473) 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities, net (27,906) 

           Net cash used in operating activities (33,949) 
Investing activities  
Purchases of marketable securities (64,975) 
Maturities of marketable securities 45,000 
Proceeds from called marketable securities 35,000 
Purchases of property and equipment (15,612) 
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 21,968 
Additions to intercompany receivable 807 
Other investing activities, net 39 

           Net cash provided by investing activities 22,227 
Financing activities  
  Contributions from non-controlling partners 15,866 
  Distributions to non-controlling partners, net (8,066) 
           Net cash provided by financing activities 7,800 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (3,922) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 181,855 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $   177,933 
  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Description of Business:  On January 24, 1990 Granite Construction Incorporated (the “Parent”) was formed.  
The Parent acquired all the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Granite Construction Company 
(“we,” “us,” “our,” “Company” and “Granite,” as appropriate) in exchange for shares in the Parent. 

 
We are a heavy civil contractor engaged in the construction and improvement of streets, roads, highways, mass 
transit facilities, airport infrastructure, bridges, tunnels, dams and other infrastructure-related projects.  We 
have offices in Alaska, Arizona, California, Florida, Nevada, Texas, Utah and Washington.   

 
Subsequent Events: In preparing these consolidated financial statements, we have evaluated events and 
transactions for potential recognition or disclosure through March 20, 2015 the date the consolidated financial 
statements were available to be issued. 

 
Principles of Consolidation:  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Granite 
Construction Company and its wholly owned and majority owned subsidiaries. All material intercompany 
transactions and accounts have been eliminated. We use the equity method of accounting for affiliated 
companies where we have the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control. Additionally, we 
participate in joint ventures (“joint ventures” or “ventures”) with other construction companies. We have 
consolidated these ventures where we have determined that through our participation we have a variable 
interest and are the primary beneficiary as defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) 
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 810, Consolidation, and related standards. The factors we 
use to determine the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity (“VIE”) include the decision authority of 
each partner, which partner manages the day-to-day operations of the project and the amount of our equity 
investment in relation to that of our partners.    

Where we have determined we are not the primary beneficiary of a venture but do exercise significant 
influence, we account for our share of the operations of jointly controlled construction joint ventures on a pro 
rata basis in the consolidated statement of operations and as a single line item on the consolidated balance 
sheet. If we determine that the power to direct the significant activities is shared equally by two or more joint 
venture parties, then there is no primary beneficiary and no party consolidates the VIE. 

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements:  The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  The preparation of 
these financial statements requires management to make estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Our estimates 
and related judgments and assumptions are continually evaluated based on available information and 
experiences; however, actual amounts could differ from those estimates.
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Revenue Recognition – Construction Contracts:  Revenue and earnings on construction contracts, including 
construction joint ventures, are recognized under the percentage of completion method using the ratio of costs 
incurred to estimated total costs. Revenue in an amount equal to cost incurred is recognized until there is 
sufficient information to determine the estimated profit on the project with a reasonable level of certainty. The 
factors considered in this evaluation include the stage of design completion, the stage of construction 
completion, the status of outstanding subcontracts or buyouts, certainty of quantities of labor and materials, 
certainty of schedule and the relationship with the owner. 

Revenue from affirmative contract claims is recognized when we have a signed agreement and payment is 
assured. Revenue from unapproved change orders is recognized to the extent the related costs have been 
incurred, the amount can be reliably estimated and recovery is probable, which is often when the owner has 
agreed to the change order in writing.  

Provisions are recognized in the consolidated statements of operations for the full amount of estimated losses 
on uncompleted contracts whenever evidence indicates that the estimated total cost of a contract exceeds its 
estimated total revenue. All contract costs, including those associated with affirmative claims and unapproved 
change orders, are recorded as incurred and revisions to estimated total costs are reflected as soon as the 
obligation to perform exists. Contract costs consist of direct costs on contracts, including labor and materials, 
amounts payable to subcontractors, direct overhead costs and equipment expense (primarily depreciation, fuel, 
maintenance and repairs). All state and federal government contracts and many of our other contracts provide 
for termination of the contract at the convenience of the party contracting with us, with provisions to pay us for 
work performed through the date of termination. Pre-contract costs are expensed as incurred. 

The accuracy of our revenue and profit recognition in a given period is dependent on the accuracy of our 
estimates of the cost to complete each project. Cost estimates for all of our significant projects use a detailed 
“bottom up” approach and we believe our experience and process allows us to provide materially reliable 
estimates. However, there are a number of factors that can contribute to changes in estimates of contract cost 
and profitability. The most significant of these include: 

  
• the completeness and accuracy of the original bid; 
• costs associated with scope changes; 
• costs of labor and/or materials; 
• extended overhead and other costs due to owner, weather and other delays; 
• subcontractor performance issues; 
• changes in productivity expectations; 
• site conditions that differ from those assumed in the original bid (to the extent contract remedies are 

unavailable); 
• continuing changes from original design on design-build projects; 
• the availability and skill level of workers in the geographic location of the project;  
• a change in the availability and proximity of equipment and materials; and 
• our ability to fully and promptly recover on claims for additional contract costs. 

     
The foregoing factors as well as the stage of completion of contracts in process and the mix of contracts at 
different margins may cause fluctuations in gross profit between periods. Significant changes in cost estimates, 
particularly in our larger, more complex projects have had, and can in future periods have, a significant effect 
on our profitability. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Our contracts with our customers are primarily “fixed unit price” or “fixed price.” Under fixed unit price 
contracts, we are committed to provide materials or services required by a project at fixed unit prices (for 
example, dollars per cubic yard of concrete placed or cubic yards of earth excavated). While the fixed unit 
price contract shifts the risk of estimating the quantity of units required for a particular project to the customer, 
any increase in our unit cost over the expected unit cost in the bid, whether due to inflation, inefficiency, faulty 
estimates or other factors, is borne by us unless otherwise provided in the contract. Fixed price contracts are 
priced on a lump-sum basis under which we bear the risk that we may not be able to perform all the work 
profitably for the specified contract amount.  
 
Revenue Recognition - Materials:  Revenue from the sale of materials is recognized when delivery occurs and 
risk of ownership passes to the customer. 

  
Balance Sheet Classifications:  Amounts receivable and payable under construction contracts (principally 
retentions) that may extend beyond one year are included in current assets and liabilities.  A one-year time 
period is used as the basis for classifying all other current assets and liabilities. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents:  Cash equivalents are securities having maturities of three months or less from 
the date of purchase.  Included in cash and cash equivalents on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 
31, 2014 was $16.8 million related to our consolidated joint ventures.  Our access to joint venture cash may be 
limited by the provisions of the venture agreements. 

 
Costs and Estimated Earnings in Excess of Billings: Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 
represent unbilled amounts earned and reimbursable under contracts. These amounts become billable according 
to the contract terms, which usually consider the passage of time, achievement of milestones or completion of 
the project. Generally, such unbilled amounts will be billed and collected over the next twelve months. Based 
on our historical experience, we generally consider the collection risk related to these amounts to be low. When 
events or conditions indicate that the amounts outstanding may become uncollectible, an allowance is 
estimated and recorded. 

 
Marketable Securities:  We determine the classification of our marketable securities at the time of purchase 
and re-evaluate these determinations at each balance sheet date. Debt securities are classified as held-to-
maturity when we have the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity. Held-to-maturity 
investments are stated at amortized cost and are periodically assessed for other-than-temporary impairment. 
Amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to 
maturity, and is included in interest income. Realized gains and losses are included in other (expense) income, 
net. The cost of securities sold or called is based on the specific identification method. 

  
Derivative Instruments: The Parent is exposed to various commodity price risks, including, but not limited to, 
diesel fuel, natural gas, propane, steel, cement and liquid asphalt arising from transactions that are entered into 
in the normal course of business. At times the Parent manages this risk through supply agreements or the 
Parent pre-purchases commodities to secure pricing and use financial contracts to further manage price risk. All 
derivative instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. The Parent does not enter into derivative 
instruments for speculative or trading purposes. 

  

9 



GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities:  We measure and disclose certain financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value. ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as the 
exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal 
or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on 
the measurement date. ASC Topic 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. 
The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value: 

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; 
quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by 
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. 

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the 
fair value of the assets or liabilities. 

We utilize the active market approach to measure fair value for our financial assets and liabilities. We report 
separately each class of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and include assets and 
liabilities that are disclosed but not recorded at fair value in the fair value hierarchy. 

 
Concentrations of Credit Risk and Other Risks:  Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to 
concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term 
marketable securities, and accounts receivable. The Parent maintains cash and cash equivalents and marketable 
securities with several financial institutions. The Parent invests with high credit quality financial institutions 
and, by policy, limits the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution. 

Our receivables are from customers concentrated in the United States, and we have no receivables from foreign 
operations as of December 31, 2014. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and generally do 
not require collateral, although the law provides us the ability to file mechanics’ liens on real property 
improved for private customers in the event of non-payment by such customers. We maintain an allowance for 
doubtful accounts which has historically been within management’s estimates. 
 
Inventories:  Inventories consist primarily of quarry products valued at the lower of average cost or market. 
We write down the inventories based on estimated quantities of materials on hand in excess of estimated 
foreseeable use. We had no material inventory write downs in 2014. 

  
Property and Equipment:  Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation for construction and other 
equipment is primarily provided using accelerated methods over lives ranging from three to seven years, and 
the straight-line method over lives from three to twenty years for the remaining depreciable assets. We believe 
that accelerated methods best approximate the service provided by the construction and other equipment. 
Depletion of quarry property is based on the usage of depletable reserves. We frequently sell property and 
equipment that has reached the end of its useful life or no longer meets our needs, including depleted quarry 
property. At the time that an asset or an asset group meets the held-for-sale criteria as defined by ASC Topic 
360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, we write it down to fair value, if the fair value is below the carrying 
value. Fair value is estimated by a variety of factors including, but not limited to, market comparative data, 
historical sales prices, broker quotes and third party valuations. If material, such property is separately 
disclosed, otherwise it is held in property and equipment until sold. The cost and accumulated depreciation or 
depletion of property sold or retired is removed from the balance sheet and the resulting gains or losses, if any, 
are reflected in operating income (loss) for the period. In the case that we abandon an asset, an amount equal to 
the carrying amount of the asset, less salvage value, if any, will be recognized as expense in the period that the 
asset was abandoned. Repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as incurred. 
 
Capitalized Interest: Interest, to the extent it is incurred in connection with the construction of certain self-
constructed assets, is capitalized and recorded as part of the asset to which it relates.  Capitalized interest on 
self-constructed assets is amortized over the estimated useful lives of the assets. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Long-lived Assets: We review property and equipment and amortizable intangible assets for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the net book value of an asset may not be recoverable. 
Recoverability of these assets is measured by comparison of their net book values to the future undiscounted 
cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If the assets are considered to be impaired, an impairment 
charge will be recognized equal to the amount by which the net book value of the asset exceeds its fair value. 
We group plant equipment assets at a regional level, which represents the lowest level for which identifiable 
cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets. When an individual asset or 
group of assets is determined to no longer contribute to the vertically integrated asset group, it is assessed for 
impairment independently. 

Amortizable intangible assets primarily include permits which are being amortized on a straight-line basis over 
terms from five to thirty years. 
 
Goodwill: As of December 31, 2014, we had three reporting units in which goodwill was recorded as follows: 

• California Group Construction 
• Northwest Group Construction 
• Northwest Group Construction Materials 

We perform impairment tests annually and more frequently when events and circumstances occur that indicate 
a possible impairment of goodwill. We have historically performed goodwill impairment testing on an annual 
basis as of December 31. However, in 2014 we changed the annual goodwill impairment testing date to 
November 1, which we believe is preferable as the new testing date better aligns with our financial planning 
and budgeting cycle. In addition, we evaluate goodwill for impairment if events or circumstances change 
between annual tests indicating a possible impairment.  Examples of such events or circumstances include the 
following:   

• a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate;   
• an adverse action or assessment by a regulator;   
• a more likely than not expectation that a segment or a significant portion thereof will be sold; or   
• the testing for recoverability of a significant asset group within the segment.   

In performing step one of the goodwill impairment tests, we calculate the estimated fair value of the reporting 
unit in which the goodwill is recorded using the discounted cash flows and market multiple methods. 
Judgments inherent in these methods include the determination of appropriate discount rates, the amount and 
timing of expected future cash flows and growth rates, and appropriate benchmark companies. The cash flows 
used in our 2014 discounted cash flow model were based on five-year financial forecasts, which in turn were 
based on the 2015-2017 operating plan developed internally by management adjusted for market participant 
based assumptions. Our discount rate assumptions are based on an assessment of equity cost of capital and 
appropriate capital structure for our reporting units. In assessing the reasonableness of our determined fair 
values of our reporting units, we evaluate our results against our current market capitalization. 

After calculating the estimated fair value, we compare the resulting fair value to the net book value of the 
reporting unit, including goodwill. If the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we measure 
and record the amount of the impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s 
goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. 

The results of our annual goodwill impairment tests, performed in accordance with ASC 350, indicated that the 
estimated fair values of our reporting units exceeded their net book values (i.e., cushion) by at least 50% for the 
two reporting units with material amounts of goodwill. 

The Northwest Construction Materials business is susceptible to state and local spending as well as private 
spending on residential and commercial construction.  While we believe the current cushion is adequate to 
absorb these fluctuations, a significant decline in job win rates could have a significant impact to this reporting 
unit’s estimated fair value. 

 
Billings in Excess of Costs and Estimated Earnings: Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings is 
comprised of cash collected from customers and billings to customers on contracts in advance of work 
performed, including advance payments negotiated as a contract condition. Generally, unearned project-related 
costs will be earned over the next twelve months.  
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Asset Retirement and Reclamation Obligations:  We account for the costs related to legal obligations to 
reclaim aggregate mining sites and other facilities by recording our estimated reclamation liability when 
incurred, capitalizing the estimated liability as part of the related asset’s carrying amount and allocating it to 
expense over the asset’s useful life. 

 
Warranties:  Many of our construction contracts contain warranty provisions covering defects in equipment, 
materials, design or workmanship that generally run from six months to one year after our customer accepts the 
contract. Because of the nature of our projects, including contract owner inspections of the work both during 
construction and prior to acceptance, we have not experienced material warranty costs for these short-term 
warranties and, therefore, do not believe an accrual for these costs is necessary. Certain construction contracts 
carry longer warranty periods, ranging from two to ten years, for which we have accrued an estimate of 
warranty cost. The warranty cost is estimated based on our experience with the type of work and any known 
risks relative to the project and was not material during the year ended December 31, 2014. 

 
Accrued Insurance Costs:  We carry insurance policies to cover various risks, primarily general liability, 
automobile liability and workers compensation, under which we are liable to reimburse the insurance company 
for a portion of each claim paid. The amounts for which we are liable for general liability and workers 
compensation generally range from the first $0.5 million to $1.0 million per occurrence. We accrue for the 
estimated ultimate liability for incurred losses, both reported and unreported, using actuarial methods based on 
historic trends modified, if necessary, by recent events. Changes in our loss assumptions caused by changes in 
actual experience would affect our assessment of the ultimate liability and could have an effect on our 
operating results and financial position up to $1.0 million per occurrence. The aggregate general liability and 
workers compensation liabilities recorded as of December 31, 2014 were approximately $28.6 million and 
were included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. 
 
Performance Guarantees: Agreements with our joint venture partners and limited liability company members 
(“partner(s)”) for both construction joint ventures and line item joint ventures define each partner’s 
management role and financial responsibility in the project. The amount of operational exposure is generally 
limited to our stated ownership interest. However, due to the joint and several nature of the performance 
obligations under the related owner contracts, if one of the partners fails to perform, we and the remaining 
partners would be responsible for performance of the outstanding work (i.e., performance guarantee). We 
estimate our liability for performance guarantees using estimated partner bond rates and include them in 
accrued expenses and other current liabilities (see Note 10) with a corresponding asset in equity in construction 
joint ventures on the consolidated balance sheet. We reassess our liability when and if changes in 
circumstances occur. The liability and corresponding asset are removed from the consolidated balance sheet 
upon customer acceptance of the project. 

Circumstances that could lead to a loss under these agreements beyond our stated ownership interest include 
the failure of a partner to contribute additional funds to the venture in the event the project incurs a loss or 
additional costs that we could incur should a partner fail to provide the services and resources that it had 
committed to provide in the agreement.  
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Contingencies: We are currently involved in various claims and legal proceedings. Loss contingency 
provisions are recorded if the potential loss from any claim, asserted or unasserted, or legal proceeding is 
considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If a potential loss is considered probable but 
only a range of loss can be determined, the low-end of the range is recorded. These accruals represent 
management’s best estimate of probable loss. Disclosure also is provided when it is reasonably possible that a 
loss will be incurred or when it is reasonably possible that the amount of a loss will exceed the amount 
recorded. Significant judgment is required in both the determination of probability of loss and the 
determination as to whether an exposure is reasonably estimable. Because of uncertainties related to these 
matters, accruals are based only on the best information available at the time. As additional information 
becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to claims and litigation and may revise our 
estimates. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation:  The Parent measures and recognizes compensation expense, net of estimated 
forfeitures, over the requisite vesting periods for all stock-based payment awards made. Stock-based 
compensation is incurred at the Parent level and allocated to us, and is included in selling, general and 
administrative expenses on our consolidated statement of operations.   
 
Restructuring and Impairment (Gains) Charges: Pursuant to an approved plan, we record severance costs 
when an employee has been notified, unless the employee provides future service, in which case severance 
costs are expensed ratably over the future service period. Other restructuring costs are recognized when the 
liability is incurred. Costs associated with terminating a lease contract are recorded at the contract termination 
date, in accordance with contract terms, or on the cease-use date, net of estimated sublease income, if 
applicable. In determining the amount related to termination of a lease, various assumptions are used including 
the time period over which facilities will be vacant, expected sublease term and sublease rates. These 
assumptions may be adjusted upon the occurrence of future events. Asset impairment analyses resulting from 
restructuring events are performed in accordance with ASC subtopic 360-10, Property, Plant and Equipment. 
See the Property and Equipment and Long-lived Assets accounting policies above for further information on 
asset impairment charges. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded net restructuring and 
impairment gains of $2.6 million (see Note 11). 
 
Income Taxes:  Deferred taxes are provided on a liability method whereby deferred tax assets are recognized 
for deductible temporary differences and operating loss carry-forwards and deferred tax liabilities are 
recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax 
bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more 
likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. 

We report a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to 
be taken in a tax return. We recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in 
other expense (income) in the consolidated statement of operations. 

  

13 



GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements:   

 
In April 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued 
Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity, which changes the threshold for 
reporting discontinued operations and adds new disclosures.  The new guidance defines a discontinued 
operation as a disposal of a component or group of components that is disposed of or is classified as held for 
sale and “represents a strategic shift that has (or will have) a major effect on an entity’s operations and 
financial results.” For disposals of individually significant components that do not qualify as discontinued 
operations, an entity must disclose pre-tax earnings of the disposed component.  This ASU will be effective for 
all disposals (or classifications as held for sale) of components of an entity that occur during our year ended 
December 31, 2015.  We do not expect the adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on our consolidated 
financial statements. 

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which provides 
guidance for revenue recognition. This ASU’s core principle is that a company will recognize revenue when it 
transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects consideration to which the 
company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.  We have elected early application of 
this ASU; therefore, it will be effective commencing with our year ending December 31, 2017, consistent with 
the Parent. We are currently assessing the potential impact of this ASU on our consolidated financial 
statements.  
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
2. Revisions in Estimates 
 

Our profit recognition related to construction contracts is based on estimates of costs to complete each project. 
These estimates can vary significantly in the normal course of business as projects progress, circumstances 
develop and evolve, and uncertainties are resolved. We recognize revenue on affirmative claims when we have 
a signed agreement and recognize revenue associated with unapproved change orders to the extent the related 
costs have been incurred, the amount can be reliably estimated and recovery is probable, which is often when 
the owner has agreed to the change order in writing. We recognize costs associated with affirmative claims and 
unapproved change orders as incurred and revisions to estimated total costs as soon as the obligation to 
perform is determined. Approved change orders and affirmative claims, as well as changes in related estimates 
of costs to complete, are considered revisions in estimates. We use the cumulative catch-up method applicable 
to construction contract accounting to account for revisions in estimates. Under this method, revisions in 
estimates are accounted for in their entirety in the period of change. There can be no assurance that we will not 
experience further changes in circumstances or otherwise be required to further revise our profitability 
estimates.  

Revenue in an amount equal to cost incurred is recognized until there is sufficient information to determine the 
estimated profit on the project with a reasonable level of certainty. The gross profit impact from projects that 
reached initial profit recognition is not included in the tables below. During the year ended December 31, 
2014, the gross profit impact from projects reaching initial profit recognition was $48.1 million. 

The net change in project profitability from revisions in estimates, both increases and decreases that 
individually had an impact of $1.0 million or more on gross profit was a net increase of $19.0 million.  The 
projects are summarized as follows (dollars in millions): 

 
Increases 
Year ended December 31,                      2014 
Number of projects with upward estimate changes                                14     
Range of increase in gross profit from each project, net  $                 1.0 – 11.3 
Increase on project profitability  $                         51.2 

 
The increases during the year ended December 31, 2014 were due to higher productivity than originally 
anticipated, owner-directed scope changes and lower costs than anticipated.  
 
Decreases 
Year ended December 31,                      2014 
Number of projects with downward estimate changes                                  7 
Range of reduction in gross profit from each project, net  $                1.1 – 16.8 
Decrease on project profitability  $                         32.2 

 
The decreases during the year ended December 31, 2014 were due to higher costs and lower productivity than 
originally anticipated and outstanding claims and change orders.  
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
3. Related Party Transactions 

 
Intercompany transactions with the Parent include the following transactions and balances:  

 
• Corporate overhead charges 
• Management of the investment portfolio for cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities 
• Self-insurance and funded insurance coverage 
• Incentive compensation arrangements and related payments 
• Corporate debt and interest 
• Loss on commodity swaps 

 
Corporate overhead charges are generally allocated to us and other operating entities of the Parent based on 
relative cost of revenue.  All other charges and the related liabilities are allocated to us on a specific 
identification basis. The expense allocations have been determined on bases considered to be reasonable 
reflections of the utilization of services provided or the benefit received.  However, these allocations are not 
necessarily indicative of the amounts that would have been recorded by us on a stand-alone basis.  At 
December 31, 2014, the related party receivable from Parent and subsidiaries was $303.4 million and the 
following assets and liabilities were allocated to us from the Parent (in thousands): 

 
December 31, 2014 
Other current and noncurrent assets $  10,289 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 47,892 
Net deferred tax assets – see Note 14 14,913 
Long-term debt 15,000 

 
The amount paid to a Parent subsidiary equipment leasing company for equipment rental charges was $23.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2014.  Total corporate overhead charges allocated from the Parent 
were $63.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 and are included in selling, general and 
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of operations. The allocated corporate interest expense 
was $0.9 million and the allocated corporate interest income was $1.0 million for the year ended December 31, 
2014.  The allocated corporate commodity swaps loss was $2.0 million and was included in other income, net 
in our consolidated statement of operations. The fee for managing the cash, cash equivalent and short-term 
investment portfolio allocated from the Parent was $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. 
Revenue resulting from transactions with affiliates and subsidiaries of the Parent was $21.6 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2014. 

All cash generated by us is swept to and managed by the Parent, initially resulting in an intercompany 
receivable from Parent and subsidiaries.  Based on agreements between the Parent and us, cash, cash 
equivalents and marketable securities are then allocated to us at period-end based upon our uses and receipts of 
cash.  The resultant allocations are reclassified at period-end from Intercompany receivable from Parent and 
subsidiaries to Cash and cash equivalents, Short-term marketable securities, and Long-term marketable 
securities on the consolidated balance sheet. 

While the Parent has entered into certain debt agreements, the intercompany arrangement with us is the same as 
the debt agreements themselves and is reported as such in Note 12 to these consolidated financial statements.  
All payments for principal and interest are made by the Parent. 

Other transactions reflected in Intercompany receivable from Parent and subsidiaries include non-interest 
bearing cash advances, tax expense or refund allocations from the Parent and other miscellaneous 
intercompany charges and credits. There is no contractual due date for the Intercompany receivable from 
Parent and subsidiaries and it will not be repaid during fiscal year 2015. 
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We join in the consolidated federal and state tax returns filed by the Parent.  As such, current federal and state 
income taxes and income tax benefits are allocated to us based on our contribution or loss, respectively, which 
approximates amounts that would be determined on a separate return basis.  Deferred federal and state income 
taxes and income tax benefits are allocated to us on a specific identification basis.  All cash payments for 
consolidated federal and state tax returns are made by the Parent. Taxes payable have been netted in the 
Intercompany receivable from Parent and subsidiaries.  

 
4. Marketable Securities 
 

All marketable securities were classified as held-to-maturity as of December 31, 2014 and the carrying 
amounts of held-to-maturity marketable securities were as follows (in thousands): 

  
December 31, 2014 

       U.S. Government and agency obligations 
       

$ 10,511 
Commercial paper 

        
14,993 

      Total short-term marketable securities 
        

25,504 
U.S. Government and agency obligations – long-term 

        
76,563 

Total marketable securities   
      

$ 102,067 
          

As of December 31, 2014, scheduled maturities of held-to-maturity investments were as follows (in 
thousands): 

 
Due within one year $ 25,504 
Due in one to five years  76,563 
      Total $ 102,067 

 
5. Fair Value Measurement 
  

The following tables summarize assets and liabilities measured at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet 
on a recurring basis for each of the fair value levels (in thousands): 

  
    Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Using 

December 31, 2014   Level 1  Level 2   Level 3    Total 
Cash equivalents 

     
 

     Money market funds $ 55,206 $ - $ - $ 55,206 
     Total assets 

 
$ 55,206   

 
- $ - $ 55,206 

  
 

A reconciliation of cash equivalents to consolidated cash and cash equivalents is as follows (in thousands): 
 

December 31, 
     

2014 
Cash equivalents 

      
$ 

 
55,206 

Cash 
        

122,727 
Total cash and cash equivalents 

      
$ 

 
177,933 
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In March 2014, the Parent entered into two diesel commodity swaps covering the periods from May 2014 to 
October 2014 and from May 2015 to October 2015 which represented roughly 25% of its forecasted purchases 
for diesel during these periods.  In May 2014, the Parent entered into two natural gas commodity swaps 
covering the periods from June 2014 to October 2014 and from May 2015 to October 2015 representing 
roughly 25% of its forecasted purchases of natural gas during these periods.  The commodity swaps are 
reported at fair value using Level 2 inputs, with the allocated gain or loss recorded in other expense (income), 
net in our consolidated statements of operations. A net loss of $2.0 million during 2014 was allocated to us 
from the Parent. The associated balance is recorded in accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our 
consolidated balance sheets and was $1.7 million as of December 31, 2014.  
 
The carrying values and estimated fair values of our financial instruments that are not required to be recorded 
at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows (in thousands):  

 

December 31, 2014 
 

Fair Value 
Hierarchy 

 

 Carrying 
Value 

 

 Fair 
Value 

Assets:         
Held-to-maturity marketable securities1  Level 1  $ 102,067  $ 101,808 
Liabilities (including current maturities):         
Senior notes payable2  Level 3  $ 15,000  $ 16,517 

1The fair values of the marketable securities are based on market quotes. 
2The fair values of the senior notes payable are based on borrowing rates available to the Parent for long-term loans with similar terms, 
average maturities, and credit risk. 
 
The carrying values of receivables and other amounts arising out of normal contract activities, including 
retentions, which may be settled beyond one year, other current assets, and other current liabilities, 
approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of these instruments.  

We measure certain nonfinancial assets and liabilities at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. As of December 31, 
2014, the nonfinancial assets and liabilities included our asset retirement and reclamation obligations as well as 
assets and corresponding liabilities associated with performance guarantees.  

Fair value for these nonfinancial assets and liabilities was measured using Level 3 inputs. Asset retirement and 
reclamation obligations were initially measured using internal discounted cash flow calculations based upon 
our estimates of future retirement costs - see Note 8 for details of the asset retirement balances and Note 1 for 
further discussion on fair value measurements. Performance guarantees were measured using estimated partner 
bond rates - see Note 10 for the liability balance and Note 1 for further discussion on performance guarantees.  

During the year ended December 31, 2014, fair value adjustments to our nonfinancial assets and liabilities were 
related to our asset retirement and reclamation obligations and were $3.0 million. See Note 8 for further 
information. 
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6. Receivables, net (in thousands): 
 

December 31,   2014 
Construction contracts:     
  Completed and in progress  $ 148,843 
  Retentions   54,342 
        Total construction contracts   203,185 
Construction material sales   27,968 
Other   6,288 
        Total gross receivables   237,441 
Less:  allowance for doubtful accounts   (291) 
        Total net receivables  $ 237,150 

   
Receivables include amounts billed and billable to clients for services provided and/or according to contract 
terms as of the end of the applicable period and do not bear interest. To the extent the related costs have not 
been billed, the contract balance is included in costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on the 
consolidated balance sheet. Included in other receivables at December 31, 2014 were items such as notes 
receivable, fuel tax refunds and income tax refunds. No such receivables individually exceeded 10% of total 
net receivables.  

Revenue earned from federal, state and local government agencies amounted to approximately $1.0 billion 
(59.2% of our total revenue) in 2014.  During 2014, our largest volume customer was the California 
Department of Transportation (“Caltrans”). Revenue recognized from contracts with Caltrans represented 
$191.6 million (11.2% of our total revenue) in 2014. At December 31, 2014, no customer had a receivable 
balance in excess of 10% of our total net receivables.  

Financing receivables consisted of retentions receivable, and were included in receivables, net on the 
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2014. Certain construction contracts include retainage 
provisions. The balances billed but not paid by customers pursuant to these provisions generally become due 
upon completion and acceptance of the contract by the owners. No retention receivable individually exceeded 
10% of total net receivables at December 31, 2014. As of December 31, 2014, the majority of the retentions 
receivable are expected to be collected within one year. 

We segregate our retention receivables into two categories: escrow and non-escrow and the balances in each 
category were as follows (in thousands):  

 
December 31, 

     
2014 

Escrow 
      

$ 
 

28,616 
Non-escrow 

        
25,726 

    Total 
      

$ 
 

54,342 
 
The escrow receivables include amounts due to Granite which have been deposited into an escrow account and 
bear interest. Typically, escrow retention receivables are held until work on a project is complete and has been 
accepted by the owner who then releases those funds, along with accrued interest, to us. There is minimal risk 
of not collecting on these amounts. 
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Non-escrow retention receivables are amounts that the project owner has contractually withheld that are to be 
paid upon owner acceptance of contract completion. We evaluate our non-escrow retention receivables for 
collectibility using certain customer information that includes the following: 

• Federal - includes federal agencies such as the Bureau of Reclamation, the Army Corp of Engineers, and 
the Bureau of Indian Affairs. The obligations of these agencies are backed by the federal government. 
Consequently, there is minimal risk of not collecting the amounts we are entitled to receive.    

    
• State - primarily state departments of transportation. The risk of not collecting on these accounts is small; 

however, we have experienced occasional delays in payment as states have struggled with budget issues. 
 

• Local - these customers include local agencies such as cities, counties and other local municipal agencies. 
The risk of not collecting on these accounts is low; however, we have experienced occasional delays in 
payment as some local agencies have struggled to deal with budget issues.  

  
• Private - includes individuals, developers and corporations. The majority of our collection risk is 

associated with these customers. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and generally 
do not require collateral, although the law provides us certain remedies, including, but not limited to, the 
ability to file mechanics’ liens on real property improved for private customers in the event of non-
payment by such customers. 

 
We regularly review our accounts receivable, including past due amounts, to determine their probability of 
collection. If it is probable that an amount is uncollectible, it is charged to bad debt expense and a 
corresponding reserve is established in allowance for doubtful accounts. If it is deemed certain that an amount 
is uncollectible, the amount is written off. Based on contract terms, non-escrow retention receivables are 
typically due within 60 days of owner acceptance of contract completion. We consider retention amounts 
beyond 60 days of owner acceptance of contract completion to be past due. As of December 31, 2014, the non-
escrow retention receivables aged over 90 days were immaterial. In addition, our allowance for doubtful 
accounts contained no material provision related to non-escrow retention receivables as we determined there 
were no significant collectability issues at December 31, 2014.  
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7. Construction and Line Item Joint Ventures 

 
We participate in various construction joint ventures (“joint ventures”). We also participate in various “line 
item” joint venture agreements under which each partner is responsible for performing certain discrete items of 
the total scope of contracted work.  

Due to the joint and several nature of the performance obligations under the related owner contracts, if one of 
the members fails to perform, we and the remaining members, if any, would be responsible for performance of 
the outstanding work. At December 31, 2014, there was $3.3 billion of construction revenue to be recognized 
on unconsolidated and line item construction joint venture contracts, of which $1.1 billion represented our 
share and the remaining $2.2 billion represented our partners’ share. We are not able to estimate amounts that 
may be required beyond the remaining cost of the work to be performed. These costs could be offset by billings 
to the customer or by proceeds from our partners’ corporate and/or other guarantees. See Note 10 for disclosure 
of the amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheet. 

Construction Joint Ventures 

Generally, each construction joint venture is formed to complete a specific contract and is jointly controlled by 
the venture partners. The associated agreements typically provide that our interests in any profits and assets, 
and our respective share in any losses and liabilities resulting from the performance of the contracts, are limited 
to our stated percentage interest in the venture. Under our contractual arrangements, we provide capital to these 
joint ventures in return for an ownership interest. In addition, partners dedicate resources to the ventures 
necessary to complete the contracts and are reimbursed for their cost. The operational risks of each 
construction joint venture are passed along to the joint venture partners. As we absorb our share of these risks, 
our investment in each venture is exposed to potential losses. 

We have determined that certain of these joint ventures are consolidated because they are VIEs and we are the 
primary beneficiary or because they are not VIEs and we hold the majority voting interest. 

We continually evaluate whether there are changes in the status of the VIEs or changes to the primary 
beneficiary designation of the VIE. Based on our assessments during the year ended December 31, 2014, we 
determined no change was required for existing construction joint ventures. 
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Consolidated Construction Joint Ventures 
  
The carrying amounts and classification of assets and liabilities of construction joint ventures we are required 
to consolidate are included in our consolidated balance sheet as follows (in thousands): 
 

December 31,           2014 
Cash and cash equivalents 1 $ 16,823 
Receivables, net  23,451 
     Total current assets  40,274 
Property and equipment, net  462 
         Total assets2 $ 40,736 
   
  Accounts payable $ 14,138 
  Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings1  1,932 
  Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  1,392 
         Total liabilities2 $ 17,462 

1The volume and stage of completion of contracts from our consolidated construction joint ventures may cause fluctuations 
in cash and cash equivalents as well as billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings between periods. 
2The assets and liabilities of each joint venture relate solely to that joint venture. The decision to distribute joint venture 
cash and cash equivalents and assets must generally be made jointly by all of the partners and, accordingly, these cash and 
cash equivalents and assets generally are not available for the working capital needs of Granite until distributed. 
  
At December 31, 2014, we were engaged in two active consolidated construction joint venture projects with 
total contract values of $32.7 million and $364.4 million. The total estimated revenue remaining to be 
recognized on these consolidated joint ventures was $0.2 million and $4.7 million. Our proportionate share of 
the equity in these joint ventures was 55.0% and 60.0%. During the year ended December 31, 2014, total 
revenue from consolidated construction joint ventures was $83.3 million. Total cash used in consolidated 
construction joint venture operations was $24.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2014. 
 
Unconsolidated Construction Joint Ventures 
  
We account for our share of construction joint ventures that we are not required to consolidate on a pro rata 
basis in the consolidated statement of operations and as a single line item on the consolidated balance sheet.  
As of December 31, 2014, these unconsolidated joint ventures were engaged in six active construction projects 
with total contract values ranging from $109.2 million to $2.3 billion. Our proportionate share of the equity in 
these unconsolidated joint ventures ranged from 30.0% to 50.0%.  As of December 31, 2014, our proportionate 
share of revenue remaining to be recognized on these unconsolidated joint ventures ranged from $10.7 million 
to $683.8 million. 
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Following is summary financial information related to unconsolidated construction joint ventures (in 
thousands): 

 
December 31,  2014 
Assets:  
  Cash and cash equivalents1 $  179,622 
  Other assets 201,329 
  Less partners’ interest 220,177 
     Granite’s interest 160,774 
Liabilities:  
  Accounts payable 97,239 
  Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings1 78,566 
  Other liabilities 1,726 
  Less partners’ interest 111,774 
     Granite’s interest 65,757 
        Equity in construction joint ventures  $   95,017 

1The volume and stage of completion of contracts from our unconsolidated construction joint ventures may cause 
fluctuations in cash and cash equivalents as well as billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings between periods. The 
decision to distribute joint venture cash and cash equivalents and assets must generally be made jointly by all of the 
partners and, accordingly, these cash and cash equivalents and assets generally are not available for the working capital 
needs of Granite until distributed. 

  
Year Ended December 31,  2014 
Revenue:  
  Total $  538,699 
  Less other partners’ interest1 339,673 
     Granite’s interest 199,026 
Cost of revenue:  
  Total 484,967 
  Less partners’ interest1 297,058 
     Granite’s interest 187,909 
        Granite’s interest in gross profit $    11,117 

1Partners’ interest represents amounts to reconcile total revenue and total cost of revenue as reported by our partners to 
Granite’s interest adjusted to reflect our accounting policies. 
 
Line Item Joint Ventures 
   
The revenue for each line item joint venture partner’s discrete items of work is defined in the contract with the 
project owner and each venture partner bears the profitability risk associated with its own work. There is not a 
single set of books and records for a line item joint venture. Each partner accounts for its items of work 
individually as it would for any self-performed contract. We include only our portion of these contracts in our 
consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2014, we had two active line item joint venture 
construction projects with total contract values of $42.7 million and $86.0 million of which our portions were 
$28.9 million and $63.6 million. As of December 31, 2014, our share of revenue remaining to be recognized on 
these line item joint ventures was $2.3 million and $9.3 million. 
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8. Property and Equipment, Net (in thousands):  
 

December 31,  2014 
Equipment and vehicles $ 453,344 
Quarry property  172,081 
Land and land improvements  100,384 
Buildings and leasehold improvements  78,372 
Office furniture and equipment  14,965 
        Property and equipment  819,146 
Less: accumulated depreciation and depletion  510,330 
        Property and equipment, net $ 308,816 

 
Depreciation and depletion expense included in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2014 was $27.5 million and was primarily included in cost of revenue on our consolidated 
statement of operations. We capitalized interest costs of $0.3 million in 2014 related to certain self-constructed 
assets, which is included in property and equipment on the consolidated balance sheet.   

We have recorded liabilities associated with our legally required obligations to reclaim owned and leased 
quarry property and related facilities.  As of December 31, 2014, $6.5 million of our asset retirement 
obligations are included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities and $20.9 million are included in 
other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.  
 
The following is a reconciliation of these asset retirement obligations (in thousands): 
 

Year Ended December 31,  2014 
Beginning balance $ 29,138 
Revisions to estimates  2,969 
Liabilities settled  (5,678) 
Accretion  1,012 
        Ending balance $ 27,441 

 
 

 
 

 

24 



GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
9. Intangible Assets 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets primarily consist of goodwill and use rights of $9.9 million and $0.4 million, 
respectively, as of December 31, 2014. Goodwill consists of $7.0 million attributed to the Northwest Group 
Construction reporting unit, $1.9 million attributed to the Northwest Group Construction Materials reporting 
unit and $1.0 million attributed to the California Group Construction reporting unit. 
 
Amortized Intangible Assets: 

Following is the breakdown of our amortized intangible assets that are included in other noncurrent assets on 
our consolidated balance sheet (in thousands): 

December 31, 2014 
 Gross 

Value 
      Accumulated 

     Amortization 
 Net 

Value 
Permits $ 29,713       $  (13,115)    $ 16,598        
Covenants not to compete and other  4,657  (4,626)  31 
        Total amortized intangible assets $ 34,370       $ (17,741) $ 16,629        

 
Amortization expense related to these intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $1.1 million 
and was primarily included in selling, general and administrative expenses on our consolidated statement of 
operations. Based on the amortized intangible assets balance at December 31, 2014, amortization expense 
expected to be recorded in the future is as follows: $1.1 million in 2015, $1.0 million in 2016, $1.0 million in 
2017, $1.0 million in 2018, $1.0 million in 2019 and $11.5 million thereafter. 

 
10. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities (in thousands): 
 

December 31,       2014 
Payroll and related employee benefits $     18,199  
Accrued insurance        32,290 
Performance guarantees        44,927 
Loss job reserves        5,574 
Other        19,657 
        Total $  120,647 

 
Other includes accrued legal, warranty reserves, reclamation reserves, remediation reserves and other 
miscellaneous accruals, none of which are greater than 5% of total current liabilities. 

 
11. Restructuring and Impairment Charges, Net (in thousands): 
 

December 31,       2014 
Lease termination gain $       (1,283) 
Other impairment gains        (1,360) 

        Total restructuring and impairment gains, net $  (2,643) 
 

In October 2010, the Parent announced its Enterprise Improvement Plan (“EIP”) to reduce its cost structure, 
enhance operating efficiencies and strengthen its business to achieve long-term profitable growth. The majority 
of restructuring charges associated with the EIP was recorded in 2010. During 2013 and pursuant to the EIP, 
Parent management approved a plan to sell or otherwise dispose of certain quarry assets.  

The majority of the Parent’s EIP was concluded during 2013. As the impaired assets are sold, we may 
recognize additional restructuring charges or gains; however, these charges or gains are not expected to be 
material. In 2014, we recorded a restructuring gain of $1.3 million resulting from our release from lease 
obligations. 
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Separate from the EIP but related to the process of continually optimizing assets, the Parent identified a quarry 
asset that no longer had strategic value to its vertically integrated business. Therefore, during 2013, Parent 
management approved a plan to sell or otherwise dispose of this asset. The Company determined that the 
asset’s carrying value was not recoverable and recorded a $3.2 million non-cash impairment charge. In 2014, 
this asset was sold, resulting in a $1.3 million restructuring impairment gain. 

 
12. Long-Term Debt and Credit Arrangements: 
 

We have recorded senior notes payable under an intercompany borrowing arrangement as follows (in 
thousands): 

 
December 31, 2014 
Senior notes payable $   15,000 
Other 127 
        Total debt 15,127 
           Less: current maturities of long-term debt 22 
        Total long-term debt $   15,105 

  
The aggregate minimum principal maturities of long-term debt, for each of the five years following December 
31, 2014 are as follows: less than $0.1 million in 2015, $6.0 million in 2016, $3.0 million in 2017, $3.0 million 
in 2018 and $3.1 million in 2019. 
 
Senior Notes Payable 

 
As of December 31, 2014, the Parent has senior notes payable in the amount of $200.0 million due to a group 
of institutional holders, which are guaranteed, in total, by us and other subsidiaries of the Parent.  We have 
been allocated $15.0 million of this amount in accordance with intercompany arrangements which bears 
interest at 6.11% per annum and is due in five equal installments beginning in 2015 (“2019 Notes”). In March 
2014, the Parent entered into an interest rate swap to convert the interest rate from a fixed rate of 6.11% to a 
floating rate of 4.15% plus six-month LIBOR. The first installment of the 2019 Notes is included in long-term 
debt on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2014 as the Parent has the ability and intent to pay 
this installment using borrowings under the Credit Agreement (defined below) or by obtaining other sources of 
financing. The allocated corporate interest expense was $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014. 
 
The Parent’s obligations under the note purchase agreements governing the 2019 Notes (the “2019 NPA”) are 
guaranteed by certain of its subsidiaries, including us, and are collateralized on an equivalent basis with the 
Credit Agreement (defined below) by liens on substantially all of the assets of the Parent and subsidiaries that 
are guarantors or borrowers under the Credit Agreement. The 2019 NPA provides for the release of liens and 
re-pledge of collateral on substantially the same terms and conditions as those set forth in the Credit 
Agreement.  
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Credit Agreement 

The Parent has a $215.0 million committed secured revolving credit facility, with a sublimit for letters of credit 
of $100.0 million (the “Credit Agreement”), which expires on October 11, 2016, of which $134.8 million was 
available at December 31, 2014. In addition, as of December 31, 2014 there were standby letters of credit 
totaling $10.3 million. The letters of credit will expire between June 2015 and December 2017.  Under the 
terms of our intercompany borrowing arrangement with the Parent, the revolving loan and letters of credit have 
not been allocated to us. 

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at LIBOR or base rate (at the Parent’s option), plus an 
applicable margin based on certain financial ratios calculated quarterly.  LIBOR varies based on the applicable 
loan term, market conditions and other external factors. The applicable margin was 2.50% for loans bearing 
interest based on LIBOR and 1.50% for loans bearing interest at the base rate at December 31, 2014.  
Accordingly, the effective interest rate was between 2.76% and 4.75% at December 31, 2014.  Borrowings at 
the base rate have no designated term and may be repaid without penalty any time prior to the Credit 
Agreement’s maturity date. Borrowings at a LIBOR rate have a term no less than one month and no greater 
than six months. Typically, at the end of such term, such borrowings may be paid off or rolled over at the 
Parent’s discretion into either a borrowing at the base rate or a borrowing at a LIBOR rate with similar terms, 
not to exceed the maturity date of the Credit Agreement. On a periodic basis, the Parent assesses the timing of 
payment depending on facts and circumstances that exist at the time of their assessment. The Parent’s 
obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by us and other subsidiaries of the Parent and are 
collateralized on an equivalent basis with the obligations under the 2019 Notes (defined above) by first priority 
liens (subject only to other liens permitted under the Credit Agreement) on substantially all of the assets of the 
Parent and its subsidiaries that are guarantors or borrowers under the Credit Agreement.  

The Credit Agreement provides for the release of the liens securing the obligations at the Parent’s option and 
expense, so long as certain conditions as defined by the terms in the Credit Agreement are satisfied (“Collateral 
Release Period”).  However, if subsequent to exercising the option, the Parent’s Consolidated Fixed Charge 
Coverage Ratio is less than 1.50 or the Parent’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio is greater than 2.50, then it will 
be required to promptly re-pledge substantially all of the assets of the Parent and its subsidiaries, including the 
Company, that are guarantors or borrowers under the Credit Agreement. As of December 31, 2014, the 
conditions for the exercise of the unsecured option were not satisfied.  

Covenants and Events of Default  

The Parent’s debt and credit agreements require it to comply with various affirmative, restrictive and financial 
covenants, including the financial covenants described below. The Parent’s failure to comply with any of these 
covenants, or to pay principal, interest or other amounts when due thereunder, would constitute an event of 
default under the applicable agreements. Under certain circumstances, the occurrence of an event of default 
under one of the Parent’s debt or credit agreements (or the acceleration of the maturity of the indebtedness 
under one of the Parent’s agreements) may constitute an event of default under one or more of the Parent’s 
other debt or credit agreements. Default under the Parent’s debt and credit agreements could result in (1) us, 
along with the Parent and other subsidiaries, no longer being entitled to borrow under the agreements; (2) 
termination of the agreements; (3) the requirement that any letters of credit under the agreements be cash 
collateralized; (4) acceleration of the maturity of outstanding indebtedness under the agreements and/or (5) 
foreclosure on any collateral securing the obligations under the agreements. 
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The most significant financial covenants under the terms of the Parent’s Credit Agreement and 2019 NPA 
require, at the Parent level, the maintenance of a minimum Consolidated Tangible Net Worth, a minimum 
Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio and a maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratio. The calculations and 
terms of such financial covenants are defined in the amendments to the Parent’s Credit Agreement and 2019 
NPA, which were filed as Exhibits 10.31 and 10.32, respectively, to the Parent’s Form 10-K filed March 3, 
2014. 

As of December 31, 2014 and pursuant to the definitions in the agreements, the Parent’s Consolidated 
Tangible Net Worth was $766.3 million, which exceeded the minimum of $622.7 million, the Consolidated 
Leverage Ratio was 2.77 which did not exceed the maximum of 3.00 and the Consolidated Interest Coverage 
Ratio was 6.93 which exceeded the minimum of 4.00.  

As of December 31, 2014, the Parent was in compliance with all covenants contained in the Credit Agreement 
and 2019 NPA, as amended. 

  
13. Employee Benefit Plans 

 
Our employees participate in the Parent’s employee benefit plans.  Costs associated with these plans are 
allocated to us as described in Note 3.  The following disclosures are included in the Parent’s 2014 Annual 
Report on Form 10-K with respect to such plans:    

Parent Company Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan:  The Parent sponsors the 401(k) Plan. The 401(k) Plan is a 
defined contribution plan covering all employees of the Parent and subsidiaries except employees covered 
by collective bargaining agreements and employees of its consolidated construction joint ventures. Each 
employee’s combined before-tax and Roth 401(k) after- tax contributions cannot exceed 50% of their eligible 
pay or the 2014 IRS annual contribution limit of $17,500. The Parent’s 401(k) matching contributions can 
be up to 6% of an employee’s gross pay and are available at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 

Profit sharing contributions from the Parent may be made to the 401(k) Plan in an amount determined by the 
Board of Directors. The Parent made no profit sharing contributions during the year ended 2014. The Parent’s 
401(k) matching contributions to the 401(k) Plan for the year ended December 31, 2014 were $5.0 million. 

As of December 31, 2014, the 401(k) Plan owned 2,163,995 shares of the Parent’s common stock. Dividends 
on shares held by the 401(k) Plan are charged to retained earnings. 

Parent Company Stock-based Compensation: The Parent’s 2012 Equity Incentive Plan provides for the 
issuance of restricted stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and stock options to eligible employees and to 
members of the Parent’s Board of Directors. As of December 31, 2014, a total of 2,224,907 shares of the 
Parent’s common stock have been reserved for issuance of which 1,599,963 remained available as of 
December 31, 2014. 

Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock: As noted above, RSUs and restricted stock can be issued to 
eligible employees and members of the Parent’s Board of Directors. RSUs and restricted stock are issued for 
services to be rendered and may not be sold, transferred or pledged for such a period as determined by the 
Parent’s Compensation Committee. RSU and restricted stock compensation cost is measured at the Parent’s 
common stock’s fair value based on the market price at the date of grant. The Parent recognizes compensation 
cost only for RSUs and restricted stock that will ultimately vest. The Parent estimates the number of shares that 
will ultimately vest at each grant date based on our historical experience and adjust compensation cost based on 
changes in those estimates over time. 
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RSU and restricted stock compensation cost is recognized ratably over the shorter of the vesting period 
(generally three years) or the period from grant date to the first maturity date after the holder reaches age 62 
and has completed certain specified years of service, when all restricted stock becomes fully vested. Vesting of 
restricted stock is not subject to any market or performance conditions and vesting provisions are at the 
discretion of the Parent’s Compensation Committee. An employee may not sell or otherwise transfer unvested 
units or stock and, in the event employment is terminated prior to the end of the vesting period, any unvested 
units or stock are surrendered to the Parent. The Parent has no obligation to purchase these RSUs or restricted 
stock that is surrendered to the Parent. 

As of December 31, 2014, there were approximately 565,000 of the Parent’s RSUs outstanding. Compensation 
cost related to RSUs was $11.2 million ($7.2 million net of the Parent’s tax using the effective tax rate) for the 
year ended December 31, 2014, which all was recorded at the Parent level as discussed in Note 1. The grant 
date fair value of RSUs vested during the year ended December 31, 2014 was approximately $11.7 million. As 
of December 31, 2014, there was $9.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to RSUs which will 
be recognized over a remaining weighted-average period of approximately 1.0 year, none of which is allocated 
to the Company. 

As of December 31, 2014, there was no Parent’s restricted stock outstanding as all outstanding shares had 
either been forfeited or vested.  

Parent Employee Stock Purchase Plan:  The Parent’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) allows 
qualifying employees to purchase shares of its common stock through payroll deductions of up to 15% of their 
compensation, subject to Internal Revenue Code limitations, at a price of 95% of the fair market value as of the 
end of each of the six-month offering periods. During the year ended December 31, 2014, proceeds from the 
ESPP were $0.7 million for 21,433 shares. The offering periods commence on May 15 and November 15 of 
each year. 

Multi-employer Pension Plans:  We also contribute to various multi-employer pension plans on behalf of 
union employees. The risks of participating in these multiemployer plans are different from single-employer 
plans in the following aspects: 

 
• Assets contributed to the multi-employer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to 

employees of other participating employers. 
• If a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be 

borne by the remaining participating employers. 
• If we chose to stop participating in some of the multi-employer plans, we may be required to pay those 

plans an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan, referred to as a withdrawal liability. 
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The following table presents our participation in these plans during the year ended December 31, 2014 (dollars 
in thousands): 

 
 

Pension Trust 
Fund 

Pension 
Plan 

Employer 
Identificati
on Number 

Pension 
Protection 

Act 
(“PPA”) 
Certified 

Zone 
Status1 

FIP / RP 
Status 

Pending / 
Implemented2 Contributions 

Surcharge 
Imposed 

Expiration 
Date of 

Collective 
Bargaining 
Agreement 

3 
Locals 302 and 612 
Operating 
Engineers-
Employers 
Retirement Fund 

91-6028571 Green No $ 3,043 No 5/31/2015 
12/31/2015 
12/31/2016 

Operating 
Engineers Pension 
Trust Fund 

95-6032478 Red Yes 3,001 No 6/30/2016 

Pension Trust Fund 
for Operating 
Engineers Pension 
Plan 

94-6090764 Red Yes 9,590 No 6/15/2015 
6/30/2015 

10/31/2015 
6/30/2016 
9/30/2016 
5/15/2017 
6/30/2017 
1/31/2018 

Laborers Pension 
Trust Fund for 
Northern California 

94-6277608 Yellow Yes 2,682 No 6/30/2019 

All other funds 
(25) 

   

8,075 

  
    

$ 26,391 
   

1The most recent PPA zone status available in 2014 is for the plan’s year-end during 2013. The zone status is based on 
information that we received from the plan and is certified by the plan’s actuary. Among other factors, plans in the red 
zone are generally less than 65 percent funded, plans in the orange zone are less than 80 percent funded and have an 
Accumulated Funding Deficiency in the current year or projected into the next six years, plans in the yellow zone are less 
than 80 percent funded, and plans in the green zone are at least 80 percent funded. 

2The “FIP/RP Status Pending/Implemented” column indicates plans for which a financial improvement plan (“FIP”) or a 
rehabilitation plan (“RP”) is either pending or has been implemented 

3Lists the expiration date(s) of the collective-bargaining agreement(s) to which the plans are subject. Pension trust funds 
with a range of expiration dates have various collective bargaining agreements. 

 
We currently have no intention of withdrawing from any of the multi-employer pension plans in which we 
participate that would result in a significant withdrawal liability. 
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14. Income Taxes 
 

Provision for income taxes (in thousands): 
 

Year Ended December 31,  2014 
Federal    
     Current $ 114 
     Deferred  3,996 
        Total federal  4,110 
State   
     Current  862 
     Deferred  (82) 
        Total state   780 
            Total provision for income taxes $ 4,890 

 
Reconciliation of the Federal statutory tax rate to our effective tax rate is as follows: 

 
Year Ended December 31, 2014 
Federal statutory tax rate 35.0% 
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit 2.4 
Percentage depletion deduction (6.1) 
Non-controlling interests 
 

(7.4) 
Other 0.6 
        Effective tax rate 24.5% 

 
The impact on the effective tax rate related to non-controlling interests is a result of the consolidation of 
construction joint ventures and other entities which are generally not subject to income taxes on a stand-alone 
basis.   
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities (in thousands): 
 

December 31,  2014 
Deferred tax assets:    
     Receivables $ 306 
     Inventory  3,560 
     Insurance  8,496 
     Deferred compensation  2,251 
     Contract income recognition  7,114 
     Other accrued liabilities  7,766 
     Other   1,724 
        Total deferred tax assets   31,217  
Deferred tax liabilities:   
     Property and equipment  (16,304) 
        Total deferred tax liabilities  (16,304) 
                Net deferred tax assets $ 14,913 
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The above amounts are reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as follows (in thousands): 

 
December 31,  2014 
Current deferred tax assets, net $ 25,694 
Long-term deferred tax liabilities, net  10,781 
Net deferred tax assets $ 14,913 

 
The deferred tax asset for other accrued liabilities relates to various items including accrued vacation, accrued 
bonus and accrued reclamation costs which are deductible in future periods. 

Uncertain tax positions:   The Parent files income tax returns on behalf of the consolidated group in the U.S. 
and various state and local jurisdictions and we file separate income tax returns in various state and local 
jurisdictions. With few exceptions, as of December 31, 2014, the Parent’s and our tax returns are no longer 
subject to state examinations by taxing authorities for years before 2009. The Parent is no longer subject to 
U.S. federal examinations by tax authorities for years before 2011. 

We had approximately $0.8 million of total gross unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2014. We 
believe that it is reasonably possible that approximately $0.2 million of our currently remaining unrecognized 
tax benefits, each of which are individually insignificant, may be recognized by the end of 2015 as a result of a 
lapse of statue limitations. 

The following represents a tabular reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands), the balance of 
which is included in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet: 

 
Year Ended December 31,  2014 
Beginning balance     $ 2,077 
Gross increases – current-period tax positions  — 
Gross decreases – current-period tax positions   (216) 
Gross increases – prior-period tax positions  — 
Gross decreases – prior-period tax positions  (2) 
Settlements with taxing authorities/lapse of statute of limitations  (1,072) 
Unrecognized tax benefits – Ending balance             $ 787 

 
We record interest related to uncertain tax positions as interest expense in our consolidated statement of 
operations. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we recognized approximately $0.8 million of interest 
expense. Approximately $0.2 million of accrued interest was included in our uncertain tax position liability on 
our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2014. 
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15. Commitments and Contingencies 
 

Leases:   Minimum rental commitments under all noncancelable operating leases, primarily quarry property, in 
effect at December 31, 2014 were (in thousands): 

 
Years Ending December 31,   
2015 $  5,670 
2016  4,550 
2017  3,457 
2018  2,988 
2019  4,947 
Later years (through 2099)  7,352 
Total  $ 28,964 

 
Operating lease rental expense was $7.6 million in 2014, which does not include $23.4 million paid to a 
subsidiary equipment leasing company for equipment rental charges. 
 
Performance Guarantees:  We participate in various construction joint ventures and line item joint ventures 
under which each partner is responsible for performing certain discrete items of the total scope of contracted 
work. See Note 10 for disclosure of the amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheet. 
  
Surety Bonds:  We are generally required to provide various types of surety bonds that provide an additional 
measure of security under certain public and private sector contracts. Performance bonds do not have stated 
expiration dates; rather, we are generally released from the bonds after the owner accepts the work performed 
under contract. The ability to maintain bonding capacity to support our current and future level of contracting 
requires that we maintain cash and working capital balances satisfactory to our sureties. 
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16. Legal Proceedings 

 
In the ordinary course of business, we and our affiliates are involved in various legal proceedings that are 
pending against us and our affiliates alleging, among other things, public liability issues or breach of contract 
or tortious conduct in connection with the performance of services and/or materials provided, the various 
outcomes of which cannot be predicted with certainty.  We and our affiliates are also subject to government 
inquiries in the ordinary course of business seeking information concerning our compliance with government 
construction contracting requirements and related laws and regulations. 
 
We record liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet representing our estimated liabilities relating to legal 
proceedings and government inquiries to the extent that we have concluded such liabilities are probable and 
the amounts of such liabilities are reasonably estimable.  The aggregate liabilities recorded as of December 31, 
2014 related to these matters were approximately $0.5 million, and were primarily included in accrued 
expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.  Some of the matters in which we or 
our joint ventures and affiliates are involved may involve compensatory, punitive, or other claims or sanctions 
that, if granted, could require us to pay damages or make other expenditures in amounts that are not probable 
to be incurred or cannot currently be reasonably estimated. In addition, in some circumstances our or our 
affiliates’ contracts could be terminated, could be suspended or debarred, or payment of costs could be 
disallowed.  While any of our pending legal proceedings may be subject to resolution as a result of our 
ongoing efforts to settle, whether or when any legal proceeding will be resolved through settlement is neither 
predictable nor guaranteed.  Accordingly, it is possible that future developments in such proceedings and 
inquiries could require us to (i) adjust existing accruals, or (ii) record new accruals that we did not originally 
believe to be probable or that could not be reasonably estimated.  Such changes could be material to our 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows in any particular period. Our view as to such matters 
could change in future periods. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Board of Directors and 
Shareholder of Granite Construction Company: 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Granite Construction Company and its 
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2013, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations, of equity, and of cash flows for the year then ended.   
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.  
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In 
making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company's preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of Granite Construction Company and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2013, and 
the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

 
March 21, 2014 

 
 
 

_____________________________ 
John Eilers, Partner 
California CPA License No. 68172 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Three Embarcadero Center, San Francisco, CA 94111-4004 
T: (415) 498 5000, F: (415) 498 7100, www.pwc.com/us 



GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
(In thousands, except share and per share data) 

December 31, 2013 
Assets 

Current assets  
  Cash and cash equivalents ($20,862 related to consolidated construction             
   joint ventures (“CCJVs”)) 

$     181,855  

  Short-term marketable securities 49,968 
  Receivables, net ($24,364 related to CCJVs) 218,008 
  Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 24,127 
  Inventories 52,811 
  Deferred income taxes 26,238 
  Equity in construction joint ventures 57,669 
  Other current assets 21,242 
        Total current assets 631,918 
Property and equipment, net  326,444 
Long-term marketable securities 67,234 
Intercompany receivable from Parent and subsidiaries 304,232 
Other noncurrent assets 54,298 
            Total assets     $  1,384,126 

Liabilities and Equity 
Current liabilities  
  Current maturities of long-term debt $              21 
  Accounts payable ($13,935 related to CCJVs) 115,871 
  Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings ($23,722 related to CCJVs)         
   

81,069 
  Accrued expenses and other current liabilities ($10,585 related to CCJVs) 121,561 
        Total current liabilities 318,522 
Long-term debt 15,127 
Other long-term liabilities 32,286 
Deferred income taxes 7,411 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)  
Equity  
  Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 30,000,000 shares,  
    issued and outstanding 10,000,000 shares 100 
  Additional paid-in capital 148,719 
  Retained earnings 864,434 
        Total Granite Construction Company shareholder’s equity 1,013,253 
  Non-controlling interests (2,473) 
        Total equity 1,010,780 
            Total liabilities and equity $  1,384,126 
  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS 

(In thousands) 

Year Ended December 31, 2013 
Revenue     $  1,715,984 
Cost of revenue 1,612,198 
        Gross profit 103,786 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 138,875 
Restructuring and impairment charges, net 20,991 
Gain on sales of property and equipment 6,061 
        Operating loss (50,019) 
Other income  
  Equity in income of affiliates 223 
  Other income, net 1,708 
        Total other income 1,931 
        Loss before provision for income taxes  (48,088) 
Benefit from income taxes (17,868) 
        Net loss (30,220) 
Amount attributable to non-controlling interests 4,353 
         Net loss attributable to Granite Construction Company $      (25,867)  
  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY 

(In thousands) 

 
Common 

Stock 

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total 
GCCO 

Shareholder’s 
Equity 

 
Non- 

controlling 
Interests 

Total 
Equity 

Balances, December 
31, 2012  $ 100 $      148,719 $     890,301 $         1,039,120 $        21,980 $   1,061,100 
Net income -                 -       (25,867)                  (25,867)           (4,353)        (30,220)  
Transactions with 

non-controlling 
interests, net -                 -                  -                           - (20,100)         (20,100) 

Balances, December 
31, 2013  $ 100 $      148,719 $     864,434 $          1,013,253 $        (2,473) $  1,010,780 
       

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

(In thousands) 

Year Ended December 31, 2013 
Operating activities  
  Net loss $    (30,220)  
  Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in  
      operating activities:  

Non-cash restructuring and impairment charges, net 14,961 
      Depreciation, depletion and amortization 32,326 
      Gain on sales of property and equipment (6,061) 

Equity in net income from unconsolidated construction joint ventures (26,235) 
Changes in assets and liabilities:   
      Receivables (9,703) 
      Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings, net 4,337 
      Inventories 6,042 

Contributions to unconsolidated construction joint ventures (17,500) 
Distributions to unconsolidated construction joint ventures 52,550 

      Other assets, net (3,760) 
      Accounts payable (18,316) 
      Accrued expenses and other liabilities, net (4,172) 
           Net cash used in operating activities (5,751) 
Investing activities  
  Purchases of marketable securities (74,924) 
  Maturities of marketable securities 63,650 
  Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 5,000 
  Purchases of property and equipment (19,781) 
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 14,157 
Additions to intercompany receivable (28,046) 
Other investing activities 684 

           Net cash used in investing activities (39,260) 
Financing activities  
  Long-term debt principal payments (5,205) 
  Distributions to non-controlling partners, net (20,100) 
           Net cash used in financing activities (25,305) 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (70,316) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 252,171 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $   181,855 
  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Description of Business:  On January 24, 1990 Granite Construction Incorporated (the “Parent”) was formed.  
The Parent acquired all the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Granite Construction Company 
(“we,” “us,” “our,” “Company” and “Granite,” as appropriate) in exchange for shares in the Parent. 

 
We are a heavy civil contractor engaged in the construction of roads, highways, mass transit facilities, airport 
infrastructure, bridges, trenchless and underground utilities, electrical utilities, tunnels, dams and canals as well 
as sales of construction materials.  We have offices in Alaska, Arizona, California, Florida, Nevada, Texas, 
Utah and Washington.   

 
Subsequent Events: In preparing these consolidated financial statements, we have evaluated events and 
transactions for potential recognition or disclosure through March 21, 2014 the date the consolidated financial 
statements were available to be issued. 

 
Principles of Consolidation:  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Granite 
Construction Company and its wholly owned and majority owned subsidiaries. All material inter-company 
transactions and accounts have been eliminated. We use the equity method of accounting for affiliated 
companies where we have the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control. Additionally, we 
participate in joint ventures (“joint ventures” or “ventures”) with other construction companies. We have 
consolidated these ventures where we have determined that through our participation we have a variable 
interest and are the primary beneficiary as defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) 
Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 810, Consolidation, and related standards. The factors we 
use to determine the primary beneficiary of a variable interest entity (“VIE”) include the decision authority of 
each partner, which partner manages the day-to-day operations of the project and the amount of our equity 
investment in relation to that of our partners.    

Where we have determined we are not the primary beneficiary of a venture but do exercise significant 
influence, we account for our share of the operations of jointly controlled construction joint ventures on a pro 
rata basis in the consolidated statement of operations and as a single line item in the consolidated balance 
sheet.  

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements:  The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  The preparation of 
these financial statements requires management to make estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Our estimates 
and related judgments and assumptions are continually evaluated based on available information and 
experiences; however, actual amounts could differ from those estimates.

6 



GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Revenue Recognition – Construction Contracts:  Revenue and earnings on construction contracts, including 
construction joint ventures, are recognized under the percentage of completion method using the ratio of costs 
incurred to estimated total costs. For the majority of our contracts, revenue in an amount equal to cost incurred 
is recognized prior to contracts reaching at least 25% completion, thus deferring the related profit. Based on 
historical experience, it is our judgment that until a project reaches at least 25% completion, there may be 
insufficient information to determine the estimated profit other than to be reasonably certain that a contract will 
not incur a loss. In the case of large, complex projects we may defer profit recognition beyond the point of 25% 
completion based on an evaluation of specific project risks. The factors considered in this evaluation include 
the stage of design completion, the stage of construction completion, status of outstanding purchase orders and 
subcontracts, certainty of quantities of labor and materials, certainty of schedule and the relationship with the 
owner. In the case of time and materials and cost plus arrangements, we are able to estimate profit as services 
are performed based on contractual rates and estimable volumes. Therefore, we recognize profit for these types 
of contracts on an input basis, as services are performed. 

Revenue from affirmative contract claims is recognized when we have a signed agreement and payment is 
assured. Revenue from contract change orders, which occur in most large projects, is recognized when the 
owner has agreed to the change order in writing.  

Provisions are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for the full amount of estimated losses on 
contracts whenever evidence indicates that the estimated total cost of a contract exceeds its estimated total 
revenue. All contract costs, including those associated with claims and change orders, are recorded as incurred 
and revisions to estimated total costs are reflected as soon as the obligation to perform is determined. Contract 
cost consists of direct costs on contracts, including labor and materials, amounts payable to subcontractors, 
direct overhead costs and equipment expense (primarily depreciation, fuel, maintenance and repairs). Pre-
contract costs are expensed as incurred.     

The accuracy of our revenue and profit recognition in a given period depends on the accuracy of our estimates 
of the cost to complete each project. Cost estimates for all of our significant projects use a detailed “bottom up” 
approach, and we believe our experience allows us to create materially reliable estimates generally upon 
incurring approximately 25% of expected costs. There are a number of factors that can contribute to changes in 
estimates of contract cost and profitability. The most significant of these include: 

  
• the completeness and accuracy of the original bid; 
• costs associated with scope changes; 
• costs of labor and/or materials; 
• extended overhead due to owner, weather and other delays; 
• subcontractor performance issues; 
• changes in productivity expectations; 
• site conditions that differ from those assumed in the original bid (to the extent contract remedies are 

unavailable); 
• continuing changes from original design on design/build projects; 
• the availability and skill level of workers in the geographic location of the project  
• a change in the availability and proximity of equipment and materials; and 
• our ability to recover on unresolved contract modifications and claims. 

     
The foregoing factors as well as the stage of completion of contracts in process and the mix of contracts at 
different margins may cause fluctuations in gross profit between periods. Significant changes in cost estimates, 
particularly in our larger, more complex projects have had, and can in future periods have, a significant effect 
on our profitability. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Our contracts with our customers are primarily “fixed unit price” or “fixed price.” Under fixed unit price 
contracts, we are committed to providing materials or services at fixed unit prices (for example, dollars per 
cubic yard of concrete placed or cubic yard of earth excavated). While the fixed unit price contract shifts the 
risk of estimating the quantity of units required for a particular project to the customer, any increase in our unit 
cost over the expected unit cost in the bid, whether due to inflation, inefficiency, errors in our estimates or 
other factors, is borne by us unless otherwise provided in the contract. Fixed price contracts are priced on a 
lump-sum basis under which we bear the risk of performing all the work for the specified amount.  
 
Revenue Recognition - Materials:  Revenue from the sale of materials is recognized when delivery occurs and 
risk of ownership passes to the customer. 

  
Balance Sheet Classifications:  Amounts receivable and payable under construction contracts (principally 
retentions) that may extend beyond one year are included in current assets and liabilities.  A one-year time 
period is used as the basis for classifying all other current assets and liabilities. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents:  Cash equivalents are securities having original maturities of three months or less 
from the date of purchase.  Included in cash and cash equivalents on our consolidated balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2013 was $20.9 million related to our consolidated construction joint ventures.  Our access to 
joint venture cash may be limited by the provisions of the venture agreements. 

 
Costs and Estimated Earnings in Excess of Billings: Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 
represent unbilled amounts earned and reimbursable under contracts. These amounts become billable according 
to the contract terms, which usually consider the passage of time, achievement of milestones or completion of 
the project. Generally, such unbilled amounts will be billed and collected over the next twelve months. Based 
on our historical experience, we generally consider the collection risk related to these amounts to be low. When 
events or conditions indicate that the amounts outstanding may become uncollectible, an allowance is 
estimated and recorded. 

 
Marketable Securities:  We determine the classification of our marketable securities at the time of purchase 
and re-evaluate these determinations at each balance sheet date. Debt securities are classified as held-to-
maturity when we have the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity. Held-to-maturity 
investments are stated at amortized cost and are periodically assessed for other-than-temporary impairment. 
Amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to 
maturity, and is included in interest income. Realized gains and losses are included in other income (expense), 
net. The cost of securities sold or called is based on the specific identification method. 

  
Financial Instruments:  The carrying value of marketable securities approximates their fair value as 
determined by market quotes. Rates currently available to the Parent for debt with similar terms and remaining 
maturities are used to estimate the fair value of existing debt. The carrying value of receivables and other 
amounts arising out of normal contract activities, including retentions, which may be settled beyond one year, 
is estimated to approximate fair value. 

 
Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities:  We measure and disclose certain financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value. ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as the 
exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal 
or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on 
the measurement date. ASC Topic 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. 
The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value: 

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; 
quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by 
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. 

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the 
fair value of the assets or liabilities. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
We utilize the active market approach to measure fair value for our financial assets and liabilities. We report 
separately each class of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and include assets and 
liabilities that are disclosed but not recorded at fair value in the fair value hierarchy. 

 
Concentrations of Credit Risk and Other Risks:  Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to 
concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term 
marketable securities, and accounts receivable. The Parent maintains cash and cash equivalents and marketable 
securities with several financial institutions. The Parent invests with high credit quality financial institutions 
and, by policy, limits the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution. 

Our receivables are from customers concentrated in the United States, and we have no receivables from foreign 
operations as of December 31, 2013. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and generally do 
not require collateral, although the law provides us the ability to file mechanics’ liens on real property 
improved for private customers in the event of non-payment by such customers. We maintain an allowance for 
doubtful accounts which has historically been within management’s estimates. 

A significant portion of our labor force is subject to collective bargaining agreements.  
   

Inventories:  Inventories consist primarily of quarry products valued at the lower of average cost or market. 
We write down the inventories based on estimated quantities of materials on hand in excess of estimated 
foreseeable use.   

  
Property and Equipment:  Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation for construction and other 
equipment is primarily provided using accelerated methods over lives ranging from three to seven years, and 
the straight-line method over lives from three to twenty years for the remaining depreciable assets. We believe 
that accelerated methods best approximate the service provided by the construction and other equipment. 
Depletion of quarry property is based on the usage of depletable reserves. We frequently sell property and 
equipment that has reached the end of its useful life or no longer meets our needs, including depleted quarry 
property. At the time that an asset or an asset group meets the held-for-sale criteria as defined by ASC Topic 
360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, we write it down to fair value, if the fair value is below the carrying 
value. Fair value is estimated by a variety of factors including, but not limited to, market comparative data, 
historical sales prices, broker quotes and third party valuations. If material, such property is separately 
disclosed, otherwise it is held in property and equipment until sold. The cost and accumulated depreciation or 
depletion of property sold or retired is removed from the balance sheet and the resulting gains or losses, if any, 
are reflected in operating income (loss) for the period. In the case that we abandon an asset, an amount equal to 
the carrying amount of the asset, less salvage value, if any, will be recognized as expense in the period that the 
asset was abandoned. Repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as incurred. 

Capitalized Interest: Interest, to the extent it is incurred in connection with the construction of certain self-
constructed assets, is capitalized and recorded as part of the asset to which it relates.  Capitalized interest on 
self-constructed assets is amortized over the estimated useful lives of the assets. 

 
Long-lived assets: We review property and equipment and amortizable intangible assets for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the net book value of an asset may not be recoverable. 
Recoverability of these assets is measured by comparison of their net book values to the future undiscounted 
cash flows the assets are expected to generate. If the assets are considered to be impaired, an 
impairment charge will be recognized equal to the amount by which the net book value of the asset exceeds its 
fair value. We group plant equipment assets at a regional level, which represents the lowest level for which 
identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets. When an individual 
asset or group of assets are determined to no longer contribute to the vertically integrated asset group, it is 
assessed for impairment independently. 

Amortizable intangible assets primarily include permits which are being amortized on a straight-line basis over 
terms from five to thirty years. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Goodwill: As of December 31, 2013, we had three reporting units in which goodwill was recorded as follows: 

• California Group Construction 
• Northwest Group Construction 
• Northwest Group Construction Materials 

We perform impairment tests annually as of December 31 and more frequently when events and circumstances 
occur that indicate a possible impairment of goodwill. In addition, we evaluate goodwill for impairment if 
events or circumstances change between annual tests indicating a possible impairment.  Examples of such 
events or circumstances include the following:   

• a significant adverse change in legal factors or in the business climate;   
• an adverse action or assessment by a regulator;   
• a more likely than not expectation that a segment or a significant portion thereof will be sold; or   
• the testing for recoverability of a significant asset group within the segment.   

In performing step one of the goodwill impairment tests, we calculate the estimated fair value of the reporting 
unit in which the goodwill is recorded using the discounted cash flows and market multiple 
methods.  Judgments inherent in these methods include the determination of appropriate discount rates, the 
amount and timing of expected future cash flows and growth rates, and appropriate benchmark companies. The 
cash flows used in our 2013 discounted cash flow model were based on five-year financial forecasts, which in 
turn were based on the 2014-2016 operating plan developed internally by management adjusted for market 
participant based assumptions. Our discount rate assumptions are based on an assessment of equity cost of 
capital and appropriate capital structure for our reporting units. In assessing the reasonableness of our 
determined fair values of our reporting units, we evaluate our results against our current market capitalization. 

After calculating the estimated fair value, we compare the resulting fair value to the net book value of the 
reporting unit, including goodwill. If the net book value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we measure 
and record the amount of the impairment loss by comparing the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s 
goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. 

The results of our annual goodwill impairment tests indicated that the estimated fair values of our reporting 
units exceeded their net book values (i.e., cushion) by at least 50% for two of the three reporting units. The 
Northwest Construction Materials reporting unit had a goodwill balance of $1.9 million as of December 31, 
2013, and the fair value of this reporting unit exceeded the net book value by 48%.  

The Northwest Construction Materials business is susceptible to state and local spending as well as private 
spending on residential and commercial construction.  While the current cushion is sufficient, any significant 
margin degradation caused by low volumes or increased production costs could have a significant impact to 
this reporting unit’s estimated fair value. 

 
Billings in Excess of Costs and Estimated Earnings: Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings is 
comprised of cash collected from customers and billings to customers on contracts in advance of work 
performed, including advance payments negotiated as a contract condition. Generally, unearned project-related 
costs will be earned over the next twelve months. 

 
Asset Retirement and Reclamation Obligations:  We account for the costs related to legal obligations to 
reclaim aggregate mining sites and other facilities by recording our estimated reclamation liability when 
incurred, capitalizing the estimated liability as part of the related asset’s carrying amount and allocating it to 
expense over the asset’s useful life. 

 
Warranties:  Many of our construction contracts contain warranty provisions covering defects in equipment, 
materials, design or workmanship that generally run from six months to one year after our customer accepts the 
contract. Because of the nature of our projects, including contract owner inspections of the work both during 
construction and prior to acceptance, we have not experienced material warranty costs for these short-term 
warranties and, therefore, do not believe an accrual for these costs is necessary. Certain construction contracts 
carry longer warranty periods, ranging from two to ten years, for which we have accrued an estimate of 
warranty cost. The warranty cost is estimated based on our experience with the type of work and any known 
risks relative to the project and was not material during the year ended December 31, 2013. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Accrued Insurance Costs:  We carry insurance policies to cover various risks, primarily general liability, 
automobile liability and workers compensation, under which we are liable to reimburse the insurance company 
for a portion of each claim paid. The amounts for which we are liable for general liability and workers 
compensation generally range from the first $0.5 million to $1.0 million per occurrence. We accrue for the 
estimated ultimate liability for incurred losses, both reported and unreported, using actuarial methods based on 
historic trends modified, if necessary, by recent events. Changes in our loss assumptions caused by changes in 
actual experience would affect our assessment of the ultimate liability and could have an effect on our 
operating results and financial position up to $1.0 million per occurrence.  
 
Performance Guarantees: Agreements with our joint venture partners and limited liability company members 
(“partner(s)”) for both construction joint ventures and line item joint ventures define each partner’s 
management role and financial responsibility in the project. The amount of operational exposure is generally 
limited to our stated ownership interest. However, due to the joint and several nature of the performance 
obligations under the related owner contracts, if one of the partners fails to perform, we and the remaining 
partners would be responsible for performance of the outstanding work (i.e., performance guarantee). We 
estimate our liability for performance guarantees and include them in accrued expenses and other current 
liabilities (see Note 10) with a corresponding asset in equity in construction joint ventures on the consolidated 
balance sheet. We reassess our liability when and if changes in circumstances occur. The liability and 
corresponding asset are removed from the consolidated balance sheet upon customer acceptance of the project. 

Circumstances that could lead to a loss under these agreements beyond our stated ownership interest include 
the failure of a partner to contribute additional funds to the venture in the event the project incurs a loss or 
additional costs that we could incur should a partner fail to provide the services and resources that it had 
committed to provide in the agreement.  

At December 31, 2013, there was $1.3 billion of construction revenue to be recognized on unconsolidated and 
line item construction joint venture contracts, of which $485.2 million represented our share and the 
remaining $809.7 million represented our partners’ share. We are not able to estimate amounts that may be 
required beyond the remaining cost of the work to be performed. These costs could be offset by billings to the 
customer or by proceeds from our partners’ corporate and/or other guarantees. 

 
Contingencies: We are currently involved in various claims and legal proceedings. Loss contingency 
provisions are recorded if the potential loss from any claim, asserted or unasserted, or legal proceeding is 
considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If a potential loss is considered probable but 
only a range of loss can be determined, the low-end of the range is recorded. These accruals represent 
management’s best estimate of probable loss. Disclosure also is provided when it is reasonably possible that a 
loss will be incurred or when it is reasonably possible that the amount of a loss will exceed the amount 
recorded. Significant judgment is required in both the determination of probability of loss and the 
determination as to whether an exposure is reasonably estimable. Because of uncertainties related to these 
matters, accruals are based only on the best information available at the time. As additional information 
becomes available, we reassess the potential liability related to claims and litigation and may revise our 
estimates. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation:  The Parent measures and recognizes compensation expense, net of estimated 
forfeitures, over the requisite vesting periods for all share-based payment awards made. Stock-based 
compensation is incurred at the Parent level and allocated to us as a component of selling, general and 
administrative expenses.   
 

  

11 



GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Restructuring and Impairment Charges, Net: Pursuant to an approved plan, we record severance costs when 
an employee has been notified, unless the employee provides future service, in which case severance costs are 
expensed ratably over the future service period. Other restructuring costs are recognized when the liability is 
incurred. Costs associated with terminating a lease contract are recorded at the contract termination date, in 
accordance with contract terms, or on the cease-use date, net of estimated sublease income, if applicable. In 
determining the amount related to termination of a lease, various assumptions are used including the time 
period over which facilities will be vacant, expected sublease term and sublease rates. These assumptions may 
be adjusted upon the occurrence of future events. Asset impairment analyses resulting from restructuring 
events are performed in accordance with ASC subtopic 360-10, Property, Plant and Equipment. See the 
Property and Equipment and Long-lived Assets accounting policies above for further information on asset 
impairment charges. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded net restructuring and impairment 
charges of $21.0 million (see Note 11). 
 
Income Taxes:  Deferred taxes are provided on a liability method whereby deferred tax assets are recognized 
for deductible temporary differences and operating loss carry-forwards and deferred tax liabilities are 
recognized for taxable temporary differences. Temporary differences are the differences between the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax 
bases. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more 
likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. 

We report a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to 
be taken in a tax return. We recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in 
other income (expense) in the consolidated statement of operations. 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements:   

 
In December 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2011-11, Balance Sheet 
(Topic 210): Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities and in January 2013, issued ASU No. 2013-
01, Balance Sheet (Topic 210): Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities. 
These ASUs require companies to disclose both gross and net information about financial instruments that 
have been offset on the balance sheet. These ASUs were effective for our year ended December 31, 2013 and 
did not impact our consolidated financial statements.  

In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU No. 2012-02, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing 
Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairment. This ASU gives companies the option to first assess 
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the indefinite-lived intangible asset is 
impaired. If it is determined that it is more likely than not the indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired, a 
quantitative impairment test is required. However, if it is concluded otherwise, the quantitative test is not 
necessary. This ASU was effective for our year ended December 31, 2013 and did not impact our consolidated 
financial statements.  

In February 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-02, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of 
Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. This ASU requires an entity to 
provide information about the amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by 
component. In addition, an entity is required to present, either on the face of the statement where net income is 
presented or in the notes, significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by 
the respective line items of net income in certain circumstances. This ASU will be effective commencing with 
our year ending December 31, 2014.  We do not expect the adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on 
our consolidated financial statements. 

In July 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-11, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Presentation of an 
Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit 
Carryforward Exists. This ASU requires companies with unrecognized tax benefits, or a portion of 
unrecognized tax benefits, to present these benefits in the financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax 
asset for a net operating loss carryforward or a tax credit carryforward. This ASU will be effective 
commencing with our year ending December 31, 2015. We do not expect the adoption of this ASU to have a 
material impact on our consolidated financial statements.  
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
2. Revisions in Estimates 
 

Our profit recognition related to construction contracts is based on estimates of costs to complete each project. 
These estimates can vary significantly in the normal course of business as projects progress, circumstances 
develop and evolve, and uncertainties are resolved. We do not recognize revenue on contract change orders or 
affirmative claims until we have a signed agreement; however, we do recognize costs as incurred and revisions 
to estimated total costs as soon as the obligation to perform is determined. Approved change orders and 
affirmative claims, as well as changes in related estimates of costs to complete, are considered revisions in 
estimates. We use the cumulative catch-up method applicable to construction contract accounting to account 
for revisions in estimates. Under this method, revisions in estimates are accounted for in their entirety in the 
period of change. There can be no assurance that we will not experience further changes in circumstances or 
otherwise be required to further revise our profitability estimates.  

For the majority of our contracts, revenue in an amount equal to cost incurred is recognized prior to contracts 
reaching at least 25% completion, thus deferring the related profit. It is our judgment until a project reaches at 
least 25% completion, there is insufficient information to determine the estimated profit on the project with a 
reasonable level of certainty. The initial gross profit impact from projects exceeding the 25% threshold is not 
included in the tables below. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the initial gross profit impact from 
projects exceeding the threshold was $7.3 million. 

The net change in project profitability from revisions in estimates, both increases and decreases, that 
individually had an impact of $1.0 million or more on gross profit were a net decrease of $14.7 million.  The 
projects are summarized as follows (dollars in millions): 

 
Increases 
Year ended December 31,                      2013 
Number of projects with upward estimate changes                                10     
Range of increase in gross profit from each project, net  $                  2.1 – 9.3 
Increase on project profitability  $                         47.5 

 
The increases during the year ended December 31, 2013 were due to owner-directed scope changes, settlement 
of outstanding issues with a contract owner and production at a higher rate than anticipated. 

 
Decreases 
Year ended December 31,                      2013 
Number of projects with downward estimate changes                                  8 
Range of reduction in gross profit from each project, net  $                1.2 – 26.8 
Decrease on project profitability  $                         62.2 

 
The decreases during the year ended December 31, 2013 were due to lower productivity than originally 
anticipated and unanticipated production costs.  

Additionally, we incurred significant increased costs on a highway project in Washington State. This project 
has been impacted by lower productivity resulting from previously unforeseen design issues, schedule delays, 
associated job re-sequencing, and costs related to changes in the project scope. Compensation is being sought 
from both the client and subcontractors for a portion of the additional costs; however, the amount, sources and 
timing of any future compensation have yet to be finalized.  
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
3. Related Party Transactions 

 
Intercompany transactions with the Parent include the following transactions and balances:  

 
• Corporate overhead charges 
• Management of the investment portfolio for cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities 
• Self-insurance and funded insurance coverage 
• Incentive compensation arrangements and related payments 
• Corporate debt 

 
Corporate overhead charges are generally allocated to us and other operating entities of the Parent based on the 
cost of revenue.  All other charges and the related liabilities are allocated to us on a specific identification 
basis. The expense allocations have been determined on bases considered to be reasonable reflections of the 
utilization of services provided or the benefit received.  However, these allocations are not necessarily 
indicative of the amounts that would have been recorded by us on a stand-alone basis.  At December 31, 2013, 
the related party asset and liability balances are reported as follows in the consolidated balance sheet (in 
thousands): 

 
December 31, 2013 
Intercompany receivable $  304,232 
Other current assets 6,829 
Current maturities of long-term debt 21 
Accrued expenses 44,355 
Long-term debt 15,000 

 
The amount paid to a Parent subsidiary equipment leasing company for equipment rental charges was $21.4 
million for the year ended December 31, 2013.  Total corporate overhead charges allocated from the Parent 
were $65.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 and are included in selling, general and 
administrative expenses. The allocated corporate interest expense was $0.9 million and the allocated corporate 
interest income was $0.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.  The fee for managing the cash, cash 
equivalent and short-term investment portfolio allocated from the Parent was $0.4 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2013. Revenue resulting from transactions with affiliates and subsidiaries of the Parent was 
$18.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. 

All cash generated by us is swept to and managed by the Parent, initially resulting in a Intercompany receivable 
from Parent and subsidiaries.  Based on agreements between the Parent and us, cash, cash equivalents and 
marketable securities are then allocated to us at period-end based upon our uses and receipts of cash.  The 
resultant allocations are reclassified at period-end from Intercompany receivable from Parent and subsidiaries 
to Cash and cash equivalents, Short-term marketable securities, and Long-term marketable securities in the 
consolidated balance sheet. 

While the Parent has entered into certain debt agreements, the intercompany arrangement with us is the same as 
the debt agreements themselves and is reported as such in Note 12 to these consolidated financial statements.  
All payments for principal and interest are made by the Parent. 

Other transactions reflected in Intercompany receivable from Parent and subsidiaries include non-interest 
bearing cash advances, tax expense or refund allocations from the Parent and other miscellaneous 
intercompany charges and credits. There is no contractual due date for the Intercompany receivable from 
Parent and subsidiaries and it will not be repaid during fiscal year 2014. 

We join in the consolidated federal and state tax returns filed by the Parent.  As such, current federal and state 
income taxes and income tax benefits are allocated to us based on our contribution or loss, respectively, which 
approximates amounts that would be determined on a separate return basis.  Deferred federal and state income 
taxes and income tax benefits are allocated to us on a specific identification basis.  All cash payments for 
consolidated federal and state tax returns are made by the Parent. Taxes payable have been netted in the 
Intercompany receivable from Parent and subsidiaries.  

 

15 



GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
4. Marketable Securities 
 

All marketable securities were classified as held-to-maturity as of December 31, 2013 and the carrying 
amounts of held-to-maturity marketable securities were as follows (in thousands): 

  
December 31, 2013 

       U.S. Government and agency obligations 
       

$ 10,000 
Commercial paper 

        
39,968 

      Total short-term marketable securities 
        

49,968 
U.S. Government and agency obligations – long-term 

        
67,234 

Total marketable securities   
      

$ 117,202 
          

As of December 31, 2013, scheduled maturities of held-to-maturity investments were as follows (in 
thousands): 

 
Due within one year $ 49,968 
Due in one to five years  67,234 
      Total $ 117,202 

 
5. Fair Value Measurement 
  

The following tables summarize assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet 
on a recurring basis for each of the fair value levels (in thousands): 

  
    Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Using 

December 31, 2013   Level 1  Level 2   Level 3    Total 
Cash equivalents 

     
 

     Money market funds $ 83,790 $ - $ - $ 83,790 
     Total assets 

 
$ 83,790   

 
- $ - $ 83,790 

  
 

A reconciliation of cash equivalents to consolidated cash and cash equivalents is as follows (in thousands): 
 

December 31, 
     

2013 
Cash equivalents 

      
$ 

 
83,790 

Cash 
        

98,065 
Total cash and cash equivalents 

      
$ 

 
181,855 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
The carrying values and estimated fair values of our financial instruments that are not required to be recorded 
at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows (in thousands):  

 

December 31, 2013 
 

Fair Value 
Hierarchy 

 

 Carrying 
Value 

 

 Fair 
Value 

Assets:         
Held-to-maturity marketable securities  Level 1  $ 117,202  $ 116,915 
Liabilities (including current maturities):         
Senior notes payable1  Level 3  $ 15,000  $ 16,940 

1The fair values of the senior notes payable are based on borrowing rates available to us for long-term loans with similar terms, average 
maturities, and credit risk. 
 
The carrying values of receivables, other current assets, and accrued expenses and other current liabilities 
approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these instruments. 

We measure certain nonfinancial assets and liabilities at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. As of December 31, 
2013, the nonfinancial assets and liabilities included our asset retirement and reclamation obligations, assets 
and liabilities that were adjusted to fair value in connection with our Parent’s 2010 Enterprise Improvement 
Plan (“EIP”) and a non-performing quarry asset separate from the EIP.  

Fair value for these nonfinancial assets and liabilities was measured using Level 3 inputs. Asset retirement and 
reclamation obligations were initially measured using internal discounted cash flow calculations based upon 
our estimates of future retirement costs - see Note 8 for details of the asset retirement balances and Note 1 for 
further discussion on fair value measurements. Fair values of the assets related to the EIP as well as the non-
performing quarry site were determined based on a variety of factors that are further described in Note 1 under 
the Property and Equipment and Long-lived Assets sections.  

During the year ended December 31, 2013, fair value adjustments to our nonfinancial assets and liabilities were 
related to our asset retirement and reclamation obligations, restructuring charges associated with the EIP and 
non-cash impairment charges separate from the EIP, and are detailed as follows: 

• Asset retirement obligations adjustments were $2.3 million. See Note 8 for further information. 
 

• Restructuring charges associated with the EIP were $17.8 million, of which $14.6 million related to 
non-performing quarry sites and $3.2 million related to lease termination charges. See Note 11 for 
further information. 

 
• Non-cash impairment charges were $3.2 million which were primarily associated with a 

nonperforming quarry site. See Note 11 for further information.  
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
6. Receivables, net (in thousands): 
 

December 31,   2013 
Construction contracts:     
  Completed and in progress  $ 125,153 
  Retentions   48,467 
        Total construction contracts   173,620 
Construction material sales   35,501 
Other   11,400 
        Total gross receivables   220,521 
Less:  allowance for doubtful accounts   2,513 
        Total net receivables  $ 218,008 

   
Receivables include amounts billed and billable to clients for services provided and/or according to contract 
terms as of the end of the applicable period and do not bear interest. Certain contracts include provisions that 
permit us to submit invoices in advance of providing services and, to the extent not collected, they are included 
in receivables. Other contracts include provisions that permit us to submit invoices based on the passage of 
time, achievement of milestones or completion of the project. To the extent the related costs have not been 
billed, the contract balance is included in costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on the consolidated 
balance sheet. Included in other receivables at December 31, 2013 were items such as notes receivable, fuel tax 
refunds and income tax refunds. No such receivables individually exceeded 10% of total net receivables.  

Revenue earned from federal, state and local government agencies amounted to approximately $1.2 billion 
(68.6% of our total revenue) in 2013.  During 2013, our largest volume customer was the California 
Department of Transportation (“Caltrans”). Revenue recognized from contracts with Caltrans represented 
$261.3 million (15.2% of our total revenue) in 2013. At December 31, 2013, no customer had a receivable 
balance in excess of 10% of our total net receivables.  

Financing receivables consisted of long-term notes receivable and retentions receivable.  As of 
December 31, 2013, long-term notes receivable outstanding were $0.9 million and primarily related to loans 
made to employees and were included in other noncurrent assets on our consolidated balance sheet. 

Certain construction contracts include retainage provisions. The balances billed but not paid by customers 
pursuant to these provisions generally become due upon completion and acceptance of the contract by the 
owners. As of December 31, 2013, the majority of the retentions receivable are expected to be collected within 
one year. 

We segregate our retention receivables into two categories: escrow and non-escrow and the balances in each 
category were as follows (in thousands):  

 
December 31, 

     
2013 

Escrow 
      

$ 
 

24,810 
Non-escrow 

        
23,657 

    Total 
      

$ 
 

48,467 
 
The escrow receivables include amounts due to Granite which have been deposited into an escrow account and 
bear interest. Typically, escrow retention receivables are held until work on a project is complete and has been 
accepted by the owner who then releases those funds, along with accrued interest, to us. There is minimal risk 
of not collecting on these amounts. 
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Non-escrow retention receivables are amounts that the project owner has contractually withheld that are to be 
paid upon owner acceptance of contract completion. We evaluate our non-escrow retention receivables for 
collectibility using certain customer information that includes the following: 

• Federal - includes federal agencies such as the Bureau of Reclamation, the Army Corp of Engineers, and 
the Bureau of Indian Affairs. The obligations of these agencies are backed by the federal government. 
Consequently, there is minimal risk of not collecting the amounts we are entitled to receive.    

    
• State - primarily state departments of transportation. The risk of not collecting on these accounts is small; 

however, we have experienced occasional delays in payment as states have struggled with budget issues. 
 

• Local - these customers include local agencies such as cities, counties and other local municipal agencies. 
The risk of not collecting on these accounts is low; however, we have experienced occasional delays in 
payment as some local agencies have struggled to deal with budget issues.  

  
• Private - includes individuals, developers and corporations. The majority of our collection risk is 

associated with these customers. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and generally 
do not require collateral, although the law provides us certain remedies, including, but not limited to, the 
ability to file mechanics’ liens on real property improved for private customers in the event of non-
payment by such customers. 

The following table summarizes the amount of our non-escrow retention receivables within each category (in 
thousands): 

 
December 31, 2013 
Federal $    2,851 
State 

 
4,447 

Local     8,541 
Private 

 
7,818 

    Total $  23,657 
 

We regularly review our accounts receivable, including past due amounts, to determine their probability of 
collection. If it is probable that an amount is uncollectible, it is charged to bad debt expense and a 
corresponding reserve is established in allowance for doubtful accounts. If it is deemed certain that an amount 
is uncollectible, the amount is written off. Based on contract terms, non-escrow retention receivables are 
typically due within 60 days of owner acceptance of contract completion. We consider retention amounts 
beyond 60 days of owner acceptance of contract completion to be past due. 
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The following table presents the aging of our non-escrow retention receivables (in thousands): 

 

December 31, 2013   Current   
0-90 Days 
Past Due   

Over 90 
Days Past 

Due   Total 
 Federal $   2,831 

 
$       13 

 
$            7 

 
$   2,851 

 State 
 

  3,846 
  

    323 
  

   278 
  

  4,447 
 Local 

 
  6,716 

  
    921 

  
   904 

  
  8,541 

 Private 
 

  6,240 
  

    287 
  

1,291 
  

  7,818 
    Total $ 19,633   $  1,544   $ 2,480   $ 23,657 

 
Federal, state and local agencies generally require several approvals to release payments, and these approvals 
often take over 90 days past contractual due dates to obtain. Amounts past due from government agencies 
primarily result from delays caused by paperwork processing and obtaining proper agency approvals rather 
than lack of funds, which was the case with the majority of local agencies with past due balances as of 
December 31, 2013. Amounts past due from private companies primarily result from delays due to processing 
within large institutions with slower payment cycles. We generally receive payment within one year of owner 
acceptance. As of December 31, 2013, our allowance for doubtful accounts contained no material provision 
related to non-escrow retention receivables as we determined there were no significant collectability issues. 
 

7. Construction and Line Item Joint Ventures 
 
We participate in various construction joint ventures (“joint ventures”). We also participate in various “line 
item” joint venture agreements under which each partner is responsible for performing certain discrete items of 
the total scope of contracted work.  

Construction Joint Ventures 

Generally, each construction joint venture is formed to complete a specific contract and is jointly controlled by 
the venture partners. The associated agreements typically provide that our interests in any profits and assets, 
and our respective share in any losses and liabilities resulting from the performance of the contracts, are limited 
to our stated percentage interest in the project. We have no significant commitments beyond completion of the 
contracts. Under our contractual arrangements, we provide capital to these joint ventures in return for an 
ownership interest. In addition, partners dedicate resources to the ventures necessary to complete the contracts 
and are reimbursed for their cost. The operational risks of each construction joint venture are passed along to 
the joint venture partners. As we absorb our share of these risks, our investment in each venture is exposed to 
potential losses. 

We have determined that certain of these joint ventures are consolidated because they are VIEs and we are the 
primary beneficiary or because they are not VIEs and we hold the majority voting interest. 

We continually evaluate whether there are changes in the status of the VIE’s or changes to the primary 
beneficiary designation of the VIE. Based on our assessments during the year ended December 31, 2013, we 
determined no change was required for existing construction joint ventures. 
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Consolidated Construction Joint Ventures 
  
The carrying amounts and classification of assets and liabilities of construction joint ventures we are required 
to consolidate are included in our consolidated balance sheet as follows (in thousands): 
 

December 31,           2013 
Cash and cash equivalents 1 $ 20,862 
Receivables, net  24,364 
Other current assets  195 
     Total current assets  45,421 
Property and equipment, net  620 
         Total assets2 $ 46,041 
   
  Accounts payable $ 13,935 
  Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings1  23,722 
  Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  10,585 
       Total current liabilities  48,242 
         Total liabilities2 $ 40,240 

1The volume and stage of completion of contracts from our consolidated construction joint ventures may cause fluctuations 
in cash and cash equivalents as well as billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings between periods. 
2The assets and liabilities of each joint venture relate solely to that joint venture. The decision to distribute joint venture 
cash and cash equivalents and assets must generally be made jointly by all of the partners and, accordingly, these cash and 
cash equivalents and assets generally are not available for the working capital needs of Granite until distributed. 
  
At December 31, 2013, we were engaged in three active consolidated construction joint venture projects with 
total contract values ranging from $0.4 million to $337.0 million. The total revenue remaining to be recognized 
on these consolidated joint ventures ranged from $0.2 million to $56.2 million. Our proportionate share of the 
equity in these joint ventures was between 51.0% and 60.0%. During the year ended December 31, 2013, total 
revenue from consolidated construction joint ventures was $127.6 million.  
 
Unconsolidated Construction Joint Ventures 
  
We account for our share of construction joint ventures that we are not required to consolidate on a pro rata 
basis in the consolidated statement of operations and as a single line item on the consolidated balance sheet.  
As of December 31, 2013, these unconsolidated joint ventures were engaged in five active construction 
projects with total contract values ranging from $106.7 million to $1.2 billion. Our proportionate share of the 
equity in these unconsolidated joint ventures ranged from 20.0% to 50.0%.  As of December 31, 2013, our 
proportionate share of revenue remaining to be recognized on these unconsolidated joint ventures ranged from 
$0.7 million to $339.6 million. 
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Following is summary financial information related to unconsolidated construction joint ventures (in 
thousands): 

 
December 31,  2013 
Assets:  
  Cash and cash equivalents1 $  140,987 
  Other assets 111,705 
  Less partners’ interest 149,608 
     Granite’s interest 103,084 
Liabilities:  
  Accounts payable 87,694 
  Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings1 40,860 
  Other liabilities 2,166 
  Less partners’ interest 85,305 
     Granite’s interest 45,415 
        Equity in construction joint ventures  $   57,669 

1The volume and stage of completion of contracts from our unconsolidated construction joint ventures may cause 
fluctuations in cash and cash equivalents as well as billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings between periods. The 
decision to distribute joint venture cash and cash equivalents and assets must generally be made jointly by all of the 
partners and, accordingly, these cash and cash equivalents and assets generally are not available for the working capital 
needs of Granite until distributed. 

  
Year Ended December 31,  2013 
Revenue:  
  Total $  554,335 
  Less other partners’ interest1 361,633 
     Granite’s interest 192,702 
Cost of revenue:  
  Total 446,144 
  Less partners’ interest1 279,838 
     Granite’s interest 166,306 
        Granite’s interest in gross profit $    26,396 

1Partners’ interest represents amounts to reconcile total revenue and total cost of revenue as reported by our partners to 
Granite’s interest adjusted to reflect our accounting policies. 
 
Line Item Joint Ventures 
   
The revenue for each line item joint venture partner’s discrete items of work is defined in the contract with the 
project owner and each venture partner bears the profitability risk associated with its own work. There is not a 
single set of books and records for a line item joint venture. Each partner accounts for its items of work 
individually as it would for any self-performed contract. We include only our portion of these contracts in our 
consolidated financial statements. As of December 31, 2013, we had four active line item joint venture 
construction projects with total contract values ranging from $42.6 million to $84.2 million of which our 
portions ranged from $23.6 million to $61.9 million. As of December 31, 2013, our share of revenue remaining 
to be recognized on these line item joint ventures ranged from $0.6 million to $17.7 million. 
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8. Property and Equipment, Net (in thousands):  
 

December 31,  2013 
Equipment and vehicles $ 464,049 
Quarry property  170,442 
Land and land improvements  110,054 
Buildings and leasehold improvements  78,987 
Office furniture and equipment  14,872 
        Property and equipment  838,404 
Less: accumulated depreciation and depletion  511,960 
        Property and equipment, net $ 326,444 

 
Depreciation and depletion expense included in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 was $29.7 million. We capitalized interest of $0.3 million in 2013 related to certain self-
constructed assets, which is included in property and equipment on our consolidated balance sheet.   

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded non-cash impairment charges of $17.8 million, all of 
which related to non-performing quarry sites. Of this amount, $14.6 million were restructuring charges in 
connection with the EIP. Refer to Note 11 for details. 

We have recorded liabilities associated with our legally required obligations to reclaim owned and leased 
quarry property and related facilities.  As of December 31, 2013, $9.8 million of our asset retirement 
obligations are included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities and $19.3 million are included in 
other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.  
 
The following is a reconciliation of these asset retirement obligations (in thousands): 
 

Year Ended December 31,  2013 
Beginning balance $ 26,576 
Revisions to estimates  2,265 
Liabilities incurred  83 
Liabilities settled  (976) 
Accretion  1,190 
        Ending balance $ 29,138 
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9. Intangible Assets 

Indefinite-lived intangible assets primarily consist of goodwill and use rights of $9.9 million and $0.4 million, 
respectively, as of December 31, 2013. Of goodwill, $7.0 million is attributed to the Northwest Group 
Construction reporting unit, $1.9 million is attributed to the Northwest Group Construction Materials reporting 
unit and $1.0 million is attributed to the California Group Construction reporting unit. 
 
Amortized Intangible Assets: 

Following is the breakdown of our amortized intangible assets that are included in other noncurrent assets on 
our consolidated balance sheet (in thousands): 

December 31, 2013 
 Gross 

Value 
      Accumulated 

     Amortization 
 Net 

Value 
Permits $ 29,713       $  (11,992)    $ 17,721        
Covenants not to compete  1,588  (1,552)  36 
Other  3,069  (3,054)  15 
        Total amortized intangible assets $ 34,370       $ (16,598) $ 17,772        

 
Amortization expense related to these intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $1.3 
million. Based on the amortized intangible assets balance at December 31, 2013, amortization expense 
expected to be recorded in the future is as follows: $1.1 million in 2014, $1.1 million in 2015, $1.0 million in 
2016, $1.0 million in 2017, $1.0 million in 2018 and $12.6 million thereafter. 

 
10. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities (in thousands): 
 

December 31,       2013 
Payroll and related employee benefits $     16,707  
Accrued insurance        43,546 
Performance guarantees        23,285 
Loss job reserves        11,690 
Other        26,333 
        Total $  121,561 

 
11. Restructuring and Impairment Charges, Net (in thousands): 
 

December 31,       2013 
Impairment charges on assets $     14,593  
Lease termination cost, net of estimated sublease income        3,234 

Total restructuring charges        17,827 
Other impairment charges        3,164 

        Total restructuring and impairment charges, net $  20,991 
 

In October 2010, the Parent announced its EIP to reduce its cost structure, enhance operating efficiencies and 
strengthen its business to achieve long-term profitable growth. The majority of restructuring charges associated 
with the EIP was recorded in 2010. During 2013, Parent management approved a plan to sell or otherwise 
dispose of certain quarry assets. These actions were taken pursuant to the EIP, and resulted in restructuring 
charges of $17.8 million, details of which are below.  

The restructuring charges consisted of $14.6 million in non-cash impairment charges related to non-performing 
quarry sites which had an aggregate carrying value of $17.1 million prior to the impairment. Separate from 
these quarry sites, but in connection with the impairment of these assets, lease termination charges of $3.2 
million were recorded 

The majority of the Parent’s EIP was concluded during 2013. As the impaired assets are sold, we may 
recognize additional restructuring charges or gains; however, these charges or gains are not expected to be 
material. Restructuring liabilities were $4.6 million as of December 31, 2013. 
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Separate from the EIP but related to the process of continually optimizing assets, the Parent identified a quarry 
asset that no longer had strategic value to its vertically integrated business. Therefore, during 2013, Parent 
management approved a plan to sell or otherwise dispose of this asset. The Company determined that the 
asset's carrying value of $4.2 million was not recoverable, and therefore we recorded a $3.2 million non-cash 
impairment charge. 

 
12. Long-Term Debt and Credit Arrangements: 
 

We have recorded senior notes payable under an intercompany borrowing arrangement as follows (in 
thousands): 

 
December 31, 2013 
Senior notes payable $   15,148 
Less: current maturities of long-term debt 21 
        Total long-term debt $   15,127 

  
The aggregate minimum principal maturities of long-term debt, for each of the five years following December 
31, 2013 are as follows: none in 2014, $3.0 million in 2015, $3.0 million in 2016, $3.0 million in 2017, and 
$6.1 million thereafter. 
 
Senior Notes Payable 

 
As of December 31, 2013, the Parent has senior notes payable in the amount of $200.0 million due to a group 
of institutional holders, which are guaranteed, in total, by us and other subsidiaries of the Parent.  We have 
been allocated $15.0 million of this amount in accordance with intercompany arrangements due in five equal 
installments beginning in 2015 and bears interest at 6.11% per annum (“2019 Notes”). The allocated corporate 
interest expense was $0.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013.  
 
The Parent’s obligations under the note purchase agreements governing the 2019 Notes (the “2019 NPA”) are 
guaranteed by certain of its subsidiaries, including us, and are collateralized on an equivalent basis with the 
Credit Agreement by liens on substantially all of the assets of the Parent and subsidiaries that are guarantors or 
borrowers under the Credit Agreement. The 2019 NPA provides for the release of liens and re-pledge of 
collateral on substantially the same terms and conditions as those set forth in the Credit Agreement.  
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Credit Agreement 

The Parent has a $215.0 million committed secured revolving credit facility, with a sublimit for letters of credit 
of $100.0 million (the “Credit Agreement”), which expires on October 11, 2016, of which $134.9 million was 
available at December 31, 2013. In addition, as of December 31, 2013 there were standby letters of credit 
totaling $10.1 million. The letters of credit will expire between August 2014 and October 2014.  Under the 
terms of our intercompany borrowing arrangement with the Parent, the revolving loan and letters of credit have 
not been allocated to us. 

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at LIBOR or base rate (at the Parent’s option), plus an 
applicable margin based on certain financial ratios calculated quarterly.  LIBOR varies based on the applicable 
loan term, market conditions and other external factors. The applicable margin was 2.50% for loans bearing 
interest based on LIBOR and 1.50% for loans bearing interest at the base rate at December 31, 2013.  
Accordingly, the effective interest rate was between 2.75% and 4.75% at December 31, 2013.  Borrowings at 
the base rate have no designated term and may be repaid without penalty any time prior to the Credit 
Agreement’s maturity date. Borrowings at a LIBOR rate have a term no less than one month and no greater 
than one year. Typically, at the end of such term, such borrowings may be paid off or rolled over at the Parent’s 
discretion into either a borrowing at the base rate or a borrowing at a LIBOR rate with similar terms, not to 
exceed the maturity date of the Credit Agreement. On a periodic basis, the Parent assesses the timing of 
payment depending on facts and circumstances that exist at the time of their assessment. The Parent’s 
obligations under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by us and other subsidiaries of the Parent and are 
collateralized on an equivalent basis with the obligations under the 2019 Notes (defined above) by first priority 
liens (subject only to other liens permitted under the Credit Agreement) on substantially all of the assets of the 
Parent and its subsidiaries that are guarantors or borrowers under the Credit Agreement.  

The Credit Agreement provides for the release of the liens securing the Parent’s obligations, at their option and 
expense, after September 30, 2013, so long as certain conditions as defined by the terms in the Credit 
Agreement are satisfied (“Collateral Release Period”). If, subsequently, the Parent’s Consolidated Fixed 
Charge Coverage Ratio is less than 1.25 or the Parent’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio is greater than 2.50, then 
they will be required to promptly re-pledge substantially all of the assets of the Parent and its subsidiaries, 
including the Company, that are guarantors or borrowers under the Credit Agreement. The Parent has not 
exercised this option as of December 31, 2013. 

Covenants and Events of Default  

The Parent’s debt and credit agreements require it to comply with various affirmative, restrictive and financial 
covenants, including the financial covenants described below. The Parent’s failure to comply with any of these 
covenants, or to pay principal, interest or other amounts when due thereunder, would constitute an event of 
default under the applicable agreements. Under certain circumstances, the occurrence of an event of default 
under one of the Parent’s debt or credit agreements (or the acceleration of the maturity of the indebtedness 
under one of the Parent’s agreements) may constitute an event of default under one or more of our other debt 
or credit agreements. Default under the Parent’s debt and credit agreements could result in (1) us, along with 
the Parent and other subsidiaries, no longer being entitled to borrow under the agreements, (2) termination of 
the agreements, (3) the requirement that any letters of credit under the agreements be cash collateralized, (4) 
acceleration of the maturity of outstanding indebtedness under the agreements and/or (5) foreclosure on any 
collateral securing the obligations under the agreements. 

  

26 



GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued) 

 
The most significant financial covenants under the terms of the Parent’s Credit Agreement and 2019 NPA 
require, at the Parent level, the maintenance of a minimum Consolidated Tangible Net Worth, a minimum 
Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio and a maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratio.  

On March 3, 2014, we, along with other subsidiaries of the Parent, executed amendments to the Credit 
Agreement and 2019 NPA, which terms include, at the Parent level, among other things, (i) a revised 
minimum Consolidated Tangible Net Worth of $600.0 million; and (ii) a revised maximum Consolidated 
Leverage Ratio of 3.75. The maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratio at the Parent level decreases to 3.50 
beginning with the Parent’s quarter ending June 30, 2014, to 3.25 beginning with the Parent’s quarter ending 
September 30, 2014 and to 3.00 thereafter. As of December 31, 2013, the Parent’s Consolidated Tangible Net 
Worth was $729.1 million and the Parent’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio was 2.74. The Credit Agreement 
amendment permanently waived the Parent’s requirement to comply with such financial covenants for the 
Parent’s quarter ended December 31, 2013. 

As of December 31, 2013, the Parent was in compliance with all covenants contained in the Credit Agreement 
and 2019 NPA.  

  
13. Employee Benefit Plans 

 
Our employees participate in the Parent’s employee benefit plans.  Costs associated with these plans are 
allocated to us as described in Note 3.  The following disclosures are included in the Parent’s 2013 Annual 
Report on Form 10-K with respect to such plans:    

Parent Company Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan:  The Parent sponsors the 401(k) Plan. The 401(k) Plan is a 
defined contribution plan covering all employees of the Parent and subsidiaries except employees covered 
by collective bargaining agreements and employees of its consolidated construction joint ventures. Each 
employee’s combined before-tax and Roth 401(k) after- tax contributions cannot exceed 50% of their eligible 
pay or the IRS annual contribution limit of $17,500. The Parent’s 401(k) matching contributions can be up to 
6% of an employee’s gross pay and are available at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 

Profit sharing contributions from the Parent may be made to the 401(k) Plan in an amount determined by the 
Board of Directors. The Parent made no profit sharing contributions during the year ended 2013. The Parent’s 
401(k) matching contributions to the 401(k) Plan for the year ended December 31, 2013 were $4.1 million. 

Effective June 1, 2012 the Parent’s Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) was merged into the Parent’s 
Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan (the “401(k) Plan”). As of December 31, 2013, the 401(k) Plan owned 
2,021,019 shares of the Parent’s common stock. Dividends on shares held by the 401(k) Plan are charged to 
retained earnings. 

Parent Company Stock-based Compensation: The Parent’s 2012 Equity Incentive Plan provides for the 
issuance of restricted stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and stock options to eligible employees and to 
members of the Parent’s Board of Directors. Beginning in 2011, the Parent issued RSUs to eligible employees 
in lieu of restricted stock. As of December 31, 2013, a total of 2,472,133 shares of the Parent’s common stock 
have been reserved for issuance of which 1,632,933 remained available as of December 31, 2013. 

Restricted Stock Units and Restricted Stock: As noted above, RSUs and restricted stock can be issued to 
eligible employees and members of the Parent’s Board of Directors. RSUs and restricted stock are issued for 
services to be rendered and may not be sold, transferred or pledged for such a period as determined by the 
Parent’s Compensation Committee. RSU and restricted stock compensation cost is measured at the Parent’s 
common stock’s fair value based on the market price at the date of grant. The Parent recognizes compensation 
cost only for RSUs and restricted stock that will ultimately vest. The Parent estimates the number of shares that 
will ultimately vest at each grant date based on our historical experience and adjust compensation cost based on 
changes in those estimates over time. 
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RSU and restricted stock compensation cost is recognized ratably over the shorter of the vesting period 
(generally three years) or the period from grant date to the first maturity date after the holder reaches age 62 
and has completed certain specified years of service, when all restricted stock becomes fully vested. Vesting of 
restricted stock is not subject to any market or performance conditions and vesting provisions are at the 
discretion of the Parent’s Compensation Committee. An employee may not sell or otherwise transfer unvested 
stock and, in the event employment is terminated prior to the end of the vesting period, any unvested units or 
stock are surrendered to the Parent. The Parent has no obligation to purchase restricted stock units or restricted 
stock. 

As of December 31, 2013, there were approximately 769,000 of the Parent’s restricted stock units outstanding. 
Compensation cost related to restricted stock units was $13.0 million ($9.1 million net of the Parent’s tax using 
the effective tax rate) for the year ended December 31, 2013, which all was recorded at the Parent level as 
discussed in Note 1. The grant date fair value of restricted stock vested during the year ended December 31, 
2013 was approximately $9.6 million. As of December 31, 2013, there was $13.7 million of unrecognized 
compensation cost related to restricted stock units which will be recognized over a remaining weighted-average 
period of 1.0 years, none of which is allocated to the Company. 

As of December 31, 2013, there was no Parent’s restricted stock outstanding. Compensation cost related to 
restricted stock was approximately $0.5 million ($0.3 million net of the Parent’s tax using the effective tax 
rate) for the year ended December 31, 2013, which all was recorded at the Parent level as discussed in Note 1. 
The grant date fair value of restricted stock vested during the year ended December 31, 2013 was $5.1 million.  

Parent Employee Stock Purchase Plan:  The Parent’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) allows 
qualifying employees to purchase shares of its common stock through payroll deductions of up to 15% of their 
compensation, subject to Internal Revenue Code limitations, at a price of 95% of the fair market value as of the 
end of each of the six-month offering periods. During the year ended December 31, 2013, proceeds from the 
ESPP were $0.7 million for 23,557 shares. The offering periods commence on May 15 and November 15 of 
each year, except for the first offering period, which commenced on January 15, 2011. 

Multi-employer Pension Plans:  We also contribute to various multi-employer pension plans on behalf of 
union employees. The risks of participating in these multiemployer plans are different from single-employer 
plans in the following aspects: 

 
• Assets contributed to the multi-employer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to 

employees of other participating employers. 
• If a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be 

borne by the remaining participating employers. 
• If we chose to stop participating in some of the multi-employer plans, we may be required to pay those 

plans an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan, referred to as a withdrawal liability. 
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The following table presents our participation in these plans during the year ended December 31, 2013 (dollars 
in thousands): 

 
 

Pension Trust 
Fund 

Pension 
Plan 

Employer 
Identificati
on Number 

Pension 
Protection 

Act 
(“PPA”) 
Certified 

Zone 
Status1 

FIP / RP 
Status 

Pending / 
Implemented

2 Contributions 

Surchar
ge 

Imposed 

Expiration 
Date of 

Collection 
Bargaining 
Agreement 

3 
Locals 302 and 612 
Operating 
Engineers-
Employers 
Retirement Fund 

91-6028571 Green No $ 3,260 No 5/31/2015 

Operating 
Engineers Pension 
Trust Fund 

95-6032478 Red Yes 2,768 No 6/30/2016 

Pension Trust Fund 
for Operating 
Engineers Pension 
Plan 

94-6090764 Orange Yes 8,193 No 6/30/2016 

Laborers Pension 
Trust Fund for 
Northern California 

94-6277608 Yellow Yes 2,500 No 6/30/2015 

All other funds 
(25) 

   

8,116 

  
    

$ 24,837 
   

1The most recent PPA zone status available in 2013 is for the plan’s year-end during 2012. The zone status is based on 
information that we received from the plan and is certified by the plan’s actuary. Among other factors, plans in the red 
zone are generally less than 65 percent funded, plans in the orange zone are less than 80 percent funded and have an 
Accumulated Funding Deficiency in the current year or projected into the next six years, plans in the yellow zone are less 
than 80 percent funded, and plans in the green zone are at least 80 percent funded. 

2The “FIP/RP Status Pending/Implemented” column indicates plans for which a financial improvement plan (“FIP”) or a 
rehabilitation plan (“RP”) is either pending or has been implemented 

3Lists the expiration date(s) of the collective-bargaining agreement(s) to which the plans are subject. Pension trust funds 
with a range of expiration dates have various collective bargaining agreements. 

 
We currently have no intention of withdrawing from any of the multi-employer pension plans in which we 
participate. 
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14. Income Taxes 
 

Benefit from income taxes (in thousands): 
 

Year Ended December 31,  2013 
Federal    
     Current $ (9,320) 
     Deferred  (6,258) 
        Total federal  (15,578) 
State   
     Current  (1,040) 
     Deferred  (1,250) 
        Total state   (2,290) 
            Total benefit from income taxes $ (17,868) 

 
Reconciliation of the Federal statutory tax rate to our effective tax rate is as follows: 

 
Year Ended December 31, 2013 
Federal statutory tax rate 35.0% 
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit 4.0 
Percentage depletion deduction 1.6 
Non-controlling interests 
 

(3.2) 
Other (0.2) 
        Effective tax rate 37.2% 

 
The impact on the effective tax rate related to non-controlling interests is a result of the consolidation of 
construction joint ventures and other entities which are generally not subject to income taxes on a stand-alone 
basis.   
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities (in thousands): 
 

December 31,  2013 
Deferred tax assets:    
     Receivables $ 2,870 
     Inventory  4,633 
     Insurance  9,068 
     Deferred compensation  2,257 
     Contract income recognition  5,951 
     Other accrued liabilities  9,044 
     Other   528 
        Total deferred tax assets   34,351  
Deferred tax liabilities:   
     Property and equipment  (15,524) 
        Total deferred tax liabilities  (15,524) 
                Net deferred tax assets $ 18,827 
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GRANITE CONSTRUCTION COMPANY 
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The above amounts are reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as follows (in thousands): 

 
December 31,  2013 
Current deferred tax assets, net $ 26,238 
Long-term deferred tax liabilities, net  7,411 
Net deferred tax assets $ 18,827 

 
The deferred tax asset for other accrued liabilities relates to various items including accrued vacation and 
accrued reclamation costs which are deductible in future periods. 

Uncertain tax positions:   The Parent files income tax returns on behalf of the consolidated group in the U.S. 
and various state and local jurisdictions and we file separate income tax returns in various state and local 
jurisdictions. With few exceptions, as of December 31, 2013, the Parent’s and our tax returns are no longer 
subject to state examinations by taxing authorities for years before 2008. The Parent is no longer subject to 
U.S. federal examinations by tax authorities for years before 2008. 

We had approximately $2.1 million of total gross unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2013. We 
believe that it is reasonably possible that approximately $0.6 million of our currently remaining unrecognized 
tax benefits, each of which are individually insignificant, may be recognized by the end of 2014 as a result of a 
lapse of statue limitations. 

The following represents a tabular reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands), the balance of 
which is included in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet: 

 
Year Ended December 31,  2013 
Beginning balance     $ 2,180 
Gross increases – current-period tax positions  319 
Gross decreases – current-period tax positions   (562) 
Gross increases – prior-period tax positions  565 
Gross decreases – prior-period tax positions  (153) 
Settlements with taxing authorities/lapse of statute of limitations  (272) 
Unrecognized tax benefits – Ending balance             $ 2,077 

 
We record interest related to uncertain tax positions as interest expense in our consolidated statement of 
operations. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recognized approximately $0.1 million of interest 
expense. Approximately $1.0 million of accrued interest was included in our uncertain tax position liability in 
our consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 2013. 
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15. Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees 
 

Leases:   Minimum rental commitments under all noncancelable operating leases, primarily quarry property, in 
effect at December 31, 2013 were (in thousands): 

 
Years Ending December 31,   
2014 $  5,597 
2015  4,385 
2016  3,661 
2017  2,709 
2018  1,946 
Later years (through 2099)  10,135 
Total  $ 28,433 

 
Operating lease rental expense was $8.7 million in 2013, which does not include $21.4 million paid to a 
subsidiary equipment leasing company for equipment rental charges. 
 
Guarantees:  As discussed in Note 6, we participate in various construction joint ventures.  The agreements 
with our partners define each partner’s management role and financial responsibility in the project. The amount 
of exposure is generally limited to our stated ownership interest. Due to the joint and several nature of the 
obligation under these agreements, if one of the partners fails to perform, we and the remaining partners would 
be responsible for performance of the outstanding work. Circumstances that could lead to a loss under these 
agreements beyond our stated ownership interest include the failure of a partner to contribute additional funds 
to the venture in the event the project incurs a loss or additional costs that we could incur should a partner fail 
to provide the services and resources that it had committed to provide in the agreement. 

At December 31, 2013, there was $1.3 billion of construction revenue to be recognized on unconsolidated and 
line item construction joint venture contracts, of which $485.2 million represented our share and the 
remaining $809.7 million represented our partners’ share. We are not able to estimate amounts that may be 
required beyond the remaining cost of the work to be performed. These costs could be offset by billings to the 
customer or proceeds from our partners’ corporate and/or other guarantees. See Note 10 for disclosure of the 
amounts recorded in our consolidated balance sheet. 

We have guaranteed the Parent’s debt, including a $215.0 million secured revolving credit facility, with a 
sublimit for letters of credit of $100.0 million (of which $70.0 million of revolving loans and $10.1 million of 
standby letters of credit were outstanding as of December 31, 2013) and senior notes payable in the amount of 
$200.0 million. Our guarantee of the revolving line of credit expires in 2016 and our guarantee of the senior 
notes expires as the notes are repaid, with scheduled repayments through 2019. 
  
Surety Bonds:  We are generally required to provide various types of surety bonds that provide an additional 
measure of security under certain public and private sector contracts. Performance bonds do not have stated 
expiration dates; rather, we are generally released from the bonds after the owner accepts the work performed 
under contract. The ability to maintain bonding capacity to support our current and future level of contracting 
requires that we maintain cash and working capital balances satisfactory to our sureties. 
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16. Legal Proceedings 

 
In the ordinary course of business, we and our affiliates are involved in various legal proceedings that are 
pending against us and our affiliates alleging, among other things, public liability issues or breach of contract 
or tortious conduct in connection with the performance of services and/or materials provided, the various 
outcomes of which cannot be predicted with certainty. We and our affiliates are also subject to government 
inquiries in the ordinary course of business seeking information concerning our compliance with government 
construction contracting requirements and related laws and regulations. 
 
We record liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet representing our estimated liabilities relating to legal 
proceedings and government inquiries to the extent that we have concluded such liabilities are probable and 
the amounts of such liabilities are reasonably estimable. The aggregate liabilities recorded as of December 31, 
2013 related to these matters were approximately $10.8 million, and were primarily included in accrued 
expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. Some of the matters in which we or 
our affiliates are involved may involve compensatory, punitive, or other claims or sanctions that, if granted, 
could require us to pay damages or make other expenditures in amounts that are not probable to be incurred or 
cannot currently be reasonably estimated. In addition, in some circumstances our government contracts could 
be terminated, we could be suspended or debarred, or payment of our costs could be disallowed. While any of 
our pending legal proceedings may be subject to early resolution as a result of our ongoing efforts to settle, 
whether or when any legal proceeding will be resolved through settlement is neither predictable nor 
guaranteed.  Accordingly, it is possible that future developments in such proceedings and inquiries could 
require us to (i) adjust existing accruals, or (ii) record new accruals that we did not originally believe to be 
probable or that could not be reasonably estimated. Such changes could be material to our financial condition, 
results of operations and cash flows in any particular period. In addition to matters that are considered probable 
for which the loss can be reasonably estimated, we also disclose certain matters where the loss is considered 
reasonably possible and is reasonably estimable. Except as noted below, we believe the aggregate range of 
possible loss related to matters considered reasonably possible was not material as of December 31, 2013. Our 
view as to such matters could change in future periods. 
 
Aguilar v. Tricor America, Inc.; GCI et al and related cases: Romero v. Tricor, Inc.; GCC et al; Ba'Shay 
Ward v. Tricor America; GCC; and Perez v. Trustees of the Estate of Aguilar et al; GCC.  (All related cases 
are consolidated with Aguilar v Tricor America, including all defense/legal expenses) 
 
On or about January 24, 2013 a two vehicle auto accident occurred on a segment of highway on which the 
Company had completed asphalt resurfacing that had been accepted by California Department of 
Transportation on August 11, 2011.  A vehicle being operated by a Tricor America employee crossed the 
center line colliding head on with a Honda traveling the opposite direction.  The driver of both vehicles and 
two passengers in the Honda suffered life threatening injuries and four additional passengers in the Honda 
suffered severe permanent injuries.  Suit has been brought against Tricor and Granite Construction.  
Allegations against Granite include our failure to change the design of the shoulder drop off and knowledge 
that the shoulder drop off created a hazard to the traveling public.  Granite did not design the shoulder drop off 
and was not responsible for maintenance of the roadway.  Amounts reserved by the Company through its 
General Liability program for such claims have been prefunded as part of the insurance program.  Granite’s 
financial exposure is capped at the self-insured retention of $500,000 and a portion of the defense costs.  The 
insurance company has estimated the value of potential settlement at $2.5 million. 
 
US 183A (Austin) Warranty Claim by Project Owner 

This matter was finally settled with the Project Owner in late January to early February for an agreed payment 
by the HCC joint venture to the Owner of $2.85 million.  That figure matches the Probable Loss Contingency 
amount and accrual amount we had established via the Loss Contingency Report referenced in Item 1 above.  
The payment of that settlement amount is due to be made to the Project Owner by March 2014.
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Board of Directors 
and Shareholder of Granite Construction Company: 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Granite Construction Company and 
its subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2012, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations, of equity, and of cash flows for the year then ended.   
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error.  In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company's 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.  We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
  



 

 2 

Opinion 
 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of Granite Construction Company and its subsidiaries at December 31, 
2012, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 

 
March 21, 2013 
 

 
_____________________________ 
John Eilers, Partner 
California CPA License No. 68172 
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December 31, 2012 
Assets 

Current assets  
  Cash and cash equivalents ($67,688 related to consolidated construction             
   joint ventures (“CCJV”)) 

$   252,171  

  Short-term marketable securities 56,088 
  Receivables, net ($27,607 related to CCJVs) 208,000 
  Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 32,411 
  Inventories 58,853 
  Deferred income taxes 30,950 
  Equity in construction joint ventures 50,331 
  Other current assets 21,181 
        Total current assets 709,985 
Property and equipment, net ($6,241 related to CCJVs) 358,236 
Long-term marketable securities 55,342 
Intercompany receivable 277,174 
Other noncurrent assets 53,980 
            Total assets     $  1,454,717 

Liabilities and Equity 
Current liabilities  
  Current maturities of long-term debt $         5,205 
  Accounts payable ($26,195 related to CCJVs) 133,376 
  Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings ($26,416 related to CCJVs)         85,016 
  Accrued expenses and other current liabilities ($7,361 related to CCJVs) 109,547 
        Total current liabilities 333,144 
Long-term debt 15,148 
Other long-term liabilities 29,284 
Deferred income taxes 16,041 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)  
Equity  
  Preferred stock, $100 par value, 5% cumulative authorized  
    75,000 shares, none outstanding - 
  Common stock, $0.01 par value, authorized 30,000,000 shares,  
    issued and outstanding 10,000,000 shares 100 
  Additional paid-in capital 148,719 
  Retained earnings 890,301 
        Total Granite Construction Company shareholder’s equity 1,039,120 
  Noncontrolling interests 21,980 
        Total equity 1,061,100 
            Total liabilities and equity $  1,454,717 
  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement. 

 
 

_____________________________ 
John Eilers, Partner 

California CPA License No. 68172 

rthompson028
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Year Ended December 31, 2012 
Revenue     $  1,847,624 
Cost of revenue 1,672,426 
        Gross profit 175,198 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 158,135 
Gain on sales of property and equipment 22,799 
        Operating income 39,862 
Other income  
  Interest income 2,352 
  Other income, net 7,424 
        Total other income 9,776 
        Income before provision for income taxes  49,638 
Provision for income taxes 10,916 
        Net income 38,722 
Amount attributable to noncontrolling interests (14,467) 
         Net income attributable to Granite Construction Company $      24,255  
  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement. 
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Common 

Stock 

Additional 
Paid-In 
Capital 

Retained 
Earnings 

Total 
GCCO 

Shareholder’s 
Equity 

 
Non- 

controlling 
Interests 

Total 
Equity 

Balances, December 31, 2011  $ 100 $      143,703 $     866,046 $         1,009,849 $        23,178 $   1,033,027 
Net income -                 -        24,255                  24,255           14,467           38,722  
Amortization of Parent’s 

restricted stock -           10,357                  -                  10,357                    -      10,357 
Purchase of Parent common 

stock -            (4,248)                  -                  (4,248)                    -           (4,248) 
Net tax on stock-based 

compensation    -            (1,573)                  -                  (1,573)                    -         (1,573) 
Transactions with 

noncontrolling interests, net -                 -                  -                          - (15,665)         (15,665) 
Other -             480                  -                     480                  -                 480
Balances, December 31, 2012  $ 100 $      148,719 $     890,301 $        1,039,120 $        21,980 $  1,061,100 
      

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement. 
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Year Ended December 31, 2012 
Operating activities 
  Net income $    38,722  
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by  
      operating activities:  
      Depreciation, depletion and amortization 36,741 
      Gain on sales of property and equipment (22,799) 
      Gain on company owned life insurance (420) 
      Stock-based compensation 10,357 
Changes in assets and liabilities:   
      Receivables (5,556) 
      Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings, net 3,163 
      Inventories (8,066) 
      Equity in construction joint ventures (5,980) 
      Other assets, net 10,529 
      Accounts payable 4,190 
      Accrued expenses and other liabilities, net (19,418) 
           Net cash provided by operating activities 41,463 
Investing activities  
  Purchases of marketable securities (124,596) 
  Maturities of marketable securities 90,100 
  Proceeds from sales of marketable securities 75,000 
  Additions to property and equipment (15,233) 
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 29,573 
Additions to intercompany receivable (62,662) 
Collection of notes receivable, net 2,108 
Other investing activities 490 

           Net cash used in investing activities (5,220) 
Financing activities  
  Long-term debt principal payments (6,453) 
  Purchase of Parent common stock  (4,248) 
  Distributions to noncontrolling partners, net (15,665) 
  Other financing activities  588 
           Net cash used in financing activities (25,778) 
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 10,465 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 241,706 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $   252,171 
  
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement. 
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Description of Business:  On January 24, 1990 Granite Construction Incorporated (the “Parent”) was formed.  
The Parent acquired all the issued and outstanding shares of common stock of Granite Construction Company 
(“we,” “us,” “our,” “Company” and “Granite,” as appropriate) in exchange for shares in the Parent. 

 
We are a heavy civil contractor engaged in the construction of roads, highways, mass transit facilities, airport 
infrastructure, bridges, trenchless and underground utilities, electrical utilities, tunnels, dams and canals as well 
as sales of construction materials.  We have offices in Alaska, Arizona, California, Florida, Nevada, Texas, 
Utah and Washington.  Our business has been organized into three reportable business segments to reflect our 
lines of business. These business segments are: Construction, Large Project Construction and Construction 
Materials. 

 
Subsequent Events: In preparing these consolidated financial statements, we have evaluated events and 
transactions for potential recognition or disclosure through March 21, 2013 the date the financial statements 
were available to be issued. 

 
Principles of Consolidation:  The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Granite 
Construction Company and its wholly owned and majority owned subsidiaries. All material inter-company 
transactions and accounts have been eliminated.  We use the equity method of accounting for affiliated 
companies where we have the ability to exercise significant influence, but not control.  Additionally, we 
participate in joint ventures with other construction companies.  We have consolidated those ventures where we 
have determined that through our participation we have a variable interest and are the primary beneficiary as 
defined by Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 
Topic 810, Consolidation, and related standards.  Effective January 1, 2010, we adopted the new consolidation 
requirements applicable to our construction joint ventures that are considered variable interest entities (“VIEs”) 
as defined by ASC Topic 810.  The method we use to determine the primary beneficiary of a VIE is as follows:   

 
 determine the VIE’s primary beneficiary using a qualitative approach based on: 

i) the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the 
VIE; and 

ii) the obligation to absorb losses or right to receive benefits of the VIE that could be significant. 
 ongoing evaluation of the VIE’s primary beneficiary; and 
 disclosures about a company’s involvement with the VIE. 

 
Where we have determined we are not the primary beneficiary of a venture but do exercise significant 
influence, we account for our share of the operations of jointly controlled construction joint ventures on a pro 
rata basis in the consolidated statement of operations and as a single line item in the consolidated balance sheet.  

 
Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements:  The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  The preparation of 
these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities.  Our estimates, judgments and assumptions are continually evaluated based on available information 
and experiences; however, actual amounts could differ from those estimates.
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Revenue Recognition – Construction Contracts:  Revenue and earnings on construction contracts, including 
construction joint ventures, are recognized under the percentage of completion method using the ratio of costs 
incurred to estimated total costs.  Revenue in an amount equal to cost incurred is recognized prior to contracts 
reaching at least 25% completion, thus deferring the related profit.  It is our judgment that until a project 
reaches at least 25% completion, there is insufficient information to determine the estimated profit on the 
project with a reasonable level of certainty.  In the case of large, complex design/build projects we may defer 
profit recognition beyond the point of 25% completion based on an evaluation of specific project risks.  The 
factors considered in this evaluation include the stage of design completion, the stage of construction 
completion, status of outstanding purchase orders and subcontracts, certainty of quantities of labor and 
materials, certainty of schedule and the relationship with the owner.  
  
Revenue from contract claims is recognized when we have a signed agreement and payment is assured. 
Revenue from contract change orders, which occur in most large projects, is recognized when the owner has 
agreed to the change order in writing.  Provisions are recognized in the consolidated statement of operations for 
the full amount of estimated losses on uncompleted contracts whenever evidence indicates that the estimated 
total cost of a contract exceeds its estimated total revenue.  All contract costs, including those associated with 
claims and change orders, are recorded as incurred and revisions to estimated total costs are reflected as soon 
as the obligation to perform is determined.  Contract cost consists of direct costs of contracts, including labor 
and materials, amounts payable to subcontractors, direct overhead costs and equipment expense (primarily 
depreciation, fuel, maintenance and repairs).   

 
The accuracy of our revenue and profit recognition in a given period depends on the accuracy of our estimates 
of the cost to complete each project.  Cost estimates for all of our significant projects use a detailed “bottom 
up” approach and we believe our experience allows us to provide materially reliable estimates.  There are a 
number of factors that can contribute to changes in estimates of contract cost and profitability.  The most 
significant of these include:  

  
 the completeness and accuracy of the original bid; 
 costs associated with added scope changes; 
 costs of labor and/or materials; 
 extended overhead due to owner, weather and other delays;  
 subcontractor performance issues; 
 changes in productivity expectations; 
 site conditions that differ from those assumed in the original bid (to the extent contract remedies are 

unavailable); 
 continuing changes from original design on design/build projects; 
 the availability and skill level of workers in the geographic location of the project; and  
 a change in the availability and proximity of equipment and materials. 

     
The foregoing factors as well as the stage of completion of contracts in process and the mix of contracts at 
different margins may cause fluctuations in gross profit between periods.  Substantial changes in cost 
estimates, particularly in our larger, more complex projects have had, and can in future periods have, a 
significant effect on our profitability. 

 
Our contracts with our customers are primarily “fixed unit price” or “fixed price.” Under fixed unit price 
contracts, we are committed to provide materials or services required by a project at fixed unit prices (for 
example, dollars per cubic yard of concrete placed or cubic yards of earth excavated). While the fixed unit 
price contract shifts the risk of estimating the quantity of units required for a particular project to the customer, 
any increase in our unit cost over the expected unit cost in the bid, whether due to inflation, inefficiency, faulty 
estimates or other factors, is borne by us unless otherwise provided in the contract. Fixed price contracts are 
priced on a lump-sum basis under which we bear the risk that we may not be able to perform all the work 
profitably for the specified contract amount. 
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Revenue Recognition - Materials:  Revenue from the sale of materials is recognized when delivery occurs and 
risk of ownership passes to the customer. 

  
Balance Sheet Classifications:  Amounts receivable and payable under construction contracts (principally 
retentions) that may extend beyond one year are included in current assets and liabilities.  A one-year time 
period is used as the basis for classifying all other current assets and liabilities. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents:  Cash equivalents are securities having original maturities of three months or less 
from the date of purchase.  Included in cash and cash equivalents on our consolidated balance sheet as of 
December 31, 2012 was $67.7 million related to our consolidated joint ventures.  Our access to joint venture 
cash may be limited by the provisions of the venture agreements. 

 
Costs and Estimated Earnings in Excess of Billings: Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings 
represent unbilled amounts earned and reimbursable under contracts. These amounts become billable according 
to the contract terms, which usually consider the passage of time, achievement of milestones or completion of 
the project. Generally, such unbilled amounts will be billed and collected over the next twelve months. Based 
on our historical experience, we generally consider the collection risk related to these amounts to be low. When 
events or conditions indicate that the amounts outstanding may become uncollectible, an allowance is 
estimated and recorded. 

 
Marketable Securities:  We determine the classification of our marketable securities at the time of purchase 
and re-evaluate these determinations at each balance sheet date.  Debt securities are classified as held-to-
maturity when we have the positive intent and ability to hold the securities to maturity.  Held-to-maturity 
investments are stated at amortized cost.  Amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of 
premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity, and is included in interest income. Realized gains and losses 
are included in other income (expense), net.  The cost of securities sold or called is based on the specific 
identification method.  

  
Financial Instruments:  The carrying value of marketable securities approximates their fair value as 
determined by market quotes.  Rates currently available to the Parent for debt with similar terms and remaining 
maturities are used to estimate fair value of existing debt.  The carrying value of receivables and other amounts 
arising out of normal contract activities, including retentions, which may be settled beyond one year, is 
estimated to approximate fair value. 
 
Derivative Instruments: We are exposed to various commodity price risks, including, but not limited to, diesel 
fuel, natural gas, propane, steel, cement and liquid asphalt arising from transactions that are entered into in the 
normal course of business. At times we manage this risk through supply agreements or we pre-purchase 
commodities to secure pricing and use financial contracts to further manage price risk. All derivative 
instruments are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value.  We do not enter into derivative instruments for 
speculative or trading purposes.  As of December 31, 2012, we had no significant financial contracts in place.  

 
Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities:  We measure and disclose certain financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value.  ASC Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, defines fair value as the 
exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal 
or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on 
the measurement date.  ASC Topic 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.  
The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value: 

 
Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2 - Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; 
quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by 
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. 

Level 3 - Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the 
fair value of the assets or liabilities. 
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We utilize the active market approach to measure fair value for our financial assets and liabilities. We report 
separately each class of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and include assets and 
liabilities that are disclosed but not recorded at fair value in the fair value hierarchy.  

 
Concentrations of Credit Risk and Other Risks:  Financial instruments, which potentially subject us to 
concentrations of credit risk, consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term 
marketable securities, and accounts receivable.  The Parent maintains cash and cash equivalents and marketable 
securities with several financial institutions. The Parent invests with high credit quality financial institutions 
and, by policy, limits the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution. 

 
Our receivables are from customers concentrated in the United States and we have no foreign operations as of 
December 31, 2012. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and generally do not require 
collateral, although the law provides us the ability to file mechanics’ liens on real property improved for private 
customers in the event of non-payment by such customers.  We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts 
which has been within management’s expectations. 

  
A significant portion of our labor force is subject to collective bargaining agreements.  

   
Inventories:  Inventories consist primarily of quarry products valued at the lower of average cost or market. 
We write down the inventories based on estimated quantities of materials on hand in excess of estimated 
foreseeable use.  

  
Property and Equipment:  Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation for construction and other 
equipment is primarily provided using accelerated methods over lives ranging from three to seven years, and 
the straight-line method over lives from three to twenty years for the remaining depreciable assets.  We believe 
that accelerated methods best approximate the service provided by the construction and other equipment.  
Depletion of quarry property is based on the usage of depletable reserves.  We frequently sell property and 
equipment that has reached the end of its useful life or no longer meets our needs, including depleted quarry 
property.  At the time that an asset meets the held-for-sale criteria as defined by ASC Topic 360, Property, 
Plant, and Equipment, we write it down to fair value, if the fair value is below the carrying value.  Fair value is 
estimated by a variety of factors including, but not limited to, market comparative data, historical sales prices, 
broker quotes and third party valuations.  If material, such property is separately disclosed, otherwise it is held 
in property and equipment until sold.  The cost and accumulated depreciation or depletion of property sold or 
retired is removed from the accounts and gains or losses, if any, are reflected in earnings for the period.  In the 
case that we abandon an asset, an amount equal to the carrying amount of the asset, less salvage value, if 
any, will be recognized as expense in the period that the asset was abandoned.  Repairs and maintenance are 
charged to operations as incurred. 

 
Long-lived assets: We review property and equipment and amortizable intangible assets for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  
Recoverability of these assets is measured by comparison of their carrying amounts to the future undiscounted 
cash flows the assets are expected to generate.  If the assets are considered to be impaired, an impairment 
charge will be recognized equal to the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its fair value.  
For purposes of the property and equipment impairment review, we group assets at the Parent’s regional level, 
which represents the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of 
other groups of assets.   

 
Amortizable intangible assets include covenants not to compete, permits, trade names and customer lists which 
are being amortized on a straight-line basis over terms from one to thirty years. 
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Capitalized Interest: Interest, to the extent it is incurred in connection with the construction of certain self-
constructed assets is capitalized and recorded as part of the asset to which it relates.  Capitalized interest on 
self-constructed assets is amortized over their estimated useful lives. 

 
Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets: We perform impairment tests annually and more frequently 
when events and circumstances occur that indicate a possible impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived 
intangible assets. 

 
In performing step one of the goodwill impairment test, we calculate the estimated fair value of the reporting 
unit in which the goodwill is recorded using a discounted future cash flow method.  We then compare the 
resulting fair value to the net book value of the reporting unit, including goodwill. If the net book value of a 
reporting unit exceeds its fair value, we measure and record the amount of the impairment loss by comparing 
the implied fair value of the reporting unit’s goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill.  Our 
assessment of goodwill impairment during 2012 indicated that the fair value of each applicable reporting unit 
exceeded its net book value and therefore goodwill was not impaired. 

 
In determining whether there is an impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets, we compare the fair value 
of the asset to the carrying value.  We use internal discounted cash flow estimates, quoted market prices when 
available and independent appraisals, as appropriate, to determine fair value. If the carrying value exceeds the 
fair value, an impairment charge is recognized equal to the amount by which the carrying value of the asset 
exceeds its fair value.  During 2012, we did not recognize any impairment charges related to goodwill and 
indefinite-lived intangible assets. 

 
Billings in Excess of Costs and Estimated Earnings: Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings is 
comprised of cash collected from customers and billings to customers on contracts in advance of work 
performed and advance payments negotiated as a contract condition.  Generally, unearned project-related costs 
will be earned over the next twelve months. 

 
Reclamation Costs:  We account for the costs related to legal obligations to reclaim aggregate mining sites and 
other facilities by recording our estimated reclamation liability when incurred, capitalizing the estimated 
liability as part of the related asset’s carrying amount and allocating it to expense over the asset’s useful life. 

 
Warranties:  Many of our construction contracts contain warranty provisions covering defects in equipment, 
materials, design or workmanship that generally run from six months to one year after our customer accepts the 
contract.  Because of the nature of our projects, including contract owner inspections of the work both during 
construction and prior to acceptance, we have not experienced material warranty costs for these short-term 
warranties and therefore do not believe an accrual for these costs is necessary.  Certain construction contracts 
carry longer warranty periods, ranging from two to ten years for which we have accrued an estimate of 
warranty cost.  The warranty cost is estimated based on our experience with the type of work and any known 
risks relative to the project and was not material during the year ended December 31, 2012. 

 
Accrued Insurance Costs:  We carry insurance policies to cover various risks, primarily general liability and 
workers compensation, under which we are liable to reimburse the insurance company for a portion of each 
claim paid.  The amounts for which we are liable for general liability and workers’ compensation generally 
range from the first $0.5 million to $1.0 million per occurrence.  We accrue for the estimated ultimate liability 
for incurred losses, both reported and unreported, using actuarial methods based on historic trends modified, if 
necessary, by recent events.  Changes in our loss assumptions caused by changes in actual experience would 
affect our assessment of the ultimate liability and could have an effect on our operating results and financial 
position up to $1.0 million per occurrence. 

 
Stock-Based Compensation:  The Parent requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense 
for all share-based payment awards made.  Allocated share-based compensation is included in selling, general 
and administrative expenses on our consolidated statement of operations.  
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Income Taxes:  Deferred taxes are provided on a liability method whereby deferred tax assets are recognized 
for deductible temporary differences and operating loss carry-forwards and deferred tax liabilities are 
recognized for taxable temporary differences.  Temporary differences are the differences between the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities on the consolidated financial statements and their respective tax bases.  
Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of management, it is more likely 
than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
adjusted for the effects of changes in tax laws and rates on the date of enactment. 

 
We report a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to 
be taken in a tax return.  We recognize interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in 
other income (expense) in the consolidated statement of operations. 

 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements:   

 
In December 2011, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2011-11, Balance Sheet 
(Topic 210): Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities.  This ASU requires companies to disclose 
both gross and net information about financial instruments that have been offset on the consolidated balance 
sheet.  This ASU will be effective commencing with our year ending December 31, 2013.  We do not expect 
the adoption of this ASU to have an impact on our consolidated financial statements. 

 
In July 2012, the FASB issued ASU No. 2012-02, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Testing 
Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairment.  This ASU gives companies the option to first assess 
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the indefinite lived intangible asset is 
impaired.  If it is determined that it is more likely than not the indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired, a 
quantitative impairment test is required.  However, if it is concluded otherwise, the quantitative test is not 
necessary.  This ASU will be effective commencing with our year ending December 31, 2013.  We do not 
expect the adoption of this ASU to have an impact on our consolidated financial statements. 
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2. Revisions in Estimates 
 

Our profit recognition related to construction contracts is based on estimates of costs to complete each project.  
These estimates can vary in the normal course of business as projects progress and uncertainties are resolved.  
We do not recognize revenue on contract change orders or claims until we have a signed agreement; however, 
we do recognize costs as incurred and revisions to estimated total costs as soon as the obligation to perform is 
determined.  Approved change orders and claims, as well as changes in related estimates of costs to complete, 
are considered revisions in estimates.  We use the cumulative catch-up method applicable to construction 
contract accounting to account for revisions in estimates.  Under this option, revisions in estimates are 
accounted for in their entirety in the period of change.  At December 31, 2012, we had no revisions in estimates 
that are reasonably certain to impact future periods. 

  
The net change in project profitability from revisions in estimates, both increases and decreases that 
individually had an impact of $1.0 million or more on gross profit were a net increase of $19.9 million.  The 
projects are summarized as follows (dollars in millions): 

 
Increases 
Year ended December 31,                      2012 
Number of projects with upward estimate changes                                  13    
Range of increase in gross profit from each project, net  $                  1.1 – 21.1 
Increase on project profitability  $                           73.5 

 
The following table presents additional information about three of the projects with significant upward changes 
in 2012 (dollars in millions): 

 

Year Ended December 31,   

Number 
of 

Projects 

Total 
Contract 

Value 

2012 Gross 
Profit Increase 

Impact 
Projects less than 90% complete 1 $ 410.0 $             14.0 
Projects greater than 90% complete   2 432.0 39.7 

Total for projects with significant upward 
changes   3 $ 842.0 $             53.7 

 
The increases during the year ended December 31, 2012 were due to owner directed scope changes and lower 
than anticipated construction costs. 

 
Decreases 
Year ended December 31,                      2012 
Number of projects with downward estimate changes                                   10 
Range of reduction in gross profit from each project, net  $                   1.1 – 27.4 
Decrease on project profitability  $                            53.6 

 
The decreases during the year ended December 31, 2012 were due to lower productivity than originally 
estimated. In addition, $27.4 million of the decrease was related to significant increased costs on a highway 
development project in Washington State that has been impacted by lost productivity due to design issues, 
schedule delays, necessary job re-sequencing and costs related to scope growth. Additional compensation is 
being sought from the responsible parties for these additional costs, but the amount, source and timing of any 
future compensation is undetermined. Five of the projects that had downward estimate changes were complete 
or substantially complete at December 31, 2012. The other five projects were 59.3% to 81.2% complete. 
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3. Related Party Transactions 
 

Intercompany transactions with the Parent include the following transactions and balances:  
 

 Corporate overhead charges 
 Management of the investment portfolio for cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities 
 Self-insurance and funded insurance coverage 
 Incentive compensation arrangements and related payments 
 Corporate debt 

 
Corporate overhead charges are generally allocated to us and other operating entities of the Parent based on the 
cost of revenue.  All other charges and the related liabilities are allocated to us on a specific identification 
basis.  The expense allocations have been determined on bases considered to be reasonable reflections of the 
utilization of services provided or the benefit received.  However, these allocations are not necessarily 
indicative of the amounts that would have been recorded by us on a stand-alone basis.  At December 31, 2012, 
the related party asset and liability balances are reported as follows in the consolidated balance sheet (in 
thousands): 

 
December 31, 2012 
Intercompany receivable $  277,174 
Other current assets 9,681 
Current maturities of long-term debt 5,185 
Accrued expenses 37,000 
Long-term debt 15,000 

 
The amount paid to a Parent subsidiary equipment leasing company for equipment rental charges was $22.3 
million for the year ended December 31, 2012.  Total corporate overhead charges allocated from the Parent 
were $85.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 and are included in selling, general and 
administrative expenses.  The allocated corporate interest expense was $1.2 million and the allocated corporate 
interest income was $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012.  The fee for managing the cash, cash 
equivalent and short-term investment portfolio allocated from the Parent was $0.6 million for the year ended 
December 31, 2012. Revenue resulting from transactions with affiliates and subsidiaries of the Parent was $3.8 
million for the year ended December 31, 2012. 

 
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities are managed by the Parent and allocated to us based upon our 
uses and receipts of cash. 

 
While the Parent has entered into certain debt agreements, the intercompany arrangement with us is the same as 
the debt agreements themselves and is reported as such in Note 11 to these consolidated financial statements.  
All payments for principal and interest are made by the Parent. 

 
Other transactions reflected in receivable from Parent include non-interest bearing cash advances, tax expense 
or refund allocations from the Parent, the attribution of certain Parent level equity transactions to the Company 
and other miscellaneous intercompany charges and credits.  Effective in 2012, Parent dividends were no longer 
allocated to the Company. There is no contractual due date for these other transactions and the receivable from 
Parent will not be required to be repaid during fiscal year 2013. 

 
We join in the consolidated federal and state tax returns filed by the Parent.  As such, current federal and state 
income taxes and income tax benefits are allocated to us based on our contribution or loss, respectively, which 
approximates amounts that would be determined on a separate return basis.  Deferred federal and state income 
taxes and income tax benefits are allocated to us on a specific identification basis.  All cash payments for 
consolidated federal and state tax returns are made by the Parent.  Taxes payable have been netted in the 
receivable from the Parent.  

 
 

4. Marketable Securities 
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All marketable securities were classified as held-to-maturity as of December 31, 2012 and the carrying 
amounts of held-to-maturity marketable securities were as follows (in thousands): 

  
December 31, 2012 
U.S. Government and agency obligations $ 7,375 
Commercial paper 34,966 
Municipal bonds 8,738 
Corporate bonds       5,009 

Total short-term marketable securities 56,088 
U.S. Government and agency obligations – long-term 55,342 

Total marketable securities   $ 111,430 
 

As of December 31, 2012, scheduled maturities of held-to-maturity investments were as follows (in 
thousands): 

 
Due within one year $ 56,088 
Due in one to five years  55,342 
      Total $ 111,430 

 
5. Fair Value Measurement 
  

Effective in 2012, we adopted a new accounting standard that expands the disclosure of our assets and 
liabilities disclosed, but not recorded at fair value. As of December 31, 2012 these assets and liabilities were 
our held-to-maturity marketable securities and senior notes payable. The following tables summarize each class 
of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as well as these assets and liabilities that are 
disclosed but not recorded at fair value (in thousands): 

  
    Fair Value Measurement at Reporting Date Using 

December 31, 2012   Level 1 1  Level 2 2  Level 3 3   Total 
Cash equivalents  
   Money market funds $ 144,411 $ - $ - $ 144,411
   Held-to-maturity commercial paper 4,793 - - 4,793
Marketable securities 
   Held-to-maturity marketable securities 111,525 - - 111,525

     Total assets $ 260,729   - $ - $ 260,729
  

Long-Term Debt (including current 
maturities) 
   Senior notes payable $ - $ - $ 22,871 $ 22,871

     Total liabilities $ - $ - $ 22,871 $ 22,871
 

1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
2 Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets 

that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially 
the full term of the assets or liabilities. 

3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets 
or liabilities. 
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A reconciliation of cash equivalents to consolidated cash and cash equivalents is as follows (in thousands): 
 

December 31, 2012 
Cash equivalents $ 149,204 
Cash 102,967 

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 252,171 
 

The carrying values of receivables, other current assets, and accrued expenses and other current liabilities 
approximate their fair values because of the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair value of the senior 
notes payable loan was based on borrowing rates available to the Parent for long-term loans with similar terms, 
average maturities, and credit risk. The carrying amount of senior notes payable, including current maturities, 
was $20.2 million as of December 31, 2012.  See Note 4 for the carrying amount and reporting class of held-to-
maturity marketable securities as of December 31, 2012. 
 
We measure certain nonfinancial assets and liabilities at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. As of December 31, 
2012, the nonfinancial liabilities included our asset retirement obligations.  Fair value for this liability was 
measured using Level 3 inputs, which are unobservable inputs supported by little or no market activity and are 
significant to the fair value of the assets.  Asset retirement obligations were initially measured based on Level 3 
fair value inputs using internal discount flow calculations based upon our estimates of future retirement costs - 
see Note 8 for details of the asset retirement balances. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the fair value 
adjustments were $2.8 million related to our asset retirement obligations. 

 
6. Receivables (in thousands): 
 

December 31,   2012 
Construction contracts:   
  Completed and in progress  $ 117,732
  Retentions   52,261
        Total construction contracts   169,993
Construction material sales   32,276
Other   8,173
        Total gross receivables   210,442
Less:  allowance for doubtful accounts   2,442
        Total net receivables  $ 208,000

   

Receivables include amounts billed and billable for public and private contracts and do not bear interest.  The 
balances billed but not paid by customers pursuant to retainage provisions in construction contracts generally 
become due upon completion and acceptance of the contract by the owners.  Retainage amounts of $52.3 
million at December 31, 2012 are expected to be collected as follows: $40.8 million in 2013 and $11.5 million 
in 2014. Included in other receivables at December 31, 2012 were items such as notes receivable, interest 
receivable, fuel tax refunds and income tax refunds.   

 
Revenue earned from federal, state and local government agencies amounted to $1.5 billion (78.7% of our total 
revenue) in 2012.  During 2012, our largest volume customer was the California Department of Transportation 
(“Caltrans”). Revenue from Caltrans represented $262.2 million (14.2% of our total revenue) in 2012. At 
December 31, 2012 no customer had a receivable balance in excess of 10% of our total net receivables.  

Financing receivables consisted of long-term notes receivable and retentions receivable.  As of 
December 31, 2012, long-term notes receivable outstanding were $1.5 million and primarily related to loans 
made to employees or unconsolidated affiliates and were included in other noncurrent assets on our 
consolidated balance sheet. 

We segregate our retention receivables into two categories: escrow and non-escrow and the balances in each 
category were as follows (in thousands):  
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December 31, 2012 
Escrow $ 34,469 
Non-escrow 17,792 

    Total $ 52,261 

The escrow receivables include amounts due to Granite which have been deposited into an escrow account and 
bear interest. Typically, escrow retention receivables are held until work on a project is complete and has been 
accepted by the owner who then releases those funds, along with accrued interest, to us. There is minimal risk 
of not collecting on these amounts. 
 
Non-escrow retention receivables are amounts that the project owner has contractually withheld that will be 
paid upon owner acceptance of contract completion. We evaluate our non-escrow retention receivables using 
certain customer information that includes the following: 
 Federal - includes federal agencies such as the Bureau of Reclamation, the Army Corp of Engineers, and 

the Bureau of Indian Affairs. The obligations of these agencies are backed by the federal government. 
Consequently, there is minimal risk of not collecting the amounts we are entitled to receive.     

 State - primarily state departments of transportation. The risk of not collecting on these accounts is small; 
however, we have experienced occasional delays in payment as states have struggled with budget issues. 

 Local - these customers include local agencies such as cities, counties and other local municipal agencies. 
The risk of not collecting on these accounts is small; however, we have experienced occasional delays in 
payment as some local agencies have struggled to deal with budget issues.    

 Private - includes individuals, developers and corporations. The majority of our collection risk is 
associated with these customers. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and generally 
do not require collateral, although the law provides us certain remedies, including, but not limited to, the 
ability to file mechanics’ liens on real property improved for private customers in the event of non-
payment by such customers.  

The following table summarizes the amount of our non-escrow retention receivables within each category (in 
thousands): 

 
December 31, 2012 
Federal $    3,031 
State 2,002 
Local     8,888 
Private 3,871 

    Total $  17,792 
 

We regularly review our accounts receivable, including past due amounts, to determine their probability of 
collection. If it is probable that an amount is uncollectible, it is charged to bad debt expense and a 
corresponding reserve is established in allowance for doubtful accounts. If it is deemed certain that an amount 
is uncollectible, the amount is written off. Based on contract terms, non-escrow retention receivables are 
typically due within 60 days of owner acceptance of contract completion. We consider retention amounts 
beyond 60 days of owner acceptance of contract completion to be past due.  
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The following table presents the aging of our non-escrow retention receivables (in thousands): 
 

December 31, 2012   Current   
0-90 Days 
Past Due   

Over 90 
Days Past 

Due   Total 
 Federal $   2,913 $       72 $         46 $   3,031 
 State   1,349     381    272   2,002 
 Local   7,449     981    458   8,888 
 Private   3,251     485    135   3,871 

    Total $ 14,962   $  1,919   $    911   $ 17,792 
 
Federal, state and local agencies generally require several approvals to release payments, and these approvals 
often take over 90 days past contractual due dates to obtain. Amounts past due from government agencies 
primarily result from delays caused by paperwork processing and obtaining proper agency approvals rather 
than lack of funds. As of December 31, 2012, our allowance for doubtful accounts contained no material 
provision related to non-escrow retention receivables as we determined there were no significant collectability 
issues. 

 
7. Construction and Line Item Joint Ventures 

 
We participate in various construction joint venture partnerships. We also participate in various “line item” 
joint venture agreements under which each partner is responsible for performing certain discrete items of the 
total scope of contracted work.  
  
Our agreements with our joint venture partners for both construction joint ventures and line item joint ventures 
provide that each party will pay for any losses it is responsible for under the joint venture agreement.  
Circumstances that could lead to a loss under our joint venture arrangements beyond our stated ownership 
interest include the failure of a partner to contribute additional funds to the venture in the event the project 
incurs a loss or additional costs that we could incur should a partner fail to provide the services and resources 
that it had committed to provide in the joint venture agreement.  Due to the joint and several nature of the 
obligations under our joint venture arrangements, if one of our joint venture partners fails to perform, we and 
the remaining joint venture partners would be responsible for performance of the outstanding work. 

 
At December 31, 2012, there was approximately $871.1 million of construction revenue to be recognized 
on unconsolidated and line item construction joint venture contracts of which $346.7 million represented our 
share and the remaining $524.4 million represented our partners’ share.  We are not able to estimate amounts 
that may be required beyond the remaining cost of the work to be performed.  These costs could be offset by 
billings to the customer or by proceeds from our partner’s corporate and/or other guarantees. 

  
Construction Joint Ventures 
 
Generally, each construction joint venture is formed to complete a specific contract and is jointly controlled by 
the joint venture partners.  The joint venture agreements typically provide that our interests in any profits and 
assets, and our respective share in any losses and liabilities resulting from the performance of the contract are 
limited to our stated percentage interest in the project.  We have no significant commitments beyond 
completion of the contracts.  Under our contractual arrangements, we provide capital to these joint ventures in 
return for an ownership interest.  In addition, partners dedicate resources to the ventures necessary to complete 
the contracts and are reimbursed for their cost.  The operational risks of each construction joint venture are 
passed along to the joint venture partners.  As we absorb our share of these risks, our investment in each 
venture is exposed to potential losses.  
 
We have determined that certain of these joint ventures are VIEs as defined by ASC Topic 810, Consolidation, 
and related standards.  To ascertain if we are required to consolidate the VIE, we continually evaluate whether 
we are the VIE’s primary beneficiary.  The factors we consider in determining whether we are a VIE’s primary 
beneficiary include the decision authority of each partner, which partner manages the day-to-day operations of 
the project and the amount of our equity investment in relation to that of our partners. 
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Based on our primary beneficiary assessment during the year ended December 31, 2012, we determined no 
change was required to the accounting for existing construction joint ventures. 

  
Consolidated Construction Joint Ventures 
  
The carrying amounts and classification of assets and liabilities of construction joint ventures we are required 
to consolidate are included in our consolidated financial statement as follows (in thousands): 
 

December 31,           2012 
Cash and cash equivalents 1 $ 67,688
Other current assets 28,503
     Total current assets 96,191
 Noncurrent assets 6,241
         Total assets2 $ 102,432
  
  Accounts payable $ 26,195
  Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings1 26,416
  Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 7,361
       Total current liabilities 59,972
         Total liabilities2 $ 59,972 

 

1The volume and stage of completion of contracts from our consolidated construction joint ventures may cause fluctuations 
in cash and cash equivalents as well as billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings between periods. 
 
2The assets and liabilities of each joint venture relate solely to that joint venture.  The decision to distribute joint venture 
cash and cash equivalents and assets must generally be made jointly by all of the partners and, accordingly, these cash and 
cash equivalents and assets generally are not available for the our working capital needs of the Company. 
  
At December 31, 2012, we were engaged in three active consolidated construction joint venture projects with 
total contract values ranging from $5.8 million to $334.7 million. Our proportionate share of the equity in these 
joint ventures was between 45.0% and 60.0%.  During the year ended December 31, 2012 total revenue of the 
consolidated construction joint ventures that was included in our consolidated statement of operations was 
$222.3 million. Total cash provided by consolidated construction joint venture operations that was included in 
our consolidated statement of cash flows was $25.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. 
 
Unconsolidated Construction Joint Ventures 
  
We account for our share of construction joint ventures that we are not required to consolidate on a pro rata 
basis in the consolidated statement of operations and as a single line item on the consolidated balance sheet.  
As of December 31, 2012, these unconsolidated joint ventures were engaged in five active construction 
projects with total contract values ranging from $59.4 million to $1.2 billion. Our proportionate share of the 
equity in these unconsolidated joint ventures ranged from 20.0% to 50.0%.  As of December 31, 2012, we 
had $0.3 million to $156.0 million of revenue remaining to be recognized on these unconsolidated joint 
ventures. 
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Following is summary financial information related to unconsolidated construction joint ventures (in 
thousands): 

 
December 31,  2012 
Assets:  
  Cash and cash equivalents1 $  145,997 
  Other assets 120,268 
  Less partners’ interest 166,750 
     Granite’s interest 99,515 
Liabilities:  
  Accounts payable 73,783 
  Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings1 64,372 
  Other liabilities 1,849 
  Less partners’ interest 90,820 
     Granite’s interest 49,184 
        Equity in construction joint ventures  $   50,331 

1The volume and stage of completion of contracts from our unconsolidated construction joint ventures may cause 
fluctuations in cash and cash equivalents as well as billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings between periods. 

  
Year Ended December 31,  2012 
Revenue:  
  Total $  624,536 
  Less other partners’ interest1 397,521 
     Granite’s interest 227,015 
Cost of revenue:  
  Total 476,183 
  Less partners’ interest1 309,496 
     Granite’s interest 166,687 
        Granite’s interest in gross profit $    60,328 

 
1Partners’ interest represents amounts to reconcile total revenue and total cost of revenue as reported by our partners to 
Granite’s interest adjusted to reflect our accounting policies. 
 
Line Item Joint Ventures 
   
The revenue for each line item joint venture partners’ discrete items of work is defined in the contract with the 
project owner and each venture partner bears the profitability risk associated with its own work. There is not a 
single set of books and records for a line item joint venture.  Each partner accounts for its items of work 
individually as it would for any self-performed contract.  We account for our portion of these contracts as 
project revenues and costs in our accounting system and include receivables and payables associated with our 
work in our consolidated financial statement.  As of December 31, 2012, we had five active line item joint 
venture construction projects with total contract values ranging from $42.0 million to $133.4 million of 
which our portions ranged from $21.9 million to $58.0 million. As of December 31, 2012, our share of revenue 
remaining to be recognized on these line item joint ventures ranged from $1.4 million to $27.6 million. 
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8. Property and Equipment, Net (in thousands):  
 

December 31,  2012 
Land and land improvements $ 116,735 
Quarry property 180,567 
Buildings and leasehold improvements 79,166 
Equipment and vehicles 473,531 
Office furniture and equipment 14,866 
        Property and equipment 864,865 
Less: accumulated depreciation and depletion 506,629 
        Property and equipment, net $ 358,236 

 
Depreciation and depletion expense included in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended 
December 31, 2012 was $32.3 million.  We capitalized interest costs related to certain self-constructed assets 
of $0.2 million in 2012, which is included in property and equipment on our consolidated balance sheet.   

During 2012, we recorded an $18.0 million gain on sale of property and equipment from the sale of an 
underutilized quarry in 2012.  This sale was related to our process of continually optimizing our assets. 
 
We have recorded liabilities associated with our legally required obligations to reclaim owned and leased 
quarry property and related facilities.  As of December 31, 2012, approximately $6.6 million of our asset 
retirement obligations are included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities and approximately $20.0 
million are included in other long-term liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.  
 
The following is a reconciliation of these asset retirement obligations (in thousands): 
 

December 31,  2012 
Beginning balance $ 23,208 
Revisions to estimates  2,810 
Liabilities incurred  154 
Liabilities settled  (885) 
Accretion  1,289 
        Ending balance $ 26,576 
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9. Intangible Assets 

The balances of the following intangible assets are included in other noncurrent assets on our consolidated 
balance sheet (in thousands): 
 
Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets: 

December 31,   2012 
Goodwill   $     9,900    
Use rights and other   393 
        Total unamortized intangible assets   $   10,293   

 
Amortized Intangible Assets: 

December 31, 2012 
Gross 
Value 

Accumulated 
Amortization 

Net 
Value 

Permits $29,713   $ (10,869)    $18,844   
Customer lists 2,198 (2,170) 28 
Covenants not to compete 1,588 (1,546) 42 
Other 871 (734) 137 
        Total amortized intangible assets $34,370   $(15,319) $19,051   

 
Amortization expense related to these intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2012 was $3.7 
million.  Based on the amortized intangible assets balance at December 31, 2012, amortization expense 
expected to be recorded in the future is as follows: $1.3 million in 2013, $1.1 million in 2014, $1.1 million in 
2015, $1.0 million in 2016, $1.0 million in 2017 and $13.6 million thereafter. 

 
10. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities (in thousands): 
 

December 31,      2012 
Payroll and related employee benefits $    16,682  
Accrued insurance       36,838 
Performance guarantees       20,202 
Loss job reserves       11,469 
Other       24,356 
        Total $ 109,547 

 
Performance guarantees relate to our construction joint venture partnerships in which we have contract 
provisions for joint and several liability related to the performance of the joint ventures.  Under these 
arrangements, we would be required to perform in the event our partners are not able to complete their portion 
of the construction contract.  See Note 14 for further information. 
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11. Long-Term Debt and Credit Arrangements: 
 

We have recorded senior notes payable under an intercompany borrowing arrangement as follows (in 
thousands): 

 
December 31, 2012 
Senior notes payable $   20,353 
Less: current maturities of long-term debt 5,205 
        Total long-term debt $   15,148 

  
The aggregate minimum principal maturities of long-term debt, including our allocated share, for each of the 
five years following December 31, 2012 is as follows: $5.2 million in 2013, none in 2014, $3.0 in 2015, $3.0 
million in 2016 and $9.2 million thereafter. 
 
Senior Notes Payable 

 
The Parent has senior notes payable outstanding totaling $208.3 million due to groups of institutional holders, 
which are guaranteed, in total, by us and other subsidiaries of the Parent.  We have been allocated $20.4 
million of this amount in accordance with intercompany arrangements of which $5.2 million is due in 2013 and 
bears interest at 6.96% per annum (“2013 Notes”) and $15.2 million is due in five equal installments beginning 
in 2015 and bears interest at 6.11% per annum (“2019 Notes”). The allocated corporate interest expense was 
$1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012.  
 
The Parent’s obligations under the note purchase agreements governing the 2013 Notes and 2019 Notes (the 
“2013 NPA” and the “2019 NPA,” respectively) are guaranteed by certain of its subsidiaries, including us, and 
are collateralized on an equivalent basis with the Credit Agreement by liens on substantially all of the assets of 
the Parent and subsidiaries that are guarantors or borrowers under the Credit Agreement. The 2013 NPA and 
2019 NPA provide for the release of liens and re-pledge of collateral on substantially the same terms and 
conditions as those set forth in the Credit Agreement.  
 
Credit Agreement 

 
The Parent has a $215.0 million committed secured revolving credit facility, with a sublimit for letters of credit 
of $100.0 million (the “Credit Agreement”), which expires on October 11, 2016.  Borrowings under the Credit 
Agreement bear interest at LIBOR plus an applicable margin based on certain financial ratios calculated 
quarterly.  LIBOR varies based on the applicable loan term, market conditions and other external factors.  The 
applicable margin was 2.25% for loans bearing interest based on LIBOR and 1.25% for loans bearing interest 
at the base rate at December 31, 2012.  Accordingly, the effective interest rate was between 2.56% and 
4.50% at December 31, 2012.  Borrowings at the base rate have no designated term and may be repaid without 
penalty any time prior to the Credit Agreement’s maturity date. Borrowings at a Eurodollar rate have a term no 
less than one month and no greater than one year. Typically, at the end of such term, such borrowings may be 
rolled over at the Parent’s discretion into either a borrowing at the base rate or a borrowing at a Eurodollar rate 
with similar terms, not to exceed the maturity date of the Credit Agreement. The Parent’s obligations under the 
Credit Agreement are guaranteed, in total, by us and other subsidiaries of the Parent and are collateralized on 
an equivalent basis with the obligations under the 2013 Notes and the 2019 Notes by first priority liens (subject 
only to other liens permitted under the Credit Agreement) on substantially all of the assets of the Parent and its 
subsidiaries that are guarantors or borrowers under the Credit Agreement. As of December 31, 2012, there was 
a revolving loan of $70.0 million outstanding under the Credit Agreement, the balance of which was included 
in long-term debt on our Parent’s consolidated balance sheet. In addition, there were standby letters of credit 
totaling approximately $10.9 million as of December 31, 2012. The letters of credit will expire between March 
and October 2013. Under the terms of our intercompany borrowing arrangement with the Parent, none of the 
revolving loan or letters of credit have been allocated to us. 
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The Credit Agreement provides for the release of the liens at the Parent’s option and expense, after June 30, 
2013, so long as certain conditions as defined by the terms in the Credit Agreement are satisfied (“Collateral 
Release Period”). If, subsequently, the Parent’s Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is less than 1.25 or 
the Parent’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio is greater than 2.50, then they will be required to promptly re-pledge 
substantially all of the assets of the Parent and its subsidiaries, including the Company, that are guarantors or 
borrowers under the Credit Agreement. 
 
Covenants and Events of Default 
  
The most significant restrictive covenants under the terms of the Parent’s 2013 NPA, 2019 NPA and Credit 
Agreement require, at the Parent level, the maintenance of a minimum Consolidated Tangible Net Worth, a 
minimum Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio and a maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratio. The 
calculations and terms of such financial covenants are defined in the applicable 2013 NPA and 2019 NPA 
agreements filed as Exhibit 10.6 and Exhibit 10.7 to the Parent’s Form 10-Q filed November 7, 2012 and in the 
Credit Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Parent’s Form 10-Q filed November 7, 2012.  As of December 
31, 2012 and pursuant to the definitions in the agreements, the Parent’s Consolidated Tangible Net Worth was 
$753.1 million, which exceeded the minimum of $665.7 million, the Parent’s Consolidated Interest Coverage 
Ratio was 9.52, which exceeded the minimum of 4.00 and the Parent’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio was 2.39, 
which did not exceed the maximum of 3.25 for the Credit Agreement and the maximum of 3.50 for the 2013 
NPA and 2019 NPA. The maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratio for the Credit Agreement and 2013 NPA and 
2019 NPA decreases to 3.00 and 3.25, respectively, for the Parent’s quarter ending December 31, 2013, and 
each quarter ending thereafter. During any Collateral Release Period, the maximum Consolidated Leverage 
Ratio decreases to 2.50. 
The Parent’s debt and credit agreements require it to comply with various affirmative, restrictive and financial 
covenants, including the financial covenants described above. The Parent’s failure to comply with any of these 
covenants, or to pay principal, interest or other amounts when due thereunder, would constitute an event of 
default under the applicable agreements. Under certain circumstances, the occurrence of an event of default 
under one of the Parent’s debt or credit agreements (or the acceleration of the maturity of the indebtedness 
under one of the Parent’s agreements) may constitute an event of default under one or more of the Parent’s 
other debt or credit agreements. Default under the Parent’s debt and credit agreements could result in (1) The 
Parent no longer being entitled to borrow under the agreements, (2) termination of the agreements, (3) the 
requirement that any letters of credit under the agreements be cash collateralized, (4) acceleration of the 
maturity of outstanding indebtedness under the agreements and/or (5) foreclosure on any liens under the 
agreements. 
As of December 31, 2012, the Parent was in compliance with the covenants contained in its senior note 
agreements, Credit Agreement and debt agreements related to its consolidated real estate entities. The Parent is 
not aware of any non-compliance by any of its unconsolidated entities with the covenants contained in their 
debt agreements. Subsequent to December 31, 2012, one of the Parent’s consolidated real estate entities was in 
default under a debt agreement as a result of its failure to make a timely payment. The affected loan is non-
recourse to the Parent and the default does not result in cross-defaults under other debt agreements under which 
the Parent is the obligor; however, there is recourse to the real estate entity that incurred the debt. The real 
estate entity in default is currently in discussions with the lender to revise the terms of the defaulted debt 
agreement. 
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12. Employee Benefit Plans 
 

Our employees participate in the Parent’s employee benefit plans.  Costs associated with these plans are 
allocated to us as described in Note 3.  The following disclosures are included in the Parent’s 2012 Annual 
Report on Form 10-K with respect to such plans: 
    
Parent Company Employee Stock Ownership Plan:  Effective January 1, 2007, the Parent’s Employee Stock 
Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) was amended to effectively freeze the plan.  Under the amended plan, no new 
participants were added and no further contributions were made for the year ended December 2012.  Effective 
June 1, 2012 the Parent’s ESOP was merged into the Parent’s Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan (the “401(k) 
Plan”).  As of December 31, 2012, the 401(k) Plan owned 2,540,141 shares of the Parent’s common stock.  
Dividends on shares held by the ESOP are charged to retained earnings and all shares held by the ESOP are 
treated as outstanding in computing the Parent’s earnings per share. 

Parent Company Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan:  The Parent sponsors Granite’s 401(k) Plan. The 401(k) 
Plan is a defined contribution plan covering all employees of the Parent and subsidiaries except employees 
covered by collective bargaining agreements and employees of its consolidated construction joint ventures. 
Each employee can elect to have up to 50% of gross pay, not to exceed $17,000, contributed to the 401(k) Plan 
on a before-tax basis. The Parent’s matching contributions can be up to 6% of an employee’s gross pay and are 
available at the discretion of the Board of Directors.  Profit sharing contributions from the Parent may be made 
to the 401(k) Plan in an amount determined by the Board of Directors. The Parent’s matching contributions to 
the 401(k) Plan for the year ended December 31, 2012 were $2.8 million. The Parent did not make any 
contribution to the Profit Sharing Plan during the year ended December 31, 2012. Effective June 1, 2012, the 
ESOP was merged into the 401(k) Plan. Under the combined Plans, employees may elect to diversify their 
prior ESOP holdings at any such time and such amounts are available for distribution following the employee's 
termination of service (or earlier, if so provided under the terms of the combined plan). 
  
Parent Company Stock-based Compensation: On May 23, 2012, the Parent’s stockholders approved the 2012 
Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which replaced the Amended and Restated 1999 Equity Incentive Plan. The 
Plan provides for the issuance of restricted stock, restricted stock units and stock options to eligible employees 
and to members of the Parent’s Board of Directors. Beginning in 2011, the Company issued restricted stock 
units to eligible employees in lieu of restricted stock. As of December 31, 2012, a total of 2,635,640 shares of 
the Parent’s common stock have been reserved for issuance, of which approximately 1,886,882 remained 
available as of December 31, 2012. 
 
As noted above, restricted stock units and restricted stock can be issued to eligible employees and members of 
the Parent’s Board of Directors. Restricted stock units and restricted stock are issued for services to be rendered 
and may not be sold, transferred or pledged for such a period as determined by the Parent’s Compensation 
Committee. Restricted stock unit and restricted stock compensation cost is measured at the Parent’s common 
stock’s fair value based on the market price at the date of grant. The Parent recognizes compensation cost 
only for restricted stock units and restricted stock that will ultimately vest. The Parent estimates the number of 
shares that will ultimately vest at each grant date based on historical experience and adjust compensation cost 
based on changes in those estimates over time. 
 
Restricted stock unit and restricted stock compensation cost is recognized ratably over the shorter of the vesting 
period (generally three years) or the period from grant date to the first maturity date after the holder reaches 
age 62 and has completed certain specified years of service, when all restricted stock becomes fully vested. 
Vesting of restricted stock is not subject to any market or performance conditions and vesting provisions are at 
the discretion of the Parent’s Compensation Committee. An employee may not sell or otherwise transfer 
unvested stock and, in the event employment is terminated prior to the end of the vesting period, any unvested 
units or stock are surrendered to the Parent. The Parent has no obligation to purchase restricted stock units or 
restricted stock. 
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As of December 31, 2012, there were approximately 665,000 of the Parent’s restricted stock units outstanding. 
Compensation cost related to restricted stock units was approximately $7.6 million ($5.6 million net of the 
Parent’s tax using the effective tax rate)  for the year ended December 31, 2012, of which a portion was 
allocated to the Company as discussed in Note 1.  The grant date fair value of restricted stock vested during the 
year ended December 31, 2012 was approximately $4.7 million.  As of December 31, 2012, there was $12.9 
million of unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock units which will be recognized over a 
remaining weighted-average period of 1.2 years, a portion of which will be allocated to the Company. 
 
As of December 31, 2012, there were approximately 174,000 shares of the Parent’s restricted stock 
outstanding. Compensation cost related to restricted stock was approximately $3.8 million ($2.8 million net of 
the Parent’s tax using the effective tax rate) for the year ended December 31, 2012, of which a portion was 
allocated to the Company as discussed in Note 1.  The grant date fair value of restricted stock vested during the 
year ended December 31, 2012 was approximately $12.2 million.  As of December 31, 2012, there was $0.5 
million of unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock which will be recognized over a 
remaining weighted-average period of 0.2 years, a portion of which will be allocated to the Company.  
 
Parent Employee Stock Purchase Plan:  In 2010, the Parent’s Board of Directors approved the Parent’s 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”).  Effective January 1, 2011, the ESPP allows qualifying employees to 
purchase shares of its common stock through payroll deductions of up to 15% of their compensation, subject to 
Internal Revenue Code limitations, at a price of 95% of the fair market value as of the end of each of the six-
month offering periods.  During the year ended December 31, 2012 proceeds from the ESPP were $0.5 million 
for 21,446 shares.  The offering periods commence on May 15 and November 15 of each year. 
 
Multi-employer Pension Plans:  We also contribute to various multi-employer pension plans on behalf of 
union employees.  The risks of participating in these multiemployer plans are different from single-employer 
plans in the following aspects: 

 
 Assets contributed to the multi-employer plan by one employer may be used to provide benefits to 

employees of other participating employers. 
 If a participating employer stops contributing to the plan, the unfunded obligations of the plan may be 

borne by remaining participating employers. 
 If we chose to stop participating in some of the multi-employer plans, we may be required to pay those 

plans an amount based on the underfunded status of the plan, referred to as the withdrawal liability. 
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The following table presents our participation in these plans during the year ended December 31, 2012 (dollars 
in thousands): 

 
 

Pension Trust Fund 

Pension Plan 
Employer 

Identification 
Number 

Pension 
Protection 

Act (“PPA”) 
Certified 

Zone Status1 

FIP / RP 
Status Pending 
/ Implemented2 Contributions 

Surcharge 
Imposed 

Expiration 
Date of 

Collection 
Bargaining 
Agreement 3 

Locals 302 and 612 
Operating Engineers-
Employers Retirement 
Fund 

91-6028571 Green No $ 2,368 No 12/31/2013 

Operating Engineers 
Pension Trust Fund 

95-6032478 Red Yes 2,285 No 6/30/2013 

Pension Trust Fund for 
Operating Engineers 
Pension Plan 

94-6090764 Orange Yes 8,030 No 6/30/2013 

Laborers Pension Trust 
Fund for Northern 
California 

94-6277608 Yellow Yes 2,320 No 4/30/2015 

All other funds (15) 7,089 

$ 22,092 

 

1 The most recent PPA zone status available in 2012 is for the plan’s year-end during 2011. The zone status is based on 
information that we received from the plan and is certified by the plan’s actuary. Among other factors, plans in the red 
zone are generally less than 65 percent funded, plans in the orange zone are less than 80 percent funded and have an 
Accumulated Funding Deficiency in the current year or projected into the next six years, plans in the yellow zone are less 
than 80 percent funded, and plans in the green zone are at least 80 percent funded. 

2 The “FIP/RP Status Pending/Implemented” column indicates plans for which a financial improvement plan (“FIP”) or a 
rehabilitation plan (“RP”) is either pending or has been implemented. 

3 Lists the expiration date(s) of the collective-bargaining agreement(s) to which the plans are subject. Pension trust funds 
with a range of expiration dates have various collective bargaining agreements. 

 
We currently have no intention of withdrawing from any of the multi-employer pension plans in which we 
participate. 
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13. Income Taxes 
 

Provision for income taxes (in thousands): 
 

Year Ended December 31, 2012 
Federal   
     Current $ 10,951 
     Deferred  (1,427) 
        Total federal  9,524 
State   
     Current  1,094 
     Deferred  298 
        Total state   1,392 
            Total provision for income taxes $ 10,916 

 
Reconciliation of the statutory to effective tax rate: 

 
Year Ended December 31, 2012 
Federal statutory tax rate 35.0% 
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit 1.9 
Percentage depletion deduction (2.9) 
Domestic production deduction (1.2) 
Noncontrolling interests (10.2) 
Other (0.6) 
        Effective tax rate 22.0% 

 
The impact on the effective tax rate related to noncontrolling interests is a result of the consolidation of 
construction joint ventures and other entities which are generally not subject to income taxes on a stand-alone 
basis.   
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities (in thousands): 
 

December 31, 2012 
Deferred tax assets:    
     Receivables $ 2,758 
     Inventory  5,623 
     Insurance  11,738 
     Deferred compensation  5,969 
     Contract income recognition  5,407 
     Other accrued liabilities  9,168 
     Other   114 
        Total deferred tax assets   40,777  
Deferred tax liabilities:   
     Property and equipment  (25,868) 
        Total deferred tax liabilities  (25,868) 
                Net deferred tax assets $ 14,909 
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The above amounts are reflected in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as follows (in thousands): 
 

December 31,  2012 
Current deferred tax assets, net $ 30,950 
Long-term deferred tax liabilities, net  16,041 
Net deferred tax assets $ 14,909 

 
The deferred tax asset for other accrued liabilities relates to various items including accrued vacation and 
accrued reclamation costs which are deductible in future periods. 
 
Uncertain tax positions:  The Parent files income tax returns on behalf of the consolidated group in the U.S. 
and various state and local jurisdictions.  The Parent’s and our 2005 through 2007 tax years remain open to 
examination by state taxing authorities.  The Parent is no longer subject to U.S. federal examinations by tax 
authorities for years before 2008. 
 
We had approximately $2.2 million of total gross unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2012.  We do 
not anticipate a significant increase or decrease in our recognized tax benefits that will impact our effective tax 
rate in 2013. 
 
The following represents a tabular reconciliation of unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands), the balance of 
which is included in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet: 

 
Year Ended December 31,  2012 
Beginning balance     $ 2,254 
Gross increases – current-period tax positions  917 
Gross decreases – current-period tax positions   (723) 
Gross increases – prior-period tax positions  156 
Gross decreases – prior-period tax positions  (424) 
Unrecognized tax benefits – Ending balance             $ 2,180 

 
We record interest related to uncertain tax positions as interest expense in our consolidated statements of 
operations. During the year ended December 31, 2012, we recognized approximately $0.1 million of interest 
expense. Approximately $0.9 million of accrued interest was included in our uncertain tax position liability in 
our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2012. 

 
14. Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees 
 

Leases:   Minimum rental commitments under all noncancelable operating leases, primarily quarry property, in 
effect at December 31, 2012 were (in thousands): 

 
Years Ending December 31,   
2013 $  5,785 
2014  4,906 
2015  3,752 
2016  3,216 
2017  2,339 
Later years (through 2099)  11,788 
Total  $ 31,786 

 
Operating lease rental expense was $8.7 million in 2012, which does not include $22.3 million paid to a 
subsidiary equipment leasing company for equipment rental charges. 
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Guarantees:  As discussed in Note 7, we participate in various construction joint venture partnerships.  All 
partners in these joint ventures are jointly and severally liable for completion of the total project under the 
terms of the contract with the project owner.  Although our agreements with our joint venture partners provide 
that each party will assume and pay its share of any losses resulting from a project, if one of our partners was 
unable to pay its share we would be fully liable under our contract with the project owner.  Circumstances that 
could lead to a loss under these guarantee arrangements include a partner’s inability to contribute additional 
funds to the venture in the event that the project incurred a loss or additional costs that we could incur should 
the partner fail to provide the services and resources toward project completion that had been committed to in 
the joint venture agreement.  At December 31, 2012, we had approximately $871.1 million of construction 
revenue to be recognized on unconsolidated and line item construction joint venture contracts of which $524.4 
million represented our partners’ share and the remaining $346.7 million represented our share.  Due to the 
joint and several liability of joint venture arrangements, if one of our joint venture partners fails to perform, we 
and the remaining joint venture partners would be responsible for the outstanding work.  We are not able to 
estimate other amounts that may be required beyond the remaining cost of the work to be performed.  These 
costs could be offset by billings to the customer or performance bonds.  See Note 10 for disclosure of the 
amounts recorded in our consolidated balance sheet.   
 
We have guaranteed the Parent’s debt, including a $215.0 million secured revolving credit facility, with a 
sublimit for letters of credit of $100.0 million (of which $70.0 million revolving loans and $10.9 million of 
standby letters of credit were outstanding as of December 31, 2012) and senior notes payable in the amount of 
$208.3 million. Our guarantee of the revolving line of credit expires in 2016 and our guarantee of the senior 
notes expires as the notes are repaid, with scheduled repayments through 2019. 
  
Surety Bonds:  We may provide contract guarantees related to our services or work. These guarantees are 
backed by various types of surety bonds, instruments that ensure we will perform our contractual obligations 
pursuant to the terms of our contract with the client. If our services or work under a guaranteed contract are 
later determined to have a material defect or deficiency, we may be responsible for repairs, monetary damages 
or other legal remedies. When sufficient information about a material defect or deficiency on a guaranteed 
contract is determined to be probable, we recognize the cost of repairs and monetary damages. Currently, we 
have no material defects or deficiencies for which losses have or need to be recognized. 
  
Legal Proceedings: 

In the ordinary course of business, we are involved in various legal proceedings that are pending against us, our 
affiliates and our Parent’s subsidiaries alleging, among other things, breach of contract or tort in connection 
with the performance of professional services, the various outcomes of which cannot be predicted with 
certainty. The most significant of these proceedings is as follows: 
 
US Highway 20 Project  
 
Granite Construction Company (“GCCO”) and Granite Northwest, Inc., are members of a joint venture known 
as Yaquina River Constructors (“YRC”) which was contracted by the Oregon Department of Transportation 
(“ODOT”) to construct a new road alignment of US Highway 20 near Eddyville, Oregon.  During the fall and 
winter of 2006, extraordinary rain events produced runoff that overwhelmed installed erosion control measures 
and resulted in discharges to surface water and alleged violations of YRC’s stormwater permit.  During 2012, 
ODOT and YRC reached a settlement agreement that ended YRC’s responsibility to construct the project.  
Also during 2012, YRC, GCCO, the United States Environmental Protection Agency and the U.S. Department 
of Justice (“DOJ”) entered into a consent decree, which provides for a civil penalty payment after entry of the 
decree by the court and environmental monitoring by GCCO of certain Oregon projects.  This matter has not 
and is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, cash flow 
and/or liquidity.  
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Insurance and Bond Rate Disclosure 
 
GCCO disclosed in October 2009 to the DOJ that potential errors were discovered in charging for bond and 
insurance rates in certain contracts.  In 2010, GCCO met with Caltrans and the Florida Department of 
Transportation representatives to inform the state agencies about the potential errors and that GCCO is 
conducting an extensive internal investigation into the issue.  At this point in the investigation, it appears that 
in a limited set of circumstances, GCCO may have represented initial insurance rates to some of its government 
customers as costs, when subsequent adjustments may have reduced the chargeable amount of those costs.  
GCCO has taken steps to correct these problems going forward. 
 
After sampling federal contracts over a three (3) year period pursuant to an audit plan agreed to by the DOJ, an 
estimate of the possible overbilling was calculated.  GCCO met with the DOJ to discuss our findings and offer 
to reimburse the government for some of the reimbursable costs.  The DOJ and GCCO entered into a 
settlement agreement where GCCO agreed to pay the DOJ $0.4 million, with such payment made on February 
13, 2013.  The settlement did not include any penalties.  GCCO is continuing to analyze whether any additional 
public agencies should be reimbursed for possible overbillings.  
 
Arizona Employee Equal Employment Opportunity Commission Complaint Against Granite Construction 
Company 
 
On February 8, 2013, the arbitrator issued a decision finding that the complainant was not terminated 
improperly due to his race.  He was awarded no wages, compensation, or punitive damages.  His fee 
application for attorney’s fees was also denied.  
 
Wrongful Death Action 
 
On or about March 24, 2012, during work at a construction project located in Arizona, the operator of a 
dumptruck died from injuries he sustained when the dump truck he was operating, rolled down an 
embankment.  GCCO subcontracted to load trucks with a mix of cement and dirt for use on the walls of 
Pantano Wash.  The driver got the rear wheels of the belly dump too close to the edge, slid off the road and 
rolled the truck and trailer.  The focus of plaintiff’s tender to Pima County was the condition of the temporary 
roads within the project.  GCCO did not design, build or maintain these roads.  It is too early in our 
investigation to conclude whether there is a probable loss exposure.  
 
Worker’s Compensation 
 
On or about May, 18, 2006, a GCCO employee from a California office alleges injury to his back that was not 
specific to any work activity.  The court ruled favorably in 2010 for the employee finding GCCO responsible 
for payment of worker compensation benefits to the employee back to the date of loss.  Amounts to be paid by 
GCCO through its worker compensation program for such claims have been prefunded with a maximum 
exposure to GCCO of $1.0 million as part of the insurance program.  
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Other Legal Proceedings/Government Inquiries  
 
We are a party to a number of other legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business.  From time to 
time, we also receive inquiries from public agencies seeking information concerning our compliance with 
government construction contracting requirements and related laws and regulations.  We believe that the nature 
and number of these proceedings and compliance inquiries are typical for a construction firm of our size and 
scope.  Our litigation typically involves claims regarding public liability or contract related issues.  While 
management currently believes, after consultation with counsel, that the ultimate outcome of pending 
proceedings and compliance inquiries, individually and in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse affect 
on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows, litigation is subject to inherent uncertainties. 
Were one or more unfavorable rulings to occur, there exists the possibility of a material adverse effect on our 
financial position, results of operations, cash flows and/or liquidity for the period in which the ruling occurs.  
In addition, our government contracts could be terminated, we could be suspended or debarred, or payment of 
our costs disallowed.  While any one of our pending legal proceedings is subject to early resolution as a result 
of our ongoing efforts to settle, whether or when any legal proceeding will be resolved through settlement is 
neither predictable nor guaranteed. 
 
We record amounts in our consolidated balance sheet representing our estimated liability relating to legal 
proceedings and government inquiries.  During the year ended December 31, 2012, there were no significant 
additions or revisions to the estimated liability that were recorded in our consolidated statement of operations, 
or significant changes to our accrual for such ligation loss contingencies on our consolidated balance sheet. 

 

















Appendix A5 
Dun and Bradstreet Report 

 
Note: We do not have a formal 

rating of our debt 
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Phillip Lee, CSP 
Corporate Safety Manager 

Safety Professional in Heavy Civil Construction and Construction Materials/Mining areas including 
underground utilities, excavation & embankment, grading and paving, retaining walls, structures, 
rock crushing, and hot asphalt concrete plants, and aggregate mining . Philip has been involved in 
both large and small, public and private projects including: utility and street reconstruct Safety 
Professional in Heavy Civil Construction and Construction Materials/Mining areas including 
underground utilities, excavation & embankment, grading and paving, retaining walls, structures, 
rock crushing, and hot asphalt concrete plants, and aggregate mining . Philip has been involved in 
both large and small, public and private projects including: utility and street reconstruct projects, 
major site development projects, highway and infrastructure. Mr. Lee has helped lead safety and 
health compliance, injury prevention, and culture efforts exemplified by the reduction in the 
experience modifications ratings (EMRs) to 0.6 and OSHA Recordable rates of below 1.5. projects, 
major site development projects, highway and infrastructure. Mr. Lee has helped lead safety and 
health compliance, injury prevention, and culture efforts exemplified by the reduction in the 
experience modifications ratings (EMRs) to 0.6 and OSHA Recordable rates of below 1.5. His 25 
years of construction experience has a proven track record of building and leading high performance 
teams. He has successfully led projects with 40+ salaried employees and over 100 craft workers.   
He has worked on large and/or alternate delivery projects, including design build and Construction 
Manager/General Contractor formats and others to provide the best value to the customer.  
 
Office Location | Phone: 580 West Beach Street, Watsonville, CA  95076  |   831.763.6100 

Years of Experience:  25 years in the industry | 25 years with Granite Construction 

Education:   B.S., Occupational Safety and Health/Murray State, Kentucky 
 

Professional Experience: 
• Strategic Safety Planning 
• Minimize safety issues 
• Quality Control Management 
• Constructability Reviews 

• Project Resource Management 
• Schedule and critical path 
• Project Resource Management  
• Technical Engineering Expertise 

 

Relevant Experience: 

SNorman Y. Mineta/San Jose International Airport Terminal A 
Improvement, California 
Area Safety Manager. Mr. Lee managed a safety 
team and provided oversight for the Granite Site 
Safety Coordinator for this $700 million City of San 
Jose design-build project. He managed the safety 
and health of 100-plus employees, including 
subcontractors. He assisted the Site Safety 
Coordinator in organizing systems to manage the 
safety of the public pathways, airport operations, and 
several large subcontractors and with job hazard 
analyses for various phases of the project. 
 
 

http://www.google.com/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&frm=1&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0CAcQjRw&url=http://www.desktopwallpapers4.me/world/san-jose-international-airport-13472/&ei=GqSTVdazEMjRoASh27PgAQ&bvm=bv.96952980,d.cGU&psig=AFQjCNGcKLLTFZs3dLRLRrMQDw9Exm4vBA&ust=1435825427049878
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Stonebrae Country Club and Villages, Hayward, California 
Site Safety Coordinator. Mr. Lee managed the safety and health of 100-plus employees on this $94 
million private site development project, including multiple subcontractors. He worked on a daily 
basis with the Project Team to pre-plan and develop job hazard analyses and conducted daily work 
area safety inspections. He managed the procurement of specialty safety equipment, managed 
and conducted accident investigations and reviews, implemented orientations for new employees 
and provided safety training on confined spaces, fall protection, first aid and CPR, etc. Stonebrae, 
LLC, the client, benefited from Mr. Lee managing OSHA Recordable Incident Rates. 
 
Alviso Boat Launch, California 
Safety Manager. Mr. Lee provided the safety program for this project in the marsh/wetlands at the 
northern most part of San Jose, where the Guadalupe River reaches the Bay. The safety program 
was designed around the risks associated with working around water, including drowning and 
hypothermia hazards. Mr. Lee’s safety program specified the use of proper equipment, and 
established the necessary rescue capabilities. Crane and concrete work next to water, in which 
outriggers of cranes may need to be set in unstable soils, requires special attention to safety 
orientation and training. The Alviso project also presented safety hazards related to regular 
deliveries of dirt by large hauling trucks dumping in a tightly confined area. Mr. Lee worked closely 
with on-site safety and environmental supervisors to ensure that there were no lost time accidents 
or environmental violations. Mentored project staff including QC manager. Actively participated in 
the safety program including safety team job site inspections. Participated in strategy discussions 
including scheduling, work planning, and claims resolution. 
 
South Terminal Site Prep Project, San Francisco, California 
Safety Officer. Mr. Lee was responsible for daily oversight and implementation of the Health and 
Safety Plan, development and implementation of Standard Operating Procedures for safety critical 
operations, and ensuring operations and personnel comply with all safety requirements as 
specified in the Contract Documents. This $1.4 million project, performed for the San Francisco 
Joint Powers Board, involved blasting and significant dirt work and grading, with as many as 30 
scrapers at work on the site. Scope included: removing existing facilities, removing and salvaging 
existing track work, performing excavation and backfill, including stockpiling soil impacted by 
contaminants, and performing signal work at the Caltrain South Terminal. The project was 
completed without a safety incident. Train operations were maintained at all times and our crews 
sustained service to the existing utilities without incident. 
 
San Mateo County Grade Crossing Project, California 
Safety Officer. With similar responsibilities as the South Terminal Site Prep Project, Mr. Lee was 
involved with delivering this $7.9 million San Francisco Joint Powers Board project with Zero 
Recordable Injuries and no incidents involving public safety. This project included but not limited to: 
installation of underground signal conduits, utility boxes, railroad signal control houses, 
roadway/railroad concrete crossing panels, performing excavation and backfill, guardrails, right-of-
way fences, concrete sidewalks, median islands, paving & striping, handicap station platforms, and 
pulling electrical cables and connecting new signal systems. Train operations were maintained at 
all times and our crews sustained service to the existing utilities without incidents. 
 
Route 87: Julian to Highway 101, San Jose, California 
Site Safety Coordinator. Mr. Lee managed the safety and health of multiple Granite crews and 
subcontractors on this $21 million project. His responsibilities and duties involved daily safety 
inspections, traffic control plans, and fall prevention on bridge and abutment structures. The project 
required safety considerations and practices for multiple traffic switches/phases, construction of 
three bridge structures, several bridge abutments, and excavation of surcharge, drainage, grading 
and paving. 
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